

Regional report July 2007

Author	<b>Zosa De Sas Kropiwnicki</b> (D.Phil) Regional Research Adviser
Editor	Save the Children in Albania
Publisher	<b>Save the Children in Albania</b> Rruga Komuna e Parisit Lagjja 8, Pallatet I Maji Vila Lami Tirana, ALBANIA; P.O. Box 8185
Cover artwork	9 year old child at "Children of the World and of Albania - Human Rights", Tirana, Albania
Printed by	Graphic Studio Siena
Print run:	1000
Published	July 2007

#### © 2007 Save the Children

All rights reserved. The contents of this publication may be freely used or copied for noncommercial purposes, provided that any such reproduction is accompanied by acknowledgement of Save the Children as the source.

The views expressed herein are those of the author and do not necessarily reflect the views of Save the Children

A PDF version of this publication is also available. Any PDF copy of the report can be obtained by e-mailing to <u>savealbania@savealbania.org</u>

Save the Children Child Trafficking Response Programme Southeast Europe

is funded by the Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Swedish International Development Cooperation Agency (SIDA) and the Oak Foundation



Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs





# **Children Speak Out**

Trafficking Risk and Resilience in Southeast Europe

Regional report

# Foreword

Over the past 5 to 10 years, there has been considerable attention given to the issue of child trafficking in Southeast Europe by governments, international organizations and civil society organizations. Legal frameworks have been adopted at country levels, strategies and action plans have been developed and institutions established, largely founded on international and regional conventions to combat human trafficking. A number of NGOs, donors and international agencies are operating alongside governments to raise awareness and provide assistance to at-risk and trafficked children. These efforts have been hampered, however by a lack of reliable statistics on the extent of and the trends in child trafficking. There is also a lack of knowledge of specific factors which may increase the risks of child trafficking and any efforts to develop effective interventions are therefore mainly based on assumptions and "educated guesses" about the actual risks and most appropriate interventions. There is, however continued evidence emerging to indicate that the numbers actually are rising and that due to the clandestine nature of trafficking, we may be only seeing the "tip of the iceberg" making it all the more urgent that we have a better understanding of the issue.

Save the Children's Child Trafficking Response Programme (CTRP), Phase Two is a three year project aimed at providing support to at-risk and trafficked children in Southeast Europe. The programme includes Albania, Bosnia-Herzegovina, Bulgaria, The UN administered province of Kosovo, Montenegro, Romania and Serbia. A comprehensive research programme was started in March 2006, involving hundreds of children and adults from different communities across the region in order to learn more from children themselves about the factors which expose some of them to a greater risk of being trafficked, as well as children's own strengths and resiliencies in the adverse conditions many of them face. Participating countries published their own country reports in May and June 2007 and these include the views and opinions of key adults including parents, teachers, social workers and others, all of whom are mainly responsible for the welfare and protection of children. Country reports also give recommendations to governments, policy-makers and practitioners on how the safety and security of children at risk of being trafficked can be improved.

This report presents the collective views of children across the region who present their fears as well as their hopes and dreams and give valuable new insight and understanding to anyone who is committed to improve children's lives, protect them from abuse and exploitation and help them fulfill their aspirations. The recommendations to improve the welfare and security of children at risk as presented in this report are also formulated by the same children.

Save the Children will be using this analysis as well as the country research publications as a resource for developing interventions which are hopefully more targeted and appropriate to the circumstances of the children most at risk to trafficking. In doing so we apply principles of good practice in line with guiding documents including the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child. Many thanks to all the children and adults across the region who have participated in the research and made this report possible. We owe it to them and many other children in the region whose rights are constantly violated, to increase our efforts to minimize the risks that children are exposed to so that they can be better protected against child trafficking.

Sincerely,

Stephen Ashby Programme Director Save the Children, Albania

# Acknowledgements

Gratitude must be extended to a range of actors who have provided various forms of assistance and support throughout the research process. Funding was provided by the Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Swedish International Development Cooperation Agency (SIDA) and the Oak Foundation.

Particular thanks must be extended to Sofie Laws, Chris Cuninghame and Laura Brownlees for their contribution to the design of this research project.

The managerial support and editorial advice provided by all members of the Child Trafficking Response Programme (CTRP) regional management team has been invaluable, including the Albania Programme Director Stephen Ashby, Regional Programme Manager, Veslemoy Naerland and the Regional Programme Advisor, Maria Antonia Di Maio. The Regional Information Coordinator Besnik Kadesha assisted in the referencing process, while the Data Assistants Danjela Shkalla and Ingrid Johansen must be commended for coding transcripts from across the region. Marie-Helene Pare provided useful training and assistance on the Nvivo 2 data analysis programme.

At the national level, staff from Save the Children and partners including Animus Foundation and Partners Bulgaria, facilitated the coordination of the research project. The dedication and hard work of the lead researchers and their research teams in each of the 7 countries/entities must be applauded.

The input provided by key informants from state and non-state institutions and organizations at national and local levels elucidated the phenomenon of child trafficking. Particular thanks must be extended to the children who were involved in this research project. It would not have been possible without the insights, enthusiasm and active participation of hundreds of children across Southeast Europe in the design and data gathering phases of this project.

# **Acronyms and Terms**

CTRP	Child Trafficking Response Programme
ECPAT	End Child Prostitution, Child Pornography and Trafficking of Children for Sexual Purposes
IDP	Internally Displaced Person
ILO	International Labour Organisation
INGO	International Non-Governmental Organisation
IOM	International Organisation for Migration
Kosovo	The United Nations Administered Province of Kosovo
NGO	Non-Governmental Organisation
RAE	Roma, Ashkali and Egyptian

# **Table of Contents**

Executive Summary	
Introduction	
Background	
Structure	14
Chapter I: Literature Review	17
Methodological approaches	
Research and prevention	
Macro risk factors	
Poverty	20
Migration	
Cultural factors	22
Interpersonal risk factors	23
Individual risk factors	
Gender	
Educational achievement	25
Age and risk-taking	
Mechanisms and processes	
Chapter 2: Conceptual Framework	
Child	
Risk and resiliency	
Agency and decision-making	
Research objectives	
Evidence-based policy	33
Chapter 3: The Research Process	
· Relationships and power	
Sampling	
Key informants	
Focus groups with children	
Semi- and unstructured interviews with children	
Reflexivity and ethics	
Chapter 4: Children's Perceptions of Trafficking Risk and Resiliency	
Trafficking messages	
Being tricked and cheated	
Being asked for information	59

Age, naivety and decision-making	61
Age and freedom	63
Age and trust	66
Offering more interesting options	67
The offer of material goods or employment	69
Working children living at home	70
Constructions of masculinity	77
Health evaluation	
Negative consequences: exploitation	80
The offer of travel abroad	81
Travel, exploration and adventure	83
Escaping poverty	84
Fleeing war and persecution	85
Running away from home	89
Seeking a "better life"	89
Trusting strangers	91
Parental involvement	93
Involvement of relatives	94
The process	95
Migration and trafficking	97
The offer of boyfriend/husband	98
Trafficking and constructions of femininity	106
The offer of attention	110
Children in institutions	110
Children working and living on the streets	
The offer of schooling or release from schooling	118
Parents and school	120
Teachers and school	123
Claiming to be or know a relative	
Strangers	
Trustworthy relatives	
Untrustworthy relatives	133
Claiming to know a friend or pretending to be a friend	
A good friend	136
A bad friend	
Peer pressure	150
Strategies to deal with negative peers	
Escape strategies	
Escape from violence and adversity	
Escape from trafficking scenario	

The effects of violence and traffickingIt	62
The effects of violence	62
The effects of trafficking	63
Evidence-based policy: Institutional and organizational support	65
Children's recommendations	71
Children's rights	73
Parenting practices	74
Recreation	75
Education	75
Employment I	76
Migration	78
PovertyI	78
Gender	80
Ethnic discrimination	81
Institutions	83
Social workers and psychologists	85
Advice to children	86
Law enforcement	87
Awareness-raising	88
Peer-to-peer counseling	89
Conclusions	91
Bibliography	97

# **Executive Summary**

This research report provides an in-depth analysis of children's perception of risk and resiliency in respect to trafficking. In addition to prevention, protection and reintegration strategies, Save the Children's Child Trafficking Response Programme (CTRP) conducted a qualitative, participatory and child-centered research project in seven countries/entities in Southeast Europe, namely Albania, Bulgaria, Bosnia-Herzegovina, Montenegro, Romania, Serbia and the United Nations Administered Province of Kosovo<sup>1</sup>.

This research was designed, managed and led at the regional level and was undertaken by approximately 40 locally-appointed country coordinators<sup>2</sup> and researchers who conducted literature reviews, individual interviews and focus group discussions with 876 respondents which included 618 children and 258 key informants (state and non-state actors at national and local levels). The children involved in this research included those working and/or living on the street, children in institutions and shelters, juveniles in conflict with the law and youngsters from socially marginalized and poverty-stricken communities. These children have been identified to be at risk of being trafficked in the existing literature and by key informants. Hence, this research sought to build on this knowledge, revise commonly held assumptions and deepen our understanding of risks and resiliency from children's perspectives.

Seven national reports were launched in May/June 2007 which contain in-depth contextual information about these issues from the perspective of key informants and children. This regional research report focused on the latter by providing a thematic analysis of the data derived from various groups of children living in diverse communities across Southeast Europe. These themes include risk and resiliency, social supports, safety and danger, decision-making and power, hopes and dreams, and evidence-based policy. These themes were analysed in light of an ecological and cumulative model that accounts for macro (socio-economic, cultural, political), interpersonal (relationships with parents/caregivers, peers, community members, state and non-state actors) and individual level factors.

This report reveals the manner in which children's perceptions of trafficking are influenced by the messages that they receive from others (adults, children, institutions, media etc.) which they actively interpret in line with their own experiences, beliefs and value systems. Although children were not asked specific questions about trafficking unless they introduced the issue themselves, many described its mechanisms and processes. They highlighted coercion and deception as the central means by which children are trafficked. Aside from this, their comprehension of deception or what they describe as being "tricked" or "cheated" is mediated by their own understanding and decision-making abilities in contexts characterised by adversity, the challenges that they face at macro and interpersonal levels and their wants and needs.

Children suggest that traffickers manipulate these needs and wants by making promises or offering them tangible or possibly intangible things they desire. These desires are influenced by their emotions, the challenges that they seek to overcome, their position in society in relation to others,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Hereafter referred to as "Kosovo"

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  The coordinators are affiliated with Save the Children Alliance offices in Southeast Europe and in the case of Bulgaria are attached to Animus Association Foundation and Partners Bulgaria Foundation.

and the manner in which they are treated by adults and other children. Children argue that despite the fact that these offers may turn out to be false, they make a decision after weighing up their options which eventually lead to unintended and unwanted consequences such as coercion, exploitation and trafficking. They do, however, argue that their decisions cannot be seen apart from an absence of options, which hinders their ability to do otherwise and thereby facilitate trafficking mechanisms and processes.

In their accounts of these experiences children provided unique insight into how they perceive risk and resiliency in their everyday lives. The resiliency that they exhibit is evident in a number of situations where they develop complex strategies to survive and cope with adversity. The success of these strategies hinges on a number of interpersonal and individual factors related to social supports, a high sense of self-efficacy (sense of power in relation to others), courage, planning and decision-making skills. Strategies are said to fail if children are physically weak, possess a low sense of self-esteem or have limited knowledge, experience and information. All of these can affect their ability to perceive and weigh up options. Each of these risk and resiliency factors rests on other individual, interpersonal and macro factors including age and constructions of childhood including gender and sexuality, knowledge and skills, education, experience, physical wellbeing and constructions of health/disability. Social supports at the level of the family, peer and community influences and a sense of social exclusion related to ethnicity, institutionalized living and behaviour that flouts social conventions and norms, were also important risks and resiliency factors.

Each of these risks and resiliency factors are highly individual, contextual and situational in that they differ for children in different situations, facing different types of adversities and challenging situations. It was discovered that the interaction and accumulative effect of macro, interpersonal and individual factors and processes have a significant effect on children's risk and resiliency. This hinders causal claims about risk and trafficking and makes it challenging to identify specific children who are at risk. Nevertheless, this report argues that children's perceptions need to be considered when attributing risk factors to anti-trafficking activities.

In general, this research found that children's perceptions of their strengths and vulnerabilities are reflected in their descriptions of trafficking. Children's feelings, fears and daily experiences are also reflected in their views of the violence and exploitation that trafficked victims face, the emotions that are attributed to these victims and the explanations that they provide about traffickers' behaviour. Hence, the trafficking messages that they receive are interpreted differently depending on their own experiences, needs, beliefs and value-systems. This is also evident in their accounts of their escape strategies from violent people and risky situations which appear in their accounts of trafficking survivors.

Under the theme evidence-based policy, children have described their direct and indirect contact with state institutions, intergovernmental and non-governmental organisations, and on this basis have made a list of recommendations that pertain to them in situations of adversity and for children who are at risk of being trafficked. Children generally feel greater responsibility that action should be taken to overcome the risks. Their criticism also includes policy-makers, practitioners and front-line workers accountable for reducing and alleviating the risks that children face.

The recommendations centre on respecting the protection of children's rights including the importance of listening to and valuing children's opinion about their needs and wants while creating

12

avenues or forums where children can express themselves. This involves receiving support and counselling from adults and children alike who have faced similar challenges, increasing and enhancing children's options, access to information and skills in relation to recreation, education, health, migration and employment as well as raising children's awareness of trafficking mechanisms and processes and providing them with a practical means of protecting themselves.

Instead of simply "scaring children", they called for support in terms of enhancing their strengths, developing their decision-making skills and equipping them with practical information about how to escape and survive a potential trafficking situation. In general, children suggested that their protection from trafficking and other adversities should be prioritised and that a range of players need to take responsibility for undertaking this, with the assistance of children themselves.

This report reveals the importance of children's participation. Their involvement in design, sampling, information-gathering and dissemination phases has enabled them to exercise ownership over the final product. Not only will versions of national reports be adapted for children in local languages but throughout this report children's perceptions have been prioritised. It is believed that by doing so this report will have practical value for policy-makers, practitioners and front-line workers in state and non-state institutions, who instead of developing policies and programmes for children, should do it with children to ensure that they are informed and not misguided and will not inadvertently enhance the risks that children face. The first step in this regard involves listening to children. Therefore, this report stands as one forum where they can express themselves and speak out.

# Introduction

#### **Background**

n September 2005, Save the Children started Phase Two of the regional Child Trafficking Response Programme (CTRP) in concert with seven countries/entities in Southeast Europe, namely Albania, Bulgaria, Bosnia-Herzegovina, Montenegro, Romania, Serbia and the United Nations Administered Province of Kosovo. CTRP Phase Two followed an initial pilot-phase from 2002 to 2004.

Phase Two recognizes that child trafficking remains a serious concern in this region but that there is limited understanding of what trafficking means to children, why some children are more likely to be trafficked and which interventions could help prevent children from being trafficked. Therefore, aside from prevention, protection and reintegration strategies, Save the Children has identified participatory, child-centered research as a priority in order to develop effective interventions.

The aims of the research project were:

- To determine how to identify the children, families and communities most at risk of trafficking, and to document examples of what has worked and what more is needed in preventing trafficking
- To understand the processes of trafficking, including children's understandings of these, why some children are trafficked and what protects other children who are in danger of being trafficked
- To use this understanding, and Save the Children's experience and that of partner organizations to define and build more effective anti-trafficking responses

This research project commenced in March 2006 following a series of regional workshops. It was designed and led at the regional level by the Regional Research Advisor and was carried out by 40 country coordinators and researchers who have worked with the support of the regional management team. At the regional level the management team included the Programme Director, Programme Manager, Programme Advisor, Research Advisor, Data Analysts and Information Coordinator. At the national level, research teams included Save the Children country coordinators and other programme partner's coordinators, led by researchers and field researchers.

Data from the field informed both national and regional reports. National reports were launched in May/June 2007 and are available on CD-Rom as an accompaniment to the regional report. The data was analysed independently at both national and regional levels. This regional report was compiled using data, which was directly translated from local languages into English. It is derived from fieldwork involving 876 respondents, including 618 children and 258 key informants across the seven countries/entities.

#### **Structure**

This report has been divided into two components. The first component will provide an overview of the research design, methods and process. The second component will provide the findings and recommendations of this research.

Chapter I will provide a general review of existing academic and NGO literature on risk and resiliency in respect to child trafficking in Southeast Europe. It will not provide an overview of policies and practices in this field but will concentrate on research that has been conducted, the methods that have been used, as well as the insights, weaknesses and gaps that have emerged in the findings on risk and resiliency. In addition, it will not offer a detailed contextualized analysis as this in-depth information is only available in the national reports (See CD-Rom).

Chapter 2 will describe the manner in which the conceptual framework underlying this research project sought to overcome the gaps that exist in current literature. It will introduce the themes that have governed this research namely, risk and resiliency; decision-making, choice and power; social support mechanisms and processes such as exploitation, migration and coercion. It also concentrates on safety and security (physical, economic and social) hopes and dreams as well as evidence-based policy. Despite the fact that their action is constrained by a range of factors, it will be argued that children are able to make decisions and act on them, even in contexts characterized by adversities such as poverty, violence and exploitation.

In Chapter 3, the manner in which this conceptual framework influenced the research methodology will be described with particular attention to the research process, and the importance attached to child participation, reflexivity and relationships. Children were active participants in the research process in that they influenced its design as well as the sampling and data gathering methods used. These methods include participant observation as well as interviews and focus group discussions with children and key informants (state and non-state actors at national and local levels). The findings from the sessions with key informants were analyzed in the national reports in light of the specific country context. This regional report will concentrate on children's perceptions which will be discussed in the second component.

Chapter 4 of this report is dedicated to the findings derived from children's perspectives. It is broken down into sub-sections that concentrate on the trafficking messages that children receive and interpret, and their perception of the mechanisms and processes of trafficking. In addition to coercion, children highlighted deception or what they describe as being "tricked" or "cheated" by offers of attention, entertainment, material goods, employment, travel abroad, marriage, education, friendship, compliments and care. The report will analyze these mechanisms in light of the experiences that children in this study face in their daily lives. It then describes children's accounts of "escape strategies" and how their own experiences with violence and adversity have affected their perceptions of trafficking victims' ability to escape and survive.

This is followed by a discussion on the effects of violence that children face and the manner in which this has mediated the effects that they attribute to victims of trafficking. It also describes the institutional and organizational support that children in this study received – as they perceive it - when confronted by these adversities.

To conclude this section, a list of recommendations made by children in relation to their own lives, and those of potential victims of trafficking follows. As the report has aimed to enable children to speak for themselves, no additional recommendations will be provided. Children's recommendations center on increasing their capacity to cope with risks as well as the responsibility of state and non-state actors to reduce these risks. The conclusion provides a general summary of the main issues that have emerged in relation to the research themes and questions as expressed by children.

Although this study is not representative, it does offer detailed insight into the perceptions of children, which have thus far been ignored in the field of child trafficking. Children's central complaint was that they are often denied a voice and that they have little say regarding issues that affect their lives and few people listen to them, trust or support them. Hence, the central aim of this report is to enable children to "speak out" about their vulnerabilities and strengths generally in relation to trafficking.

16

# Chapter I Literature Review

There is a plethora of research that provides a useful overview and situational analysis of the issue of child trafficking. This chapter provides a general overview of existing literature on risk and resiliency in the context of trafficking in Southeast Europe. More detailed and contextualized analysis can be found in the seven national reports. By highlighting the macro, interpersonal and individual risk factors that have been identified in academic and NGO reports, this review analyzes the strengths and weaknesses of research that has been undertaken in this field. This analysis serves as an introduction to the conceptual and methodological framework of the CTRP regional research project which has sought to build on these strengths and fill in the gaps in understanding.

In the search for useful information about how trafficking affects children's lives and why some are more vulnerable to trafficking than others, a number of gaps are evident in the literature. One of the reasons for this is that the aims of existing research and the methods employed rarely go into any deep analysis beyond surface information. Much of this research is dependent upon secondary data and the repetition of material. As a result, a number of conclusions are drawn and statements made which are based either on the thoughts and beliefs of adult respondents (the police, government officials, NGOs) or on statistics that in some cases are out of date and in other cases are at best "guesstimates".

This criticism should not be seen to undermine the many valuable efforts and interventions that have been undertaken to address the issues faced by vulnerable children and the existing studies which have, in their own way, contributed towards helping us learn about the complexities of the issue. However, there remains an overall lack of understanding regarding children's realities, their needs and the possibilities for action towards improving their lives (Caouette, undated). Furthermore, there is a lack of rigorous questioning of taken-for-granted assumptions. This could be that the data in the field of child trafficking generally arises in the context of advocacy and campaigning so that knowledge is organized around our own requirements for particular kinds of facts rather than the actual lives and needs of trafficked and vulnerable children (Ennew et al, 1996).

We need to move beyond stating that trafficking is a problem and preparing evidence that sensationalizes it and the lives of the children involved towards looking at how well we are dealing with the problem. Policy approaches and programme responses should become more evidence-based, drawing on the results of relevant research and evaluations. Evidence-based policy is essential because numerous interventions have failed to fulfill their objectives or have come short of making any improvements in their recipients' lives. This is because few attempts to ascertain the needs of recipients and evaluate impact in light of these needs have been made and there is little cooperation and coordination among a range of actors. Also there is a tendency to focus on quantitative and/or cost-efficiency outcomes. In general, more emphasis tends to be placed on "conventional wisdom" rather than validated knowledge when structuring interventions. Hence, we need to know much more about the causes and impact of trafficking, not only on the survivors but also their families and communities and all those affected by it (Laczko 2005).

# Methodological approaches

There are a number of difficulties associated with gathering data on children who are trafficked. One of the central problems is that there is often a conflation or confusion of the concepts and terms surrounding illegal migration, hazardous work practices and trafficking, despite numerous internationally recognized definitions and conventions in this regard. Many communities, families and children are not familiar with the term "trafficking", nor do they regard some of their practices as examples of exploitation and/or trafficking. Given the stigma attached to this label, victims of trafficking may not want to come forward and risk social exclusion practices in the form of labeling, humiliation, and ostracism. Their involvement in illegal practices might also prevent them from disclosing their identities and activities, as they may fear incarceration and deportation to their country or towns of origin. Not only are these victims hard to reach and rescue from trafficking situations, and in many ways are "hidden" from researchers, practitioners and policy-makers, but methods used to understand their involvement in trafficking are often limited or flawed as emphasis is placed narrowly on prevalence figures and routes, and victim profiles that look at the child in isolation from the family and community context. In addition, where it exists, service providers' deep knowledge on these issues is often not translated into policy or programming to the extent possible.

A literature review carried out on the commercial sexual exploitation of children by Ennew and colleagues provides a particularly critical overview of what it sees as "poor quality research" characterized by "badly thought out and applied research methods, poor data and inadequate analysis" (1996:29). While dated, the review does list some "common errors" of research method and analysis, which are relevant to, and echo criticisms made about current research on child trafficking (Kelly, 2002, 2005). These errors relate to who conducts research, the methods employed and the type of analysis that is conducted.

Ennew (1996) argues that much "research" is carried out by lawyers or activists with no background in research, whose activities are best described as "fact-finding" and who accept as fact what would be thrown out of court as hearsay evidence. Furthermore, the quality of the data is affected by who collects it. Children's willingness to share rather sensitive and personal information with a researcher is contingent upon how they perceive the researcher, and the quality of the researcherrespondent relationship that has been established. For instance, children are likely to be intimidated by law enforcers who are often tasked with interviewing them (Dottridge 2006).

Limanowska (2005) argues that local actors should be involved in the data gathering process. More specific to our research, Dottridge calls for increased child participation in research on child trafficking. In particular he argues that there are "*no examples of children being directly involved in the design of the prevention initiative*" (2006). Instead he points to the manner in which children have been informed about trafficking initiatives. In a few cases they have been consulted in monitoring and evaluation and they have acted as assistants in education-related activities. However, they tend not to have been involved in the initial stages of project design and implementation. An independent evaluation of the first phase of the CTRP project found that children's participation in general anti-trafficking activities was valuable because it ensured that adults increasingly took children's opinions into account, the ability of children to protect themselves was enhanced, communities expressed a greater degree of ownership over the project and programmers had a better understanding of the situation (Ginzburg 2004). Despite this "added value" children's active participation in research on child trafficking still remains rarely encouraged.

With regard to sampling techniques, it is argued that research on exploitation and trafficking is often biased because researchers gain access to research subjects by means of institutions, projects and other programmes (Ennew 2006). Their findings may therefore be skewed by factors such as children's willingness to please institutional staff or avoid negative repercussions and the possibility that both adults and children exaggerate problems in order to attract greater project advantages.

Furthermore, samples are also likely to be twisted because they are drawn from what Ennew (2006) describes as "*unsuccessful child prostitutes*" (or street/working children for that matter) whose activities have attracted the attention of helping or controlling agencies. Research often centers on these groups of children because they are easier to access.

Aside from this, information is generalized to represent large populations or is subjected to inappropriate quantitative analysis. Researchers rely on single-method studies often on anecdotes that are passed off as case studies. Far too often the only social science method employed is the questionnaire survey which is a poor method when used with children in different contexts, particularly where sensitive subjects such as sexuality and abuse are concerned (Ennew 1996). These surveys do not capture the diverse and highly contextualized and individual manner in which maltreatment is defined or experienced. In addition, the information gathered is seldom cross-checked (sometimes called "triangulation") by using other methods, or by comparison with other studies and secondary data. Very poor quality and out of date official data such as census material, police and other authority records, birth records are used to underpin the quality of this research. Hence, the level of methodology research on child trafficking is often limited.

### **Research and prevention**

Research tends to be focused on children who have been identified by the police and shelters as having been trafficked. As a result, research with a specific focus on the prevention of child trafficking is frequently neglected. As Limanowska argues, "While many institutions are trying to assist trafficked persons, the opinions of the potential victims are not always taken into consideration" (2005:65). This view has also been expressed in the latest SEERIGHTS report which stated, "The evidence which is needed to develop useful prevention strategies is still missing and further research is necessary. This is especially in regard to the relationship between poverty, discrimination, child abuse and neglect and trafficking as well as the demand for trafficking" (Cited in Dottridge (2006:13)). Dottridge (2006) argues that this evidence needs to inform the identification of children who are at risk of being trafficked and that this is a useful approach to prevent trafficking.

Research (2003) conducted in Serbia under the framework of the CTRP concludes that "a comprehensive research to define the most vulnerable groups of children as potential subjects to trafficking should be conducted as a foundation for a more structured approach to trafficking prevention in order to address the root causes in a most structured way" (Cited in Ginzburg, 2005: 37). On this basis Ginzburg argues that research should be designed to elucidate "how and why" children are trafficked and/or leave trafficking situations (Ginzburg, 2005: 48).

This need for research to understand the root causes has been reiterated by a number of state and non-state actors.<sup>3</sup> This term "root causes" has become a buzz word in various anti-trafficking circles and yet there have been few attempts to define what is meant by this term or how it can be conceptualized and researched.

In order to conceptualize these causes, Dottridge (2006) refers to three main categories: immediate, underlying and structural/root causes. On this basis he concludes that the risks or vulnerabilities associated with trafficking cannot be seen in isolation from the risks associated with other forms of exploitation and violence. As a result, he argues that it is necessary to conduct research with groups of children who may be at-risk of exploitation and violence generally, in order to understand risks associated with trafficking more specifically because "much could be learned from children who are not trafficked when others in their circumstances are" (Dottridge, 2006: 27).

Dottridge adds that it is also equally important to undertake research on "*protective factors*" in order to understand why some children are less likely to be trafficked (2006: 27). Ginzburg's (2004) evaluation of the first phase of the CTRP states that more clarification of terms such as "vulnerabilities" and "protection" are necessary:

"The definition of vulnerabilities to trafficking, the identification of specific groups of children at risk, and the Programme's capacity to reach these children are among the greatest challenges faced by Save the Children in phase II. It indeed appears, at times and in parts of the project that preventative measures rest on assumptions which are not clearly spelled out. Two questions can thus be raised. The first is how are vulnerable groups defined and identified? And secondly to what extent are they really, in the end, the prime beneficiaries of Save the Children's efforts?" (2004: 36)

Hence, we need greater clarity in terms of our definition of "at risk" and how we identify children who may be more at risk of being trafficked and those who may be more resilient in this matter. The subsequent section discusses the manner in which these risk factors are defined in the literature.

# Macro risk factors

#### Poverty

Poverty is cited as a "root cause" in a number of studies and in the prevention initiatives of numerous state and non-state actors<sup>4</sup>. A number of reports suggest that the majority of assisted trafficking victims are unemployed, have low levels of education and few professional skills. They point to ethnic minorities who live in rural areas where there are high levels of unemployment as being at risk of being trafficked. Limanowska (2005) highlights the following reasons behind poverty in Southeast Europe: armed conflict, the transition from centrally planned to market economies with cuts in public spending, inadequate economic reforms and social welfare systems. It is said that this has led to a collapse in social security systems, a rise in male unemployment and migration. These factors have been discussed in detail in the CTRP national reports.

Although there is a wealth of information on the causes of poverty, there is little in-depth understanding of how they relate to trafficking risks and resiliency for children in particular.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See for example, the OSCE Action Plan which recommends data collection and research, and greater analysis of "root causes". The Statement of Commitments of the 4<sup>th</sup> SPTF Regional Ministerial Forum in 2003 included a commitment to systematically collect data on child trafficking in the area of prevention. UNIFEM's regional programme on "women's economic security and rights" focuses on the importance of data analysis to understand the "root causes" of trafficking (Limanowska 2005).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> For instance, it is listed in the SPTF National Programmes to Combat Trafficking in Human Beings (National Plans of Action) Background Paper, the UN Convention on Organized Crime and the Palermo Protocol, the UN Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights "Principles and Guidelines on Human Rights and Human Trafficking" developed by UNOHCHR (2002).

Limanowska (2005) argues that there is a dearth of research on the relationship between poverty and socio-economic inequalities, discrimination, child abuse, neglect and trafficking. Furthermore, there is little understanding of what enables some families to cope with poverty, the effects of poverty on interpersonal relationships such as intimate partner violence or on individual behaviour such as alcohol abuse, migration and so-called "risk taking" (see below). In general, there is no explicit link between children who live in situations of social and economic poverty and trafficking.

In fact, some authors have found that poverty is not necessarily a significant risk factor. For instance, Surtees (2004) found that more identified victims of trafficking reported "average" living conditions. She adds that in Moldova people identified as trafficked for the purposes of begging reported having a low socio-economic status but she explains that this correlation of economic background and trafficking vulnerability is not surprising since begging itself requires having a "poor appearance" (Surtees, 2004: 10). In fact, one report suggests that although poverty is generally considered to be an important push factor for migration not all child migrants are poor: "empirical data shows that intending migrants do not usually have a very low financial status... in terms of an objective measure of income there is no difference between families with vulnerable girls and the average household" (El-Cherkek et al, 2004 46). So a greater understanding is needed of the relationship of poverty to migration specifically and migration to trafficking generally.

#### **Migration**

Migration is frequently cited as a factor that puts children at risk through their precarious immigration status. It is held that children may have migrated with their families or voluntarily on their own but may end up in foreign countries without any protection, and so become extremely vulnerable to exploitation and trafficking (ECPAT 2004:30). Many children are not aware of their rights, they lack information and do not know the legal procedures for traveling abroad and the risks related to migration. In addition, it is suggested in a number of studies that success stories from those who return and idealized notions about living abroad encourage risk-taking (El-Cherkek et al, 2004 Renton 2001, ECPAT 2004). Hence, the existing literature suggests that migration may enhance the risk of trafficking.

On the other hand, the role of migration in terms of risk is multifaceted. It is too simple to see migration only in terms of risk, as in some cases, children may, through migration, actively take themselves away from vulnerable situations. For instance, they may run away from home to escape violence and poverty. So in this sense, their migration and desire to improve their lives might be a sign of resiliency and not risk per se.

There is little understanding of the reasons behind child migration. It may be socially acceptable in a particular community, it may be a means of escaping poverty or conflict and/or it may be a means of earning income and fulfilling interpersonal responsibilities through the return of remittances (Surtees 2005). Very little attention has been paid to how living in a context where there are high levels of irregular migration affects children, who may become involved in trafficking (Kelly 2005). It is therefore necessary to understand the social context, and the political, socio-economic and cultural factors as well as the processes informing this context in order to ascertain whether migration is seen by children, families and communities as a "normal act", before one can state that migration is a risk factor for trafficking (Surtees 2005). In many of the communities in which research for this project was conducted, migration has become normative and acceptable in the face of poverty and rising socio-economic inequalities. So one needs to understand how

this has affected the incidence of trafficking. In communities where migration is so common, how can one automatically identify all child migrants as at-risk of being trafficked? Instead, more emphasis needs to be placed on how this culture of migration is played out at interpersonal and individual levels in order to gain a more in-depth understanding of risk and resiliency.

An interesting point is made by Kelly (2005) who suggests that as well as looking at the vulnerability of children who migrate we should also consider the far greater numbers of children who are left behind when their parents seek employment elsewhere. She points out that these children are vulnerable to neglect and mistreatment by the adults, in whose care they have been left, especially when parents do not and cannot remit money for their care and upkeep.

This conclusion could be backed up in research carried out by Terres des Hommes which quotes a study that estimated that in 1999, 150,000 children in Albania had been abandoned by one or both parents and were being helped by their extended family (LaCava & Nanetti, 2000 in Terres des Hommes 2005:7). Again, further analysis and research is needed in order to find out whether these children are at greater risk of trafficking: is it because they are subject to violence, exploitation and trafficking at the hands of their relatives or other people, or because they try to join their parents abroad, and in the process are trafficked?

In the context of Southeast Europe, Limanowska (2005) argues that the effect of broader political and economic processes related to EU accession on migration and trafficking has not been explained. In addition, the effect of protracted conflict and social dislocation on children's risk to trafficking is not understood or adequately discussed in the literature on child trafficking. However, it is not clear how conflict in this region and political transitions have affected children's migration patterns generally and their risk and resiliency in relation to trafficking more specifically. The effect of the growth and impunity of organized crime and the West's increasing demand for cheap labour and sex services all play into the hands of organized crime also needs to be considered regarding children's migration patterns and their risk of being trafficked (Limanowska 2005).

#### **Cultural factors**

Surtees argues that trafficking needs to be seen as "a cultural and historical event" (2005:22) and be analyzed in light of traditional social practices. In Southeast Europe, the Roma (and Egyptian/Jevgjit) are considered to be a group particularly at risk of trafficking. It is often unclear whether this is related to certain cultural practices (e.g. early or arranged marriages, child labour, migration patterns) or the daily discrimination that this group faces. This discrimination is manifested in their lack of access to education, employment and often lack of personal documents. These cultural practices are often seen in isolation, without looking at how they are affected by the socio-economic and political context and by the actions of adults and children themselves. Furthermore, there is the risk that our own ingrained prejudice distorts the actual evidence, when highlighting the Roma as an "at-risk group". The differences that exist within this group, in terms of language, culture and socio-economic status, are often ignored, as are the strengths that exist at the level of the community, family and the individual. Instead, emphasis is often placed only on the vulnerability of Roma children to trafficking.

An IOM report states that "In terms of ethnic background, it appears that young Roma women [in Romania] are more exposed to trafficking in human beings than the rest of the population" and that "there is a high probability for young Roma women to be vulnerable to trafficking, as well as for those girls

who abandoned school before high school graduation" (Lãzãroiu & Alexandru, 2003:5, 41). This report was compiled on the basis of information collected from 854 people in households which had at least one unmarried daughter living with the family, who was aged between 15 and 25 years, supplemented by information provided by eight focus groups in three locations (Bucharest, Pascani and Sighisoara). The report implies from observations that a disproportionately high number of Roma girls and young women are trafficked based on the information collected but it does not present evidence to support this claim. Therefore it is impossible to know whether the observation applied equally to children and adults or whether it was based in part on the prejudices of either the authors or their informants (Dottridge 2005).

Another ILO-IPEC report has been quoted as showing that 14.6 per cent of trafficked minors were of Roma ethnicity, but in fact the report concerned presents information about an unrepresentative sample of 55 children who were questioned after being trafficked, eight of whom said they were Roma (2003: 20). This evidence consequently does not show that a disproportionate number of Roma children are trafficked either abroad or within Romania. In view of the high level of prejudice which exists against Roma minorities in Romania and other countries, it seems important to establish whether there is objective evidence that disproportionately high numbers of Roma girls are being trafficked before developing prevention programmes which are targeted specifically at children of Roma origin.

#### Interpersonal risk factors

Even when the social context is taken into account, little attention is directed at understanding why particular groups of children within a particular geographical area or social group are at a greater risk of being trafficked as Dottridge (2006) argues. Surtees notes:

"We need to think beyond general social categories and situate our interventions in the specifics of victim's lives and experiences. Identifying these specifics may allow us to identify resiliency factors required to combat trafficking. A more carefully situated analysis may also allow us to identify risk factors amongst other social groups, such as class, religious and culture groups" (2005: 21).

Much of the existing research on this phenomenon fails to account for the highly contextual, situational and individual nature of trafficking and in particular the manner in which a range of economic, socio-cultural, legislative and institutional factors at the macro level affect interpersonal relationships.

In the familial context, there is a dearth of research on parents' complicity in trafficking and exploitation. Research carried out by Terres des Hommes (2005) found that children were more likely to report that their parents were knowledgeable about the decision for the child to migrate, while parents generally indicated being unaware of this decision. Based on children's comments, parents were usually aware that children were going to be working abroad mainly in Greece and Italy and were involved in the negotiating process. Children justified their parents' action on the grounds that poverty had affected their parents' abilities to make other choices. However, this does not provide information about whether parents are involved in migration per se, or actually complicit in the trafficking process.

Further ways in which the research suggests that relationships within the family can put a child at

risk are through abuse and family violence. The family environment can act as a "push factor" when considering children's own decision's to migrate (El-Cherkeh et al, 2004:45). These families are frequently described as "dysfunctional" (See Ginzburg 2004) and are said to be characterized by non-nuclear households, single parents, poor intergenerational and gender communication and high levels of violence (Surtees: 2005).

In the first phase of the CTRP, Save the Children identified the following risk factors as encouraging the risk of trafficking: children who suffer family violence and abuse and children who lack family support and protection (e.g. children in institutional care, separated children). Nevertheless, there does not appear to be any conclusive evidence to suggest that being exposed to higher than average levels of intimate violence or abuse is a key risk factor when it comes to trafficking (Ginzburg 2004).

For instance, with reference to Bulgarian minors who were trafficked, Surtees stated, "Most reported coming from "normal" family environments without violence or conflict" (2005: 6). Many children grow up in households were violence is used as a means of punishment. One cannot automatically assume that these children are all at risk of being trafficked. Instead it is more fruitful to understand the meaning attached by children to this violence and whether they regard it to be legitimate or illegitimate, just or unjust. The risk factor may not be violence per se but the "unjust" manner in which is metered out, as it is viewed by the child. This is contingent on the quality of the parent-child relationship, as well as values and practices related to child-rearing and discipline in a particular culture.

The failure to interrogate assumptions surrounding normal families and care-giving practices, leads to simplified and often demonizing understandings of risk. For instance, in some communities single-headed households are the norm. The Kosovo national report (2007) suggests that this is related to the effect of armed conflict where many women were widowed, whereas the Romanian report (2007) attributes it to poverty and the migration of parents for work. Instead of stating that all children living in single-headed households are at risk of being trafficked and thereby denigrating the efforts of single parents who struggle to care for their children, it is important to look at the strengths of family support systems and the involvement of relatives and the wider kin network in child care and income-generation.

The risk factor might therefore not be "dysfunctional" or interpersonal factors but poverty that leads some children to work to supplement their parent's income. In the context of work though they might be in jeopardy of being trafficked. Studies that fail to account for the social context when focusing on risk factors at the level of the family do not elucidate these complexities.

#### Individual risk factors

#### Gender

There has been increasing acknowledgement both in the literature and among practitioners that assumptions about gender and trafficking need to be critically analyzed.

Trafficking is frequently associated with the sexual exploitation of females but this obscures a reality where boys as well as girls are frequently trafficked for other purposes including forced

labour and begging (Surtees 2005). Emphasis is placed on patriarchy and the manner in which femininity is constructed and related to risk in terms of early and/or forced marriages and vulnerability to sexual violence. On this basis, it is said that girls are at more risk of being trafficked for the purposes of sexual exploitation. This is often the case because women and children have historically been placed in the same category when attempting to understand human trafficking.

As a result, Dottridge (2006) argues that the trafficking of men and boys is neglected. There is an overarching focus on sexual trafficking and the needs of particular groups of children are ignored. In terms of the former, there is little understanding of the manner in which socially constructed understandings of masculinity are played out at the interpersonal and individual levels. For instance, the pressure to live up to the standards and requirements of manhood by earning income and acting as breadwinners supporting their households might enhance the risk that boys are more likely to be involved in exploitative work practices particularly in the area of physical labour.

Limanowska states that there is anecdotal evidence that suggests that men from Moldova were trafficked mainly to Russia to work on construction sites and Albanian men were trafficked to Greece and the Former Yugoslavian Republic of Macedonia to work in the agricultural sector (2005: 27). Yet there is little recognition of the trafficking of boys for the purposes of begging, forced labour and even sexual exploitation.

#### **Educational achievement**

Low educational attainment is frequently cited as a risk factor determining whether children are at risk of trafficking or not. For instance, a Terre des Hommes report states that "dropping out of school" is an important sign or an "alarm bell" that a child will be trafficked (Dottridge 2006: 55).

A report by ECPAT states that "Roma children rarely attend school and therefore they have very high levels of illiteracy" (ECPAT, 2004:28). Information collected in Romania by ILO-IPEC is reported to show that "almost 30 per cent of Roma children between the ages of seven and nine and 17.2 per cent of 10-16 year-olds have never attended school" (Kane, 2005:11). This suggests that significant numbers of Roma children are working full-time while still of compulsory school age. However, neither of these findings actually demonstrates a link between being out of school and being trafficked. All it illustrates is that this minority does not value formal schooling either because they are discriminated against in the school environment because they have to work given high levels of poverty or because they do not believe that education will assist them to find employment at a later stage given discriminatory labour practices. Victim profiles that focus only on educational achievement at the level of the individual do not elucidate these macro socio-economic factors.

A report on vulnerability to trafficking in Romania states that "education should be considered an important factor influencing vulnerability... it shapes professional abilities and is a control institution imposing specific rules and norms...". "It is obvious that the higher the degree of education and the longer the period spent in school the more it constitutes a protection factor for vulnerability to trafficking" (El-Cherkeh et al, 2004: 40). However, this connection is not always obvious.

It is always important to look at the wider context in relation to the level of education in the rest of the country. Is this the situation just for victims of trafficking, or is it simply the situation across the whole country? There are some cases where victims of trafficking have higher levels of education than other children in their villages and the reasons why they find themselves in vulnerable situations is because they knew more, they had more ambitious dreams and wanted a different life (Rossi 2005).

In many cases what is missing is further analysis or evidence to illustrate exactly how and why education can be a protective factor. As Dottridge points out, school education does not guarantee that a child will not be trafficked but it can reduce a child's vulnerability or exposure to the circumstances in which trafficking may occur (2004:29). These issues need further exploration.

### Age and risk-taking

Adolescent risk-taking and so-called delinquency is also frequently highlighted as a factor that enhances the chances of trafficking. For instance, in the first phase of the CTRP in Croatia it was noted that "Children with behavioral problems are high-risk groups for child trafficking. Children with behavioral problems are often close to the criminal milieu. They spend more time on the street and they are often coming from poor and multi problem families" (Cited in Ginzburg 2004: 48). However, the extent to which this is likely to enhance the risk of trafficking is not demonstrated.

An IOM study carried out in Romania looked at the relationship between environmental (i.e. socializing) factors and individual personalities as a way of interpreting risk (Lãzãroiu & Alexandru, 2003). Based on a study of young women aged 16-25, the research suggested that vulnerability to trafficking is primarily shaped by a "strong desire to seek a job abroad and also from a propensity to break official and informal rules". The description of the vulnerable groups in terms of values and attitudes suggests that these girls are rather independent, even risk-takers, able to cope with uncertainty. They do not feel close to their family and do not believe that the family is the most important thing in their life. However, this research also listed the following as factors contributing to risk in the case of these young women not valuing education They included the lack of trust in public institutions and coming from a background of domestic violence plus neglect (Lãzãroiu & Alexandru: 2003:5-8).

However, the idea that a propensity to take risks might be a strong factor backed up by research carried out by Barnardos in the UK (2005). This study identified several factors that together put young people at greater risk (and which mirror those found in the IOM research above). These include, physical or sexual abuse within the family, being disengaged from education in their early teens, being hungry for attention, being keen to escape childhood and be regarded as adults (2005:17).

A number of these studies focus on adolescents' biological proclivity to engage in "risky behavior" without looking at the structural factors that ensure that their behaviour is a reasonable and rational response to hardships associated with gender, ethnic origin, generational discrimination and social exclusion (See De Sas Kropiwnicki 2007).

For instance, adolescents might be willing to take risks such as running away because they do not agree with the rules and constraints set by their parents or they may be seeking to escape home violence. They might rely extensively on their peers, given absent or inadequate parental support, advice and protection. They might consume alcohol or take drugs as a means of coping or dealing with daily adversities. Furthermore, instead of focusing on their so-called "delinquent behaviour"

and willingness to flout familial and social norms, attention should be to be directed to a manner in which many adolescents assume important responsibilities within their families. So they often migrate for the purposes of work to fulfill these duties. For instance in Romania, Dottridge states that it is legitimate for adolescents to take on jobs (2005: 36). Ginzburg argues that "*identifying the lack of a "sense of responsibility" as a root cause of trafficking implies that it is a weakness or fault within the victim which explains (to a certain extent at least) the trafficking episode"* (2004: 46). Instead it is necessary to understand risk-taking in light of interpersonal relationships and responsibilities, all of which are influenced by the social context.

#### Mechanisms and processes

Child trafficking tends to be defined by the majority of international organizations in line with the United Nations Protocol to Prevent, Suppress and Punish Trafficking in Persons, Especially Women and Children (2003), known as the Palermo Protocol, which states that any child under 18 who is recruited or moved from one place to another to be exploited is considered to have been trafficked, even if no element of coercion or deception is used during recruitment or transportation<sup>5</sup> (Dottridge, 2006: 17).

Anderson argues that child exploitation is often treated as synonymous with child trafficking (Anderson and O'Connell Davidson 2004); the latter by definition involving coercion and direct threat of harm. Anderson and O'Connell Davidson (2004) argue that many working children are described as being trafficked and without choice because we cannot conceive of them working. Similarly, children engaged in prostitution often tend to be classified as trafficked children because we cannot conceive of them making a decision to sell sex. Hence, more definitional clarity around the concepts of exploitation and trafficking are necessary.

Limanowska (2005) states that only a minority of victims in shelters had been trafficked across borders against their will. They decided to migrate because they believed in false promises of employment made by their trafficker. Even though deception was involved, one cannot deny the fact that some children made a decision to go with a person who turned out to be a trafficker. Even though their decision led to a range of unwanted and unintended consequences, their choices cannot be ignored. As has been argued these choices are related to the macro and interpersonal contexts within which children act.

In general, when referring to the exploitation of children, there is an overall emphasis on children as "victims" (Ennew 1996: 16), yet perhaps we should question whether this is a useful term to use when trying to understand how children find themselves in trafficking situations. The use of the term "victim" is too often used within a context that implicitly suggests powerlessness. In fact, most trafficking victims continue to exercise agency (that is to say, they make decisions and choices), but in contexts where their options and possibilities are severely constrained (Kelly 2005: 254). If we continue to see trafficked children or those who are at risk of being trafficked only as "victims", then we risk overlooking their roles as decision-makers, the options that they perceive to be available and the actors that influence their actions. This significantly weakens our analysis of the causes of child trafficking.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See Article 3, paragraph (a) of the <u>Protocol to Prevent, Suppress and Punish Trafficking in Persons</u>, especially Women and Children, which supplements the United Nations Convention against Transnational Organized Crime

As Surtees states, "We also need to increasingly access information about children's decision-making processes – who they consult (peers, teachers, parents, etc), at what point they make their decision and how we can reach them before their decision has been made" (2005: 20). It is therefore important to understand decision-making and influential macro, interpersonal and individual factors at each of the phases in the trafficking process.

Following Cusson a recent study emphasizes the importance of accounting for children's motivations in the context of trafficking and how these are linked to a child's opportunities, goals and resources (physical, social, cultural, cognitive, affective) (Shuteriqi et al, 2006: 23). It is suggested that Albanian children may be motivated to work in Greece to fulfill the goal of helping their families by showing what they are capable of achieving (resources). However, once in Greece the situation may differ from what was imagined. So for instance, children may decide to migrate for the purposes of work to support themselves or their families:

"The child might have wanted to follow an uncle or an acquaintance because he/she wanted to do something for his/her family, to contribute to the family income, to show that he/she could make it alone, to be as able as others, etc... It is only after this initial agreement that the child (and his/her family) are misled by the trafficker but he who is now a "trafficker" in our eyes was initially a "friend" in the eyes of the child" (Shuteriqi et al, 2006: 24).

This denial of children's choice is also related to the categorization of the trafficker-victim relationship only in fixed terms without looking at the shifting manner in which power is negotiated and played out in these relationships. Surtees reported that most minors who were trafficked "*reported few problems and no physical abuse on a day-to-day basis*" (Surtees 2005: 7). A number of authors highlight the role of trust in mediating these relationships. A child who trusts a person who turns out to be a trafficker (and may be a family member, relative or a friend) might describe their relationship in positive terms (Surtees 2005: 9, Dottridge 2006: 35; Shuteriqi et al, 2006: 25). It is important to understand how this trust is generated, earned and manifested when attempting to understand the mechanisms and processes behind trafficking generally and exploitation more specifically.

Dottridge argues that dependency is often perceived as exploitation. "Younger children, of necessity rely on an adult or older child for basic needs such as meals and shelter, and, in turn, they do as they are told" (2006: 19). In other words, these relationships are influenced by values associated with reciprocity, duty and obedience. These values may themselves be linked to the cultural context and the manner in which childhood is constructed. Interpersonal and macro factors therefore need to be considered when attempting to understand risk and resiliency in relation to trafficking. In order to overcome these gaps in understanding, Save the Children's CTRP developed an in-depth, participatory and child-centered research project to understand why some children are at more risk of being trafficked and others not, in particular social contexts. The conceptual framework and methodology was designed in a manner that sought to build on existing knowledge on this phenomenon and fill in the gaps of understanding that have been described in this literature review.

# Chapter 2 Conceptual Framework

To supplement the discussion on trafficking mechanisms and processes, prevention and research strategies, this section will briefly describe the key concepts underlying this research project, with particular reference to the notion of "child", "risk and resiliency" and "agency".<sup>6</sup> It will then reveal how these concepts have fed into the research aims and objectives.

#### Child

"Child" has been broadly defined in line with the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (1989) as a person below the age of eighteen years, who is accorded special rights and protections by virtue of his/her age. This research project accepts this age categorisation for the sake of practicality and consistency, although rejects accompanying assumptions that are sometimes made about children's competencies and what childhood is or ought to be.

These assumptions often relate to a particular understanding of childhood that has informed institutional, NGO and academic responses to children's deprivation and exploitation thus far (Hoyles and Evans 1989; Archard 1993; Jenks 1996; Boyden 1997). This understanding constructs children as incomplete, dependent human "becomings" (Lee 2001) who by virtue of their moral, cognitive and affective incapacities require a stable, peaceful and playful childhood in which they can depend upon adult duty-bearers (Quortrup 1997). This ideology of an "authentic childhood" has become institutionalized in the spheres of politics, economics, medicine and law and has amounted to a global standard of child rearing and child welfare (Rose 1989; Scarre 1989; Boyden 1997). It is evident in international law<sup>7</sup> and has increasingly dominated the aid and development agenda (Jenks 1996; Woodhead 1997).

In academic circles, there has been what James and Prout (1997) describe as an "emergent paradigm" on childhood in which the universality of this notion has been debunked. Sociologists suggest that children are not simply acted upon by parents, institutions and social norms (Parsons 1951) but play an active role in negotiating their development (Solberg 1996; Corsaro 1997; Solberg 1997). Anthropologists have revealed that the notion of childhood itself varies from culture to culture (Mead 1928; Benedict 1934; La Fontaine 1986; Harkness and Super 1991). Developmental psychologists have found that perception, motivation, learning, emotion and cognition are all dependent on social contexts and economic and social practices (Vygotsky 1966, c1962; Harre

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Further details about the conceptual framework can be found in De Sas Kropiwnicki, Z (2007), The sex trade hierarchy: The interplay of structure and agency in the decision-making processes of female adolescent prostitutes in Cape Town, South Africa. University of Oxford: International Development Studies. D.PHIL doctoral dissertation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Child rights theorists argue that children as a category deserve special protection. As human beings children have fundamental or non-derogable rights, but as children they are entitled to derogable rights by virtue of their age, as outlined in the 1989 Convention of the Rights of the Child (CRC), which was ratified by 191 state parties. The provisions of the CRC apply to all human beings under the age of 18 unless the child lives in a jurisdiction in which the majority is attained earlier in which case the state in question bears the burden of justifying specific lower age limits.

#### 30 Chapter 2

1974; Ingelby 1974; Bronfenbrenner 1979; Harre 1986; Cole 1995; Miller and Goodnow 1995).

Hence, one cannot assume the existence of a universal concept of childhood, given the diverse manner in which childhood is socially constructed, the varied nature of the multiple environments in which children develop and their various roles and responsibilities in relationships with others. The child is therefore a unique individual with multiple capacities and talents given his/her particular competencies, personal characteristics and the nature of his/her activities and practices in a range of social, cultural and economic settings, within which he/she acts and is acted upon.

### **Risk and resiliency**

Children's understanding of experiences is influenced by their individual characteristics and by the socio-economic and cultural contexts in which they live. One cannot assume that a particular factor is risky for the child because the notion of risk itself is specific to both the individual and the context. More efforts need to be made to qualify such claims while accounting for the cumulative effects of a range of risk factors and the existence of possible moderating and mediating factors which might enhance children's resiliency in the face of adversity.

Psychological research that has emerged suggests that the effects of adversity on children are not as bad as originally supposed and that many children are durable and proactive (Boyden 2005). For example in the context of war, in terms of psychological trauma, estimates of clinical trauma are lower than expected (Swartz and Levett 1989; Garbarino and Kostelny 1996; Seeley, Clarke et al. 1996; Straker, Medelsohn et al. 1996). In terms of moral development researchers in Northern Ireland discovered that children's social and moral concepts are resilient. Robert Coles, a Harvard University psychiatrist, argues that social crisis can even stimulate moral development in some children (Gibson; Boothby and Knudsen 2000) by strengthening their empathy for human suffering, altruistic sentiments and enhancing their commitment to serve other victims of violence.

In order to understand children's relationships with their multiple environments and the interaction of different risk and resiliency factors when they face adversity, it is useful to adopt an ecological systems approach as conceptualised by Bronfenbrenner (1979). It included the following:

- The immediate environment within which children act and are acted upon (e.g. home, school, shelter, streets)
- Their relationships with significant others such as parents and peers
- The social settings that influence their behaviour (e.g. parent's workplace)
- Wider belief systems and opportunity structures (e.g. socio-economic and cultural context)
- Temporal transitions in the socio-historical setting: how society has changed over time

According to such approaches, multiple influences on individual behaviour can be best understood as operating at different levels. Particular characteristics are nested within contexts of interpersonal relationships which are in turn nested within socio-cultural and economic systems (Bronfenbrenner, 1979, 1993, 1995, 1998) (Figure 1). Ecological perspectives such as this have been critiqued on several grounds including the difficulty of defining the levels with precision (Dawes, Kafaar et al. 2004) and the problems associated with categorising factors neatly in relation to causality. For example, poverty impinges on the ability of a family to subsist and thus affects everyday life in complex ways. Behaviour is co-determined by different sources of influences - not simply one-way causation between levels (Bandura 2001).



In addition, child trafficking victims do not fit into a homogenous category and there are multiple pathways leading to trafficking, which involve a complex array of factors. Hence, a cumulative rather than ecological model will be developed. This cumulative model will not place artificial boundaries between risk factors but will attempt to capture the complex interaction of a range of factors at the macro, interpersonal and individual levels that bound children's decision-making. For example, the socio-cultural and economic context will affect parents' employment practices and the manner in which they relate to their children, the norms and values that the children grow up with and the type of options that they have available. These factors will influence what decisions they make and how they act in this context.

#### Agency and decision-making

The notion that being an agent means being able to make rational decisions is frequently used to exclude children from the category of agency. This has been supported by developmental psychology which suggests that children do not have the cognitive capacity to make rational decisions. As mentioned above, it is important not to make assumptions about children's capacities and capabilities given the highly individual and contextual range of factors at work. This research project will focus on the idea that the term agency is related to intentionality. In other words, it involves being able to make a commitment to act on one's environment and motivate this with action. It will draw on the work of Bandura (2001) which highlights the following components of agency:

# 32 Chapter 2

Forethought is the ability to set goals, anticipate likely consequences and the capacity to structure one's actions in ways that are likely to produce desired outcomes and avoid detrimental ones. It involves weighing up various options before making a decision. Outcome expectations are largely constructed from observed relationships between the environment and people's actions. In other words, after watching others, the agent will have some idea about what actions will lead to what outcomes. Self-evaluativeness and reactiveness involve monitoring one's behaviour in line with one's goals and standards which are rooted in a person's value system and personal identity. These judgements are based on the agents' abilities to reflect upon their thoughts and actions. They are related to the social norms that one draws upon. Self-efficacy is the foundation of human agency. It is the belief that one is capable of exercising some measure of control over one's own functioning and environment or whether one is capable of exercising power in relation to others. These efficacy beliefs allow individuals to exhibit resiliency in adverse conditions and shape the type of activities that people choose to engage in.

Although individuals do not have direct control over the social conditions and institutional practices that affect their everyday lives, they continue to seek their well-being, security and valued outcomes through the exercise of proxy agency. They try to get those with resources or expertise to secure outcomes on their behalf. For example, children may turn to their parents in the same way that citizens turn to their governments to act for them or they may turn to their peer group for support. This is particularly important because it shows that even though children may not always possess the power to act directly on their environments, they are still agents who can make decisions and act with or through others. The outcomes of a decision may be unintended or unwanted but this does not mean that the children do not make decisions and are not agents.

Hence the nature of human agency is based on intentionality, forethought, self-evaluation and self-reflection. It is exercised directly by proxy or in a collective manner. The manner in which it is exercised cannot be seen apart from the social context, which impacts upon children's aspirations, sense of efficacy, personal standards, affective states and self-regulatory standards (Bourdieu 1990, p.56). Children do not simply acquiesce to received notions as there is a range of personal variations in interpretations, enforcements, adaptation, circumvention and resistance to these institutions, hierarchies and discourses (Benjamin 1988). This interplay can be conceptualised as a "bounded agency". Giddens argues that the structure constrains or enables agency through the interplay of meanings, norms and power (Giddens 1984, p.15-30).

This structure influences social norms that influence socio-cultural practices which are by no means fixed or rigid but are affected by a range of historical, socio-cultural and economic processes. It also influences an individual's positioning in multiple relationships and hierarchies. Each position affects what opportunities and options that are perceived to be available and what outcomes they seek (Morriss 1987). Children act by weighing up their own power against those of others (Morriss 1987), utilising what they perceived to be the available resources and drawing upon norms and values (Giddens 1984; 1991). This is undertaken to seek a desired outcome and to negotiate, support or challenge their positioning in relationships and in particular the manner in which power is distributed (Foucault 1990). They often develop complex strategies in order to exercise this resistance although these strategies and decisions are all influenced by their emotions, feelings and desires.

In general it needs to be emphasised that the overarching theme of agency or decision-making with respect to children who might be at risk of being trafficked, must not be mistaken for

indifference towards the plight of exploited and/or trafficked victims, or an attempt to condone these abhorrent practices. Any attempt to deny the fact that they are subject to various forms of violence and exploitation is spurious, and at best, suspicious. Many cannot escape the poverty, discrimination, violence and pain that characterize their lives but they do however, struggle to survive and cope with these adversities.

### **Research objectives**

#### Aim I:

- To develop an in-depth and holistic understanding of the complex interplay of factors operating at the level of the child, family and wider community that increase some children's vulnerability to trafficking while protecting others
- To understand which particular children or groups of children are more likely to be trafficked
- To develop an understanding of the types of interpersonal relationships and associated roles and responsibilities that place children at risk of trafficking
- To ascertain which belief systems or social norms support trafficking with particular reference to those pertaining to childhood, gender, race, ethnicity, sexuality and violence
- To understand the precise mechanisms by which structural adversities (such as those associated with poverty, racism, gender inequity and conflict) may lead some at-risk children to be trafficked
- To determine whether common risk and resiliency factors can be identified across a range of contexts

#### Aim 2:

- To illuminate some of the processes and mechanisms by which children are trafficked
- To shed light upon the actors directly and indirectly involved in these processes (including traffickers, third parties, and others), their relationships with trafficked children, and how it is underpinned by certain socio-economic and cultural factors
- To increase understanding of the links between trafficking, migration and experiences of exploitation
- To examine children's decision-making in the context of trafficking and in particular what perceived choices they have, what outcomes they seek and how they go about attaining them
- To understand how children experience trafficking and what trafficking means to other at-risk children
- To evaluate whether child trafficking as perceived and constructed by policy-makers, practitioners and academics reflects the views expressed by children themselves

#### **Aim 3:**

- To increase knowledge within CTRP of the strengths and protection mechanisms that exist among children themselves, their families and their communities
- To develop understanding of the support and protection needs from the perspectives of children, their families and communities
- To provide information in order to develop a base-line assessment which can be used to monitor and evaluate future anti-trafficking responses

#### 34 Chapter 2

• To develop specific pilot activities in each country in response to increased understanding of existing needs, effective community prevention and protection measures

# **Evidence-based policy**

- Has Save the Children's (and its partner organizations) current interventions been identified by the children, their families and wider communities?
- If so, have these interventions led to any changes positive or negative in their lives?
- If positive, what interventions were particularly successful and why?
- If negative, what reasons were provided by the respondents?
- Did the respondents suggest possible ways of improving the success rate?
- Did the respondents regard this research project as necessary or relevant?
- How did this research affect their lives? Was this affect positive or negative?
- How will this research have a longer-term bearing upon their lives?
- How will the findings of this research be used in policy-making generally?
- In particular, will the needs identified in this research be used to assess existing and future projects? In other words, will this research amount to a needs assessment? Will the findings produce indicators that can be used to measure the success or failings of projects? Will this research amount to a baseline study that will enable future comparison in order to ascertain the success of projects over time? Will this research inform the monitoring and evaluation process?

# Chapter 3 The Research Process

n April and May 2006, each researcher participated in a 5-day training course on the research framework, methodology and ethical protocol. These methodological tools were piloted with children in each identified community and were constantly adapted according to the children's recommendations. In addition to conducting an in-depth, country-specific literature review, these researchers were responsible for conducting semi-structured interviews with key informants at national and local levels, semi-structured and unstructured interviews with children, and focus groups with children.

The Regional Research Advisor monitored this progress through monthly reporting, field diaries, regular field visits and daily communication. National reports were launched in May/June 2007, including in-depth contextual information found in these reports. The field data was translated into English and analysed at the regional level. The findings of this analysis can be found in this regional report. This section will describe the research methodology that was employed. It will highlight the feedback received from respondents and draw on extracts from researchers' field diaries and interview observation sheets.

### **Relationships and power**

In order to develop an in-depth understanding of the perceptions, experiences and decisionmaking of the children in this study, relationships were given primacy in the research process (Oakley 1981; Nencel 2001). In this sense, research was conceptualised as a process, which was constantly negotiated by researchers and respondents (Jones 1985).

Given the fact that both researcher and respondent play a role in setting, negotiating and contesting the research process, the methodology was designed to allow for flexibility in terms of format, time-frame and geographical location. Frequently, children are not included in the research process. Instead research on children's experiences of adversity is conducted for children or on behalf of children. This exclusion rests on certain assumptions about children's ability to recognise and express their needs and interests, particularly in contexts where they experience violence, exploitation and trafficking (Solberg 1996; Ennew and Boyden 1997; Woodhead and Faulkner; Christensen 2000; Punch 2002). By failing to move beyond this model, children's voices are rarely heard. This serves to reflect and maintain their so-called "powerlessness" (Kitzinger 1997). As a result little is known about how migration, exploitation and trafficking affect children's perceptions and decision-making.

As relationships were given primacy in this research it is impossible to produce more generalised conclusions since the findings reflect the relationship that researchers developed with each child in this particular context. This was not perceived as a limitation given that the guiding premise of this research is that "personal involvement is more than dangerous bias – it is the condition under which people come to know each other and admit others into their lives" (Oakley 1981).
The child respondents constantly tried to exercise power over the research process, even though they were young and subject to various forms of hardship. Children's willingness to participate in the research was contingent upon their own needs and interests and also upon their perceptions of the researchers and whether they felt confident about placing their trust in them. Children developed a range of strategies to protect themselves and to test this trust. For example, they misrepresented events in their lives to gauge the researchers' reaction. They tested the researchers' authenticity and promises of confidentiality and in this way attempted to exercise some control over the research process All efforts were made to give an opportunity for children to have some say and power over the research design and fieldwork.

Children's feedback was constantly incorporated into the research methodology initially through a period of piloting and subsequently through constant feedback. Children themselves became the key drivers of the sampling technique, the interviews and focus groups.

Although this study is not representative, it does offer detailed insight into the experiences and understanding of children in a wide-range of settings. The study was not designed to be generalized and representative, but sought specifically to listen to children, portray their views and insights, and highlight their strengths and survival strategies – all of which are frequently ignored or discounted.

# Sampling

Field research was conducted with children living and/or working on the streets, children living in state institutions (e.g. homes for children without parental care or centers for children in conflict with the law), internally displaced children in state camps or social centers, children in shelters who have witnessed or experienced violence, children from socially marginalised groups and identified victims of trafficking.

These children have been identified in existing studies on child trafficking and in key interviews as "at risk groups". The respondents in this research were selected in this way for a number of reasons. Given the difficulties faced with identifying victims of trafficking and potential victims of trafficking, this research used existing understandings of this phenomenon to identify groups of children who may be "at-risk of being trafficked". In this way it sought to build on the existing understanding of risk and resiliency so as to use the insight garnered by professionals and researchers who have been working in this field. On the other hand, it also sought to question whether the assumptions, beliefs and ideologies, underlying policies, practices and studies on this phenomenon reflect the views of children themselves.

In doing so, it sought to arrive at a more in-depth understanding of the complexity of factors that expose some children to the mounting risks of trafficking by highlighting the individual and contextual nature of risk and resiliency at the level of the child, family and community. In other words, simply because children were identified as "at risk" by key informants, this research sought to understand whether they are at risk or perceive themselves to be at risk of trafficking and whether particular children within these so-called "at risk groups" are more resilient or perceive themselves to be more resilient. When faced with various adversities that could include poverty, violence, exploitation and trafficking. Researchers did not ask questions about trafficking unless children introduced this issue. This was in order to ascertain whether it was even regarded as a

challenge for children who are frequently labelled as "at risk".

In total, 876 people participated in this research, which included 618 children and 258 adult key informants. The following two graphs illustrate the gender and age break-down of the respondents by country/entity.



Figure 1: Sample breakdown of child respondents by gender



Figure 2: Sample breakdown of child respondents by age

The table below describes the amount of interviews and focus groups that were conducted across the region. This is accompanied by a graph that details the break down per country/entity.

Key informant interviews	130
Child interviews	268
Identified victims of trafficking	12
Focus groups with children	97
Focus groups with adults	12
Total	519



Figure 3: Interviews and focus groups per country/entity

It is important to note that no specific sample size was set at the outset of this research project given the use of the snowballing methodology and the emphasis placed on deepening our insight into children's lives through qualitative techniques, rather than fulfilling certain quantitative sampling requirements. Hence, the amount of interviews and focus groups that were conducted in each country/entity differs according to children's willingness to participate in the research. The researchers' ability to interview children and the amount of time that was spent informally in each research community interacting with particular children was limited. These issues will be discussed in greater depth in this section.

Some of the children were accessed by means of snowballing. Snowballing has elsewhere been used in recruiting respondents from populations that are difficult to access such as criminals and

drug-users (Inciardi 1977; Kaplan, Korf et al. 1987; Faugier and Sargeant 1997; Atkinson and Flint 2001) and in the field of prostitution (McNamara 1994; Maher 1997; Nencel 2001; Sanders 2005). These so-called "hidden populations" are engaged in illegal activities and therefore not readily accessible within the mainstream communities and institutions.

As it is very difficult to access certain groups of children who migrate frequently and are subject to various forms of exploitation or at risk of being trafficked, snowballing was selected as the sampling method. It was very slow and time-consuming because it relied on both the respondents' willingness to contact each other or share information and the quality of their relationships with each other (Atkinson and Flint 2001).

Researchers had to constantly sell this research project and build up high levels of trust with their respondents so that they would be willing to provide advice or further contacts. Incentives were not used to encourage this process (Watters and Biernacki 1989; Heckathorn 1997), for several reasons as it might turn respondents into informers and thereby place them at risk. It also could create conflict and jealousy within peer groups as well as obliging respondents to participate simply because they feel that they are being "paid to do so". Also it might raise respondents' expectations.

Another challenge associated with this sampling technique is that it depends on the existence of children's social networks and thereby introduces a level of bias (Griffiths, Gossip et al. 1993; Atkinson and Flint 2001). All attempts were made to minimise this unavoidable bias by making contact with individuals from a range of populations and organisations. Initially focus groups and interviews were held with key informants, then focus groups in shelters and institutions with children. At each interview or focus group, key informants and children were asked for referrals which created multiple chains of contacts in diverse situations. This enabled children to drive the research process as they had the power to decide whether they would introduce researchers to their peers or other children who they perceived to be at risk.

## **Key informants**

Semi-structured interviews and focus groups with key informants were designed to fulfil a number of purposes, namely to understand the state of trafficking in a particular socio-economic, cultural, legislative and institutional context and to ascertain why particular children are more likely to be trafficked than others Also to facilitate access to high risk children, and to determine whether their opinions and perceptions coincide with those of children and researchers.

Key informants included state and non-state actors, as well as individuals who are in contact with particular children (e.g. parents). The interviews with key informants provided useful information about macro (socio-economic, cultural, institutional, legal) factors that may influence children's decision-making. They revealed the extent to which the views of policy-makers and practitioners do not reflect those of children particularly where it pertains to children's abilities and capabilities. The findings from these interviews and focus group discussions with key informants are not included in this report. A detailed discussion of their perceptions can however be found in the seven national reports which condense their comments within particular socio-economic, cultural, legislative and political environments. Nevertheless, the manner in which the key informants experienced and perceived the research process will be described in this section.

Key informants provided immense support to the researchers in the field. They gave up their valuable time to provide insightful information about the research themes. Furthermore, they introduced researchers to children and other actors and thereby facilitated the snowballing process. They also permitted researchers an opportunity to spend extensive periods of time in their institutions and shelters and provided various types of support during focus group sessions and interviews. Without their enthusiastic participation this research would not have been possible.

Despite these successes, a number of challenges were identified by researchers. Certain key informants could not be accessed. State representatives, for example, were not always available over the summer or were unable or unwilling to participate in this research. In addition, there was often conflict among organisations or between state and non-state bodies within certain communities for recognition and resources. This made it particularly important for researchers to consult all stakeholders. In a focus group conducted in Bulgaria with representatives from Roma communities the researcher noted how tension between representatives from different communities, genders or social classes, affected the discussion:

"In the first half of the discussion there was a loud argument about the origin and the character of the Millet community. Taking in mind that these are leaders who work together and who tried to overcome the differences between each other we can see how deep the conflict between these two communities is.<sup>8</sup> He respects strictly the hierarchy and avoids saying his opinion except if not personally asked.<sup>9</sup> From time to time I had the feeling that she wanted to say something but is restrained because the men were speaking".<sup>10</sup>

Many key informants were concerned about the use of recording equipment and the manner in which this information would be used. In numerous cases researchers complained that key informants were withholding certain valuable pieces of information. It was evident that many did not want to be critical of their organisation or institution, and run the risk of compromising their own position. Furthermore, many key informants were concerned about the potential risks that they may face to their own safety if they discussed criminal activities in their communities. In a number of cases, key informants initiated background checks on the researchers in order to establish that they were authentic and not working in cahoots with criminals or with the media.

Field researchers also encountered challenges when interviewing key informants who doubled as gatekeepers in particular institutions. These gatekeepers would often only provide access to certain children or would demand bribes for facilitating access. Gatekeepers often prevented researchers from interviewing identified victims of trafficking. They were often very protective of the children in their care and did not want to jeopardise their own relationships with them. Some key informants had negative past experiences with other research projects, and this affected their willingness to participate. In Bosnia-Herzegovina as a researcher noted, "The respondent<sup>11</sup> has bad relationships with other NGOs which work on trafficking and violence against women and children and this was the real reason for her initial reserved attitude and wariness as well as for her refusal to give an interview for similar research".<sup>12</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Bulgaria - Community Leader in Milet area.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Bulgaria - Community Leader

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Bulgaria researcher

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Bosnia-Herzegovina - Representative from police

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Bosnia-Herzegovina researcher

## Chapter 3 4

The researchers found that if they had worked with or developed a relationship with key informants in the past possibly spent time informally with them or conducted multiple interviews, they might be more enthusiastic about participating in this research project. Furthermore, researchers noted that Save the Children's good reputation in some of these communities ensured that key informants were more willing to cooperate.

As a researcher in Kosovo stated, "The interview proved to be more than cooperative and this was mainly because this research was organised by Save the Children, an organisation for which the interviewee<sup>13</sup> showed great respect and since they have been supported by some other projects related to child participation after the war".<sup>14</sup>

Many researchers stated that key informants wanted direct remuneration or immediate assistance in return for participation. In Kosovo a researcher noted: "Initially she<sup>15</sup> was very kind and warm until the moment I told her that there isn't any direct help for her NGO from this conversation but instead there perhaps be indirect help from all this. This kind of response put her off the research and required a consultation".<sup>16</sup>

Another researcher in Kosovo stated that a key informant<sup>17</sup> "is disappointed with NGOs and other organisations as all they do is visit them, telling they are doing a wonderful thing with these children, promising help but almost none even come back or send anything".<sup>18</sup> Despite the fact this research project could not offer immediate benefits to key informants or the children in their communities, many key informants believed that it is a valuable effort because it provides insights into children's perspectives and experiences.

### Focus groups with children

The format of each focus group depended upon the themes that the researchers were attempting to uncover and the activities chosen for this task. Activities that were developed at the regional level were adapted by national researchers through a process of piloting. The approach and particular activities selected were tailored to suit the participants, their particular age, gender, culture and so forth.

Theatrical and art activities were found to be particularly useful in gathering information. The researchers were flexible and often adapted activities to suit the children's preferences. As one child stated, "I feel tired now and the pantomime at the end was great, it's great that you promised we'd do it and we did".<sup>19</sup> A researcher from Kosovo described how she acted while giving a child the opportunity to select the venue for the interview: "During the meetings the girl wished to sit i n the places where she usually sells, meaning in highly frequented cafes where she is selling peanuts and chewing gum. During the activity she wanted to be someone who sits there and waiting for her to be served by other for change. The interview went very well, and she sang songs during the interview"<sup>20</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Kosovo - NGO Head

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Kosovo researcher

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Kosovo - NGO Head

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Kosovo researcher

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Kosovo - NGO Head

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Kosovo researcher

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Montenegro - Focus Group interview, 15 years old boy, institutionalized child.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Kosovo researchers

In general the field researchers received positive feedback from the children who participated in these groups. They found the activities enjoyable and stimulating, and were happy to share their feelings, thoughts and perceptions with interested adults.

Many enjoyed the fact that they could keep their drawings and posters, and even suggested that this was a source of status within the peer group. For instance, one child stated, "I had a great time on the days when you gave us those magazines and pieces of paper, so we made nice posters for each room. We put them up, some even asked us for some more, but we didn't have any more. We had a really great time"<sup>21</sup>. Another child stated that she wished that instructors (social workers) followed the researcher's example by consulting them: "There, I happen to have this idea, since you came here and asked us about the nice things and the ones not nice, the things we liked and disliked. The instructors could do the same from time to time, and then they could design things for us according to it"<sup>22</sup>.

Despite the success of this method, the researchers encountered a number of obstacles. With the guidance of the regional team, these researchers revealed ingenuity and creativity in their attempts to overcome these challenges. For one thing, it was often difficult to find suitable venues in which to conduct these focus groups, especially when working with children living or working on the street. In addition, with regards to children living in institutions, in many cases it was obvious that they were simply repeating the messages that they had already received from psychologists and adults in that particular institution. Alternatively these gatekeepers only allowed certain children to participate or insisted on being present during the focus groups. According to the researchers this had a significant effect upon children's responses. As a researcher in Bulgaria stated,

"Although the personnel were asked to choose children aged 13-17, most of the participants were 11-12 years old. Also the management of the institution said the psychologist of the institution must be present. These factors had negative effects on the abilities of the participants for concentration in the group work as well as on their freedom in participation in the discussions"<sup>23</sup>.

To overcome this, the researchers often had to negotiate with staff and spend lengthy periods of time in the institution to gain trust. In addition, through the snowballing sampling technique they attempted to contact children's peers who were not living in institutions.

It was often difficult to select children to participate in focus groups. Many of the researchers divided the groups on the basis of age or gender but they still noticed differences related to nationality, ethnicity, language, educational level, abilities and skills, financial status, personality, self-confidence and past experiences. For example, one researcher in the United Nations Administered Province of Kosovo stated:

"In this group I had children with social differences. These were children from families in good economic conditions and children from villages. Children from villages are quieter due to traditional education. They are also more closed. They don't like to speak about their personal problems but they follow discussion. I found also more discipline and better grades on these children. Females are shy except one that was from town."<sup>24</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Montenegro - Focus Group interview, 15 years old girl, institutionalized child

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 22}$  Montenegro - Focus Group interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Bulgaria researcher

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Kosovo researcher

In Bulgaria the researcher noted that some of the girls were in fact more expressive than boys: "Three clear positions formed in the group part of the girls were more talkative and they often took over the discussion. The boys were more moderate and passive whiles the girls with Roma origin were passive and felt isolated"<sup>25</sup>. In Montenegro some of the girls felt more comfortable to talk to other women: "I think it's good to talk to girls, no one has talked to us like this. It can help us to think more about life and choose our company better. We'd need to talk about everything several times, this was short. I could often spend time like this. That's my opinion"<sup>26</sup>.

There were often one or two children who remained withdrawn, appeared to be bored and refused to participate in particular activities, yet wanted to take part in the focus groups. Researchers also had to contend with power dynamics within the group. In some cases, children mocked or teased each other, would compete for attention, or exaggerate stories to impress each other. They would repeat each others' answers or deliberately interrupt each other. Some children were self-conscious about their participation and constantly sought the researchers' approval. As one Bulgarian researcher stated, "When they finished a task some of them asked the facilitators: "Did you like it?" Or "What is good?""<sup>27</sup>.

Some of the researchers found it difficult to cope with this diversity and create activities to suit each child, whereas others found that it stimulated discussion about "difference". A researcher in Montenegro notes:

"This diversity did not present a hindrance. On the contrary, it proved to be the factor that contributed to obtaining different views of the world and reality... In this sense, it was a diversity that enriches the contents of the discussion rather than a hindrance that would cause tensions and distance group members from one another"<sup>28</sup>.

In order to overcome some of the tension that existed between children within focus groups, children were often divided into groups or pairs and researchers attempted to relax them using a range of ice-breakers and warm up activities. They also encouraged the children to suggest activities that they preferred so that each child had a say over the focus group agenda (see below). Furthermore, they conducted multiple focus groups with children in order to ensure that they were comfortable with each other and with the researcher. Unfortunately this was often hindered by the fact that many children migrated for the purposes of work or travelled during the summer vacations with their families<sup>29</sup>.

Some researchers found it difficult to facilitate large groups of children, particularly when children exhibited disruptive and aggressive tendencies. A researcher in Bulgaria stated that "the general impression is of cacophony and chaos... We noticed lack of skills for cooperative work, marked by lack of tolerance towards the other members of the group, chaotic and unruly behaviour, low frustration threshold, difficulties in following instructions and keeping rules"<sup>30</sup>. In order to overcome these challenges, researchers adopted a number of strategies including rules that were created by the children themselves. These included "do not interrupt others", "do not shout", "do not eat in the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Bulgaria researcher

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Montenegro - individual interview, 15 year old girl IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Bulgaria researcher

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Montenegro researcher

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Bulgaria - focus group interview 15 years old girl, school child.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Bulgaria researcher

group", "do not answer phones" etc. The children also set the punishment for transgressions of these rules. Those included hopping around on one foot, standing on a chair and singing a song in front of the others.

Researchers also preferred working with smaller groups of children with whom they had interacted informally in the past because they found that it was easier to give individual children more attention while maintaining group order and enthusiasm. They described these children as more comfortable, cooperative and enthusiastic about participating. Nevertheless, many researchers found it difficult to contain the size of the focus groups as numerous children wanted to participate. As a researcher in Montenegro stated,

"In the beginning I had some problems, because there were many children in front of the room that I had not arranged a session with, but that wanted to participate. I even offered to come the next day to spend some time together, draw, talk, but this was all in vane because they wanted to do it right away. Out of revolt, mad and angry, they thumped on the door"<sup>31</sup>.

Researchers also adapted their activities to ensure that children remained interested, focused and eager to participate. They tried to tailor activities to suit the personalities and preferences of each child. They shortened focus groups when children were tired or had problems concentrating. In addition, they found that having food or drinks in the room was a major source of distraction for children, so these were only distributed in breaks or after the focus group.

The children were fascinated by the microphones and recording equipment and constantly tried to play with them when the researchers were not looking. As a result, a number of researchers creatively employed this equipment in their activities; for instance, by recording children's dialogues and playing it back to them in the format of a radio interview. Although children enjoyed being recorded, many were concerned about confidentiality issues. In her feedback one child stated, "It went real fast. I felt nice, it's great when you are asked questions as if in a live broadcast, and you have that machine as well. But I would have not thought about talking to you like this if you hadn't told me this information was not to be publicised, with my name included." When asked to explain, she stated: "Because some reporters often come here and I don't like to talk to them because they present us in a way that makes everyone pity us. And that's stupid - if we don't have parents it does not mean we are the ones who need their pity. When they record us then all of Montenegro pities us"<sup>32</sup>.

This reveals the degree to which children define the extent and nature of their own participation in research projects. Children may decide not to participate because they have had negative experiences with researchers or reporters in the past. Nevertheless, many children were happy to participate as long as the material was kept confidential and their names are not released to the public. This was stipulated in the research ethical protocol and all efforts have been undertaken to ensure that these protocols have been followed by field researchers.

Children actively assisted in designing focus groups. In each session, they provided recommendations for future focus groups. For instance with regard to venue, a child in Bulgaria stated, "I feel a little tired and sleepy, I suggest that the next time we do it in the open"<sup>33</sup>. In contrast, a child in Kosovo

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Montenegro researcher

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 32}$  Montenegro - individual interview, 15 years old girl, institutionalized child.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> Bulgaria - focus group interview, 14 years old boy, school child

stated that if he could do it differently: "I would gather all the children in the streets and I would do some activities with them, or find a place where they could go and play... do something, as long as they don't stay in the streets"<sup>34</sup>. Some children encouraged the researchers to use more activities. For instance, a Montenegrin child complained that there was "too much talking, nothing useful". Another stated, "This talk is very difficult, I am not able to join in. Let's play something"<sup>35</sup>.

In contrast, some children preferred the discussion component of the focus groups. As one child in the same group stated, "It's really easier when we talk like this at least for the moment, perhaps we should do it more often"<sup>36</sup>. This reveals the extent to which it is difficult to please all respondents within the same group, although efforts can be made to ensure that activities are more interesting and lively. Some children preferred talking in the format of interviews. As one child stated, "It's nice to talk to you like this than in the group. Though the workshops are great as well, but it was somehow nicer than this"<sup>37</sup>. Another stated: "I prefer the two of us talking to having another friend of mine here with us"<sup>38</sup>. As a result, many children who participated in focus groups were also interviewed by the researchers.

## Semi- and unstructured interviews with children

Semi-structured and unstructured interviews were the main methods employed in this research. These tools were used to construct life histories and case studies, the former focusing on the children's perspectives, understanding and feelings, and the latter on processes, mechanisms and events in the children's lives (Dela Cruz, Protacio-de Castro et al. 2001).

A semi-structured interview has been likened to a guided conversation, in that it is informal and relaxed but driven by certain key themes and guidelines. The researchers were trained on how to be open and honest about the research objectives, the desired outcomes, their limitations and background. They were aware that they were asking children to share potentially sensitive things about their lives and that they needed to create a trusting space for them to do so. As a result, all efforts were made to interact with their respondents before conducting a formal interview in a relaxed and informal setting.

For instance, researchers had coffee with their respondents, took them swimming or walked through the park with them. In addition, multiple interviews with each respondent were conducted to develop rapport and give them an opportunity to reflect on their own experiences. When deciding upon the instruments for these semi-structured interviews the researchers were guided by the research objectives, themes, the interview context and the appropriateness of the line of questioning. The feedback that the researchers received from the children was overwhelmingly positive. For many children this was a new experience and one of the few times that adults had taken their opinion into account.

For instance, a child in a camp in Montenegro stated: "I think it's good to talk to girls. No one has talked to us like this. It can help us to think more about life and choose our company better"<sup>39</sup>. Another child

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 34}$  Kosovo - individual interview, 15 years old boy, street child

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 35}$  Montenegro - focus group interview, 15 years old girl, institutionalized child.

 $<sup>^{36}</sup>$  Montenegro - focus group interview 17 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> Montenegro - individual interview, 15 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> Montenegro - individual interview, 15 years old girl, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> Ibid.

in this camp stated: "I think when someone wants to help children have a better life or cares how children live, then it is necessary to talk to children. I think it's good that it's done that way. It's very nice to have someone ask us something and talk to us about the good things and the bad things in our lives. All those who came to our camp talked to the adults, nobody talked to us. Nobody asked us what we liked and whether anyone could or wanted to help us and give us what we liked"<sup>40</sup>.

A child in Kosovo emphasised that she enjoyed her interview: "A talk like this was something I was missing for a long time now. I needed to talk to someone, someone young"<sup>41</sup>. Many stated that this is related to the fact that they are children and their views are often ignored. This is evident in comments such as: "It is very nice that you talk to children like this and it's not just circling some answers, like someone could get your opinion based on that" and "I'd like to be able to talk this openly with a grown-up person".

Many children attested to the positive effects that this research has had on themselves and on other children. Others stated that it made them consider how they could go about helping themselves or others. As a child in Montenegro stated, "I felt nice, and it's great you made me think about the things I would do if I were president of an organisation concerned with children living in homes."<sup>42</sup>

It was frequently stated that this research can help other children in the future. As a child in Bulgaria stated, "I think it will be useful for young people. About the risks for working abroad, about life here the information, I think, will be useful for people who work with young people and for the young people themselves. I think that the greatest advantage will be if there are more people with whom youths can talk and ask for help"<sup>43</sup>. It is said that this research will be "important for parents"<sup>44</sup> and that "maybe something good will come out of it and things would be better for some children"<sup>45</sup>. The children frequently referred the researchers to children whom they thought that this could research could help.

As a child in Montenegro stated, "What do you think, perhaps you could go and talk to the father of these children that work in the streets, maybe he'll listen to you, you could explain that it's not good for children to be working in the street and so on, you'd be able to tell them that well. Or go and talk to the parents of those boys that are not behaving well and are doing all kinds of things in the camp and in the town, and talk to them"<sup>46</sup>.

The children also attempted to use the researchers as a mouthpiece to express their own views and get their needs met. For instance, one child in a camp in Montenegro stated: "Well, I have seen that you care about children and you would like to know what our concerns are. So maybe you could go to this organization and ask them, ask  $X^{47}$ , why he won't build us this playground to play football and he promised but he keeps lying to us. We went to him, he keeps making promises, but won't do anything. Perhaps he'd do something if you talked to him and asked him, perhaps he'd do as you say"<sup>48</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> Montenegro - individual interview, 14 years old boy, IDP camp.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> Kosovo - Individual Interview, 8 years old girl, street child.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> Montenegro - Individual Interview, 16 years old boy, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> Bulgaria - Individual Interview, 13 years old boy, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> Bulgaria - Individual Interview, 17 years old girl, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> Montenegro - Individual Interview, 13 years old girl, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> The names of all respondents (and persons referred to by them) have been replaced by "X" to protect their identity <sup>48</sup> Ibid.

In other words, children hoped that researchers would act on their behalf in the short and long term. In terms of the former, they hoped that researchers would speak to other interveners about their immediate needs but then also secure longer term benefits for them and other children in their communities.

Despite the positive feedback that researchers received, they encountered a range of challenges with this method. First, it was often difficult to find a suitable venue for the interview to be conducted. In schools researchers complained that interviews conducted in the teachers' offices were constantly interrupted. In Kosovo, the researchers found that interviews were halted because children had to stop and work (car washing, begging etc).

In Albania interviews were sometimes conducted in cafés to get away from the "noisy" environment in children's homes. In Serbia, researchers conducted interviews with children living and working on the street in local parks. These were frequently interrupted by passer bys. In Kosovo, a researcher described an incident where she was interviewing a girl but was suddenly interrupted by family members who prohibited the interview on the grounds that "there was nothing to say and the girl would not understand her anyway". The researcher tried to calm the situation down and asked to continue the interview in order to better "understand the child's wishes, and her daily activities" explaining meanwhile what "was the research about, and what could be changed in children's life…"<sup>49</sup>

This quote reveals the importance of obtaining parents' or caregivers' consent, as has been set out in the research protocol. Not only does failing to consult a caregiver break ethical codes of conduct but it can also hinder the success of an interview as is evident above.

A child stated that her father was quite conscious about confidentiality issues and set parameters on her participation: "Dad said that we shouldn't go out in front of the cameras, otherwise we can talk to you"<sup>50</sup>. Another researcher in Kosovo stated: "I would also like to mention that the mother was very happy with the activity in which her daughter is involved in this initiative. In the beginning she was a little bit sceptical because she thought that this activity had something to do with the media, so she feared that it would make things only worse for her daughter as she has been raped"<sup>51</sup>.

As this research dealt with a number of sensitive topics, it was imperative that the researchers did not risk exposing children to further stigma or dangers. In order to be aware of these potential risks researchers spent lengthy periods of time with respondents.

Time is needed to create trust and develop a safe space within which children will share their experiences, insights and feelings. Some researchers stated that they received contradictory information from their respondents and that this may be related to fear or mistrust. Some respondents tried to impress them by presenting themselves as a hero, using ready-made phrases heard from older people or describing situations "more the way [they] want things to be and not the way they are in reality"<sup>52</sup>. It was stated that some children "wouldn't talk to strangers no matter what"<sup>53</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> Kosovo researcher

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 50}$  Kosovo - Individual Interview, 9 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> Kosovo researcher

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> Bulgaria researcher

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> Kosovo researcher

With this in mind, most researchers conducted multiple interviews and spent between one and three months in their local communities. They also attempted to build trust with children by spending time with them informally. For instance, a researcher in Kosovo noted: "Initially she felt reluctant, shy and withdrawn, but after some time of informal discussion she felt very well and open to discuss about the themes of the research. We had a walk on the way to shop where we got some drinks which was very relaxed and we were speaking about daily life of the children in that area. On the way back our activity continued and went very well"<sup>54</sup>.

In their field diaries researchers noticed a significant shift in levels of trust over the time that they spent with their respondents and this affected the quality and validity of the data received.

As this was such a new experience to them, a number of children were initially hesitant about being interviewed. As a child in Montenegro stated, "I had a nice time, I don't know what to say. When you invited me, I got really scared, wondering what you would ask me about and whether I would have the answers. And I did, didn't I?"<sup>55</sup>

They frequently highlighted their own insecurities and fear of being chastised or corrected for expressing their point of view. This has an effect upon children's confidence in their ability to express themselves.

As a Montenegrin child stated, "I don't know what I could tell you and what is important to your research, I sort of think anything that comes to my mind is stupid and useless to you... Well, I felt good while talking to you. But I think I was not able to tell you everything properly and answer all the things you asked me about"<sup>56</sup>.

This had an effect upon the quality of interviews with children, as a researcher in Albania observed: "The interview went well. She was very enthusiastic to talk to me in the beginning. Then after hearing some of the questions she looked a bit tense as she was trying to give "correct" answers"<sup>57</sup>.

In general however, the children appreciated the fact that researchers adopted a non-judgmental attitude towards them. For instance, a Romanian child stated: "I like the fact that there haven't been questions such as "Oh, how are you, what are your faults?" I've spoken once about my faults and I've noticed it's wrong to tell somebody about your faults or qualities... these were good questions"<sup>58</sup>.

A number of researchers found that their respondents shared more information when the taperecorder was switched off and as a result and often on the behest of children themselves they discarded dictaphones and other recording equipment. Some researchers found that children could not understand their questions and this tended to be related to their age, language, education level, listening and comprehension skills. As a result, the researchers adopted children's language or terminology and employed various activities as a supplementary means of gathering information.

Children were constantly encouraged to provide comments and recommendations to researchers, who then adapted their approach accordingly. Researchers were trained to conduct semi-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> Kosovo researcher

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> Montenegro - Individual Interview, 13 years old boy, institutionalized, child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> Montenegro - Individual Interview, 16 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> Albania researcher

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> Romania - Individual Interview, 10 years old boy,

structured interviews with various themes in mind, while enabling children to lead the interview. Nevertheless, a child in Serbia still found some of the questions to be challenging: "Some things are interesting, some are not. Some questions, because I don't know the answers to some of them, and I know to some others... For instance, you asked me earlier how could politicians help children and I didn't know"<sup>59</sup>.

Another child in Kosovo complained about the length of the interview: "There are too many questions, sometimes I felt like in school"<sup>60</sup>. Some children found the content of the interviews to be problematic. As a child in Kosovo stated, "Some questions were hard because they made me recall my past but all in all they were OK."<sup>61</sup>.

Researchers were trained to conduct and close interviews sensitively but some children still found it difficult to discuss some of the adverse experiences they have had to deal with. One of the children criticised the questions related to decision-making and choice saying: "I felt good, however, there were some questions that I started to get angry about, I'm sorry about that, it's just because no one understands us and everyone thinks we can do this and that. No one realises we don't have that much choice"<sup>62</sup>. This child felt that questions like "what do you do or decide in your daily life?" simply draw attention to the fact that he doesn't have much to do or much decision-making power in relation to others. Some children suggested that the researchers should focus more on different themes. For instance a child in Romania stated that more attention should be directed to the difference between boys and girls.

This reveals the importance of consulting children when designing research tools. If their opinions are not taken into consideration at the design phase of a research project, interviews will not elicit in-depth information about their experiences and perceptions. In general, the children suggested that researchers should continue to consult with children.

# **Reflexivity and ethics**

The researchers described their field experiences in positive terms. For many, it was an opportunity to learn more about children and how they perceive their problems and strengths. It was an opportunity to share experiences and information with representatives from local communities and for some it was a period of personal growth in which they questioned their own assumptions and belief-systems.

A few researchers did, however, encounter ethical dilemmas. As has been mentioned, they were guided by a regional ethical protocol and were trained on how to discuss personal and potentially painful issues with children as well as how to close sensitive discussions and/or provide further support and referrals. When suspected cases of child maltreatment occurred, many had to carefully consider whether intervention was necessary, particularly when children themselves did not regard the situation to be negative or dangerous. In these instances ethical guidelines were followed and the child was consulted while the researchers actively discussed their concerns with their line managers at Save the Children.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> Serbia - Individual Interview, a 15 years old boy, street child

 $<sup>^{60}</sup>$  Kosovo - focus group interview, 10 years old girl, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup> Kosovo - individual interview, 17 years old boy, shelter child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 17 years old boy, IDP camp

For example, one country team encountered serious child protection concerns in an institution. The tension was relieved through collaborative efforts and extensive negotiation with staff members, researchers and Save the Children personnel. This example highlighted the difficulties faced when conducting research on such a sensitive topic concerning children who are potentially very vulnerable.

A further challenge that many researchers encountered in the field was that of expectation-raising. It is important to bear in mind that "researchers are sometimes seen as akin to pimps, coming into the field to take, then returning to the campus, institution or suburb where they write up the data, publish and build careers on the backs of those they took the data from" (O'Neill 1996, p.132). As this research was being undertaken under the banner of Save the Children or its partner organisations, children and their families and wider communities expected direct or indirect assistance in return for participation in this research project.

The ethical protocol underlying this research project discourages any remuneration or direct assistance to participants. Children who take part in focus groups are rewarded for their participation at the end of the session with food or other tokens of gratitude such as books, notebooks, pens and children who are interviewed receive guidance, advice, referrals, transport etc. When necessary. Most simply what is wanted is someone to listen to their story and in this sense this research project proved to be potentially empowering, while others called on researchers' advice. However, no financial payment was provided to children as this would raise their expectations, distort the respondent-researcher relationship and oblige/force respondents to participate. Researchers emphasised the longer term benefits of this project and in particular, the fact that future interventions will be based upon children's input, thereby benefiting other children.

Many researchers felt handicapped in their ability to help their respondents but felt that this research will have added value in terms of assisting children in the longer-term. As a Montenegrin researcher stated, "At the end of the workshop I was overwhelmed with the children's anger and discontent of their life. I was truly sad and asking myself what I could do for them. I was comforted by the hope that this information will really be taken into account in creating a national policy for protection and improving the children's lives."<sup>63</sup>

On the other hand, another researcher in Montenegro stated that she was sceptical about the extent to which future interventions will assist children, and that these doubts had an impact upon her data-gathering processes: "I often have such contradictory thoughts about what we are able to offer them. Can we really give them any essential and lasting help or influence... There are more arguments in favour of a negative response, so from time to time I lose any credibility in my own eyes to discuss the future with these children. It is good that this occurs only in some moments. I am aware of the responsibility and the limits of my influence. I return to real capacities and my consciousness brings me back on track, saying that I am not omnipotent."<sup>64</sup>

For many researchers it was difficult to accept that they were not in a position to assist their respondents living in impoverished, violent and socially marginalised communities.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> Montenegro researcher

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> Montenegro researcher

From the outset, researchers were asked for reflexive review and how their own characteristics, backgrounds and perceptions affected the research project. Many of the researchers were trained as social workers, psychologists and teachers, and often found it difficult not to approach the children from this angle. It was discovered that sharing the same characteristics as the respondents aided the research process. For example, a researcher from a particular Roma community in Kosovo found that his background facilitated access, helped him to build trust and assisted him in understanding the responses of his respondents. In Bosnia-Herzegovina , the researchers often found it difficult to understand the experiences of their Roma respondents because they have "little direct experience of social exclusion" (Bosnia-Herzegovina report 2007). Female researchers described how they found it easier to interview girls.

As a researcher in Albania stated, "Being a woman facilitated the research process in several ways. In such communities there is a huge obstacle in meeting with teenage girls. Given my gender this was made easier than if there was a male researcher instead. This made the girls also more open and share more with the researcher. However, this was not always true. Teenage boys were more hesitant to join the focus group activities. This might be due to many factors but researchers' gender played a considerable role. They could have been less hesitant and more active if the researcher was a young man"<sup>65</sup>.

Age was another factor that affected the data-gathering process. An Albanian researcher stated that "Being young helped a lot in building relations and confidence with children. However, being young was not always appreciated by adults (key informants) who often consider life experience very important and young people as not enough experienced to deal with important issues"<sup>66</sup>.

Their own personal relationships also influenced research experiences. As a researcher in Bosnia-Herzegovina stated: "As a mother, I find it difficult to talk to a child aged as my daughter but with totally different life paths"<sup>67</sup>. A number of the researchers were social workers, psychologists and teachers by training and found that this affected the manner in which they interacted with their respondents. As a researcher in Montenegro stated, "I sometimes fear that I am switching from the role of the researcher to that of a psychologist"<sup>68</sup>.

The researchers attested to the value of this research. They stated that it helped them to be tolerant and learn about others<sup>69</sup>. Throughout the research process field researchers were encouraged to question their assumptions and beliefs. Such assumptions often appeared in the terms that they employed, such as "*anti-social*", "*delinquent*" and "*dysfunctional*". At the preliminary workshop held in October 2006, it was emphasised that children who live on the streets are not anti-social because they navigate social relationships and networks on a daily basis.

Single-headed households cannot be described as "dysfunctional" or "broken" because this description is based on normative assumptions about ideal forms of parenting, child-rearing and household structures. In addition, researchers were encouraged to avoid the assumption that all Roma children are "at-risk" simply because key informants and existing literature describes them as such; instead, they should constantly question stereotypes by focusing on risk and resiliency factors, and by focusing on particular groups of children within Roma communities that might be

<sup>67</sup> Bosnia-Herzegovina researcher

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>65</sup> Albania researcher

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> Albania researcher

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup> Montenegro researcher

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> Bulgaria researcher

more at risk (e.g. children living on the streets). In the field they were confronted with the differences that exist within Roma groups in terms of culture, backgrounds, traditions and socioeconomic positioning. For instance, the researcher in Albania noted that this research made her question her assumptions stating: "The greatest benefit has been that of getting to know and have a better insight of the Roma/Egyptian community. This helped me understand their way of living and their mentality. It also helped me to overcome certain prejudice and obstacles I had before going into the field"<sup>70</sup>.

Researchers also started to think critically about the passivity that they attributed to child victims. Many were impressed by the strength and resiliency that the children exhibited. As a Bulgarian researcher stated, "During the interview the strength that the boy showed when speaking about the events helped me to stay calm but when hearing the interview later I couldn't believe my ears. It shows the great risk for the children in the neighbourhood"71. Hence, it is important to bear in mind Nencel's insightful comment: "Because the research group is envisioned as vulnerable, it is often assumed they find it difficult to protect themselves, overlooking the fact that most vulnerable people are continuously protecting themselves and are usually more experienced in this area than the anthropologist" (Nencel 2001, p. 80). On a daily basis these children survived in the face of poverty and violence. The researchers had to respect their power and resiliency in this context, before they were willing to offer information about their lives.

Many field researchers found this research to be emotionally draining and described the depression and anxiety that they experienced in their field diaries and interview cover-sheets. Researchers themselves encountered various risks or threats to their safety. On a daily basis, researchers had to make strategic decisions about where they would undertake this research, when they would do so (e.g. avoid evenings) and who they could rely upon or interview. Many decided to work in pairs to overcome these threats.

Various unforeseen problems were also encountered in the field. For example, it was very difficult and draining to conduct research in high temperatures over the summer months. Living in unfamiliar local communities also proved to be hazardous on occasion. These feelings were shared in weekly meetings with their lead researchers and country coordinators and in their communication with the regional team. In addition to regular field visits, the regional team was able to monitor and support researchers in the field by means of monthly reporting, a newsletter, peer-to-peer online mailing list and regular workshops. Throughout the research process, emphasis was placed on communication within national research teams and with the regional team. It was only by communicating their needs and concerns that support could be provided and solutions found.

In general, this research was only possible because researchers invested in relationships with children and reflexively considered their assumptions about children's perceptions and lived experiences. This research has provided unique insights into the complex range of factors at individual, interpersonal and macro-levels that enhance the likelihood that some children will be more at risk of trafficking or more resilient in the face of adversities such as poverty, violence, exploitation and trafficking. By giving primacy to children's perspectives this research fills an important gap in existing literature and provides a useful tool for programming in the area of child protection and child trafficking.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> Albania researcher

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> Bulgaria researcher

# **Children's Perceptions of Trafficking Risk and Resiliency**

A ccording to the children in this study, there are two main processes by which children are trafficked. The first is being deceived, the second is being coerced. In order to understand why these respondents perceived some children to be more at risk of being trafficked it is necessary to understand the processes and mechanisms by which trafficking occurs, the power exercised by various actors over these processes and the decisions that children make in these settings.

This chapter will analyse the first process by unpacking what the children mean by being tricked, cheated and deceived, with particular attention to the exact mechanisms by which they believe this as being experienced by child victims of trafficking. It will then explain each of these mechanisms by referring to the respondents' "lived realities" with particular attention to their macro-contexts, interpersonal relationships, individual characteristics and decision-making. It will argue that although one cannot make causal claims about whether a particular factor will lead to trafficking, children's accounts provide in-depth information about the cumulative range of factors that might lead a child to be trafficked as well as detailed information about the mechanisms and processes by which this may occur.

Emphasis will be placed on children's perspectives, bearing in mind that their opinions and responses are themselves influenced by their own emotions, needs and wants and the messages they receive from a diverse range of sources, including the media, their parents, relatives, peers, teachers and social workers, as well as their relationships with the researchers. This in itself provides essential information about the factors that affect their decision-making, and their risk and resilience in the context of trafficking.

## **Trafficking messages**

Most children in this research project had no direct experience of trafficking. Their perceptions are often based on hearsay and what they believe to be the realities. This is particularly evident in horror stories that children describe of mutilations, murders and selling of organs. Many of these perceptions relate to the meaning that children attribute to the messages that they receive about trafficking from a range of actors. This meaning is related to their own experiences, beliefs and values, and their relationship with the "messenger". The views of these messengers are evident in the accounts of key informants, which have not been included in this report but constitute a major component of the national reports. This report will focus on children's perceptions of trafficking messages and the source of these messages.

Parents were concerned about their children being trafficked and focused on physical coercion and deception. For instance, a mother in Montenegro kept warning her child: *"I should be cautious, there are all kinds of people who lie and can deceive you and promise you things and none of it is true* 

and if you believe them you get ruined completely"<sup>72</sup>.

In this case, emphasis was placed on being deceived by the promise of marriage and then being trafficked into sexual exploitation. Some parents focused on concerns that children can be deceived by the promise of employment abroad but according to one child's mother, *"there is no way to earn money fast anywhere and these people are lying"*<sup>73</sup>.

In Romania, a mother warned her child about the possibility of being caught, sold and forced to steal and beg. In Bulgaria, children were warned about walking close to the road because they may be trafficked for the purpose of organ removal. They say: "Don't go close to the road because someone might thrust you in a car and take you abroad! They will take out your heart, lungs and they will sell them"<sup>74</sup>.

Some parents have communicated warnings about trafficking to children. They have even attempted to provide them with practical advice given that they are not physically able to watch their children constantly: "I've talked about it with my father. He says he is aware of that and of those dangers. He advised me to take care of myself and avoid whatever is risky both in places and with people. He can't do any more than that, he says he can't change other people or influence the way they act, it's most up to me not to let them provoke me and to avoid danger as much as possible"<sup>75</sup>.

Hence, some children are informed that they are largely responsible for protecting themselves from a trafficker but should take their parents' advice into account when making decisions and developing protection strategies. This advice ranges from where to go, who to spend time with and what to do in the case of emergency.

A child in Bosnia-Herzegovina stated that after telling his father about a boy who was forced into a car with tinted windows, his father instructed him not to enter the car of someone he does not know. Another child's father gave her a mobile phone and told her to inform him immediately if she is threatened. In Albania, a father of a girl in a migrant community warned her about accepting drinks in glasses as they may contain drugs. Other children have been warned about walking around in the evening. Parents cautioned children not to accept money or gifts from strangers.

For instance, a girl in Albania stated that after accepting a chocolate from a stranger in a car she was chastised by her mother: "Well, she reminded me how often she had told me not to speak with the unknown people, not to walk alone on the way home and how often she had also reminded me that there are many people in the street who want to kidnap little children. When this happened I was in the second grade, so I promised my mom not to repeat it again. On her part, my mom was also afraid that that a man would show up again in that road and will pick me up. For a week, my mom or my brother accompanied me to the school"<sup>76</sup>.

Generally, parents focused on the "stranger danger" and the notion that talking to strangers can increase the likelihood that a child will be trafficked.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup>Montenegro -, focus group interview, 16 years old girl, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 13 years old girl, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup>Bulgaria - focus group interview, 14-17 years old boys & girls, school children

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup> Montenegro - focus group interview, 14 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup>Albania - focus group interview, 10 years old girl, internal migrant

However, some children believed that their parents' advice was misguided. Some children explained that their parents are concerned about trafficking but do not explain why they are worried about this issue. Instead, they simply impose rules and restrictions on their movement. As a child in Kosovo stated, *"You know parents think only about the bad side, they say something could happen or you can not go out because you can get raped in the night by someone but they don't talk about the problem itself, about the consequences and the parents should talk about all that, not just tell the children don't go out and that is it"<sup>77</sup>.* 

A girl in Montenegro complained that her mother forbids her from leaving home unaccompanied as this may increase the risk of trafficking but as this girl states, "you can't just stay home all the time"<sup>78</sup>. So this advice is redundant or useless at a practical level and is a source of frustration and unhappiness for many children. Some parents translate this concern into restrictions not only on children's movement, but on their friendships. A girl in Albania complained that her parents are overly concerned about trafficking and try to instill a sense of fear in her constantly. They insist on accompanying her to school and to social events because they feel she is not old enough to care for herself. However, this girl complained that there may not be a reason to be afraid, and in a sense their concerns and associated restrictions on her movement are not justified: "My parents are afraid to leave me alone here, they say that they are not yet familiar with the people and that I have to be very careful … Well, not to talk to the unknown people even if they speak to you. Not to walk alone because I may be kidnapped and it is not possible for my parents to learn about it. If someone bothers me I should let them know because they are older and can solve such problems better than me because I am young. My dad accompanies me to school and I come back with a friend of mine who lives here. Maybe there is no reason to be afraid but sometimes even a word is enough to scare you"<sup>79</sup>.

Relatives also provide such advice but it is also interpreted by many children as yet another example of how they are not trusted but constantly criticized for the decisions that they make. For instance, a child in Montenegro stated: "Mother, grandmother and my uncle irritate me most. It's always difficult for me to spend time with them or talk. I know they love me. They constantly criticize me, saying that I don't see the dangers that threaten me, that everyone is bad and dishonest. I am always tense around them... When we sit together we always talk as if something terrible is about to happen, we never laugh and they keep telling us to be quiet and forbid us things. I don't understand why it has to be so all the time"<sup>80</sup>.

In other words, children complain that caregivers focus too much attention on the risk of trafficking, and in their attempts to instill fear in them they apply unwanted and unjustified rules and restrictions on their decision-making, movement and activities.

While some children believed that parents and caregivers are best positioned to provide this advice to children, others felt that children themselves and the peer group, in particular, should be used when passing on messages. For instance, a child in Kosovo stated: "It depends how serious are the children. For example if children have information they should discuss it amongst them selves but the information should come from the parents initially so that the children can then discuss it amongst them selves, because who knows how seriously the children take information given by other children"<sup>81</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup>Kosovo - focus group interview, 15 years old boy, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>78</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 13 years old girl, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup>Albania - focus group interview, 15 years old girl, internal migrant

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup>Montenegro -, focus group interview, 16 years old girl, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>81</sup>Kosovo - focus group interview, 14 years old girl, school child

Information about trafficking has also come from other sources, such as the media, teachers and police officers. A child in Kosovo stated: *"First of all I heard about it from my father and mother but also I have seen many TV shows about it. Also, a very long time ago, when I was going to the kindergarten, some police officers came there and told us the dangers from strangers, they also taught us how to cross the street safely and things like that"<sup>82</sup>.* 

Some children at school are shown documentary videos about trafficking or have guest speakers who lecture them about the risks. In Kosovo, children stated that information about trafficking was incorporated into lessons on drug-abuse, alcoholism and so forth. As sex is raised in these discussions, some parents are unhappy with these lessons. A child stated: "In our school, for example, we have this subject and we truly like it a lot. Personally I like it a lot and especially the part that talks about trafficking. I felt very bad when I learned what happens to people who get trafficked, they are lied to and then used. But in our school there were cases when the parent told my teacher "Who the hell are you to teach my child about sex""<sup>83</sup>.

Even though they had received information at school, many children stated that they did not pay attention because *"I've never thought that it might happen to me"*<sup>84</sup>. They complained that children were not informed about why certain areas or certain children are more at risk of being trafficked: *"We have heard something about that in school but only superficially. I understood those were children who had nowhere to go, risky in all areas and that it was risky for us high school girls. I didn't entirely understand why, but, like, they may offer you something and then take it all away and mistreat you. I think that's terrible. But I didn't pay proper attention, I don't know, I can't believe that can happen to someone I know"<sup>85</sup>. In general, these risks are perceived to be too far removed from their own experiences and those of their friends.* 

Some children complained that this information did not provide practical advice on how to deal with these threats. As a child in Montenegro stated, "Well, there are activities being done in schools, and there is talk on TV. So we know all about it but we don't know how to protect ourselves. That's one thing, and I don't think that either our instructors or our teachers know much about that. And they should"<sup>86</sup>.

On the other hand, some children said it increased their awareness of some of the mechanisms by which children are trafficked. A child in Montenegro stated: "At school, they've told us about it. That's terrible, that's why I feel a little afraid of going abroad just like that, without asking anyone, no matter if I could have a good time there"<sup>87</sup>.

Some children said that it taught them never to trust strangers even if they provide many complements. After a discussion at school, *"we commented how nobody should be trusted, especially if they indulge you*"<sup>88</sup>. Many of the children had watched the film *"Lilja 4-Ever*"<sup>89</sup> in schools and took

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>82</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 13 years old boy, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>83</sup>Kosovo - focus group interview, 15 years old boy, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>84</sup>Bosnia-Herzegovina - focus group interview, 17 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>85</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 15 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>86</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>87</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child

 $<sup>^{88}\</sup>mbox{Montenegro-}$  individual interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>89</sup> Movie by the Swedish director Lukas Moodysson (2002), featuring a story of a girl trafficked to Sweden from former Soviet Union. The movie has been extensively used as an awareness raising tool in the framework of anti-trafficking information campaigns implemented in Southeast Europe.

away the message that it was important for girls in particular to be careful of falling in love with boys who may then hurt and traffic them. A few children highlighted the manner in which the risks of child trafficking are broadcast on television but also that there have been a few news broadcasts that suggest that children manage to escape and survive the experience of being trafficked.

This section stands merely as an introduction to a number of issues that will be discussed in greater depth over the course of this report. A few key issues are noteworthy.

First, children's perceptions of trafficking mechanisms and how processes are mediated or influenced by the messages that they receive from their parents, relatives, peers and teachers, who in turn are influenced by various macro socio-economic, cultural and political processes. For instance, the manner in which children interpret the message that they can be deceived through promises of presents, employment, migration and marriage will all be discussed in the next section.

Second, children's own perceptions of risk and rebound factors that are influenced by these messages. For instance, the overarching fear of strangers comes out clearly in their accounts.

Third, the strategies that they develop in relation to these fears are also influenced by the advice provided by these actors. Children often navigate social spaces with these messages in mind.

Fourth, are the concerns that the children raised about their parents' advice reflects their general complaint that they are not able to express their real concerns and needs because they are not listened to by adults in a range of different contexts. Advice, rules and restrictions are imposed in a top-down manner and children are not informed as to why they are necessary. Children are not asked whether they are realistic, feasible and reasonable. Children do not simply follow the advice or wishes of a parent but actively interpret them in their own way. Often their own sense of justice and injustice affect whether they will follow this advice.

Fifth is the role of the peer group which cannot be ignored when attempting to understand what trafficking means to children.

Sixth, children often receive mixed messages from a range of actors and this affects their ability to understand trafficking and/or to protect themselves.

Seventh, while alerting children to the risks of trafficking, these messages and associated restrictions often have the unintended consequence of placing them in situations that might enhance those risks. The overarching focus on risks and instilling fear in children has undermined attempts to understand their resiliency and the manner in which they are "opportunistic" and make on-the-spot decisions and/or plan, act with forethought and develop strategies to escape and survive situations that they perceive to be adverse.

Lastly, children can be decision-makers but they act on the basis of their feelings and desires, despite the existence of alternative options or evidence that suggests that they should do otherwise.

# Being tricked and cheated

#### "They cheat them with words and things"<sup>90</sup>

According to the children in this study, one of the means by which they are trafficked is through deception. This is described as *"being cheated"*, *"being tricked"* and *"being told stories"*. This information was gathered from a number of sources as was argued above. At an individual level, it is believed that certain children are more vulnerable because they are "curious" or "gullible". This is in turn related to factors such as their gender, age, experience, educational level.

At an interpersonal level, reference is made to trusting strangers or having no-one to provide support to them or inform them about the risks. At the macro-level the children refer to the manner in which childhood and gender is constructed, poverty and a "culture of violence". Each of these issues will be unpacked in turn but at the essence of children's argument is that although they may be deceived or cheated with *"words and things*", many children make a decision when faced with the options offered by a trafficker.

As a child in Kosovo states, "Perhaps in the beginning the child can accept the promises made to him, but in the end it will turn out that the promises are not what they were supposed to be... Well, he does make a decision but it is a decision which he doesn't know what he is getting into"<sup>91</sup>. In order to understand why some children accept these promises or "fall for somebody's stories", one child states that "we need to know what children want, because the one's buying them must be using that line"<sup>92</sup>.

In order to reach this understanding, it is necessary to highlight ten broad mechanisms by which it is believed that children are *"cheated*". It is said that traffickers:

- Ask children to provide information (e.g. directions)
- Offer them the opportunity to do or see more interesting things
- Give them material goods
- Promise them employment
- Offer them the chance to leave their current situation and travel abroad
- Offer assistance in finding a boyfriend or husband
- Other them an opportunity to attend or to leave school
- Compliment or pretend to care for them
- Claim to know a relative or friend

In other words the respondents believe that traffickers offer particular children, who they believe to be more gullible and naive, what they want. In their accounts, these "wants" or needs include the desire for money, employment, escape, travel, adventure, attention, compliments, support and particular relationships or attachments. Each of these desires is highly individual and contextual, in that it is related to the child's particular characteristics, interpersonal relationships and social contexts within which they make decisions.

The likelihood that a particular child will decide to go with a person who may turn out to be a trafficker depends upon factors at each of these individual, interpersonal and macro-levels and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>90</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 15 years old boy, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>91</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 16 years old boy, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>92</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 17 years old girl, institutional child

the complex manner in which they interact. As a child living in an institution in Romania stated, "Anyone can fool them around and tell them things will be all right. There is nobody to warn them not to believe. And if they are poor they immediately believe it. We are poor too but we don't do that. In here we have never heard of something like this"<sup>93</sup>. So in this case, it is important to ask why children, who may share the same dire economic conditions, are more likely to be deceived by a trafficker? A number of mediating factors are at play which ensures that some children are more resilient in this context. This chapter will highlight these complexities by using the mechanisms that children identify as a departure point for deeper analysis into the children's "lived realities" and the strategies they develop in relation to adversity.

# Being asked for information

A number of children state that traffickers ask children for information (e.g. directions) and/or ask children to show them the way and in the process, children are trafficked. As a girl in Kosovo stated, "They take females as if they want to ask them something and it turns out that they put them in cars and then I don't know how they do the crossing of border thing but I have heard that they take them to Albania or to other countries from Albania to Italy and places like that to sell children or to sell their body organs or something like that"<sup>94</sup>.

Another child stated that his girlfriend was approached for information: "It happened to my girlfriend. They came and waved to them and at the next stop one of them got on the bus but there were quite a few of them in the car. One of them got in and asked her: "What bus is this?" She got scared. Some grandmother was sitting next to her and she said something like… "Get out!" They started to shout at him, so he got off and got in the car again, while my girlfriend… She got off and started to run but there was a building near there, and she, seeing them turn into her street, hid into that building."<sup>95</sup>. In this case, the fear of being trafficked led to an on-the-spot decision to run away and hide.

A Serbian child stated that he was asked to show the way to someone: "Like, he said to me, "Show me". I told him and explained it to him, and he said, like, "Come with me. Come with me". I went to my mum and told her and she came out to say you know, things like, "He can't go out. He is still too young, you know". He didn't let go of me, when he... He got scared. He would've taken me away 100% and he would never bring me back. And I explained to him, I mean it's simple, but he kept telling me to come with him..."<sup>96</sup>. His strategy was to ask for assistance from his mother as a means of overcoming the potential threat of being trafficked.

In order to understand why some children are more likely to believe the trafficker's intentions to be sincere, it is insightful to consider the opinion of a child in Kosovo. She explained that this act of asking for children's opinion makes children feel happier and inadvertently places them at risk: "You know how kids are, they are happy that someone is approaching them and is giving them a chance to be seen in a society, but they don't know that the wrong man could approach them too"<sup>97</sup>. This desire to be heard or listened to is echoed frequently in the children's accounts of their lives. Hence, it is argued that because children's opinion tends to be ignored by parents, elder siblings

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>93</sup>Romania - individual interview, 15 years old girl,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>94</sup>Kosovo - focus group interview, 14-16 years old girls, school children.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>95</sup>Serbia - focus group interview, 18 years old boy, street child

 $<sup>^{96}\</sup>mbox{Serbia}$  - focus group interviews, street and shelter children of age 9- 17

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>97</sup>Kosovo - focus group interview, 14 years old girl, school child

etc., they appreciate the fact that someone is asking for their advice and as a result are easily deceived by individuals who may pretend to be listening to them or interested in what they say.

According to the respondents, traffickers target children for a particular purpose and children whom they perceive to be particularly vulnerable. They relate this vulnerability to physical strength and to gullibility. In terms of the former, it is suggested that younger children are smaller and weaker and therefore cannot defend themselves from traffickers who coerce them. In terms of the latter, it is said that traffickers purposefully target gullible children because it is easy to trick them into consenting to go with them. As a boy in Kosovo stated, *"They traffic them by seeing that they are just kids walking up and down the streets and then they follow them and cheat on them somehow"*.<sup>98</sup> He stated that traffickers target children generally but other children identify particular characteristics that make some children more "gullible" than others.

It is believed by many children that age is an important reason why some children are "tricked" or "cheated": "Well, it could be that it is dangerous even in the houses for some kids if they are alone at home. I think that it is a bit more dangerous for girls and smaller children because the smaller children are easier to be cheated on and get scared easier and more"<sup>99</sup>.

This was echoed by boys living and working on the streets as is evident in these comments: "The younger the child is it is easier to snatch him or her, because they are cheated easier"<sup>100</sup>. "Children who are 9 or 10 are easily cheated then those who are 16 or 17"<sup>101</sup>. Some children believed that this was related to biological or developmental differences, and the belief that children who are younger do not have the cognitive abilities to make accurate judgments and correct decisions.

On the other hand, this naivety was also related to their depth of experience and their limited access to information. As an adolescent boy in a Montenegrin institution stated when describing his younger peers, "Well yeah, they are more gullible and unable to defend themselves very well, and they also aren't as able as me. They are inexperienced so to speak, that's what the instructors keep telling us: "You're not experienced enough yet"<sup>102</sup>. So lack of experience affects young children's ability to express themselves, voice their concerns and defend themselves.

It is also believed that older children know more because they have had more experience than youngsters. The complex manner in which biology, experience and access to information interacts is evident in this statement by a girl from Kosovo: "The 20 year old girls are more mature for example and know how to think differently about themselves, while this girlfriend of mine, who isn't even 14, yet can be easily manipulated by others because she is not mature yet... She is not any different from us, it's just that ... I don't know, she's just naive and trusts people easy".

When asked to explain, she suggested that this relates to parenting practices and levels of intergenerational communication: "For example if a child is 6, then the parent doesn't talk to him much about how to act in the streets and what the child is supposed to do where to go and where not to go, then this has a lot to do with that"<sup>103</sup>. In other words, older children "know more" and because

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>98</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 16 years old boy, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>99</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 14 years old boy; school child

 $<sup>^{100}\</sup>mbox{Kosovo-}$  individual interview, 15 years old boy; street child

 $<sup>^{101}\</sup>mbox{Kosovo}$  - focus group interview, 7 years old boy, working child

 $<sup>^{102}\</sup>mbox{Montenegro}$  - focus group interview, 16 years old boy, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>103</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 15 years old girl, school child

they are young, certain children do not have information about trafficking risks, and this may enhance their gullibility.

It is evident that the issue of age, naivety and decision-making is very complex when children describe life experiences that do not relate specifically to trafficking. It will be argued that a composite range of factors, that do not necessarily pertain to age-based notions of naivety, are likely to increase the risk of trafficking for children.

### Age, naivety and decision-making

In a range of responses and settings that were not related to trafficking specifically, it was evident that children perceive younger children to be more naive. Many of these accounts of naivety were described in relative terms, in that older children constantly compared their own knowledge in relation to younger children's gullibility.

An adolescent girl living on the streets of Serbia stated that because she is older than 16, she knows what is good for her and what exactly she wants. Sixteen seemingly defines the age at which one develops the ability to make decisions and has been highlighted by children in all 7 research countries/entities because "They are cleverer after 16"<sup>104</sup> and "the younger a person is, the less he thinks" <sup>105</sup>.

A child in Kosovo suggested that teenagers are able to make better decisions "because they are a bit older and can use their sense more"<sup>106</sup>. Another girl stated: "I am grown up now and I can think for myself, and I know what is right and what is wrong. I am not one of those girls that can be cheated on"<sup>107</sup>. So it is held that older children are more capable of making decisions in their everyday lives and this will prevent them from being "tricked".

Children's ability to make decisions is related to how much say they have in their daily lives. Children complained that they are not listened to and do not have much control over household decisions, as will be highlighted with reference to migration. Age seemed to be significant, as older children (teenagers specifically) stated that they have more say and younger children complained that their word does not count for much.

This is related to social expectations and parental perceptions of their decision-making abilities. For instance, a child in Kosovo stated: "My parents tell me that I can't give them any advice because I am not ready to make decisions on my own yet"<sup>108</sup>. In contrast it is said that teenagers "Are the ones who are asked what can be done, because they are more mature and know better"<sup>109</sup>.

It is also said that the ability to make decisions, affects the power that children can exercise over other children, because "older ones know much more then the young ones, the young ones must obey the older children. But not all of them, older children can make mistakes, too…"<sup>110</sup>. So this perception

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>104</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 17 years old boy, institutional child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>105</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 17 years old boy, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>106</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 13 years old boy, school child

 $<sup>^{107}\</sup>mbox{Kosovo}$  - individual interview, 15 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>108</sup>Kosovo - focus group interview, 15-17 years old boys and girls, school children

 $<sup>^{109} \</sup>text{Kosovo}$  - individual interview, 16 years old girl, street child

 $<sup>^{110}\</sup>mbox{Serbia}$  - individual interview, 16 years old girl, street child

of age-based knowledge supports various power hierarchies. As will be revealed in a later chapter, peers often hurt or exploit each other, and may even become accomplices in trafficking scenarios. Their involvement cannot be seen apart from these power hierarchies legitimized by the perception that certain children, by virtue of their age, cognitive and decision-making abilities should obey other, older, children.

On the other hand, this decision-making ability is said to be affected by a number of factors. It is also evident that experience is perceived as very significant in terms of being able to make decisions. For some children, this experience and the skills and knowledge that one acquires from it, is more important than age. As a child in Romania stated, "When you live through dangerous experiences, dangerous for you and other people at your age, you grow up, you mature"<sup>111</sup>. In this sense, maturity (and the ability to make decisions) is not tied to age but to the experiences that one has been through and/or survived. Many children living in institutions and/or on the streets believe that they are better able and have greater capabilities in relation to decision-making than a child living at home by virtue of the experiences that they have had to endure and overcome.

"Living at home" emerged as significant in numerous descriptions of decision-making. For one thing, many children living at home complained that they have little freedom in terms of decision-making, whereas children living on the streets emphasized that they are able to make important decisions in their lives.

A child living in a shelter in Kosovo stated: "I left home when I was 15... Before I was 15 my dad decided about anything and everything but ever since I left home I make my own decisions because I know what is best for me and what is not"<sup>112</sup>. Another child living on the streets of Serbia emphasized that he, like other children living on the streets, are now free to make their own decisions without fearing the input of his parents: "They are not afraid of their mother or father because they are on their own; they can do whatever they like"<sup>113</sup>. In other words, decision-making and freedom to make decisions - is contingent upon social experience and how this is influenced by interpersonal relationships.

Hence, the belief that children of a certain age are more at-risk of trafficking needs to be qualified. Although this belief is shared by many children in relation to the "gullibility" and "naivety" of young children who are easily *"tricked*", their accounts reveal that this is not related to age per se, but to a complex range of factors including access to information and experience.

Experience is itself specific for the individual child, their interpersonal relationships with parents, caregivers, peers etc., and the social context within which they grow up. It is also highly situational in that children are faced with different challenges, which they deal with in different ways. Focusing simply on age and the so-called "vulnerabilities" associated with being young, undermines any understanding of how children have matured, survived and exhibited high levels of resilience in many communities.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>111</sup>Romania - individual interview, 16 years old girl

 $<sup>^{112}\</sup>mbox{Kosovo}$  - individual interview, 18 years old girl, shelter child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>113</sup>Serbia - individual interview, 13 years old boy, street child

# Age and freedom

Children complained that their freedom to make decisions is often curbed by various rules and restrictions set by their parents. These restrictions are often justified on the basis of protection. As mentioned in a previous section, these restrictions are often enforced to protect children from violence, exploitation and trafficking. Although they may be an expression of love, care and support, this form of support is often misguided. As a girl in Albania stated, *"I think that it is hard to be a child in Albania. Parents love their children very much, but it seems to me that they put a lot of restrictions and prevent them from doing what the children want to do. They have very strong relations with the children so they do not let them free even to make mistakes. They think that by providing affection, sometimes even via violence, they offer the best for us; they fail to understand that we want to make mistakes in order to learn through them. I think that it is so hard for the Albanian parents to accept such a thing"<sup>114</sup>.* 

So strong interpersonal relationships between parents and children may be a resiliency factor for some children in some situations but these parents may attempt to overprotect children by sheltering them from risks. In this way a resilience factor may turn out to be risky for children who feel that they are not equipped to handle threats given that they have little experience in making decisions on their own and protecting themselves.

It is held that parents do not explain why they have enforced these restrictions. As they do not understand what the purpose is, many children suggested that they become more determined to break them. For instance a girl in Albania complained: "There is no advanced mentality to protect the child, to show them what is good and what is bad. Our parents should be aware that the more the restrictions the more we want to do what we are not allowed to. The parents often tell the children "do not smoke" that is all they say but they never tell children what is bad if they smoke. They do not explain that smoking is dangerous to their health and this is why they should not smoke. They simply say, do not smoke because I tell you not to smoke and after that the children see the father in particular smoking and says to himself "you smoke, why shouldn't I?""<sup>115</sup>

This quote points to children's sense of injustice when parents apply double standards in relation to rules and restrictions. As children do not know why certain behaviour is restricted to them, they may feel that it is unfair that adults have more freedom, choice and power. In fact this example of smoking was highlighted by a girl in Bulgaria, who stated that she deliberately smoked to show her parents that she can make decisions: "Well, frankly speaking I did it to spite my parents. "You mustn't smoke, you mustn't drink, you mustn't stay out late at night, we want to know the boys you go out with, etc.!" and I did it to spite them. There had to be something which I could decide by myself whether to do it or not. Just like that to spite them"<sup>116</sup>.

This issue of deliberate rebellion against rules and restrictions was not simply related to age and the so-called stress and tension that is said to characterize adolescence in particular, as was described in the literature review. It is related to the manner in which parents treat and interact with their children which is in turn influenced by the way that childhood is socially constructed. For instance, a child working on the streets of Bulgaria suggested that children only "rebel" when parents

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>114</sup>Albania - focus group interview, 18 years old girl, internal migrant

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>115</sup>Albania - focus group interview, 16 years old girl, internal migrant

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>116</sup>Bulgaria - focus group interview, 14-17 years old boys and girls, school children

impose their opinions and restrictions on them without providing support: "When they tell them for example they want to go out their parents shout at them and tell them what they can do and what not. In this way children become somehow envious and bad. They become bad and when you tell them, for example to do something they just don't want to do it. They become stubborn and whimsical. The parents are guilty for this. The more they shout at their children, the more stubborn they become. Something like that"<sup>117</sup>.

So in terms of the rules and restrictions that parents set to protect their children, many children may rebel and purposefully break these rules because they perceive themselves to be unjustified. In breaking these rules, they may face a range of unintended consequences that place them at risk of violence, exploitation and trafficking, as will be revealed in a later section on gender and risk.

Freedom is also mediated by gender, in that boys tend to have more freedom than girls regardless of their age. This issue will be discussed in greater depth in a later section but it is interesting to note that girls are often treated like younger children and are denied freedom and decision-making power. For instance a girl in Albania stated: *"Here people have a completely different concept about males compared to females. A male can have a lot of options. I see this in my house. Nothing is prohibited for my brothers. On the contrary, even when he does something improper, my mom says, no problem he is a boy but I cannot forgive you, you are a girl, so you should bow your head when walking in the street. The boy is free to go to school, to choose his job and his wife, while the girls, at least where I live, do not have such chances for the reasons I mentioned"<sup>118</sup>.* 

According to the respondents, the central problem rests with the fact that parents do not understand children and the daily problems and pressures that they face. For instance, one girl's mother attempted to protect her from so called *"bad people"* by restricting her freedom of movement and interaction with friends.

A girl in Bulgaria stated: "Well, actually she [mom] doesn't understand me and she doesn't want to. She doesn't make any efforts and this makes me angry. She thinks she is the only one who has problems but I have problems too"<sup>119</sup>.

This is echoed by another girl in Kosovo, which stated that while her parents give her advice, it is often not relevant to the problems she faces: "I would like to talk more to my mother, my parents but still I don't talk to them because they don't understand me at all, so I go about talking to people I have been talking to until now... Because they have been living in different times and can not understand the new times and the needs now"<sup>120</sup>.

This was even more salient if a parent is older. For example, a girl in Kosovo stated that she has a positive relationship with her mother and could freely share her concerns and worries but her father, who was much older, tells her that she knows nothing and she therefore does not confide in him.

For children who break the rules, some are less concerned about the risks associated with their behaviour or with the punishment that accompanies it. Corporal punishment was used by parents

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>117</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 17 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>118</sup>Albania - focus group interview, 18 years old girl, internal migrant

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>119</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 14 years old girl, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>120</sup>Kosovo -, individual interview, 15 years old girl, school child

and caregivers in all of the countries. In order to avoid this punishment some children would try to stay away from home as much as possible or they would develop highly secretive strategies to avoid it.

For instance, a child in Montenegro stated: "I'm only afraid father would beat me, so I take care I don't do anything he doesn't allow us to do. And when I do such things, I take care no one knows about it"<sup>121</sup>. A child who ran away with her friend in Romania, considered the possibility of returning home and weighed up her perceived options but decided against the latter because she would be severely punished: "I wanted to come back home it was like something was pushing me from the back but then again something was telling me don't, don't go back. Don't go back you will get a smack"<sup>122</sup>.

Despite the fact that many children weigh up their options, in many cases these strategies may enable children to cope or avoid immediate violence but may in the long run put them at risk. For example, a street working child living in a shelter in Bosnia-Herzegovina stated that her friend was beaten by her father and in order to escape this violence she left home and now she works in a bar near the border with Serbia and she doesn't go to school any more<sup>123</sup>.

Many of the children described a process of self-evaluation in which they thought about the actions that they have taken in the past. Some did not regret their decisions because the actions were wrong or risky but because of the punishment that accompanied it. A child in Montenegro stated that she believed that she had a right to make her own decisions, so broke her family's rules by staying out late. She was less concerned about this action than the punishment: "Well, I did regret it because they found out and it was the family problem for days and I was beaten and grounded. I know it's not nice to do something your mother forbids you to do but I told myself at the time I had the right to something I liked to do. And there, I paid for it. I only regret it because of the punishment"<sup>124</sup>.

Another girl in the IDP camp lied about where she was going and who she was spending time with. Instead of being concerned about the dangers associated with this or the corporal punishment she received, she regretted the fact that it made her parents lose trust in her. Many children across the region complained that their parents have little faith or trust in them and this tends to be unwarranted and unrelated to the actions that they take. Children who may be facing risks such as violence and exploitation may not seek support from parents, who do not trust them, instead of receiving support they may be subject to punishment.

Children in institutions complained that they have little freedom in institutions and have to follow the rules and restrictions set by social workers. Some children were looking forward to turning 18 when they can leave the institution. As a child in Kosovo stated, *"not much time is left, one more year as long as I become 18 and then I will take off from here and then I never want to hear about this place ever again"*<sup>125</sup>.

On the one hand, some children complained that when they turned 18 they are *"set free"* and are released from the institutions because it is believed that they are now capable of making decisions on their own lives. However, many children were concerned about this sudden transition and the

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 121}{\rm Montenegro}$  - individual interview, 14 years old girl, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>122</sup>Romania - individual interview, 16 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>123</sup> .Bosnia-Herzegovina - focus group interview, 16 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>124</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 16 years old girl, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>125</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 17 years old boy, shelter child

fact that they have not been adequately prepared for this so- called freedom and have not been assisted in their decision-making processes with regards to their next steps outside the institution. It is important to note that experiences in institutions differ for children across the region, as will be discussed in a later section. Some children in a shelter in Kosovo stated that they were prepared for independent living because they live in semi-independent apartments in which they are required to make their own decisions on the basis of information provided to them by shelter staff<sup>126</sup>. Generally, however, children in institutions stated that they have little freedom and decision-making power, and not only have they considered running away to go to the streets (where they may face various safety and security threats), but they feel that they have not been adequately prepared to deal with potential trafficking-related threats.

# Age and trust

When creating a life history book revolving around a hypothetical story of a child who had been trafficked a child in Montenegro described the following scenario:

"I've drawn a girl who came to this family, and they all thought she had run away from home. And they beat her up, that's why these bruises are here. That on top everything else that happened to her....I don't know, no one understood her or trusted her. That happens all the time that we children are not trusted. They think we make things up, and I think no one has such imagination to make that up and tell about those bad things that happened to them. When they talk about nice things, then OK, maybe. And even if she was lying, why wouldn't someone listen to her and trust her?"<sup>127</sup>

This quote epitomizes one of the main concerns expressed by children regardless of age namely, that they are not trusted, and this adversely affects their social supports in periods of adversity.

Many respondents stated that children who are most at risk of being trafficked are those who have few people to turn to – they have few social supports and have no-one to "lean on". However, children stated that they often find it difficult to obtain support from their parents or other adults because they are not trusted by virtue of their age, and the way that childhood is constructed in many communities. For instance, a child in Montenegro complained: "She'd first accuse me that it was all my fault, and only then, after she scolds me and accuses me, she'd see how to help me... If she just did what I asked her to do, without talking about it and without accusing me and criticizing me"<sup>128</sup>. A child in Bosnia-Herzegovina also stated that she is subject to corporal punishment if she tells her mother her problems and asks for her assistance: "I'm afraid she will punish me, she'd beat me to death so I solve the problems alone"<sup>129</sup>.

In institutions, children also complained that they were not trusted and that they are actually falsely accused of committing various acts: "Well no-one, believes the children. Like no-one believes us in the Home. Until a grown person says something and confirms our story, they don't believe us"<sup>130</sup>.

Without their parents to stand up for them, they cannot defend themselves. Children argue that those most at risk of being trafficked are those with little support in terms of protection and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>126</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 18 years old girl, shelter child

 $<sup>^{127}\</sup>mbox{Montenegro}$  - focus group interview, 16 years old boy, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>128</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 16 years old girl, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>129</sup>Bosnia-Herzegovina - focus group interview, 11 years old girl, street child

 $<sup>^{130}\</sup>mbox{Montenegro}$  - focus group interview, 15 years old girl, institutionalized child

advice and that children who have little protection and advice are those who are not trusted and believed.

Children living and working on the streets state that older children are less likely to be believed or trusted by the police. As a result, it is said that older children are more likely to be abused by the police. If a younger child complains about maltreatment, they will be more likely to be believed and their physical wounds will show more. The police will therefore get into trouble.

In general, a number of conclusions can be made about risk and resiliency in relation to childhood.

First, many children believed that young children in particular are more at risk of being trafficked because they are not only physically weak but more gullible and naive by virtue of their age and cognitive abilities. This belief is shared by parents and caregivers who impose certain rules and restrictions on their behaviour in order to *"protect them"*. This is supported by various socio-cultural norms related to childhood, which often overlap with those pertaining to gender.

Second, children's accounts suggest that naivety is related less to age and the particular developmental stage that a child is passing through and more to their access to information and their experience. In terms of the former, information enables them to make informed decisions and will help them develop clear protection strategies when confronted by a trafficker. In terms of the latter, experience is contingent upon a range of factors. In terms of interpersonal relationships, it is evident that children who are given more say, decision-making power and freedom are perceived to be more resilient because they have a chance to mature, have various experiences and make decisions that equip them to deal with adverse situations. It will also help them see through false offers which traffickers use to trick children.

Third, it was suggested that children who are trusted more by adults will be more likely to seek out support in terms of advice and protection. Children who are not listened to and are not trusted to make their own decisions will be less likely to call for assistance when being tricked or threatened by a trafficker. These arguments around trust, freedom and decision-making will resonate throughout this report.

# Offering more interesting options

Many of the children stated that traffickers deceive children by offering them more interesting activities to do, more interesting places to go and more interesting people to meet. As one child stated, "These people deceive children, they tell them: "Come on, I want to show you something", and then they put them in their cars and take them to other places or perhaps even keep them here in Kosovo"<sup>131</sup>.

Another child stated that traffickers think about who children would like to see and then offer them this opportunity: "He will tell you come and I will take you to a singer you like, for example a singer you liked very much and then he says ok and you think he will take you there and that you can trust him and you go with him not knowing his true intentions"<sup>132</sup>. In other words, they attribute trafficker's high power, knowledge and awareness of their specific wants which they then manipulate.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>131</sup>Kosovo - focus group interview, 14-16 years old boys and girls, school children,

 $<sup>^{132}\</sup>mbox{Kosovo}$  - focus group interview, 15 years old boy, school child

In order to understand the appeal of undertaking interesting activities or meeting interesting people for children, it is necessary to review their descriptions of their daily lives. In a range of settings, these descriptions are littered by boredom and a sense of frustration at the lack of recreational facilities or activities for them to partake in. This is conveyed in a statement from an Albanian girl from a migrant community: "Everything is very boring. Everyday I do the same things, I get bored. I do not know. I feel powerless to change and why should I change something that has been like this for years"<sup>133</sup>.

Children in institutions also complained that they have few activities. As one child in Montenegro stated, "I don't do anything here, I just idle time away. They should organize us. If they told me to do something I like, for example paint the Home, different color for each wall"<sup>134</sup>. Another child in this institution complained that all she does is "clean, tidy up and such. It's terribly boring"<sup>135</sup>.

Children from all research communities complained that the only things for them to do are to walk from one coffee bar to another or visit internet cafes. Existing recreational areas are described by children as inadequate. Some children in Northern Mitrovica complained that the only park for smaller children is too close to the police station, and this makes her feel uncomfortable<sup>136</sup>. Children from a Roma community in Albania complained that their parks are littered by dirt and garbage<sup>137</sup>. A few children from the IDP camp in Montenegro complained about the fact that they have few places to play, and that no-one - their parents, NGO staff, and officials in the camp are willing to help them to remedy this situation, despite their best efforts to enlist their support: "I was sad and angry when a man from the camp built this bar on the playground where we play football... I asked me father how can he build a bar there, and he says let it go, it's not your business. How is that not my business, when we need to play football there? ... I was sad that we didn't matter and they weren't ready to do anything for us and they would for him, and no one says a word about his bar, and they drive us off not to break the windows, as if we had no right to some place to play..."<sup>138</sup>

Yet again, this quote highlights the extent to which children are rarely consulted or listened to. They have little power to express their needs and as a result their concerns are disregarded.

Many of the children expressed a sense of deprivation around what they described as failing to have a "real childhood" associated with play. As one boy in Kosovo stated in response to a question about where he plays, "It is quite hard to be a kid here because there are no proper conditions that a child needs... because we don't have any football field or anything like that, where to go out or where to do things that children do"139.

So many children receive messages about what their childhood should be but this often fails to match the reality. The idea that childhood is associated with play does not hold true in many communities which do not have the economic and social resources to fulfill children's need and desire for recreation and entertainment. The reality therefore does not offer them a stable, protected, sheltered period of play.

- <sup>134</sup>Montenegro- individual interview, 15 years old girl, institutionalized child
- <sup>135</sup>Montenegro- individual interview, 14 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>133</sup>Albania - focus group interview, 16 years old girl, internal migrant

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>136</sup>Kosovo - focus group interview, 15 years old girl, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>137</sup>Albania - focus group interview, 15 years old girl

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>138</sup>Montenegro- focus group interview, 15 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>139</sup>Kosovo - focus group interview, 15 years old boy, street child

The child respondents said that children with few recreational activities are in greater danger. This "danger" was associated with a range of threats. On the one hand, this danger is related to playing on the streets and the threat of being run over because "when the ball goes on the street a car can hit you"<sup>140</sup>. The danger is also related to the pervasive threat of strangers and criminals. As one child in Bulgaria stated, "In the schoolyard that's near us there are junkies and drunkards and that's why we don't go there"<sup>141</sup>.

It is said that these "junkies" and "drunkards" force them to consume substances, harass or physically hurt them. It was also said that it is dangerous for some children to have no recreational activities because boredom might encourage bullying. It is also held that children in institutions who are bored may decide to run away and on the streets may be placed in greater risk of violence, exploitation and trafficking. With reference to trafficking, it is said that the absence of recreational facilities and the pervasive sense of boredom, will make children more likely to be tempted by the offers of a trafficker: "Children may feel better if they are given some attention and some interesting things to do, instead of just hanging around on the streets, where they can be lured into all kinds of things"<sup>142</sup>. Hence, children suggest that the dearth of "interesting options" makes them more likely to accept offers of entertainment and recreation, which might turn out to be false.

# The offer of material goods or employment

It is held by the children in this study that traffickers know what children want and for some children this includes gifts or material goods. As one Montenegrin child states, "At first, these people promise them all kinds of things, you'll get this, you'll get that. And so they lure them into it"<sup>143</sup>.

It is held that these promises are normally false and by accepting them a range of unintended negative consequences may happen: "they may offer you something and then take it all away and mistreat you"<sup>144</sup>. This negative consequence may arise because some people traffic children by withholding information from them: "Pimps or traffickers they don't say anything about perils, they only talk about nice parts such as money, clothes or jewels"<sup>145</sup>.

So children may decide to go with a trafficker because they do not have access to all the information needed to make an accurate judgment. Nevertheless, they make this decision because they want material goods. The respondents stated that traffickers manage to *"trick"* children by offering them employment. They specifically target poor children who want and need jobs to support themselves and/or their families. As one child in Kosovo stated, *"First they see what does the child need or want and then they tell them for examples come with us and we will give you a job that pays well*"<sup>146</sup>.

It is said that children make a decision to believe or go with a trafficker on the basis of this promise of employment: "Well, in the beginning maybe the child could go on their own will but they go

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>140</sup>Bosnia-Herzegovina - focus group interview, 14 years old boy

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>141</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 15 years old boy, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>142</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 15 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>143</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>144</sup>Montenegro - individual child, 15 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>145</sup>Romania - individual interview, 15 years old girl

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>146</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 16 years old boy, school child

because they are deceived by the traffickers, for example they tell them they will give them jobs or something like that"<sup>147</sup>.

One child in Bulgaria stated that traffickers make proposals to children which appeals to their desire for recreation and their need to work. For example: "It is summer now; don't you want to make some money to go to the seaside, on vacation? I do this and that and I can offer you work you can make good money and it is at the seaside you will be working and you will be at the seaside at the same time you will make some money"<sup>148</sup>.

The decision to believe these promises is made on the basis of a need or a want which traffickers exploit. It is said that "There are children who don't want to work, like those sent to beg because they don't like it but they have to go to get money"<sup>149</sup>.

From their accounts, children believe the promises of traffickers to support themselves and/or their families depending on the adversities and particular pressures they are facing. In other words, the *"troubles"* and the needs are specific to the child and the social context, but the fact that traffickers manage to trick children suggests that traffickers are aware of children's different wants and needs or that children share similar wants and needs, which traffickers manipulate.

So on the one hand children may accept a false offer of employment because they have individual reasons for earning money: "Everyone wants to earn big money so someone can use that as a hook as well"<sup>150</sup>. This is enhanced when people are poor: "If someone is poor and someone offers them a chance to earn big money, who would say no?"<sup>151</sup>

In other cases, children accept a job because they would like to contribute to the household income: "If a girl is from a poor family then she is deceived easier because they tell them I will find you a job abroad and then he or she doesn't think much because of the poor living conditions and accepts"<sup>152</sup>. Hence, individual decision-making depends upon interpersonal relationships, which are affected by the macro-economic context within which they are played out. Traffickers are aware of this and exploit their wants and needs to obtain their consent. In order to understand these individualized and interpersonal needs and wants, it is necessary to look at the respondents' descriptions of work in their everyday lives. Some children work on the streets but live at home, while other children work and live on the streets.

# Working children living at home

According to the respondents, there are different categories of children who work. As one child stated, "Now, there are children who understand that and they want to work and help out and even if they don't like that they keep quiet and work. There are children who don't want to and don't like to and are very unhappy about having to work and there are children who get beaten when they come back from the town without bringing anything home"<sup>153</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>147</sup>Kosovo - focus group interviews, 12-18 years old boys, school and street children

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>148</sup>Bulgaria - focus group interview, 16 years old boy, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>149</sup>Romania - individual interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child

 $<sup>^{150}\</sup>ensuremath{\mathsf{Montenegro}}$  - individual interview, 16 years old boy, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>151</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 13 years old boy, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>152</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 15 years old girl, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>153</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 15 years old boy, IDP camp

So these categories of children relate to a complex combination of three factors: their willingness to work, their need to work and whether they like working. These needs, wants and likes must be seen in a social context associated with poverty and social dislocation.

The children have a clear sense of justice and injustice when it came to the work that they undertake when living at home. This sense of justice affected their willingness to work, the likelihood that they would accept an offer of employment or a chance to migrate abroad. It was felt that it was fair and just if:

- They made a decision to work
- They contributed to the survival of the household
- They help a parent who because of illness cannot work
- They help a parent who is unemployed or does not earn enough
- They are able to keep a portion of their earnings
- They work to further their independence

It was felt that work was unfair and unjust if:

- They had no say or choice over whether they wanted to work, and what types of work they could undertake
- They were physically coerced to work or beaten if they did not earn enough
- They had to work in terrible conditions but their parents did not
- Their parents did not or could not work
- Their parents used the money to purchase alcohol and other material items that were not used to help the family
- Their parents did not allow children to keep a portion of their earnings

Many children would like to work as they are able to earn some money for themselves and gain some degree of economic independence. Some children stated that they need to work to purchase personal items because "children need some stuff that their parents cant' buy"<sup>154</sup>. Another child in Albania stated that she would like to work to purchase personal items even though her parents will not let her because they think that she is too young to work: "I have asked my parents but they have not allowed me because they think that I am still little, I will start working at the age of 13"<sup>155</sup>.

This was echoed by another child in the Albanian migrant community: "Parents too do not support us properly to find a job. They always say, "You are little, you will work all your life. You better stay home". I personally think that economic independence would be very good"<sup>156</sup>.

These children complained that their parents do not understand their needs and wants, and as a result forbid them from working. On the other hand, many children in this study work with their parents' encouragement; the extent to which they choose to do differs.

It was said that many children do not have a choice over whether they would like to work in particularly difficult conditions. As a child in Montenegro stated, "If they could, they wouldn't work if they did not have to. Their father or some relative, if they don't have a father, probably presses them to

<sup>155</sup>Albania - focus group interview, 9 years old girl

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>154</sup>Kosovo - focus group interview, 17 years old boy, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>156</sup>Albania - focus group interview, 16 years old girl, internal migrant

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>157</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 13 years old girl, IDP camp
earn money and that's why they go and work...". When asked what this work is like, this child stated: "Hard, I think. They have to be about the town all day or dig in the containers or beg about the town till the evening, they get tired till they come back home and bring the money they've earned. I see they have to do that even when it's cold and there's rain... If those children don't like to work and it's hard for them, and someone makes them go out and earn money each day, then these people can only make them unhappy"<sup>157</sup>.

In other words, conditions of work are often seen as hazardous and undesirable and a child may not like to work. However, it will be shown that their willingness to work is related to the direct and indirect pressure that many face. In terms of the former, physical force is often used to make them work; they are therefore willing to work and need to work to avoid violence, although they dislike it. In terms of the latter, indirect pressure might be the result of interpersonal responsibilities and the desire to please a parent, caregiver, sibling or peer; children are therefore willing to work and need to work to fulfill their duties and derive a sense of happiness. The nature of the work determines whether they like or dislike it, but fulfilling an interpersonal responsibility may override these likes or dislikes if they perceive the situation to be just and fair.

Some parents need children to work because they cannot earn enough money to support their families, but this becomes unfair when parents who do not work and/or use the money for their own needs: "Many children have to work because their fathers make them. They either can't make enough money themselves and they need help, or they don't try very hard but stay at home and wait for the children to bring some money home. Which I think is terrible... I tell you, there are some fathers in this camp who are really bad people and don't do any work all day long and wait for someone to bring them money, and there are those who walk about the town or do manual work all day long to earn ten Euros. And that's a lot, if they could make that much every day... The ones who don't do anything or drink and wait for children or even their wife to earn them money and get it from begging from people, they must make their children unhappy, they must be unhappy. Sometimes they even get beaten when they come back from the town with no money or just a little bit"<sup>158</sup>.

Children were very critical of so-called "lazy parents". A child who was begging on the streets of Serbia stated that his friends feel bad, "Because their parents sit at home...while their children have to mooch so that they would have money to buy beer"<sup>159</sup>. It was said that in some cases, parents "sit, eat, drink and wait for the children to bring the money whether it's hot or cold"<sup>160</sup>. "Daddy drives Mercedes, a child begs"<sup>161</sup> and while the children work, "their parents live well, they have big houses"<sup>162</sup>. It was held that some parents pretend to be ill so that their children will work on their behalf: "Sometimes she stays home and pretends her leg hurts or something like that. She pretends her leg hurts and her son is at the parking lot, it rains, he begs. He asks for half a mark, he takes care of the cars"<sup>163</sup>

It is said that some parents use physical violence against children who do not earn enough money: "Sometimes people won't give them money so some children get beaten by the father saying "where's the money", how come he spent the whole day in the town and didn't bring a cent home or they don't believe them that they didn't spend the money on something to eat or drink. Some fathers don't beat their sons

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>158</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 17 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>159</sup>Serbia - individual interviews, 18 & 15 years old boys, street children

 $<sup>^{160}\</sup>mbox{Bosnia-Herzegovina}$  - individual interviews, girls age 7 & 11, street children

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>161</sup>Bosnia-Herzegovina - individual interview, 18 years old boy, street child

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 162} Bosnia-Herzegovina~$  - focus group interviews, 12 & 13 years old boys

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 163}{\rm Bosnia}{\rm -Herzegovina}\,$  - focus group, 10 years old boy

when they come back without any money but some shout and beat them because they want to buy drinks with the money, and when they have nothing to drink they act like mad people...<sup>164</sup>.

A girl in Kosovo complained that her father uses the income that she makes from chopping wood to purchase alcohol: "And the money that with we would make, my father would take them and go drink them and eat them all up with his friends..."<sup>165</sup>

She was beaten regularly for not earning enough money. Another child in Kosovo stated that he has no choice but to work: "He shouts at me if I don't work. I don't know what would happen if I wouldn't do that, maybe my father would beat me up, I don't know"<sup>166</sup>.

In response to this violence, some children develop various strategies to pacify a parent and guard against further violence. For instance, a child stated that she would pretend to beg to appease his father because she felt that staying at home and enduring the pressure to work, was a preferable option to running away, living on the streets or taking a husband: "Sometimes I just approach a person and if father's not nearby, I don't even ask that person for anything. Later I tell father that person did not give me any money and I didn't even ask for it, I'm sick of it but then again, I know I have to beg because father would hit me and shout and because we have to eat. I know all that but still I wish I weren't doing it. When I come back home I want to walk around the camp with my friends but they often forbid me to... There, look at me, I can't do something else, and I hate begging. What else can I do? ...nothing. "You must earn your living", my father says. "Everyone get out on the street", and we have to go. What is the only other thing I can do? I can run away from home, but then I can either get lucky or get ruined. No one knows. I could run off with a boy who'd take me for his wife. And what if I choose a bad one? Then what would I do I can't go back home, so it's the streets. It's all very complicated!"<sup>167</sup>

In other words, some children act with forethought and they weigh up their options that they perceive to be available. So in the case of this child, living at home, and pretending to beg is better than running away and having to survive alone on the streets. This strategy is only feasible if her father does not find out that he is being lied to and does not use physical violence to enforce obedience. If this had to occur, running away might be a preferable option. Protection strategies may therefore only be short-term and situational; they therefore need to be flexible and adaptable, and allow for on-the-spot decision-making.

For some of the children, the fact that they could not keep a portion of their earnings was problematic and children develop various strategies to ensure that they can keep some of their earnings. As an Albanian girl stated, "More often it is the parents who get even the money earned. Sometimes the children do not tell the parents how much he has earned. I tell the children "do not give the money to your dad but buy something to eat" but they are afraid and respond that they cannot do it."<sup>168</sup> According to the children, these strategies depend on courage, with some children more able to develop and carry out strategies of resistance and rebellion against unjust practices.

- <sup>165</sup>Kosovo individual interview, 17 years old boy, shelter child
- <sup>166</sup>Kosovo focus group interview, 12 years old boy, school child
- <sup>167</sup>Montenegro individual interview, 15 years old girl, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>164</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 14 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>168</sup>Albania - focus group interview, 14 years old girl

#### Just and fair work

It is said that some children need to work to help their families. As a child in Montenegro stated, "Many children have to work to help their families to survive"<sup>169</sup>. Another child explained that it would be unfair if he did not work and did not help his family: "Nah, how can I spend them the way I want I have to help my father and my brother. It wouldn't be fair if I only did what I wanted and just went for walks with me friends and played football. Me father doesn't make me work, but I want to help."<sup>170</sup> So many children have a high sense of responsibility to support their families and assist their parents and siblings with income generation.

Household tasks are often divided so that each member contributes to the household income, although there is often direct and indirect pressure to assist. As a child in Montenegro said, "My father and my older brother work, they walk about the town and search the containers and bins for copper and anything else they can find, then we sell that and make a living that way. I also search the containers; we don't go together, I go one way and they go the other, but I also try to contribute as much as I can".<sup>171</sup> This was described as a reciprocal and collaborative household strategy by some children who empathise with the financial difficulties faced by their parents. As a child who works in an IDP camp in Montenegro stated: "Well, I think those children have to work, you have to live on something. It's not enough that their father works, they could not live on so little money. Children know that and they go and work to help their family, and I think it's a good and normal thing to work and help as much as any member of the family can... They should not be unhappy either, because they are helping their family to survive"<sup>172</sup>.

For some families, children's contributions are necessary for them to subsist and afford the most basic items: "My father and I work every day. Father searches the containers and collects whatever he can find to sell later and people throw everything away. Sometimes he even finds bread and when we don't have any money for food, we eat the bread from the container. I beg with my friends around the town and bring some money home and when I do, we buy bread and things at the shop, and we all eat... I'm fine and I like doing it. I'm used to doing it, always have been doing it."<sup>173</sup>

Hence, it is evident from these two quotes that children's likes, needs and wants are closely linked to their interpersonal relationships and the quality of their particular relationship with a parent.

This work was seen as legitimate if their parents also worked. As a girl stated, "There are fathers who want to drink beer and they wait for their sons to bring them money. My father works, it's not like I am the only one that works".<sup>174</sup>

It was seen as justified if a parent could not earn enough money. So the extent and nature of children's work is directly related to parental income. As a child in Kosovo stated, "Well, when the parents don't have any income then the child is forced to go and work, collect these cans, and if the parents would have money then the child wouldn't need to go and work. That's how it is if you don't have any incomes"<sup>175</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>169</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 16 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>170</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 14 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>171</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 15 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>172</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 14 years old girl, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>173</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 11 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>174</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 11 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>175</sup>Kosovo - focus group interview, 10-15 years old girls, street children

Their parents' employment practices are directly related to macro-economic conditions. In Kosovo, following the war of 1999, many industries were closed and salaries cut. A child recalls his engagement in work to these political and economic macro factors and the fact that his father was no longer working and state benefits have been dwindling stating: "Hell no, I don't like it a bit but I haven't got anything else to do and not much choices, anyway. I have to help my family and have some money for my own expenses... No, there is nobody else besides me working. My father gets some 75 Euros if I am not mistaken from the company he worked before the war for 25 years but that much money is nothing [now]"<sup>176</sup>. So their decision to work is directly influenced by their parents' employment practices. "I do and my mother, she is a cleaner in the hospital, and my dad gets jobs every now and then to build houses, otherwise he hasn't got a job... I wanted to go and work on my own, because before I used to sell chewing gum and now I sell peanuts. I work as I want to help my family"<sup>177</sup>.

Children's work and their own sense of happiness and self-esteem are also related to their parent's income. A child felt bad about deciding to play with his friends when he found out that his father had not succeeded in raising money that day. He felt that he had not fulfilled his household responsibilities: "But again, I didn't go to the town because my friends were going to the Cijevna and I went with them. When I was sitting at home and father came from the town, I look at him and he's in a bad mood. I knew he hadn't found anything to get some money for that day. I was so angry at myself that day I didn't search the bins and couldn't tell father I'd earned anything. So I sat and stayed quiet. He doesn't say anything to me either and it was hard for me and I felt sorry. I wish now I had decided differently"<sup>178</sup>.

Fear of disappointing a parent is therefore an important factor in their decision-making. A child in Romania explained: "With what else could we live otherwise? Because my mother is barely making a penny from time to time... my father the same..."<sup>179</sup>. A child stated that it was fair that he worked because her father had a good reason for not doing so. Given high levels of unemployment, he had few options other than to beg but "he is ashamed to ask people for money"<sup>180</sup>, so he does it in his place. Other children consider their work to be fair because their parents are sick or disabled: "I work to help my mother who is very ill and comes home late from work. But there are children who work because others make them to"<sup>181</sup>.

A child in Bosnia-Herzegovina was proud of the fact that she begs and uses the income to assist her family. She compares this to the behaviour of her sister who chooses to do otherwise: "If I don't bring it, they don't eat the whole day. Danijela, my sister, she spends all the money on candies. She brings 5 KM<sup>182</sup> home and gives nothing to mum"<sup>183</sup>.

Some children are satisfied with giving their parents their income as they will then allocate them a certain portion to fulfill their needs. As a child in Serbia who stated that he cleans windscreens at traffic lights said, "I give money only to my old man, so that he can give me some. Well, he leaves me, for instance, 200 or 300 Dinars, something like that. It is enough for me. I feel fine. He's the one who gives me things to wear, buys me sports shoes in Panèevo, and whenever I need anything, he buys it for me."<sup>184</sup>

 $<sup>^{176}\</sup>mbox{Kosovo}$  - individual interview, 17 years old boy, street child

 $<sup>^{177}\</sup>mbox{Kosovo}$  - individual interview, 13 years old boy, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>178</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 14 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>179</sup>Romania - individual interview, 15 years old girl

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>180</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 11 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>181</sup>Romania - individual interview, 14 years old girl

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>182</sup> Konvertibilna Marka – the currency used in Bosnia-Herzegovina (equivalent approximately to 0.5 Euros)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>183</sup>Bosnia-Herzegovina - individual interview, 7 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>184</sup>Serbia - individual interview, 13 years old boy, street child

The children appreciate the fact that there parents use their income to purchase food and other goods that meet their needs. Being flexible about whether they have to work when their subsistence needs have been met, was also highlighted as important. For instance, a child stated that when enough money is brought home he does not have to work everyday: "And on the next day she [his mother] says, "We have everything, don't go. You don't have to suffer every day, you don't have to work so much. You can go when you want to""<sup>185</sup>.

They appreciate it when parents empathise and notice their hard and often hazardous, work. Other children prefer to retain a portion of their earnings up-front: *"To my dad I provide the money, man. I give one half to my old man, and I keep the other, and that's it*"<sup>186</sup>. In this way they exercise high levels of power and control over their income, and can use it to purchase personal items.

In addition, to gaining a portion of the money that they earned, many of the children were proud of the fact that they had helped their families and pleased their parents. A girl in Serbia stated that she gives her money to her father because *"he means to me more than anyone else"*<sup>187</sup>.

Their willingness to work is therefore contingent on the quality of an interpersonal relationship. Another child in Bosnia-Herzegovina stated that she is happy to give her mother money because she observes her mother worries about financial issues. She is also appreciative of the fact that her mother did not abandon her when she was little: "When I see mum worried, I feel bad as well. I used to be awake till 4 a.m., all night; I can hardly wait 'till morning... My mother doesn't force me but she kindly tells me to earn so-so money. I go and get it because I know we need it, I know if I didn't there would be no one to feed my mother. She fed and raised me. She could have left me, and I wouldn't be alive"<sup>188</sup>. She explained that she has a responsibility to repay her mother for her care and in this sense their relationship is reciprocal: "I would like to have 15 KM, to give my mum 10 and hide 5. When I get 50 KM I go home and give it to my mum. Then I don't have to work for a couple of days and then I go again"<sup>189</sup> In return her mother cares for her and cleans her clothing.

This idea of pleasing a parent and thereby fulfilling certain interpersonal responsibilities was echoed by a number of the children working on the streets. As a child in Montenegro stated, "When father brings me a hamburger to the place where I sell popcorn and tells me his boss has given him a couple of Euros and when I also earn some money that day, then I'm super-happy"<sup>190</sup>.

Another child stated: "But my father doesn't shouts at me if I bring too little and I like it when I earn more and make mother pleased"<sup>191</sup>. When she brings home money from begging, one girl stated: "Mother is pleased then and I like it when I come home and I can show her how much money I've brought with me"<sup>192</sup>. Some of the girls who were working on the streets stated that they preferred undertaking these activities than working at home doing various household chores, as it gives them a chance to move around freely and meet their friends: "I like it less when I have to stay home and help mother."<sup>193</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>185</sup>Serbia - individual interview, 13 years old boy, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>186</sup>Serbia - individual interview, 13 years old boy, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>187</sup>Serbia - individual interview, 16 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>188</sup>Bosnia-Herzegovina - focus group interview, 14 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>189</sup> Bosnia-Herzegovina - focus group interview, 14 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>190</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 15 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>191</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 11 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>192</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 11 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>193</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 11 years old boy, IDP camp

Hence, it is has been argued that children are under direct and indirect pressure to work in order to support their families, fulfill their interpersonal responsibilities, assist sick or unemployed parents or to purchase items for themselves or for their parents. It is suggested that these children who work on the streets , even when they are living at home, face a number of risks from being runover by a car, getting sick or being kidnapped and trafficked. As one child who is working on the streets of Kosovo stated, "A car could hit me, some one could steal me. Children shouldn't go out to the street and their parents should look after them. Because they can be taken to other countries and it is the parent's duty to look after the children so they don't have to go out and sell...Because there are thieves who would steal you and stab you... I wouldn't let them sell things, because it is better for the children no to go and sell, but stay home and go to school and do their homework, because children are small and they may be endangered so they should stay at home"<sup>194</sup>.

Another boy in this context stated: "Well, if the father of the child tells the child you must work until you make 20 Euros, then he stays out until late and then the thieves see him and steal him"<sup>195</sup>. It was also said that these children are easily "tricked" by the promise of employment because they are under significant pressure to work to support their families. Simply being on the streets is said to place them in danger: "if the parents look after their children and don't let them in the streets then they wont be able to steal his child... the parents shouldn't let their child out in the streets"<sup>196</sup>.

It is evident that the complexities surrounding the notion of risk and resiliency need to be considered. Having a positive interpersonal relationship with one's parent, characterised by high levels of communication, empathy and understanding may provide an important form of support for children who are facing adversity. They will be more likely to turn to this parent or caregiver for advice and protection. Children who are forbidden from working even though they would like to do so, might feel that their parents does not understand them or have much trust or faith in them, may be less likely to turn to their parents for support. They may even work secretively without informing their parents of this decision; this in itself might limit the support that they can receive if this work becomes exploitative. On the other hand, strong interpersonal bonds may make children more likely to accept a job offer if they would like to please or help a parent that they regard in a positive light. As mentioned, this job offer may turn out to be false and children's decision to go with a person who turns out to be a trafficker, will lead to a range of unintended, negative consequences.

#### **Constructions of masculinity**

While many children contribute to the household income, it is said that boys, in particular, face pressure to support their households. Being the only male in his household placed this Albanian boy under pressure to work: "My father passed away and my elder brother has been in Greece for three years and we know nothing about him. We do not know whether he is dead or alive. I am the only male in the family and I have to work in order to maintain the family"<sup>197</sup>. This is mediated by age in that the eldest male often has to take responsibility for income-generation. A child in Kosovo said that he works because his father is unemployed: "Because my dad is unemployed, I am the eldest son so I need to go out and do the working…" <sup>198</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>194</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 8 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>195</sup>Kosovo - focus group interview, boy 7 years old, working child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>196</sup>Kosovo - focus group interview, 15 years old boy, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>197</sup>Albania - focus group interview, 12 years old boy

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>198</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 15 years old boy, school child

Boys' concern about labour exploitation and the possibility of being *"tricked*" with a job offer reflects the daily pressures that they have to face and the particular manner in which masculinity is considered in many communities. Many boys stated that they felt greater levels of pressure to work and provide for their families if they live at home or to provide for their female peers if they live on the streets.

A boy in Albania stated that he has a responsibility to support his mother and siblings because he is the only male in the family. Some boys complained about this: "To us, men it is always harder. We have to work harder things, search for job, no one wants you in the factory, we have to do hard things. Girls just stay at home and prepare the food"<sup>199</sup>.

This was echoed by another boy working on the streets of Serbia: "I think that it's easier for girls... Well, boys. Boys have to work at the traffic lights and girls don't. They should sit at home"<sup>200</sup>.

A boy in a Montenegrin institution complained that girls are only willing to date them if they have money and are able to buy them drinks and presents and as a result they have to work. This was echoed by another boy in Serbia who complained about girl's passivity and demands in dating practices. Hence, boys complained that they face greater levels of pressure to work and even in the course of working, it is more difficult for them to avoid difficult working conditions or exploitation.

It is also said by boys that they are asked to undertake more tiresome and straining work: "Boys can for example lift heavy things and girls cannot because they are not strong enough"<sup>201</sup>. So for instance, it is said that boys collect metal from rubbish dumps in Kosovo because girls can easily be hurt. It is also held that boys sell various items in the evening, whereas girls can leave earlier because they are weaker and can be subject to various forms of violence.

A boy in Serbia stated that boys are more likely to be exploited: "It's more difficult for men, in everything. When we work we can get beaten up, we don't get as much money"<sup>202</sup>. Therefore, boy's major concern about trafficking for the purposes of labour exploitation reflects their own worries about having to work, being "tricked" by an employment offer and being exploited in the workplace.

It is said that girls are more likely to be trafficked into sexual exploitation but it is said that boys are used for begging and criminal activities. A child in Kosovo stated that they teach boys *"how to steal and stuff and then make them steal for them"*<sup>203</sup>. It is also believed that boys are forced to work: *"In most cases girls are prostitutes and boys work at construction sites"*<sup>204</sup>. Given that many boys are used for manual labour, it is said that boys who appear to be older or physically stronger are selected by traffickers.

## Health evaluation

The respondents stated that some children are more at risk of being trafficked because they are more likely to accept an offer of employment. It is said that certain children are under pressure to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>199</sup>Bosnia-Herzegovina - focus group interview, 13 years old boy

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>200</sup>Serbia - focus group interview, 15-18 years old boys, street children

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>201</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 14 years old boy, school child

 $<sup>^{202}\</sup>mathsf{Serbia}$  - individual interview, 15 years old boy, street child

 $<sup>^{203}\</sup>mbox{Kosovo}$  - focus group interview, 14 years old girl, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>204</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 17 years old girl, school child

accept these offers because they are healthy and/or are supporting a sick parent or relative. Children also stated that traffickers target particular children because of their health status.

Many children attached importance to being healthy and stated that being healthy enables them to work and thereby fulfill their interpersonal responsibilities. The children linked their health status to the social context. For instance, a child in Montenegro stated: *"You can't be healthy if you don't have good conditions for living and I think I'd be healthier then and feel better and would be able to help my brother, sisters, friends and everyone would be healthier. Isn't that so?"<sup>205</sup> In other words, macro factors related to the socio-economic conditions in the IDP camp have affected her health and in turn her ability to work and assist her family to overcome their economic struggles.* 

Children were very concerned about the health of their relatives and many worked to contribute to the family income, particularly if a relative was not able to do so. For instance, a child in Kosovo stated that she works together with her brother because her sister feels pain when she walks. Another girl in this case works because her father is disabled and can hardly walk. Another child in Bosnia-Herzegovina stated he works because his parents are too old and sickly to work.

Once again this is related to macro- factors such as poverty and the failure of the state to provide assistance. As a child in Kosovo stated, "Yes I go out every day and I work from 16:00 to 23:00. My dad is ill so I have to help him because we are quite poor, only the social assistance helps us, so the child must work and help the family"<sup>206</sup>. Another child in Kosovo suggested that she is working to help his sick brother. "I do not go out with my mother because she is at the hospital and because my brother is ill and I am working so that I can pay for his medicine"<sup>207</sup>. So it is very important to be healthy to work and provide for a relative who is ill.

Children who are healthy but their siblings and parents are not, feel under great pressure to work. They see being healthy as a source of resilience because they can assist their families (and themselves) to generate income and thereby survive. However, it was also said that working can adversely affect one's health. For instance, a child in Romania stated that lifting heavy items will produce a hernia. Many children working on the streets of Serbia stated that those children who beg or clean windscreens at traffic lights are run over by motorists. Another child in Kosovo complained that he will get ill working at the carwash particularly as the weather deteriorates and gets colder. Children were also very concerned that being healthy may enable them to work but it might also make them more vulnerable to being trafficked for two central purposes such as forced labour and organ donation. So in this sense, this source of resilience may also be a trafficking risk.

Many of the children highlighted the role that health status plays in trafficking, with traffickers targeting specific children for different purposes. For instance, it was said repeatedly by children in all research communities that healthy children are trafficked in order to sell their organs. As a child in Montenegro stated, "Someone may take children, kill them and take an organ and give it to someone else. I'm really frightened of that, especially if we're healthy"<sup>208</sup>.

On the other hand, it was also said that being disabled is a risk factor because traffickers will use these children to beg for them given that their disability tends to elicit more public sympathy. In

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>205</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>206</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 9 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>207</sup>Kosovo - focus group interview, 14 years old girl, street child

 $<sup>^{208}\</sup>mbox{Montenegro}$  - focus group interview, 15 years old boy, institutionalized child

fact, some children in Serbia even suggested that traffickers may choose a healthy child and then deliberately hurt and disable this child so that he/she may be used for begging purposes: "Who knows what happens, they cut off your arm or something and they make you an invalid for life so you have to mooch all your life"<sup>209</sup>. A child working on the streets of Serbia said that he had been approached for the same reason but responded by running away: "It happened last night or the night before. He said, "Come with me to cut your arm or your leg, to send you to America to work for me." I ran away"<sup>210</sup>.

#### Chapter 4

This belief in the connection between disabilities, begging and trafficking derives from the horror stories that children have heard which are present in many trafficking messages. They are also related to the children's own experiences on the streets where they have seen disabled people beg and earn large sums of money. A child in Bosnia-Herzegovina claimed to have seen a mentally handicapped child begging.

So the respondents argue that many children may decide to go with someone whom they believe will find them employment. They do not necessarily want to work, but need to do so to support themselves or their families. When making this decision they are not warned about the negative consequences of this choice, and in the process they are "tricked" or "cheated". The fact that there are a range of negative, unintended consequences that include exploitation and bodily harm, does not remove the fact that they made a decision which was manipulated by a trafficker.

## **Negative consequences: exploitation**

"Employers" were rarely described in a positive light by children. A child in Kosovo suggested that children can become friends with their bosses, who will then look after them. A child in Serbia stated that "employers" can protect children and that they can also cover up for them if they steal. This does however have the potential for greater risks, because "employers" receive a portion of whatever children steal, and they may introduce children to further criminal activities. Children did not clearly distinguish between these "employers" and exploiters and traffickers.

Most children described their "employers" in a negative light. Many emphasised that they were not fairly paid. For instance, a child in an institution in Montenegro complained that children do not earn enough if one compares it with the income generated by an "employer": "The thing with doughnuts, a guy once asked us if we wanted to sell them on the beach and he'd give us 2 Euros per day. Who knows how much money he makes when a single doughnut costs 50 cents"<sup>211</sup>. A child in Romania stated that he is paid less because he is a child, regardless of how hard he works: "Actually, I don't really want to go to work on a daily basis, because they notice I am a child and they give me little money because they say that I do not work properly, even if I do and it is not convenient for me. I work as hard as the others and they pay me less. I cannot do it like this"<sup>212</sup>.

In Kosovo a child complained that he has to work all day with small breaks but he never gets paid for the amount of work he puts in. Another child in Kosovo stated that "employers" do not care about how old children are and because they are not provided with contracts they are frequently

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 209} {\rm Serbia}$  - focus group interview, boys, street children

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>210</sup>Serbia - focus group interview, 13 years old boy, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>211</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>212</sup>Romania - individual interview, 14 years old boy,

not paid: "All the jobs run by the private people, they do not care how old you are and they do not give you a job contract and sometimes they give you the money and sometimes they do not"<sup>213</sup>.

A child in Bulgaria complained that he was not paid by an "employer" because he did not have any identity documents: "There aren't good people here you can become acquainted with. Not long ago I went to work with another man, a stranger; he didn't want to give me the money, because I had to have documents, to have a firm or to work with a contract, because you need education for such a thing"<sup>214</sup>.

Some children try to negotiate the terms of their working arrangement but in some cases they enlist the support of a parent. A child who sells popcorn said that he is not unhappy about having to work but about his working conditions: "I have to work for us to survive. What could I do differently? I don't know. I would like to have different days, if it was possible, but it isn't. I've talked to father about it and he told me it was difficult and promised he'd talk to this man he works for. All that is not easy"<sup>215</sup>. Some children would enlist their parents' support when trying to improve their working conditions. Yet again having a positive relationship with a parent may turn out to be a resiliency factor but children may be working and may be more likely to be tempted to accept a promising job offer if they would like to please or help the parent.

It is suggested that these negative conditions are far worse when one is being trafficked e specially since trafficked victims find it difficult to leave or escape the situation and because they have few people who can support them or negotiate on their behalf. The children therefore clearly distinguish their own work practices from exploitation that a victim of trafficking may face. The decision to go with a person who offers employment may lead to a range of negative unintended consequences which the children did not expect or were not warned of or provided with information about. It was frequently said that these children will be subject to physical abuse.

They will be forced to undertake work that they did not expect or want. For instance, "they think they are going to work there but they are forced into prostitution instead"<sup>216</sup> or "they were told they would work as dancers or something else and instead they were sent to clients"<sup>217</sup>. They will be exploited and will not receive the money that they expect or deserve: "I mean they take you and make you earn money for them... you think they will give you a nice job, or you split your earnings fifty-fifty with them. And once you get there, they beat you hard and they give 100 Euro so you can dress and eat."<sup>218</sup> Hence, children highlighted the exploitative manner in which trafficked victims are treated by their "employers". It is useful at this juncture to describe their own relationships with their "employers" to understand what conditions they regard to be exploitative.

## The offer of travel abroad

According to the respondents, traffickers offer children an opportunity to travel abroad and on this basis, they may decide to go with them. It is said that the offer of going abroad makes them

 $<sup>^{213}\</sup>mbox{Kosovo}$  - individual interview, 18 years old girl, shelter child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>214</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 17 years old boy, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>215</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 15 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>216</sup>Romania -.individual interview, 17 years old boy

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>217</sup>Romania -.individual interview, 15 years old boy

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>218</sup>Romania -.individual interview, 16 years old girl,

happy: "Sometimes they are glad they go abroad because they like it there and have fun"<sup>219</sup>. It is a desired outcome, which if seen in light of the dearth of recreation and entertainment for children in many communities, is seen as highly appealing. It is said that although they desire to go abroad, they are not aware that the decision to do so, many lead to a range of unintended and unwanted consequences: "It is not because they are compelled but children think that this will make them happy, they will go abroad and they are blessed; besides they do not think that the uncle is there to cheat them. They go and cannot come back home"<sup>220</sup>.

Apart from the opportunity to see and do more interesting things, the respondents stated that traffickers exploit the fact that there are few jobs within their communities and offer them the opportunity to find work abroad and build a "better life". So they manipulate children's desire to improve their situation. As a child in Romania stated, "I cannot say that it is not their own wish, if it wasn't for their own will, they would not go abroad. Because if you meet such a person in the street and he tells you come with me because I have work for you in a restaurant abroad, you have to think well, because after all he is a man. And if you meet a woman it's the same. You have to think this situation thoroughly before you leave the country... Because they trust persons who promise them money, clothes and they believe they will live a better life."<sup>221</sup>

The child respondents said that children often make this decision to go with a person, who ultimately becomes a trafficker because they would like to support their families and fulfill their interpersonal responsibilities back at home: "She still has a family and that's why she went so that she can help her mother and the children. They knew that she was going abroad but like her they knew that she would work as a waitress. But later she became a prostitute because the plan had been such from the very beginning, but they had lied her that she would be a waitress"<sup>222</sup>.

It is said that in addition to procuring children's consent, traffickers convince parents to allow their children to go abroad to work: "That one, because her mother is desperate to have money, she consented for her daughter to leave abroad with X, to Spain"<sup>223</sup> So children are not the only people who can be "tricked" by a trafficker; "naivety" and "gullibility" is not related to age, per se, as adults may be equally vulnerable. This risk is related more to poverty and need.

One of the reasons why it is believed that children (and their parents) may consent to going abroad with a stranger is that they promise to obtain travel documents such as passports and visas for them. One child in Bulgaria stated that if he was a trafficker he would say to a child: "If you prepare the pictures and if you want to do it, and if he approves you, you wouldn't have to worry about the money neither for the passport nor for the tickets. I will help you."<sup>224</sup> By promising these items, many children stated that traffickers can "trick" and "cheat" both parents and children: "In the case of I it is true that they knew what was about. But if you think you can go to your parents and tell them look mother and father, some guy has proposed me to go abroad because he has found work for me, in that case if the parent is really interested in the welfare of his child, he would not permit this thing and he should think what might happen to the child, especially if it is a girl…"<sup>225</sup>. These promises are often

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>219</sup>Romania - individual interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>220</sup>Albania -, focus group interview, girl- 13 years old

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>221</sup>Romania - individual interview, 17 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>222</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 14 years old girl, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>223</sup>Romania - individual interview, 16 years old girl

 $<sup>^{224}\</sup>mbox{Bulgaria}$  - focus group interview, boy -16 years old, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>225</sup>Romania - individual interview, 17 years old girl, street child

not true, so instead of finding work, children find themselves in a situation of exploitation and violence where they are deprived of freedom of movement and subject to slavery-like conditions, which are difficult to escape from:

"So I am certain that here in Romania they are promised something that sounds very nice, they are promised a very good situation but maybe when you get there things aren't exactly so. It has never happened to me but this is what I think it happens. They make them beg, steal, and girls are indeed forced to produce money from prostitution... They might regret they came abroad because home was better anyway. Even if we were not having so many opportunities back home. It is tough; once you went abroad it is not like you left from here to a village and if you miss home you can always go back. There, if you left you left for good."<sup>226</sup>

In order to understand why children and their parents may want to go abroad so much that traffickers are able to manipulate them, it is necessary to understand the importance attached to migration by many children, families and communities and why many children decide to migrate alone, with relatives or with strangers. The reasons that children provided across the region can be broadly categorised as desiring to:

- Travel, explore and see new places for recreational purposes
- Escape poverty
- Escape persecution and war
- Escape negative conditions in their homes of origin
- Find a better life
- Return to a former community or country

## Travel, exploration and adventure

For some children the desire to travel was associated with seeing a new town or country. This was seen as *"fun"* and a means of finding *"new friends. It is an adventure"*<sup>227</sup>. Many of the children have never left their home towns. The fact that many children have not ventured out of their local communities cannot be seen apart from the restrictions placed by many parents on children's freedom of movement, which as was argued, is often restricted on the basis of protection.

Their movement is also restricted by the fact that many parents do not have the financial resources needed to organize a safe trip for their children. A young child in Albania described Greece as follows: *"Because it is better there, there are toys, the air is clean, there are a lot of good things there"*<sup>228</sup>. Greece, for this girl, may offer a place where she can play and thereby fulfill her expectations of what childhood should be.

Seeing foreign countries on television that are "much nicer" <sup>229</sup> was a reason frequently provided by the children as to why they would like to travel abroad. For some children, this desire emerged from previous experiences in foreign countries. A boy in an institution stated: "I would love to go on trips or in a youth camp, to Felix, in other places, other cities. I went to Germany two years ago and I stayed there for a month. It was very beautiful there. I went there with people from the centre, a social worker and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>226</sup>Romania - individual interview, 17 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>227</sup>Bulgaria -individual interview, 15 years old girl, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>228</sup>Albania - focus group interview, 10 years old girl

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>229</sup>Romania - individual interview, 15 years old girl

people from other placement centers. It was so great that I didn't want to come back to Romania. I would love to go there again"<sup>230</sup>.

In other cases, this desire emerged from contact with foreigners. A child in Romania stated that he would like to go to Morocco because he met many Moroccan tourists visiting Romania. Many of the children living in an institution in Montenegro stated that they would like to go to the United States of America because they had met a few American volunteers who taught them English: "Though, there was a lady from America who did some workshops, she comes every year and we do all kinds of things, but I 'd like more and I know there are some friends of mine who can't speak English and would like to learn... Well, we often have foreigners coming here and when we talk to them we see that everything's somehow nicer in their countries and better organized, although we have never seen any of it. Some volunteers from abroad also come here often, they teach us to sing songs in their language, a bit of the language too, but that's short. They tell us about their country and we just dream, without any real chance to see it"<sup>231</sup>.

A number of their relatives lived abroad (see below) and communicated the idea that it is nice to travel and explore, learning about people from different countries. As a child in Bulgaria stated, "We are three people. Me, my mother and my father but my father is in Italy right now. Well, I would like to visit Italy because my father is there. He said that he has a friend who used to say: "See Naples and die." I don't know why but I would like to feel that. I would like to visit London, France, if I have the opportunity. I would like to travel to some countries and look around. I have wanted to live somewhere else. I have dreamed about being an American or someone else, but not to be here in Bulgaria. I have always wondered how they live there - if it is the same or different"<sup>232</sup>. Hence, their desires are mediated or influenced by their contact and level of communication with individuals around them, as well as their own personal experiences in foreign countries.

## **Escaping poverty**

"It would be better for them if they escaped because they get more money, they take better salaries"<sup>233</sup>

The reasons why children would like to leave a country vary. In the children's accounts it was frequently associated with escaping something bad in favour of something better. As a child in Romania stated, "Because they do not like the country they live in... Well, it depends what they want to go for, maybe here it is cold and they like it warm and they go to warm countries. Maybe they have problems here in the country and leave to another country... I would like to do brick-laying. But I think it is better in another country than here, it is earned better"<sup>234</sup>. As his account suggests, this desire to escape is frequently associated with socio-economic factors such as unemployment and low income levels.

It is said that leaving is a choice but it is a decision that many children are forced to make. As a child in an institution in Romania states, "They are forced to because of the life they have. If they have nothing here, what else should they do? They go where others tell them life is better... There is more

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>230</sup>Romania - individual interview, 14 years old boy, institutionalized child

 $<sup>^{231}\</sup>mbox{Montenegro}$  - individual interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>232</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 16 years old boy, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>233</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 17 years old boy, street child

 $<sup>^{234}\</sup>mathrm{Romania}$  - individual interview, 14 years old boy, street child

money, because people get paid more. They don't go there for nothing. If things were the same in here, people would not leave anymore"<sup>235</sup>.

For some children, unemployment is a factor behind why they decide to move to another town: "Maybe I will go to another town because in Macin you cannot find a job"<sup>236</sup>. Another child in Bulgaria stated that she would migrate to another town or to another city if she finds a well-paying job: "The town is nice but there are just not enough opportunities... Well the reason is that they can't find realization here. They don't like the jobs that are available here. That's why they are looking for other opportunities... Well, if I have a chance for a better professional realization and to have a better job... Well if I have a better payment I would definitely go. This is something important and it can attract me"<sup>237</sup>.

This migration was often described in terms of rural-urban movements within the same country. For other children it means traveling to another country to find work. For instance, children in Bosnia-Herzegovina mentioned migrating to Montenegro because incomes are higher. Albanian children mentioned moving to Greece or Italy.

A child stated that the decision to migrate cannot be seen apart from wider political developments and in particular the inclusion of Bulgaria into the European Union. She argues that migration is their only option: "You can see there is no way out here. The salaries are too low and there will be no work when we get into the European Union"<sup>238</sup>.

This was echoed by another child who expressed high knowledge of macro economic processes: "I don't have much time. It is supposed that we become part of the EU in 2007 and if I earn some money, after 2007 it won't have any value if we transfer our money into Euro. That's why I will try to leave as soon as possible to earn some money and then this money will have some value here"<sup>239</sup>.

A number of the children expressed the desire to migrate to Germany, Switzerland and other European countries because they "know that there is more money abroad and that is why they escape abroad"<sup>240</sup>. This view is supported by the media and the television programmes that children watch: "Maybe because they think that abroad is much better and they also see on TV that there is more money out there. Because nowadays you can say that young people are interested only in money. Everything that matters is money because it can give you a better life…"<sup>241</sup>.

#### Fleeing war and persecution

Many of the children who were interviewed in Bosnia-Herzegovina, Serbia, Kosovo and Montenegro associated migration to another country with the desire to escape armed conflict or with the desire to return to their countries of origin. The national reports provide detailed information about the background to the conflicts that occurred in this region. This section provides insight into the manner in which it affected the desire of some children and their families to migrate.

 $^{\rm 240} {\rm Bulgaria}$  - individual interview, 17 years old boy, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>235</sup>Romania - individual interview, 14 years old girl

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>236</sup>Romania - individual interview, 15 years old boy

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>237</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 14 years old girl, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>238</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 15 years old girl, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>239</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 17 years old boy , school child,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>241</sup>Romania - individual interview, 13 years old girl

Some of the children were Serbian migrants to Bosnia-Herzegovina, and moved to Kosovo after the economic crisis that followed the war. Other children in Bosnia-Herzegovina had migrated with their families as refugees from Kosovo, often leaving relatives behind. In Kosovo, many of the children moved during or after the war to other cities to escape conflict and persecution. An Albanian-speaking child in Kosovo moved from northern to southern Mitrovica: "We lived in Mitrovica before the war, and after the war over by the brick factory and now we live here by the bridge"<sup>242</sup>.

Another Albanian-speaking child stated that he moved with his family: "I've lived in Prishtina for 7 years now, before that I used to live in Podujeve... Because my house was burned there and now I just go there to visit my uncle sometimes"<sup>243</sup>.

A Serb-speaking child in Kosovo highlighted the experiences of refugees that his family often assisted: "Refugees also suffer... they lost their houses and cannot go back to places they came from. Now they do not have job and they are poor. In our shop we give them food on loan but sometimes we don't ask for money"<sup>244</sup>.

Another Serb-speaking child complained about the on-going tensions in Kosovo, which he would like to leave: *"I would like to go somewhere where there is peace..."*<sup>245</sup>. In this context, Albanian children have expressed high expectations about an improvement of their lives, Serb children appear to be worried about political negotiations and Roma and Ashkali children have noticed an improvement in their social position but are still concerned about their economic status. In Serbia, some of the children living on the streets were IDPs from the Kosovo conflict.

In Montenegro, research was conducted in a camp for internally displaced persons from Kosovo. Most of the children had vivid stories of the violence that they witnessed and experienced and the journey to Montenegro: "We fled on horses from Pec to here. My father was hit in the head with a gun and they broke his skull and we took him to hospital and the doctor put stitches on his head, he had five stitches and they'd beaten him all over, he was covered in blood. He was horrible at Pec... and, you know, these Albanians are angry at us now, because someone put fire to his house, perhaps, someone looted, stole, and now we cant' get work so easily there and earn the way we used to before the war. They won't let us. You can easily get into a fight with them. Someone says whoever wants to work may work there in Kosovo as well but I don't think that's how it is"<sup>246</sup>.

Bombing at the hands of the NATO forces emerged frequently in their descriptions:

"At that time the Albanians were taking those older than 16 to go fight in the war so I came here together with my mother and my older brother. We stayed 10 days and then went back home to Kosovo. We wanted to remain there in our home in Kosovo. We didn't want to flee from home, we were like brothers with the Albanians, we still are, and they had also told us not to go anywhere but stay in Kosovo, and everything would calm down in a short while. Then NATO bombing began. That's when I felt most afraid in my life. I wasn't the only one afraid, the others were afraid too. We were in Kosovo during the bombing, for a month and a half, and the fear was enormous. Then we decided to leave Kosovo in some trucks and we came to Podgorica. Then they gave us some food, oil, milk... I didn't feel any fear, I was not afraid any more like when we were in Kosovo. If the Albanians came now to kill us I wouldn't be afraid and in Kosovo

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 242}{\rm Kosovo}$  - individual interview, 9 years old girl, street child

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 243}{\rm Kosovo}$  - individual interview, 13 years old boy, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>244</sup>Kosovo - focus group interview, 15 years old boy, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>245</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 9 years old boy, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>246</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 17 years old boy, IDP camp

I was so afraid. Podgorica was not like my place, my home; everything was different when you had your own house and land. Here you don't even have a house, when we arrived we lived in a house with no windows or doors"<sup>247</sup>.

This was echoed by another child, who participated in a game that involved throwing a ball to people they trust or would turn to for help: "I'd never throw the ball to the people who threw bombs in Kosovo. All that is happening to me, actually all of us who came from Kosovo: living here and not in my own house, that's all because of the people who bombed us. I consider them my biggest enemies, they disturbed my life and now everything is different because of them. I often think why they bombed us, what did we do to them, we could have lived well as we always used to. And they could have stayed home and looked after their own business. Before they came we did not need to move and we would surely never have come to Podgorica, if only they hadn't come. My mother says it had to be that way, and I say it didn't, it could have been different".<sup>248</sup>

Their parents were the key decision-makers in the evacuation process, as is evident in a child's description of a drawing: "I've drawn here these people in front of our house in Kosovo. There was this crowd, our neighbour, my uncle, father, they kept coming in and out and there were a lot of people around. They were all worried and serious and frightened, my father and out neighbours. Father came into the house and said we had to move to a different place. I did not get all of it very well, but it remained in my memory as an occasion when important decisions are made. Then mother took things from the house and we all took things to carry and left home. In the other village we boarded a truck and rode on. I often remember that day, most of all the serious face that my father had and we all listened and didn't talk much. After that, everything is as you see it now; we live here in this awful camp"<sup>249</sup>.

Some children complained that they were not consulted when this decision to migrate was made: "Well, now I understand better how terrible and difficult those days were, and that day when we left home. At the time, I realized something was going on around me that had not happened before and people were looking at one another differently and talking differently. I memorized that, I wondered at that time, and now, when I think about all that, I feel sadder and angrier that we left home than I felt at the time when we left. I keep thinking how, maybe, we did not have to leave Kosovo… I've talked to my brother and father, but they say: "Shut up, that's not for you to talk about, you don't understand. We had to leave or we would have been killed". Father said later that we wouldn't be going back to Kosovo any more, but staying here. I told him he used to say we'd come back to our old house, and he told me he'd said that to calm me down. When I wanted to talk to mother she tells me I should be a good girl and do what I'm told and it's not for me to talk about things that are up to father to decide"<sup>250</sup>.

Generally, given the poor conditions that they face in the IDP camp, most of the children expressed the desire to return to Kosovo, which they associate with better times before the war. The children constantly compared the socio-economic conditions of the camp with their memories of Kosovo: "As you know, we came from Kosovo. We had to come to Podgorica and leave all we had there: our house, cattle, garden, and a way of life that we could not resume here. I am a refugee now, or rather, what they say is the correct term - a displaced person. We live here in this trash and this unbearable stench. It's a wonder that all of the children are not sick with various infections and poisoning."<sup>251</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>247</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, boy- 15 years old, IDP camp

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 248}{\rm Montenegro}$  - focus group interview, 14 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>249</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 15 years old boy, IDP camp

 $<sup>^{250}\</sup>mbox{Montenegro}$  - focus group interview, girl- 15 years old, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>251</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 17 years old boy, IDP camp

This move had a significant effect not only on their socio-economic status, but on their educational attainment, friendship, social networks, and general sense of happiness and well-being: "I divide my life into before and now. Before, while we were still in Kosovo, and now, since we have come here to Podgorica. We lived a completely different life there. We had a nicer life there and we were all felt OK and were sort of happier than here. My father went to work, I went to school, I had my friends and we had a nice time together. When the bombardment started, everyone felt afraid and we came here. Life is hard here, there is no work, we have no conditions for nice life, there is no water except the tap over there, and we haven't had hot water since we have come, we have to heat it on the stove... When we first came, it was important that we find a place to stay and a way to survive, and no one, not even me, thought of school"<sup>252</sup>.

Some children discuss their concerns and desire for migration with their parents: "Well, coming from Kosovo was a change. In Kosovo we lived better, here we live totally bad, sometimes there's nothing to eat, sometimes there is. If we returned I think we would be doing ok again in Kosovo. Father says it would be hard for us over there as well"<sup>253</sup>.

Other children are excluded from these conversations and simply listen to their elders complain about these issues: "I listen to both women and men talking in the camp, while sitting in front of the sheds, saying how hard it is for them to have come here. So changing places is not easy for anyone. You may even get to a worse place than the one you left. Who knows?"<sup>254</sup> In many instances, the children felt that the decision is in the hands of politicians and non-governmental workers: "They asked us too whether we would return to Kosovo. Father said we would, if they provided him a job, and they said that did not depend on them, but they could build us a house, and then father asked if we could eat the house. So my father has not decided yet where we are going to live, but everything depends on those people"<sup>255</sup>.

In most cases, the children were critical of the assistance they received from politicians and NGOs and felt that their offers to return to Kosovo were empty. "I think it all depends on these foreigners. Why wouldn't those people come here and say: "In two months' time you will have a house and a job in Kosovo, like you used to have, it's not your fault that you lost everything and you house was torn down and there was a war". Some people came to ask us who wanted to return, and we said we did, and then what...? They have waited for years, and so have we"<sup>256</sup>. One child stated that they have little choice over where they will eventually live: "It all depends on these people from the world and their different organizations and these politicians in Montenegro. It's going to be the way they decide it to be. So, there will be no big changes and we will all live as we always have"<sup>257</sup>. In comparison, another child exhibited high levels of self-efficacy and stated that politicians cannot stop him from returning to Kosovo: "What can I do regarding them stopping me from going to Kosovo, for example; not all the politicians in the world can do that, and they only care for themselves, not us. Do you ever listen to the news? Everyone knows it. Do you know a poor politician or someone from these organizations who do all kinds of programmes? They are all rich, and all they know is to tell stories like the ones from the Red Cross. They, like, take care of us and help us and you see what kind of progress we have made in all these years"<sup>258</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>252</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 16 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>253</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 16 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>254</sup> .Montenegro - focus group interview, 15 years old girl, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>255</sup>Montenegro -. focus group interview, boy- 14 years old, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>256</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 14 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>257</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, boy- 14 years old, IDP camp

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 258} \rm Montenegro$  - focus group interview, 17 years old boy, IDP camp

Hence, armed conflict and the failure of the state to provide adequate assistance to families has had a significant effect upon children's desire to migrate in this region, either to escape violence and persecution or to return to a country from whence they were evacuated.

#### Running away from home

The children provided a number of reasons for why they would or have run away from home, as was highlighted in a previous section. As a child living in the streets in Serbia stated, "Well, some children run away from home because of their parents. There are some children who run away from home because they don't have anything to eat and drink. There are some children who run away from home because of friends, you see. There are some who, for instance, do it (ran away from home) for drugs. There are different... I ran away because of my parents and because of friends. I was almost worse than others, I also ran away because of friends. Now I am back at home... but I am bored, because they don't go out"<sup>259</sup>. The reasons that she mentioned include poverty, violence, drug addiction, boredom, frustration at rules and restrictions on movement, and the influence of friends. Substance-abuse and violence in the household is frequently cited as a reason.

In Kosovo, a child stated that children runaway to "get as far away as they can from the people who beat them"<sup>260</sup>. A girl in Albania said that she would runaway if she is forced to marry. Another boy in Bulgaria stated that he would like to find his own way, and runaway to increase his independence. It will be argued that this desire to runaway is a sign of the courage and bravery that many children exhibit, although it may lead to a range of unwanted, unintended consequences. This bravery is a source of resiliency, but living on the streets may place children at the forefront of greater risks of being trafficked.

The decision to leave is only made after extensive thought and the weighing up of various options that the children perceive to be available. This decision also includes extensive preparation, which involves seeking social supports that might provide assistance. Some children decide to run away to a different town but others decide to migrate abroad. A child in Romania stated that she considered migrating abroad to solve difficulties she experienced at home because *"If there are family problems, they can be solved only abroad, in France, Spain, Germany, all these countries*"<sup>261</sup>.

#### Seeking a "better life"

On the whole it was believed by the children that life abroad is "better" because there are more employment opportunities, higher incomes, better education systems and different forms of recreation and entertainment. Positive stories from friends and relatives reinforce the desire to immigrate, particularly if they would like to support themselves or their families. As a child stated, "If they earn money for them and their families, why shouldn't they be happy?"<sup>262</sup> So migrating abroad to earn money and gain independence might be seen as desirable, even if it involves working on conditions that might turn out to be exploitative and dangerous.

On the other hand, some children stated that those who have been abroad lie about their experiences to make it sound more positive: "They have no more childhood. Here, you can see for

<sup>260</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 16 years old boy, school child

 $<sup>^{259}\</sup>mbox{Serbia}$  - individual interview, 16 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>261</sup>Romania - individual interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>262</sup>Romania - individual interview, 17 years old boy

yourself and what kind of a life we have. It is tough but we are happy. There, for an extra penny you may sell even your mother and father. That is how they tell us, those who come back from there. Each one lives for himself over there. They suffer but they don't admit it. They brag about it but it is not like that. I don't think it is better over there" <sup>263</sup>.

When asked to explain, she stated, "I don't know but it is not like in here. At least you get a warm meal in here... even if it's a poor one. If you enter a programme conducted by Save the Children, it is even better, but if you leave the country without any purpose... it's not easy. Where do you sleep, what do you eat? ... Maybe they think they are tough, cool. But they are sad. That is what I think. How can you live without your family? If they left altogether, it would be something else. But alone, it's not good at all"<sup>264</sup>.

So for some children, after weighing up the options the idea of going abroad where there is no guaranteed source of income or food, and leaving one's family, is undesirable.

Many of the children had heard negative stories about other people's experiences abroad. It is said that abroad, they may find it difficult to find employment and may be forced into exploitative arrangements. A child in Romania stated: *"I don't think they find something better abroad, they only go begging or stealing, I don't know what else they could do… Well, they get there on the street and they are forced to beg, to bring money, and if not, they are beaten… I think they are really upset and they want to come back home"<sup>265</sup>. Some children described cases where people who have gone abroad have not been paid properly for their work.* 

Some of these children's parents were unhappy with the way they were treated by their employers abroad. This had a significant impact upon how their children viewed life abroad: "I will go there and if I find a good job, not to work 20 hours but normally 8-9 hours and to treat me well and not trying to make me do things that I shouldn't...Yes, I have a recent case with my father. He explained to me that they work 20 hours a day and it is written in their contract that they should work 12. And even more when they finish work, the Italians mock with them. My father gets very angry because he depends on them and has to put up to this humiliation. Sometimes they mock with them. I don't think it is normal... If you work a normal job with normal time and payment, if they treat you well you may live better than here"<sup>266</sup>. So this desire to go abroad is mediated by their interpersonal relationships, and the manner in which a parent or caregiver may communicate information about their own experiences abroad.

The respondents also complained that employers will not assist foreign migrants – even if they are children - or provide them with insurance when they fall ill or have accidents at work. As a result, "they leave the country young and healthy and they bring them back dead"<sup>267</sup>. It is said that in foreign countries one not only feels lonely because one has left relatives and friends behind, but one does not feel safe, while "here at home at least you feel calm and somehow protected"<sup>268</sup>. It is also said that abroad, one has few people to turn to for support in times of trouble. As a street child in Kosovo stated, "Well, I am in a foreign country now, I don't know anybody here, I don't know

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>263</sup>Romania - individual interview, 18 years old girl

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>264</sup>Romania - individual interview, 18 years old girl

 $<sup>^{265}</sup> Romania$  - individual interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>266</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 17 years old boy, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>267</sup>Romania - individual interview, 17 years old boy

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>268</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 15 years old girl, school child

 $<sup>^{269}\</sup>mbox{Kosovo}$  - focus group interview, girl- 17 years old, street child

where to go, who to turn to."<sup>269</sup> This is exacerbated when one travels to a country where they speak a different language. A child in Bulgaria stated that she would not like to live in a foreign country where she cannot speak the local language because she prefers to feel "secure": "Here I can at least speak with people and ask for help if I need it"<sup>270</sup>.

In this regard the child respondents said that success abroad "depends on the country and the intelligence of a person. If they know the language and how much time it will take to learn it."<sup>271</sup> Others put this success down to luck: "I had a friend who went to Italy to pick olives and he went there with a bus driver who told him that they need people there and so he went. He was very happy and everything was all right. Everything started from that man who was a bus driver. He said that everything was fine and they paid him well and the work was not very hard. But he also said that he met people there who weren't happy at all with their work and they didn't have a place to live. They even didn't have money for food. That's why I think it is all a matter of luck. Some have luck and others don't"<sup>272</sup>.

So some children are aware of the risks of going abroad. After weighing up this information, many children decide that it is important to migrate, despite their knowledge of these risks. The alternative option is seen as far more undesirable than a potential risk that they may be trafficked.

## **Trusting strangers**

In general, many children expressed the idea that it is desirable to go abroad only if you do not rely on strangers but travel with relatives and/or join relatives in the foreign country. Children believed that this will ensure that promises of employment are legitimate, that one will find support in times of trouble and one will not feel lonely without one's family and friends. They said that it is very important to know someone when migrating abroad, who can assist you to leave the country and find employment and accommodation in the foreign country: *"I could leave but there is nothing for me to do there. Am I to stay there alone and do nothing? Because only if you have someone over there who can take you and tell you what to do… You have to have someone who can take you there, give you a job, a place to live in… By yourself you cannot make it. I can barely make it over here, how can I make it abroad?!"<sup>273</sup>* 

The children were particularly concerned about the possibility of being deceived, "tricked" or "cheated" about what life is really like abroad, and what work they will be expected to undertake. For instance, a child in Montenegro stated: "Well, they may have a friend or a neighbor or a relative tell them to come to some town to live, and he told them they would be fine there. And they come and see that the man was not telling them the truth. What can the poor people do, either stay there or go back to where they came from"<sup>274</sup>.

Some of the children had been warned by their parents about trusting strangers when making a decision to migrate abroad: "I know my mother often tells my aunt how anything can happen to anyone there in Italy and these foreign countries, and how one can't trust anyone about anything. Some people say that you can earn money fast there, and my mother says there is no way to earn money fast anywhere and these people are lying. Now, someone may believe them and go there and get hurt, I don't

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>270</sup>Bulgaria -,individual interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>271</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 15 years old girl, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>272</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 16 years old girl, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>273</sup>Romania - individual interview, 17 years old boy

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 274}Montenegro$  - focus group interview, 15 years old girl, IDP camp

know. What I know about myself is that I don't like anything I am not familiar with and I don't trust anyone too much and would never go anywhere"<sup>275</sup>.

They also referred to incidents where children, often relatives and friends, have migrated abroad with strangers and disappeared, as a child in Albania stated: "A person told him that if he could pay 3000 Euros he could take my brother directly to Greece and would immediately find a job for him, to work for his boss. We did not know that man but my brother trusted him and he left for Greece together with two other boys of our neighborhood. Their relatives too have not heard anything from them. We believe that they are alive but cannot notify us"<sup>276</sup>. Another child in Albania stated that a girl went abroad with her boyfriend, but her family did not try to stop her: "They let her go instead of asking her "where are you going, who are you going with". She prepared the documents. No one knows what she did there…"<sup>277</sup>.

In schools and institutions, some children were also told about the negative potential consequences of trusting strangers. A number of children in this institution described their international volunteers in a very positive light and believed that they were sincere in their promises to help them travel abroad: "I am thinking of going abroad but that's sort of difficult. Though this American who visited us here said she could take a couple of us to America and give us some job so we can make a better living there than if we had those jobs here in Montenegro. That would be the most important thing in my life, if something like that happened to me"<sup>278</sup>.

They believed that they could trust these volunteers because the institution has undertaken various background checks: "I think anyone coming to our Home gets checked. So if they offered us to go abroad and if they guaranteed for us, none of that would be likely to happen".<sup>279</sup>

In general when approached with the offer to go abroad, the children suggested that one must be wary of trusting strangers and must carefully observe his/her character, consider the options, and negative potential outcomes before deciding to travel with them. It was emphasised that children make a choice to trust him/her but this might often not enable them to fulfill their wishes, hopes and dreams: "I cannot say that it is not their own wish, if it wasn't for their own will, they would not go abroad. Because if you meet such a person in the street and he tells you come with me because I have work for you in a restaurant abroad, you have to think well because after all he is a man and if you meet a woman it's the same. You have to think this situation thoroughly before you leave the country"<sup>280</sup>.

Children make this judgment on the basis of different needs and criteria. For instance, a girl in Bulgaria stated that her friend went to Italy to pick grapes with the assistance of a stranger: "I think he was attracted by the fact that the family of the driver is in good economic condition and maybe that helped him decide to trust him and go abroad"<sup>281</sup>.

Other children felt that it was better to rely on travel agencies or individuals who have already worked abroad for assistance in deciding whether to go and what employers can expect of foreign

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>275</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 13 years old girl, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>276</sup>Albania - focus group interview, 14 years old boy, internal migrant

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>277</sup>Albania - focus group interview, 14 years old boy

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>278</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 18 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>279</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>280</sup>Romania - individual interview, 17 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>281</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 16 years old girl, school child

migrants as well as what migrants can expect from their employers. It is also said that one can pay an agency and they will take children abroad by legal and illegal means (see below): "Well, you pay some man or some agency that does that, who send people abroad through a black market, and then he goes through mountains and the sea and gets to Germany for example"<sup>282</sup>.

So despite the fear of trusting strangers, it is often perceived as necessary for families and children to rely on them to facilitate the migration process: "When we are with a group we pay someone who knows the way... they may be people whom we do not know. You ought to be with the family, if you are by yourself you never know what happens... My aunt says that we will have to look for someone who can take us to Greece safely, to go there together because we will have a good time there and will find a job"<sup>283</sup>.

#### Parental involvement

In general however, the perception was that it is better to rely on parents and relatives when migrating abroad as is echoed by two children in Bulgaria and Romania: "I think it is best to leave with the help of relatives"<sup>284</sup>; "if I have the opportunity to go together with my family, otherwise I wouldn't go"<sup>285</sup>. This was said to be particularly important if one is young and has little experience: "I am sure that if they migrate then they do it with their parents, because they can not do it on their own... Because they are too little to do that, and they wouldn't know how to do that without having someone older besides them who is more mature and who knows better"<sup>286</sup>.

Nevertheless, some children complained that they were not consulted when their parents make decisions about the migration of the family: "I don't think these children have any say in it. With us, children don't have a say in such things, they go wherever the whole family is going, nothing they can do about it...The only thing I think these children can do is to make their own decision not to move and remain where they are. But what a child can make such a decision are few, I can tell you. What child has enough strength to confront his father and manage to get by alone? They would stay in the street on their own, all of their people would leave, I think that would be impossible. Such a child would be in great danger"<sup>287</sup>.

Some of the children felt that it was important to consult their parents before migrating abroad alone, although ultimately the decision rests with them. In other cases, their parents have forbidden children from leaving: "I wanted to go to Italy when I was 12 but my father said I was too little then but father used to say that when I turned 18 I can go there"<sup>288</sup>.

As parents may forbid them, some children migrate without informing their parents about their intentions or whereabouts: "According to me, most go without their parents' permission. I know a girl who went abroad with her boyfriend, she was below 18 and now she has a child. Her friend is a foreigner... he was 22. She went with him and after some time she called her parents and told them that she was with him. The police had been looking for her but finally she called. She stayed abroad for a few years and

 $^{286} \text{Kosovo}$  - individual interview, 15 years old boy, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>282</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 13 years old boy, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>283</sup>Albania - focus group interview, 15 years old girl

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>284</sup>Romania - individual interview, 15 years old boy

 $<sup>^{285}\</sup>text{Bulgaria}$  - individual interview, 14 years old girl, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>287</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 11 years old boy, IDP camp

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 288}{\rm Kosovo}$  - individual interview, 17 years old boy, shelter child

then came back but after some time she left again"<sup>289</sup>. So children can make this decision without their parents' involvement. As one child stated, "there is nothing that can stop us to go and search for a job in another city"<sup>290</sup>. They therefore exhibit high levels of self-efficacy in terms of their belief that they can control and exercise power over the decision to migrate.

Some children felt that it was unlikely that a parent would agree to their children traveling abroad with strangers. On the other hand it was said that their parents may have little information and they "are not informed enough about the risks"<sup>291</sup>.

A child in Romania said that parents are very cautious when it comes to allowing their children to travel with strangers, "But if you think you can go to your parents and tell them look mother and father, some guy has proposed me to go abroad because he has found work for me, in that case if the parent is really interested in the welfare of his child, he would not permit this thing and he should think what might happen to the child, especially if it is a girl"<sup>292</sup>.

For some girls, parents will only allow them to travel abroad with a man if they are married: "I am a girl and no one would allow me to go abroad alone. When I joke about it with my mom, because I cannot with my dad, she tells me that you can go and do whatever you want after you get married. For the time being you are here and forget about it"<sup>293</sup>.

On the other hand, it is said that some parents agree to let children leave, provided that they send their earnings back home to help their families: "When she comes back the money will stop coming and they won't be very happy about that"<sup>294</sup>. It is said, that given the costs of migrating abroad as a family, children often go over first to raise the money needed for the rest of the family to join them: "I guess they migrate more on their own because if the whole family migrates then that is much more expensive then only for the child alone, then slowly other members of the family migrate too after their child has worked and made some money"<sup>295</sup>.

## Involvement of relatives

A number of children stated that many of their relatives live abroad in countries such as Spain, Italy, Germany, Greece and Switzerland. Not only do these relatives send back money to assist them in times of financial trouble, they also play a key role in the decision to migrate, in the process of migration and in settlement in a foreign country. In terms of choosing to migrate, a Montenegrin child said that she is considering going abroad but needs to consult her uncle beforehand: *"Well, first I'd need to ask my uncle, when he comes here, whether he'd take me and whether he can find me some work, or I could come just like that. And if he says I can come, I'm gone"*<sup>296</sup>. These relatives often send out letters of invitation which are needed in visa applications. They often provide financial and emotional support upon arrival in a foreign country and in times of trouble.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>289</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 16 years old girl, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>290</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 16 years old girl, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>291</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>292</sup>Romania - individual interview, 17 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>293</sup>Albania - focus group interview, 16 years old girl , internal migrant

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>294</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 14 years old girl, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>295</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 16 years old boy, school child

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 296}{\rm Montenegro}$  - focus group interview, 14 years old girl, IDP camp

On the other hand, a few cases of maltreatment emerged in the children's accounts of living with relatives abroad: "They took me to Greece. One day my aunt's husband hit me in my lips as I had not made enough money... Then all asked me why I wanted to come back to Albania and my aunt's husband asked me "have you made up your mind, think it over again before you go home". I told him that that was my decision and I would never go to Greece again"<sup>297</sup>. In other words, she made a decision to leave her relatives and return home to escape abuse and exploitation.

In some cases, the children stated that parents pay large sums of money to a middle-man, a stranger who will take their children to live with a relative. It is at this point that some children said that trafficking may occur. A girl in a shelter in Kosovo states, "This one time as I was leaving school, a man came close to me and asked me if I was the child that he was looking for. He said that my uncle has sent him to get me, and he grabbed me but I managed to run away from his hands before he could get me into his car and even today when I think about it I get the shivers all over my body. He said that besides my name, my uncle also told him that I was a good singer, which is the truth because I can sing very good even when I was in school. When he saw that I did not want to go he grabbed me and said come on your uncle sent me to get you. I do not know my self how did I manage to get away from him, and I remember that I got very afraid"<sup>298</sup>.

It is said that by pretending to know a relative traffickers try to build up children's trust, thereby enabling them to overcome their fear of strangers. Some children also mentioned the possibility that parents send their children to someone, who they claim to be a relative, because they do not want people to know that they have abandoned or "sold" their child. Although he is skeptical that this actually occurs, a boy in Montenegro states: "I've heard of these things I've just told you about children going to live with a relative, and there is talk of some parents taking money from someone and sending their children to live there with a relative and some people say they are not their relatives at all. I don't get that. It's just people saying such things. How could it happen that someone sells his own child-that's impossible... To tell you the truth, I don't believe it's true, people say all kinds of things. It's someone jealous, saying his neighbor got the money from selling his child. How could that happen, that's crazy. Those parents must have sent their children to a relative or a brother, and the kids are having a great time there. Never mind that, people make up all sorts of things."<sup>299</sup>.

## The process

Most children were aware that some official documentation is needed before traveling abroad, although they seemed unclear about exactly what the requirements were and how they could fulfill them. Parental permission was highlighted as important in some cases, although some children felt that it was contingent upon the child's age: "They may but only with the signature of their parents. But only these older ones, they can leave outside. The smaller ones can leave only if their parents sign for them"<sup>300</sup>.

Another child stated that this is one reason why parents should travel with their children: "One can also leave with his entire family. I don't think a parent can leave his minor child alone because at the border you need the signature of the parents. But indeed, if you don't care and you believe life is

<sup>298</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 17 years old boy, shelter child

<sup>299</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 15 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>297</sup>Albania - focus group interview, 15 years old girl

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>300</sup>Romania - individual interview, 14 years old girl

better there for your child, as it has happened in the case of my friend, they signed the papers for her"<sup>301</sup>.

Money seemed to be one of the main concerns of children hoping to travel abroad. It was felt that only wealthy people can afford to purchase passports. Alternatively it was suggested that children can obtain *"false documents"* with a different name and surname.

Not only is this very expensive but it also requires reliance on a stranger, "They try to find someone to help them across the border, to get them false documents and things like that so they can go abroad"<sup>302</sup>. A child in Kosovo said that this can be easily carried out: "Simply find someone who gets you illegally to Italy... you go to Albania and those rebels there will sort you out, and once you are in Italy there are no more borders to cross... That's why my nephew got where he is before the war, and if he could do it then I can do it just as well"<sup>303</sup>. A few children stated that it is easier to migrate illegally and purchase documents: "if I would want to migrate then I'd just do it by black market, it is easier"<sup>304</sup>.

If they decide to immigrate illegally they have to choose their travel routes carefully to avoid being caught by the police. As an Albanian girl stated, "Some of them can get visa at the embassies but the majority go illegally, either via the mountain or by boats. I do not know for sure but one day my classmate told me that his brother had gone to Italy via Kosovo and he thought of doing the same thing"<sup>305</sup>.

Two of the younger children in the Albanian sample emphasised that they were scared of wild animals attacking them en route to Greece. As a boy stated, "I was with my mom and dad, we climbed the mountain. We walked one day, five hours. We missed the buss and remained there... When we left it was daylight but then it grew dark. We came across a bear on our way to Greece. Nevertheless I was not afraid of the bear. The bear was angry because the Greeks had taken his cubs... It was very long. It took as some thirteen hours to get there"<sup>306</sup>. Although it is difficult to verify his story, this quote reveals the stress and fear experienced by - or feared by - many children when they migrate or consider the possibility of migrating across dangerous and difficult terrain – even when they are with their parents.

A few of the children stated that they knew of someone who had been caught by the police crossing the border illegally, or have found themselves in this predicament. For instance, this Albanian child said that they were caught on their way to Greece: "We climbed the mountain. The police caught us when we arrived in Thessalonica. My sister in law also brought the baby with her; we wanted to make a phone call when the police caught us"<sup>307</sup>. Another child stated that he was caught working illegally in Greece.

Some of the children stated that they would only like to migrate abroad temporarily and/or would return if things do not go well abroad. It is said that their desire to migrate is related to the fulfillment of a particular need, and if that need is not met or *"they don't like what they are doing"* they can simply return. For many children, they would ultimately like to settle in their home

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>301</sup>Romania - individual interview, 17 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>302</sup>Serbia - focus group interview, boys and girls 13-22 years old, street children

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>303</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 17 years old boy, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>304</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 15 years old boy, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>305</sup>Albania - focus group interview, 18 years old girl, internal migrant

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 306} {\rm Albania}$  - focus group interview, 11 years old boy

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 307} Albania$  - focus group interview, 15 years old girl

countries, largely because of their intimate relationships and social networks, which can be called upon during times of trouble. As a Bulgarian girl stated, "I would go but I would also return, because this is my birth place. I was born here and all my friends are here. I don't know anyone outside; I know neither where I am nor who is around me and what is around me. I can't ask anyone there for help"<sup>308</sup>.

On the other hand, it is said that sometimes they will not be accepted back by their families particularly if they left without their parents' consent and/or traveled there illegally. A Bulgarian boy compared this situation to one in which a trafficked victim returned home: "So, if it they were forced they [parents] will accept them. But if my work there was illegal and I was doing it willingly, I don't think they would be very happy"<sup>309</sup>. Another boy said that it would be difficult to return home initially but through communication and negotiation, the problems could be resolved: "For example if someone ran out of home and went somewhere the parents are worried a lot. When the child comes back they are very happy at first but then they talk about the reasons and if they were guilty they ask for forgiveness and the child also explains the reasons. It definitely matters if the child went there with or without his or her parents knowing about this"<sup>310</sup>.

Despite these perceived difficulties associated with the process of migration and/or return, many of the children still wanted to migrate to another city or abroad because they believed it to be an opportunity for adventure and a chance to escape hardships such as poverty, war and interpersonal violence. In other words they weigh up the perceived options, and decide to migrate even if they know it to be a potentially risky strategy. One of the risks that they mentioned was related to trafficking.

#### **Migration and trafficking**

According to the respondents, the actual process of migration leaves children more vulnerable to being trafficked, in that they are often alone and in desperate need of documentation. A Romanian girl stated: "Actually they are kidnapped on their way, some of them are taken to a room, they catch more girls, they make them fake passports and they put them out on the market to produce"<sup>311</sup>.

Another child stated that illegal migration in particular places one at risk of being trafficked: "If you cross the border illegally, it can be very, very bad. Traffickers, pimps, other bad things too... They can say it if they don't want to go there. Nobody takes them by force. It is worse if they mixed up with traffickers. They cannot escape the traffickers and they have to work only for them. At this point they can no longer decide for their life"<sup>312</sup>.

One of the reasons provided for this is that one cannot rely on assistance from the police if one is crossing the border illegally with the intention of work. It is said that traffickers promise to assist them financially and with documents and in this way, make children work for them to pay back their debts: "Most of the people are lured with that. They pay for the transport and the passports, the girls pay nothing and after that the girls are made to work for them and pay them back for the transport and the money which was given to them. I think that it was easy for me, it wasn't difficult"<sup>313</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>308</sup>Bulgaria - focus group interview, boys and girls – 14-18 years old, school children

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>309</sup>Bulgaria - Focus group interview,., boy- 12 years old, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>310</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 16 years old boy, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>311</sup>Romania - individual interview, 15 years old girl

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>312</sup>Romania - individual interview, 17 years old boy

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>313</sup>Bulgaria - focus group interview, boy- 14 years old, school child

As mentioned above, the children suggested that traffickers manipulate their desire and need to obtain travel documents and go abroad. In this way, they deceive them into agreeing to go with them: "They have ganged together some man, and some woman. And they promise you all: money, a job abroad so you can earn money and come back here and build yourself a decent house, not huts like ours"<sup>314</sup>. They make these empty promises to children that do not reflect the reality of violence and exploitation: "Well, I think they lie to them. They tell them that they are going to do something else and when they go there it is something different"<sup>315</sup>. Yet the fact that children make a decision to believe them, was emphasized by many respondents.

Nevertheless, the respondents said that children cannot be blamed for believing these lies. As a child in Serbia states: "If you decide that you want to go abroad to work as a waitress, and end up somewhere else, you are not to blame for that"<sup>316</sup>.

To guard against this happening, a Bulgarian boy suggested the following: "They should know where they go and what they are going to do. They must know the language even if they don't work anything related to talking. They should have real contracts. There was information in the news about people who were deceived. Now it is not so common, I guess people became more cautious"<sup>317</sup>.

## The offer of boyfriend/husband

According to the children, traffickers often *"trick"* girls by pretending to be a boyfriend, or offering to marry them before trafficking them. Alternatively, it is held that they offer to broker a marriage for them. As a child in Montenegro stated, *"She may meet a guy who'll tell her all nice things and make promises and she believes him and he deceives her"*<sup>318</sup>.

According to a child in Bulgaria, "They might propose to marry her. She falls in love, she dreams of a peaceful, carefree life and she is trapped. I have heard that the traffickers' goal very often is to make the girls fall in love with them. They put a spell on them, they fascinate them..."<sup>319</sup>. A child in a shelter in Bosnia-Herzegovina stated that children are "sold" by traffickers to people who would like to marry them: "If a female child gets kidnapped she can be sold better in Italy, for bigger money. They sell them because they marry their girls, they sell them so some people can marry them, that happens there"<sup>320</sup>.

In another case, a child stated: "There are many cases, I know the relative of someone I know. She was married at a young age and her husband took her to Greece for prostitution; she is having a very bad luck"<sup>321</sup>.

It is also said that parents are convinced by men that they will be good husbands for their daughters. These men then traffic the girls: *"There are even relatives and people who allegedly ask the girl's* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>314</sup>Romania - individual interview, 14 years old girl

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>315</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 17 years old girl, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>316</sup>Serbia - focus group interview, boy-18 years old, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>317</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 15 years old boy, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>318</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 14 years boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>319</sup>Bulgaria - focus group interview, 14-18 years old boys and girls, school children

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>320</sup>Bosnia-Herzegovina -, focus group interview, 16 years old girl, street child

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 321} {\rm Albania}$  - focus group interview, 14 years old girl

hand to marry, the marriage takes place and they take the girl. They give the girl's mom a lot of money. They promise the girl's parents that they will take care of their daughter, that they have a big villa, that the boy has only his mom at home and so they convince the parents who are rather old and are not going to last that long. The parents see the house and they say OK. They rent a house and show it to the girl's parents, who on their part think that their daughter will be happy but it so happens that the daughter calls and tells of her sufferings and notifies that her so called husband plans to sell her to Italy and the family feels said afterwards"<sup>322</sup>.

In this case, it appears as though these parents were not aware that their daughter would be trafficked. However, the relationship between early and arranged marriage and trafficking is contentious as is evident in a number of children's accounts. In numerous accounts, children describe parents as *"selling"* their daughters. As a child in Bosnia-Herzegovina stated, *"Sometimes it depends on parents. Some parents sell their children and if a man who wants to buy a girl shows up then her parents sell her and she marries the man. When they are sold, the girls must earn all the money people gave for them"<sup>323</sup>. Parents are attributed blame and responsibility for the trafficking of their children.* 

In other cases, this practice of "selling a child" is clearly distinguished from arranged marriages: "We haven't heard about selling, only the custom we have to take money from the husband for the girl and then it looks like the father sold his daughter".<sup>324</sup> This is echoed by another Montenegrin child, who uses the word "sale" to describe both practices but clearly differentiates the activities in terms of culpability and his sense of injustice: "How can you sell your own child? I'd cut that person's throat. I don't know how someone can sell his own child, I've never heard of that. I've heard of people selling their daughter to a husband, never about other things"<sup>325</sup>.

In order to understand why girls and their parents may believe that a trafficker is a legitimate husband, and on this basis decide to go with him, it is necessary to understand what marriage means in the children's lives and how this is distinguished from trafficking in most of children's accounts.

Some of the children described early and arranged marriage as a custom or tradition in certain communities. In the literature this is often described as a phenomenon shared by all RAE groups without looking at the differences that exist between these groups. The Roma and Egyptian children clearly distinguished these practices from each other. As a child in the IDP camp in Montenegro stated, *"I know that Roma take money when they want to find a husband for their daughter, and the husband must pay to her father, I know that and that's not it, that's a normal thing. But it's not the same with us Egyptians, we never take money. But to sell your child to someone for money, I don't know what to say, that's terrible and I can't imagine it"<sup>326</sup>.* 

Another child reiterated this sentiment, but clearly distinguished this practice from trafficking children for other purposes: "We Egyptians are a different story, we don't take money for a wife, as Roma do. They sell their daughter to a husband, and the husband must give money for a wife we don't have that. I heard from my mother, my aunt, the neighbors talked about some people who had sold their child to someone for money". <sup>327</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>322</sup>Albania - focus group interview, 14 years old girl

 $<sup>^{323}\</sup>mbox{Bosnia-Herzegovina}\,$  - focus group interview, 16 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>324</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 15 years old boy, IDP camp

 $<sup>^{325}\</sup>ensuremath{\mathsf{Montenegro}}$  - focus group interview, 14 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>326</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 16 years old girl, IDP camp

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 327} \rm Montenegro$  - focus group interview, 14 years old girl, IDP camp

The children's accounts in Albania, Montenegro and Kosovo specifically, reveal the complexity of this custom or tradition and the particular manner in which it is constructed, and is changing in relation to socio-economic developments. In many poverty-stricken communities it is an economic strategy adopted by households to ensure their survival. As a girl in Kosovo stated, "Now that the conditions are harder and the unemployment is so great, this all influences that girls are married by being taken-away"<sup>328</sup>. It is said that by marrying a daughter off, the expenses of running a household and raising a child are reduced, as her husband's family has to take responsibility for her.

A girl in Kosovo said: "Parents say "a mouth less to feed", or "girls belong to other people's houses""<sup>329</sup>. In Albania, a child stated, "They think that if a girl gets married, there will be no problems; they are very poor and force the children to marry at a very young age"<sup>330</sup>. Alternatively, if a girl marries a wealthier man, it is believed that she will assist her parents: "The parents themselves want the girl to get married because they think that she can probably help them..."<sup>331</sup>.

Some of this money exchanged in the process of marriage, is used to finance important social gatherings, in which relatives and other community members participate. Given the social importance attached to weddings, engagement and marital ceremonies are very elaborate and expensive. These costs have had a significant effect upon the custom itself. In Kosovo, a boy stated that this practice is declining because weddings are too expensive to arrange: *"The marriages that are done on free will, they are done with much less money, as these with facilitators... well, and they require lots of money... Well I would say there are more marriages with free will... where the boy takes away the girl."<sup>332</sup>.* 

It is also said that given the economic climate, it is too expensive to rely on mediators to find a husband and negotiate the marriage. As a result, some children state that the custom of arranged marriages is in decline and that children now have more say over their partners: "Nowadays, it happens more that the boy and the girl fall in love and get married... times of mediators are past, so when they would come to the girls family, then the mother and father's word is the last say, as the couple have already been in love and are getting anyhow married... Well, living and having economic crises, having jobless people marriages done in such way are easier"<sup>333</sup>. So macro-factors have an effect upon this interpersonal practice and how it is played out at the level of the individual.

For some families, marriage is one way in which a child is able to obtain papers to migrate abroad: "Well there are cases when for example the girl or the boy get engaged with a boy or a girls from abroad, they get married and wait for the papers to come out and go abroad to live"<sup>334</sup>. This is not an exclusively female practice in that boys may also get married for this purpose.

Some girls and their parents perceive marriage to be a source of escape from poverty stricken communities, when a daughter marries someone living in another city: "Later a boy asked her to marry him and she got married at the age of thirteen. Her family told her to marry him if she did not want

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>328</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 16 years old girl, school child

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 329} \rm Kosovo$  - focus group interview, 17 years old girl, street child

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 330} Albania$  - focus group interview, 14 years old girl

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>331</sup>Albania - focus group interview, 16 years old boy

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>332</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 17 years old boy, school child

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 333}{\rm Kosovo}$  - individual interview, 16 years old girl, school child

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 334}{\rm Kosovo}$  - individual interview, 16 years old girl, school child

to live in that neighborhood"<sup>335</sup>. It is believed that in other countries children will have an opportunity to find employment and earn higher incomes, which they can send home in the form of household remittances. As a result, marriages with foreigners are encouraged by parents: "Well, probably they will come and ask for her hand from some far away place, perhaps as far as Switzerland, or somewhere else, where ever, just as long as it is from far away..."<sup>336</sup>. Children themselves favour the idea of marrying someone from abroad for the reasons described above – adventure, escape, employment and income - and use a variety of means including mediators who are often relatives, and the internet to find husbands: "I pray I will get married in Germany... I don't know, perhaps my uncle will find someone for me. He is in Germany, or perhaps through internet... It doesn't matter if Germany or somewhere else - anywhere away from Kosovo"<sup>337</sup>.

Hence, marriage is seen for some girls as a means of traveling abroad and fulfilling their hopes and dreams. A girl in Kosovo explained: "I wish to be a good hairdresser and I want to go abroad and get married there. I can not go there on my own, so of course I have to marry someone to get there"<sup>338</sup>. This is repeated by another girl in Albania, who stated that as a girl her movement is restricted and she would only be allowed to travel abroad if she was married: "Me to go abroad? No, never. I am a girl and no one would allow me to go abroad alone. When I joke about it with my mom, because I cannot be with my dad, she tells me that you can go and do whatever you want after you get married. For the time being you are here and forget about it"<sup>339</sup>.

For some girls, it is not simply about being able to go abroad but to overcome restrictions that are placed on their movement after they have passed through puberty (see below): "It's not always as bad with a husband...I'd like them to find me a husband, I don't know what to do around this camp any more, all day long. I can't go to the town, even when I'm sick I can't go to the doctor's alone, but my mother or brother have to accompany me"<sup>340</sup>.

So for some girls, marriage is sought after as it is a means by which they gain freedom of movement.

For some parents, marriage is a means of protecting their daughters from male attention, sexual violence and the possibility of *"disgrace*". It is believed that if girls have sexual relations out of wedlock and/or fall pregnant, they will not only bring disgrace upon themselves, but upon their whole family even if it is the product of sexual violence. As a result, when girls pass through puberty their movement is restricted, they are confined to the domestic sphere to undertake domestic tasks, they are removed from school and they are forbidden from begging on the streets with their siblings. Their relationships with male peers are restricted and intimate/sexual relationships forbidden. If it appears as though girls are having contact with men, are the object of their attention and advances, marriage is hastily arranged.

These constraints emerged from a complex relationship between what parents regard as physical protection of their daughters and the avoidance of individual and familial shame and disgrace. In Albania, one child stated: "Well, there are many young boys who keep nagging the girls while they walk in the street and after that they chase them home. They get to know where the girl's house is, and they

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>335</sup>Albania - focus group interview, 14 years old girl

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>336</sup>Kosovo - focus group interview, 16 years old boy, street child

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 337} {\rm Kosovo}$  - individual interview, 15 years old girl, street child

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 338} {\rm Kosovo}$  - individual interview, 18 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>339</sup>Albania - focus group interview, 18 years old girl, internal migrant

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>340</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 15 years old girl, IDP camp

chase her for some time. Sometimes this is scary because very often they say that they will snatch you because they are in love with you and other things like this. It happened to a friend of mine that a boy bothered her so much and he persisted in asking her to marry him. The girl did not want to marry the guy who insisted and said to her "you will either be mine or you cannot marry anybody else""<sup>341</sup>. Under such circumstances, being afraid that the boy could snatch their daughter, her parents compelled her to quit school. The boy still persisted and then some of his relatives intervened and asked the boy to give up: "My friend failed to get any education at all and right after that she got engaged to another boy because her family and the girl herself were afraid that she would not be able to get married because of the incident"<sup>342</sup>.

Girls who appear to be sexually interested in boys are hastily married off, as are those who dress in a so-called "provocative" manner – it is believed that these girls in particular are at a higher risk of being trafficked because they will attract the advances of male strangers:

"Well, these girls that don't go to school and don't do anything good all day long, they misbehave, are rude and brazen and have bad and brazen company and then become like them, talk to boys a lot and ramble around. But not all of them are like that, just some. If the parents see that, then they'll find her a husband and marry her off immediately. And the husband can be very mean to them and beat them, and then she suffers and is sad. Mother said that parents are right to marry her off because they have to take care of her, and it was her fault that she provoked the boys, and that's why her parents had to find her a husband right away because who knows what would have happened to her. This way she stays with her husband, who then takes care of her and doesn't allow her to do anything wrong because he'd beat her or send her back to her parents, and that's a disgrace for them, so she has to pay attention that does not happen because no one wants to make one's parents angry"<sup>343</sup>.

These rules and restrictions are often enforced by means of parental corporal punishment. In addition, male siblings are often tasked with the responsibility of watching over their sisters' movement.

As a result, many girls conform to the behaviour expected by their parents in that they follow their rules and submit to the restrictions on their behaviour - relationships, movement and appearance. As a girl in Montenegro stated, "Well, if they saw me walking with a boy or my friends somewhere I'm not allowed, they'd forbid me to leave home for days. We're not allowed to go for walks with boys, I know that's not nice and I'm not allowed, but there's this boy I like, and I wanted to see him but didn't dare, and then a friend of mine went to tell him I didn't dare because of my father and that I liked him. I'll see what happens, I'm afraid they'll marry me off to someone else and I wouldn't want that"344.

On the other hand, many girls decide to break these rules because they perceive the rules themselves to be unfair and unwarranted and they complained about the differential freedom enjoyed by their male peers and siblings, with the process by which they are married at any early age to a person that they do not know and have not been consulted about and they do not want to experience the constraints that they associate with marriage. Many of the girls have witnessed or heard about negative experiences that young girls have experienced after being married. For

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>341</sup>Albania - focus group interview, 18 years old girl, internal migrant

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>342</sup>Albania - focus group interview, 18 years old girl, internal migrant

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>343</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 15 years old girl, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>344</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 14 years old girl, IDP camp

some, it is an experience shared by a close friend or sibling. Some girls associate marriage with a loss of freedom and violation of their rights, although this may depend upon the family that they are married into.

For many girls, marriage in the West was described as better because it is undertaken at a later age, this fed into their desire to migrate abroad. Their perceptions were often mediated by the experiences communicated by someone they know: "Well, my mother for example married when she was young and she always tells me how bad that is, so we know that it is not good to marry early. She tells us to enjoy as long as we are in our fathers house because we will have a lot on our heads in the house we marry in, the husbands house... It's best never to get married... just kidding. First you must enjoy life until you are 24, and then get married... My aunt is 28, and she still doesn't want to get married, she lives in Denmark. This aunt knows about the other aunt who married young, and now she has many problems with her husband"<sup>345</sup>.

Some girls emphasised that when one becomes married one is subject to the power and rules exercised by the husband and his family. One boy in Bosnia-Herzegovina stated that he would be very strict on his future wife on the basis of the example set by his siblings: "For example a boy likes her. He sends his father to ask for her hand at our place, and so on... Well, around 16, she shouldn't be older. That's why you get a woman in your house to clean when you get married, to wash your clothes, to give birth and take care of the children. If I got married now my wife wouldn't work at the open market. First of all I wouldn't allow it to myself. Two of my brothers' wives are home, they don't work. There you go"<sup>346</sup>. This boy's point of reference was his siblings' experiences and the manner in which they treat their wives.

A girl in Bosnia-Herzegovina complained that marriage is associated with restrictions: "When you get married then your husband will give you orders, you will have to ask permission to go to the store. He is in charge there. There are husbands and wives like that"<sup>347</sup>.

Girls are also subject to the rules and instructions set by their husband's relatives. If one fails to follow their instructions, one risks being sent home in disgrace. As one girl in Kosovo stated, "Well, very bad things happen. It can happen that the husband's family doesn't like the girl so she will be forced to leave the husbands house"<sup>348</sup>.

This is repeated by another girl in Kosovo: "So soon after this the problems began as the young girl or bride doesn't know how to behave with her parents in law, the husband, she doesn't know the rules of the house, and all these things cause problems, then they fight to each other, and in most of the cases none of them have finished the school, nor works"<sup>349</sup>.

The fact that their education is restricted upon marriage was a source of concern for many girls who stated that it not only stunts their intellectual development but that of their own children as well: "She doesn't know to do the house work, and she doesn't think about school much, because she is not educated, she doesn't know how to educate her children, and that's how she will remain primitive"<sup>350</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>345</sup>Kosovo - focus group interview, 15 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>346</sup>Bosnia-Herzegovina - individual interview, 18 years old boy, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>347</sup>Bosnia-Herzegovina - focus group interview, 14 years old girls, shelter children

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>348</sup>Kosovo - focus group interview, 14 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>349</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 16 years old girl, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>350</sup>Kosovo - focus group interview, 14 years old girl, street child

Children also complained about the fact that they are not consulted in the selection of their husbands. Often this decision is taken in total disregard for their love of another individual: "Well, I don't know, that is a family education problem, and sometimes parents are guilty as well for such things, they know that their daughter is in love with someone and they do not talk to her about those things"<sup>351</sup>.

A child in Montenegro stated: "Well, if she loves a boy and her parents don't like him and don't want him to be her husband, they immediately get her a different husband, one they think would be better for her, and she accepts her parents' choice, although she loves the other one. It often turns out that her husband is not good for her, he may even beat her or have other women, and she has to stay home and keep quiet and do as she's told. She can't go back to her father's either"<sup>352</sup>. In other words, having little choice over one's partner could increase the risk of intimate partner violence and lead to a loss of social supports in the future.

This issue of arranged marriages was also a source of concern for boys. A boy in Serbia complained that his girlfriend's father did not agree with the match and married her off to someone else: "I loved her and she loved me, but her parents didn't let us stay together"<sup>353</sup>.

A child complained that she is worried that economic concerns will override concerns for her own well-being, in that her father might marry her off to a wealthy husband without taking his character or her preferences into account: "My father is going to take a lot of money from my husband for me. Because of that, I am afraid that father would be more concerned with who would offer more money than if they would be good to me"<sup>354</sup>.

If girls are caught flouting these rules and restrictions there are a range of negative consequences. Any notion of children's choice would be completely disregarded and they could be physically restrained and/or married off quickly: "If they saw I was meeting someone, they'd lock me up in the house or start looking for a husband for me, someone they choose, I wouldn't have a say, that's how it went with some other girls from the camp... Well, I know father would send me off to a husband if he saw me with this boy. That's why I mustn't see him"<sup>355</sup>.

Their parents arrange their marriage quickly without undertaking the necessary checks on the husband's family and background: "As soon as a girl does not do as her father says, he starts looking for a husband for her, to make sure she does not bring disgrace to him"<sup>356</sup>. So some girls are courageous in their attempts to break the constraints on their freedom but this often leads to further restrictions and a forced marriage: "Parents ban them too, but there are girls who don't do what their parents tell them and go for walks in the town, or they say they are going to a friend's and then go to the town. When their father sees them and if they see them with a boy, then things get hard and dangerous for her: her father would beat her up and lock her up in the house. And then they could find her a husband in three days and she has to go to him, so nothing happens to her that would bring shame to her father, the father prevents the shame and sends her to a husband and she has to accept that"<sup>357</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>351</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 16 years old girl, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>352</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 14 years old girl, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>353</sup>Serbia - focus group interview, 16 years old boy, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>354</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 15 years old girl, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>355</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 14 years old girl, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>356</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 14 years old girl, IDP camp

 $<sup>^{357}\</sup>mbox{Montenegro}$  - focus group interview, 14 years old girl, IDP camp

Alternatively, parents may use corporal punishment to enlist their daughter's compliance or abandon their daughters as a means of removing the shame she has brought to the family.

A child in Albania stated that regardless of whether the sexual contact was consensual or not, girls are still blamed for having sexual relations with boys and asked to leave: "It has happened that a boy has bothered many girls in the neighborhood and they have become the talk of the town afterwards. This is stupid. Or a boy kidnapped a girl for three days and later let her free to go home. Her parents did not welcome the girl home so she moved to her relatives in Burrel. She stayed there until she married another man and after marriage her parents accepted her. Do you understand now the mentality predominant in Tirana? We are in Tirana geographically, but as far as the mentality is concerned we belong to the North of Albania"<sup>358</sup>. In this child's opinion these practices are outdated and do not make sense in a modernizing, urbanized city like Tirana.

The children stated that when this occurs to a girl it is very difficult for her to find support or assistance from relatives because of the stigma associated with "being ruined": "and then her father has to throw her out to the street because he can't find her a husband any more. He says she ruined his honour. Nobody wants her and she's completely ruined. When she's out in the street, we can't help her, there's nobody, her uncle or aunt or anyone from the family can't take her in. That's why I watch my sister, so she doesn't stand with a guy".<sup>359</sup> Some of the children stated that this notion of "disgrace" can be used by individuals seeking to harm children and even traffic them. They are aware that these children have few people to turn to if they are thought to be sexually active, so it is easier to manipulate, "trick" or "cheat" them: "Those are the biggest threats, that someone would do something bad to these girls or trick them, so they don't know where to go because it may happen that no one from her family wants to take her or help her, if she brought disgrace to them"<sup>360</sup>.

As a result of these concerns and possible risks, many girls developed highly secretive strategies to flout the rules and restrictions set by their parents and relatives in a number of ways including selecting men that are not known by the parents or community, especially in the face of high levels of community gossip, dating boys in unknown or unfamiliar areas and relying on friends to lie about their whereabouts.

Some girls run away and marry without their parents' consent. As mentioned above, these "courageous acts" can however lead to problems such as conflict and violence in the family and a loss of familial support: "I have to say that's not always easy and such decisions can cause huge problems. It all depends on what the family is like and what the boy is like. Sometimes it all ends well and sometimes there's a lot of fighting in one family or the other. It often turns out to be a bad solution for the girl. That's why only a small number of girls decide to run off with a boy. Most of them obey their parents and don't want to create problems, even if it hurts their own interests"<sup>361</sup>. However, in the process of struggling against the gendered constraints on their movement, it is said that some girls are placed more at risk of physical violence and even trafficking. They may date or marry boys who are not known in the community. These strangers may be potentially dangerous. As they visit unknown areas so as to avoid being recognized, they may face additional threats to their safety and security and not know who to turn to for assistance.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>358</sup>Albania - focus group interview, 16 years old girl, internal migrant <sup>359</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 15 years old boy, IDP camp <sup>360</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 14 years old girl, IDP camp

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 361}{\rm Montenegro}$  - focus group interview, 14 years old girl, IDP camp

Hence, according to the respondents there are a number of ways that a trafficker can exploit the importance attached to marriage and female "virginity". They can pretend to be wealthy husbands from abroad or offer to mediate a marriage with someone abroad or in another town. If a father is seeking to protect his daughter and family from physical harm and disgrace or is trying to increase household income he may readily agree to her marrying a stranger. Girls may disagree with the constraints placed on their movement and may flout these rules by running away and/or choosing to date a stranger in unknown areas without their parents' knowledge.

These men may ultimately traffic them. Alternatively, if they are sexually active and/or raped, the stigma associated with it may remove their social supports, minimize the chances of them getting married and/or make them vulnerable to individuals who offer them marriage or pretend to care for them. It is important at this juncture to highlight how girl's perceptions of trafficking are influenced by the gender norms in their communities, and in particular, the manner in which sexuality and femininity is constructed.

## Trafficking and constructions of femininity

When discussing the threat posed by trafficking, many of the children described it in gendered terms, in that it was believed that certain children are more at risk of being trafficked and that certain children will be trafficked to undertake different forms of exploitative work. In respect to the former, it is said that girls are more at risk of being trafficked. In terms of the latter, children tended to associate girls with sexual exploitation, and boys with labour exploitation and begging.

When explaining why girls are more at risk of being trafficked, children pointed to their lack of physical strength in relation to men and the idea that girls are more naive than boys and can be easily deceived. It is said that these girls are targeted by traffickers because they can be easily tricked. It is also held that certain girls tend to be targeted more because they dress provocatively, socialize with boys or venture into "forbidden" socially proscribed areas, and thereby gain traffickers attention, particularly if they are seeking girls to exploit in the sex trade.

In terms of strength, it is argued that girls cannot defend themselves against attacks or physical coercion at the hands of traffickers, who are generally believed to be men. As an Albanian child stated, "Well, girls are more often kidnapped because boys can fight against the kidnappers but the girls cannot so it is easier to kidnap the girls... Well, the boys may struggle, he is strong and hits the one who wants to harm him but there is nothing a girl can do, she feels powerless, because a girl can deal with a girl, but what can she do to a boy?"<sup>362</sup>.

It is said that girls are particularly vulnerable to sexual violence: "Boys won't be raped if they don't want it. The risks are higher for the girls. It is not only about raping but also boys are stronger and they can protect themselves better"<sup>363</sup>. As a result, it is held girls are unable to thwart the advance of a trafficker.

So in this sense, girls share the same perceived vulnerabilities as young children because of their size and relative physical "weakness". This fear has a significant effect upon children's decision-making and freedom of movement. As a girl in Kosovo stated, *"Younger children in Kosovo are afraid* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>362</sup>Albania - focus group interview, 11 years old girl

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>363</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 15 years old girl, school child

to stay longer in the streets because it is dangerous for them, but also, staying so late in the streets is not good for youth as well. For example in the news they keep telling of cases where children are taken in the streets and later sold in other countries. Or... you know, there are some people who deal with drugs or other bad things, and with these things they can do bad things especially to girls, this why I and my friends do not stay out longer than 7 p.m., to avoid something bad happens to us. Also, for example they can take females away and sell them, you know women trafficking"<sup>364</sup>.

In a number of accounts by boys and girls, female children are described as being "weaker and more susceptible"<sup>365</sup> to being trafficked. A boy in Bulgaria described girls as because "easier to steal... because of stupidity"<sup>366</sup>. A child in Albania stated: "they may be kidnapped but it is easier to cheat the girls... The boys protect themselves while girls are more naive as far as their intelligence is concerned. Girls may be overwhelmed"<sup>367</sup>. Another girl in Kosovo stated that some girls are "naive and trust people easy" so "anyone can fool around with her"<sup>368</sup>.

On the other hand, it is said by many children that naivety is mediated by age, in that younger girls are more at risk because *"little girls are deceived easier"*<sup>369</sup>. As one Kosovo male stated, *"The 20 year old girls are more mature for example, and know how to think differently about them selves, while this girlfriend of mine who isn't even 14 yet can be easily manipulated by others because she is not mature yet"*<sup>370</sup>. A girl in Kosovo said that other girls aged 14 or 15 are *"easily deceived, to get raped, to be sold in other countries for prostitution"*<sup>371</sup>. A child in Albania linked age and gender-specific targeting of children to puberty and menarche specifically: *"Because the girls are cheated… They take girls for prostitution, they rape them because it is time now… Because at such an age the body of a girl develops, the others bother her, they are aware of the fact that she can easily be cheated and keep bothering her. It is the girls' fault. They invite the girls for coffee, get them on the car and then they may inject drugs to them"<sup>372</sup>.* 

It is said that traffickers "trick" girls with the promise of an intimate relationship or marriage, and the promise of employment, often by appealing to their vanity and complimenting them through the offer of work as a model: "Well, they promise girls for example jobs, or that they will get them to be on the newspapers or magazines... make them photo models or stuff like that, or that they will get them married will someone abroad, in Germany or Switzerland... stuff like that"<sup>373</sup>.

As described in previous sections, poverty, interpersonal responsibilities that dictate work, social pressure to get married (particularly to someone living abroad) and the desire for compliments may be factors why some girls might believe these promises.

The child respondents also said that boys and girls are both at risk but will be exploited in different ways: "I think that it is the same for the boys and the girls, they are both in the same danger, but it can happen that girls are in more danger because they can be used for sexual use and they can be deceived"<sup>374</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>364</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 15 years old girl, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>365</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 14 years old girl, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>366</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 16 years old boy, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>367</sup>Albania - focus group interview, 13 years old girl

 $<sup>^{368}\</sup>mbox{Kosovo}$  - individual interview, 15 years old girl, school child

 $<sup>^{369}\</sup>mbox{Kosovo}$  - focus group interview, boys and girls- 14-15 years old, school children

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>370</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 15 years old girl school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>371</sup>Kosovo - focus group interview, 14 years old girl, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>372</sup>Albania - focus group interview, boy- 14 years old

 $<sup>^{373}\</sup>mbox{Kosovo}$  - individual interview, 17 years old boy, street child

 $<sup>^{374}\</sup>mbox{Kosovo}$  - individual interview, 15 years old girl, school child
The manner in which traffickers purposefully target certain children for different purposes is described in the following quote: "It depends from the work the thieves want them to do. For drugs for example smaller children are used, whiles for prostitution older girls are used, those over 18, but also girls aged 16 or 17 can work as prostitutes too… It depends on the work. For prostitution for example they look for better looking girls"<sup>375</sup>. The association of the trafficking of females for prostitution was repeated by children across the 7 countries/entities in which this research was conducted.

As they are selected for the purpose of prostitution, it is said that traffickers are very particular and very discerning when deciding which girls to target. Not only do they choose girls who appear to be particularly naive but they choose girls who are regarded as "beautiful" and who dress and act in a particular way. This behaviour is considered to be sexually provocative in that particular community and is therefore likely to draw attention to themselves.

For instance, when discussing which children are more likely to be trafficked, a child in Kosovo stated: "I don't think it depends from where the child comes from, but rather from females and their behaviors. If they go out, and behave differently, like laughing without a reason or dress in a way that draws the attention of others and so on"<sup>376</sup>. In terms of clothing, in Albania it was said that girls who wear makeup, "extravagant clothes", short skirts or expose their stomachs are at risk. It is also said that girls who date boys are also likely to be targeted or subject to various forms of violence. This reflects various stereotypes about trafficking, and social norms about what is considered to be "appropriate" behaviour for girls, and the idea that girls who contravene these norms will face a range of dangers.

Not only do these arguments about gender-specific forms of trafficking reflect the messages that children have received from a range of sources (e.g. media, parents, peers, relatives, teachers etc.), but some of these statements about "risk"reflect girls and boys' contrasting concerns in their daily lives. Statements made about girl's "naivety" are related to the fact that access to education is often restricted for many girls in the region, as will be discussed in a later section. Girls across the region were worried about violence and sexual violence, in particular, at the hands of boys and men in their daily lives. A girl in Serbia adopted the strategy of dressing and acting like man as a means of protecting herself: "A, for instance, well, she says that she is a girl, but behaves like a man... It's harder when you are a girl, because someone might rape you on the street, or someone might kill you on the street"<sup>377</sup>.

In their accounts of their lives, sexuality and the issue of virginity was raised frequently. As highlighted in the section on "marriage"girls' virginity is highly prized in certain ethnic and cultural communities. This is evident in the following quote: "Serbian children make their own decisions. A Serbian girl can go to bed with a Serb and with a Gipsy, whereas a Gipsy girl mustn't go to bed with any man. Because she has to be a virgin when she goes home"<sup>378</sup>.

It is said that certain rituals revolve around virginity, particularly during the marital process. As a girl in Bulgaria explained with regards to her wedding night: "We have such traditions, right, when your mother and father marry you the boy must sleep with you in the evening and they must see. If you

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>375</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 16 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>376</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 15 years old girl, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>377</sup>Serbia - individual interview, 16 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>378</sup>Serbia - individual interview, 13 years old boy, street child

are a virgin, it is good. If you are not, some problems might occur. They start telling my mother, my father, the people who have brought me, they tell them: "What girl have you brought to us? Don't you know that she must first sleep with our son, etc.". They gave a short, white skirt. And where you bleed, you take this thing and you give it to your mother. She gives it to your mother-in-law. She takes it, shows it to everyone and they start breaking glasses, plates, what not, and shout and howl till the morning because to them it is something very big - the fact that their daughter-in-law was a virgin. But eventually I realized that these traditions and these things are not good"<sup>379</sup>.

It is said that girls who are found not to be virgins are returned to their families, who may in turn be *"throw them out"* onto the streets. So the fact that girls could be raped in the course of trafficking was an issue that girls were very worried about, not only because of the effects upon their own physical and emotional well-being, but because it might bring shame to themselves and their families, and thereby reduce their options. Some of the strategies that girls develop reflect their concern about sexual violence. For instance, a girl in Romania stated that she chooses her clothing carefully and only selects baggyT-shirts because she does not want to draw attention to her growing sexuality.

The fact that some girls who dress or act in a way that counters social norms are seen as more at risk, is not only an example of the way in which certain children are labeled in a community for behaving in a particular manner, but also the manner in which the respondents have had to deal with this labeling and gossip, or have had to try and avoid it in their daily lives. This is evident in the following comments: "My dad and brothers think that if a girl goes out and talks to boys then she is a whore, a prostitute"<sup>380</sup>.

A girl in Kosovo complained that boys are not judged or labeled in a similar manner: "If a girl goes out at night time then they immediately say that she is not a good girl because she goes out at nights but they don't say that for boys. As for boys he can go out as many times as he wants in the night and no one will say anything about them, or say that he is a bad boy, on the contrary they say good things about them then. They even praise them saying that their boys are old enough to go out now, he goes out with girls, and they don't care that these girls are someone else's daughters"<sup>381</sup>.

Some children in this study had personal experiences of this type of labeling and gossiping when they acted in a manner that was not seen as fit for a girl. They develop various strategies to deal with it. For instance, they only date boys in areas where they are not recognized, as a girl in the IDP camp in Montenegro states: "I go see my boyfriend and then go for a walk with him, but never in the camp. I don't like anyone to see me walking with my boyfriend, everyone would talk about it and they would say I'm a bad girl. And I think that's not right, that I should be called bad just because I walk with my boyfriend. Then that talk would reach my father, and God forbid he should see me, I'd be done for"<sup>382</sup>.

For instance, a girl from Kosovo ran away from home to escape these negative comments and gossip: "When I was just a little girl I used to hear people talking, gossiping. See, I was always the kind of girls who was socializing with boys, played football with them, pushed my self with them in the street where I lived in. I was always more developed and bigger and strong, and I never dealt with gossiping....At that time I had a boyfriend, and we were really getting along and they wanted to separate me from him

<sup>380</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 15 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>379</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 17 years old girl, trafficked child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>381</sup>Kosovo - focus group interview, boys and girls 14-15 years old, school children

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 382} Montenegro$  - individual interview, 15 years old girl, IDP camp

no matter what. They would tell us "You are embarrassing us, look at your sisters, they do not even dare to go out, let alone have boyfriends." I would come to Prishtina, hoping to find some solution, because I could not take it any more"<sup>383</sup>.

Even in the institutions, children complained about this type of treatment: "Each man that I spent some more time with and thought we could be friends would make a pass on me. So I treat them the same way, I only talk to a boy if I fancy him and would like us to be something more. Please don't think I'm an easy girl, like they say here in the Home, it's not true, I'm just honest. Here, if you have a boyfriend, they already think you a whore. And I don't care if I have a boyfriend I don't have a problem saying so"<sup>384</sup>.

Hence, it is evident that constructions of gender in relation to risk and resiliency need to be considered when attempting to understand why some children are more likely to be trafficked, and to understand what trafficking threats mean to certain groups of children. It is held that because marriage is of such personal and social importance in many communities, children and their parents may be more likely to accept an offer of marriage that might turn out to be false. It was argued that parents' attempts to protect girls from violence and trafficking are often misguided, as these attempts often lead to unwanted constraints on girls' behaviour that might enhance trafficking risks. It is also argued that girls' attempts to thwart or overcome constraints on their decision-making, freedom and sexuality, might place them in risky situations. So their resistance, while a sign of resilience and strength, is also a source of risk. Girls' perceptions about trafficking risks and resilience are influenced by these gendered norms, such that they may describe other girls' whom they believe to be behaving inappropriately, as more at risk of being trafficked. These labels might have the unintended consequence of removing valuable supports that many girls need in times of adversity.

# The offer of attention

The respondents stated that traffickers give children attention, complimented them or pretended to care for them. They said that two groups of children in particular are more likely to believe these kind words and on this basis decide to go with a trafficker: children in institutions and children living on the streets who feel that they have few sources of support: *"I think that those children that no one looks after are more likely to be sold. They feel no one cares about them. They have a hard time in their everyday lives and any kind of talk that shows them any concern comes in handy"<sup>385</sup>. This section will describe the manner in which children in institutions and children living on the streets may be <i>"tricked*" by a trafficker because they need and want attention, encouragement and support.

# **Children in institutions**

Children in institutions were highlighted by the child respondents as a group that might be at risk of being trafficked. A child in an institution in Montenegro explained that this relates to their need for encouragement and compliments, which are easily manipulated by traffickers: "I'd like someone to be proud of me at least a little, someone to tell me I'm good at something; you see, those people who are

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>383</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 18 years old girl, shelter child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>384</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 14 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>385</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child

involved in selling children could use that and manipulate children that way"<sup>386</sup>.

It is also said that traffickers exploit the fact that children from institutions have few people to turn to: "Well, that may happen to any girl, but in a way they think we belong to no one and they can have their way with us. Not that anything bad happened to me, but it doesn't mean it may not"<sup>387</sup>. This is echoed by another child, who stated: "Last summer a man climbed onto the roof, seems he wanted to kidnap a girl, but our friends kept constant watch after that. Some use the fact that we're from the Home, they think we have no parents and they can do anything with us"<sup>388</sup>. By offering them attention, it is said that traffickers take advantage of the fact that they often feel lonely and feel as though they have no-one to turn to.

To understand this sense of feeling alone, it is necessary to understand the relationships that these groups of children have with those around them, with particular reference to their parents, social workers and members of the public. Many of the children in the institutions believed that their parents did not care for them or want them. A child in Montenegro said: "My folks don't care about us, they just think about themselves. I don't know why they created us at all"<sup>389</sup>. Another stated: "I have been here for a very long time, almost since I was born, I have no parents and my relatives get on my nerves, they never took much care of me"<sup>390</sup>. Many were placed in the institution after being neglected, suffering physical abuse, witnessing intimate partner violence and living with substance-abusing parents. They were either placed in the institution by social workers, parents, relatives and neighbours, or run away from home and were removed from the streets and placed in shelters/ institutions. Some blamed their parents for being placed in the institution.

As a result, some of the child respondents felt that children who suffer from maltreatment should be removed from their parents' care and placed in an institution. As a Romanian girl stated, "I would talk to their parents. I would go to their place and see how they are treating their children. If they treat them badly I would take children away from them and place them in centers or apartments"<sup>391</sup>.

Another girl reiterated this sentiment saying: "I would force the parents to take care of the children and when I see that they doesn't take, I would take the children from there to a place where they would have living conditions"<sup>392</sup>.

On the other hand, some children suggested that blame cannot be directed at their parents but at wider structural issues such as poverty and socio-economic inequalities and the fact that few people and institutions provide support to poor families. Some children felt that poverty was the reason why they were removed from their homes and/or prevented from returning to their parents: "I will not be able to go home with them because they are poor and they do not have conditions at home. They are poor"<sup>393</sup>. So on this basis, it was felt that instead of removing children from their homes and placing them in an institution, parents should be provided with assistance.

Despite the negative treatment that many of these children had experienced at the hands of their

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>386</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>387</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>388</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, boy 15 years old, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>389</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 16 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>390</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 18 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>391</sup>Romania - individual interview, 10 years old girl, institutionalized child

 $<sup>^{392}\</sup>text{Romania}$  - individual interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child

parents, they still expressed a desire to have more contact with their parents and/or return to live at home. A Romanian girl stated: "If I were to be a fairy with a magic stick I would phone my mother to come quickly to take me and I would let all the children to go home... I'm sad because my mother is not with me. My father not really, because he used to get drunk all the time, and beat my mother... but I'm sad about my mother because I heard that she is upset that she cannot take me, they don't leave me from here. This is why I am sad"<sup>394</sup>.

Many complained that the staff in the institutions stop them from calling their parents or going to visit them. They are often "lied to them" or not explained why this contact is restricted: "They let us to unburden ourselves, to cry. Afterwards they would calm us down: "Don't cry, I will phone tomorrow," but still in vain... When my mother came to me and when she wanted to talk to me, to put Mrs. A on the phone, they said that it wasn't possible"<sup>395</sup>.

Sometimes it is explained that it is not safe for them to visit their parents unaccompanied but some of the children felt that this is unreasonable as they want to and are capable of going to see their parents alone: "I would like to go home sometimes, because I've left home a long time ago, 3 years ago, and I didn't go to visit. I would like to go, but I have nobody to go with, I would go alone but they don't let me. They say that what if something happens to me?!"<sup>396</sup>

On the other hand, some children complained that social workers too readily return them home on the basis of promises made by their parents that conditions will improve. A child in a shelter in Kosovo complained that social workers initially failed to recognise the abuse that she suffered at the hands of her father because they did not consult her, and even after she was removed, they kept encouraging her to return home: "The social workers when they come to our home, they come for assistance and then they only talk to father. He tells them all he wants, I was apparently the Star of the House, that is how adorable I was to him., they did not give the opportunity to the mother or the children to have their say, they only listened to what dad had to say, and of course he told things the way he wanted to... I went back home hoping that my father had changed. But no sir, nothing changed there... They were just the same, he had not changed at all, and again the tortures and the maltreatment started and I could not stay there anymore with them and after a while I left again"<sup>397</sup>.

In general, this failure to consult children, listen to them or give them attention appeared frequently in the comments of the respondents living in institutions. For many of them, this was the reason why it was preferable to live at home with their families where they would be given attention as individuals: "In a family everyone is focused on me, while here neither the instructor and especially not the director, can know where each child is and what they are doing..."<sup>398</sup>.

Generally, across the four countries in which children in institutions were interviewed (Bulgaria, Montenegro, Romania and Serbia) it is apparent that many children do not perceive their care to be adequate. They argue that instead of care and individualized attention, too much focus is placed on rules and restrictions. They state that they are not listened to or trusted, and yet it in social workers that they are expected to place their trust for their daily subsistence and care.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>393</sup>Romania - individual interview, 10 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>394</sup>Romania - individual interview, 11 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>395</sup>Romania- individual interview, 11 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>396</sup>Romania - individual interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>397</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 18 years old girl, shelter child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>398</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 13 years old boy, institutionalized child

An example of the manner in which their needs are not considered is that in an institution in Montenegro. During the summer, children are moved elsewhere as their premises are occupied by tourists. Children are offered the opportunity to work for these tourists on a part-time basis. They resent the fact that their personal space is invaded and all their posters and personal items are removed for the sake of these tourists. This stands as an example of how children believe that their best interests, needs and wishes are not taken into account by adults in institutions.

Many of these children find it difficult to adapt to the rules or engage with staff members who are *"strict or pretend to be strict"*<sup>399</sup>. It is said that if they break the rules they will be punished and this may take a corporal, violent form. Too much attention is paid to their behaviour rather than their needs.

As one girl stated, "Yeah, they keep telling us we should behave well although sometimes it has no connection with what is really needed... Well, they don't have to keep repeating that we should behave in this or that way, we're not retarded, although we are from the Home. When someone visits they keep telling us to say hello or something, we know stuff"<sup>400</sup>.

Many children believe that these rules are unfair, particularly when they have an impact upon their interpersonal relationships and freedom of movement: "Well, I make each day suit my wishes at least a little, I've told you how much I love company and going out, so I do that every day. I can be punished all they want, they can't forbid me that. They shout a little, they punish me, and that passes, but I got what I wanted"<sup>401</sup>.

These rules and restrictions permeate every aspect of their lives such that many children complain that they very little power and control over basic decisions in their lives. As a child in Romania complained, "I sometimes don't like that I watch TV and the lady calls me to do this or that. I sometimes don't like she does not let us go in town when we want to and I got mad and cursed a woman"<sup>402</sup>. In a shelter in Kosovo, one girl stated that she would prefer to go to a shelter with older girls as there are fewer rules: "It was OK, I can not complain, but I did not really feel like staying there because you are quite isolated there, you could not do anything there, they were quite strict there. For example there are shelters where there are only grown up girls, but here there were a lot of children and it was quite strict. I wanted to go to this shelter where there were grown up girls, but I was not allowed... Anyway, I am sick and tired of these institutions. They are not helping me at all"<sup>403</sup>.

Apart from the rules that are set in a top down manner, the children complained that they are not listened to and are not trusted when they need help. As a child in Montenegro stated, "Well, no one believes children. Like no one believes us here in the Home. Till a grown person says something and confirms our story, they don't believe us... I don't know, no one understood her or trusted her. That happens all the time that we children are not trusted. They think we make things up, and I think no one has such imagination to make that up and tell about those bad things that happened to them. When they talk about nice things, then OK, maybe. And even if she was lying, why wouldn't someone listen to her and trust her?"<sup>404</sup> As a result, the children complained that they received little or ineffective,

- <sup>401</sup>Montenegro individual interview, 14 years old girl, institutionalized child
- <sup>402</sup>Romania individual interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child

 $^{403}\mbox{Kosovo}$  - individual interview, 18 years old girl, shelter child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>399</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>400</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child

 $<sup>^{404}\</sup>mbox{Montenegro}$  - focus group interview, 15 years old girl, institutionalized child

assistance from staff members: "They didn't do anything. My brother wrote complaints for different things, for example when they stole my phone but they didn't do anything"<sup>405</sup>.

In general, the children complained that the care they received was inadequate and social workers treat them simply as individuals who they are obliged to care for, but they do not necessarily want to do so: "No, I somehow always have this fear that she would not take me seriously, and this is just a job for her"<sup>406</sup>.

In Bulgaria a child stated that their social workers "should be replaced. They should do everything possible to move us to someone who would take a better care of us"<sup>407</sup>. In Montenegro, a child encouraged other children who have left never to return to the institution if they have a choice: "They had enough of the instructors and all this for their whole life. So if they have found their way at all, they don't even think of coming back here"<sup>408</sup>.

The children stated that apart from their social workers, there are few individuals they can turn to for support. They suggested that they are teased or labeled by adults and children because they come from an institution and do not live with their parents: "That's right, then you really have no one. At least that's what the others think. And that's why they often call us all kinds of things, even bastards. Which is the worst... Because it's very ugly, they also mean a heap of other things when they call you a bastard. That means you have no one and everyone rejected you so why shouldn't they as well... Well the ones that call us names. There are some adults like that, it's not just children"<sup>409</sup>.

Alternatively it is said that they receive unwanted pity. A child emphasised, "I don't like pity"<sup>410</sup> and yet this is the way that the public tends to treat them with little regard for their needs. As another girl in Montenegro stated, "Well, half of them cry and we don't need that. It's great when someone comes here to see how we live and is really interested"<sup>411</sup>.

This pity is often generated or fostered by the media's portrayal of them, "Because some reporters often come here and I don't like to talk to them because they present us in a way that makes everyone pity us. That's stupid, if we don't have parents it does not mean we are the ones who need their pity. When they record us, then all of Montenegro pities us, as if they didn't know about the existence of the Home..."<sup>412</sup>.

In their attempt to raise money for the institution through publicity, children's real concerns are ignored by journalists and the public: "They would truly wish to hear what we want, and not like when the TV comes and we have to say how great it is in the Home and smile and be grateful because they give us some things that we need... It was nice, we sang. But you can see that everyone pities us, which really gets on my nerves"<sup>413</sup>. The children complained that these donations do not fulfill the care and attention that they need and want: "And also the ones who call themselves humane and give us money for the Home, they may think they should not give money for the things we really need"<sup>414</sup>.

<sup>408</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 16 years old boy, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>405</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>406</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 16 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>407</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 16 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>409</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>410</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 15 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>411</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 14 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>412</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 15 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>413</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child

 $<sup>^{414}\</sup>mbox{Montenegro}$  - focus group % 15 interview, 15 years old girl, institutionalized child

The public's concern was often described by the children as false and intended simply to abate their own consciences: "There, the rich ones only care for their fortunes, and don't care for us, and they pretend to care for us. What kind of a person is that, taking care of their fortune and not of children? And they all keep saying that children are their greatest fortune; right, we are a proof of that. They come here from time to time, give some money, shed a few tears, and go on taking care of their fortune"<sup>415</sup>. Even celebrities and singers who visit them fail to consider what they would like: "This is exciting for the small kids, they dance and play, but they still don't understand that there is nothing there for them. They could have given us each at least a CD, considering all the singers were here"<sup>416</sup>.

A child stated that it is difficult sometimes for them to distinguish between people who are giving them charity or wanting them for another purpose. As one child in Montenegro stated, "Though when we go for walks during the day, this man once asked us whether we were from the Home. We said yes, and he said he'd give us 5 Euros each. We ran away, X only stayed and took the money. It must have been someone who was here for the summer. But you never know, everyone thinks we the Home residents are so wretched, so sometimes it's charity, but maybe he wants you to do something for him. Well, I don't know, that we run an errand for him or do something his children wouldn't do, and he gives us a bit of money"<sup>417</sup>.

Children in the institution in Montenegro complained that while their subsistence needs are met, they do not receive individualized gifts and that the 5 Euros that they receive per month for pocket money was insufficient to meet their desire for luxuries. It was therefore suggested that these children might be more willing to accept the offer of material goods or employment. These children were particularly concerned about how to find employment and stated: "Nobody cares whether we're going to need it, because now I need to find a job and I don't know what attitude to take or anything"<sup>418</sup>. A child stated that this is likely to increase the risk of exploitation for children from institutions: "Where can you get a job immediately at 18, without being mistreated?"<sup>419</sup>. They felt that they had been inadequately prepared for living outside the institution. It is held that this might increase the risk of trafficking: "someone should tell the ones from the Centre that it is not all the same for us when we remain with no one and nothing and that they need to provide at least something for us. Because when we leave, we may also accept all kinds of things"<sup>420</sup>.

In general, the children in the institutions described a feeling social exclusion; they feel lonely and feel that they do not belong anywhere. As one child stated, "Well, somehow, when I look at my life, it all makes me sad. Especially when I thought of leaving and realized I had no one, and I think that's how it is for everyone here at the Home, because they don't have any parents. I think life would be much nicer for me if my mother were alive. No matter what our life would be live, I think I'd feel more confident that someone cares for me. As it is, they don't care very much what we do and where we are going to be in a few years. And they keep telling us if we don't like it here we are free go any place that's better for us"<sup>421</sup>.

However, it is difficult for these children to find alternative places to go because they have few people to turn to for support. As a girl in Bulgaria stated, "While the unhappiest are the ones who

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>415</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 17 years old boy, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>416</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 15 years old boy, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>417</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 14 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>418</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 16 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>419</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 17 years old boy, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>420</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 15 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>421</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child

live in social care homes, who don't have parents and nobody helps them... Well, they feel rejected. Miserable. They surely don't have nice feelings for their parents who have abandoned them"<sup>422</sup>.

This sentiment was reiterated by another girl who stated that this is the reason why she prefers to live at home despite the fact that she has frequent arguments with her parents: "There is a difference when you are alone. I don't think that young people who live in institutions are happy because they are deprived from everything we have such as love and the comfort of your family"<sup>423</sup>. Many of the children in this study prefer to live on the streets where they have a greater sense of freedom and control over their own lives.

## Children working and living on the streets

A number of the children in this study were living and working on the street. Two main categories of children can be highlighted within this group:

- Children who were abandoned, "pushed" or "kicked" out of home
- Children who decided to run away from home

Children reveal how difficult it is to draw a firm line between these two groups of children. Their preference for living on the street is related to the absence of alternatives that they perceive to be viable. A parent *"pushing"* a child out removes an option that children perceive to be available.

The respondents state that frequently their parents have a reason for asking them to leave: "If, for instance, his father or his mother kicks him out; if they tell him: "OK, now go out", there must be a reason why his mother and father want him out…".<sup>424</sup> It is said that the children may have been drinking alcohol, taking drugs, or breaking rules: "Well, they sniff glue, and go home in such a state. Their mouth smells, and their mum notices it and their dad kicks them out…"<sup>425</sup>. "They told him to be drug addict, if you continue like that we will abandon you. So, he continued and they abandoned him. He kept on using drugs, sleeping at staircases and streets…"<sup>426</sup>. So in this sense they feel that their parents' decision was justified because they have broken their rules, engaged in criminal activity or activity that flouts certain social conventions.

Children who choose to run away list a number of reasons including substance abuse, intimate partner violence and physical abuse. It is held that "some children won't stand to be ill-treated at home"<sup>427</sup> and on this basis they make a decision to leave their families. Conflict seems to be one the overarching reason why children run away: "if there is a conflict in this family and they don't want to be a part of this conflict, then they decide to go, to run away from their family"<sup>428</sup>. They first weigh up what they perceive to be the available options and on this basis decide to leave.

They stated that they make their own decisions and exercise high levels of control and power over their living and working conditions on the street. It was said that on the streets they can decide if they want to work, how they would like to spend their money, and use it to buy items for themselves:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>422</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 14 years old girl, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>423</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 16 years old girl, school child

 $<sup>^{424}\</sup>mbox{Serbia}$  - individual interview, 13 years old boy, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>425</sup>Serbia - individual interview, 13 years old boy, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>426</sup>Bosnia-Herzegovina - focus group interview, 10 years old boy

 $<sup>^{427}\</sup>mathsf{Serbia}$  - individual interview, 16 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>428</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 14 years old girl, school child

"Well, some children are happy and some are not, you know. But generally they are happy when they go on the street, because, for example, when they are at home, their fathers and mothers harass them, and force them to mooch and to beg, whereas on the street they are free. They can steal and mooch, but then they can spend everything they make on themselves, while otherwise they have to give it all to their parents. And then their parents don't buy anything to the child from that money, but they spend it all on drink and on themselves, mostly"<sup>429</sup>.

Many of these children emphasise their independence, and their ability to set their own goals and achieve their dreams without their parent's assistance. Hence, it is believed that as parents have failed to provide support in the past, they are unlikely to do so in the future, so it may be better to leave home. Heightened levels of perceived freedom also seemed to be a persistent theme in their accounts: "They are not afraid of their mother or father, because they are on their own; they can do whatever they like"<sup>430</sup>.

It was held by the children that although it is difficult to adapt to living on the streets in the beginning, the children stated that they learn how to survive and manage, whereas children who live at home never develop these skills. Some children who are living on the streets believe that it is almost inevitable for parents to fail their children and *"leave them with nothing*". They also highlight the manner in which having various skills is seen to be a source of resiliency, such that children living at home are more at risk because they do not know how to survive in situations of adversity.

One of these skills involves being able to determine who to turn to for support in times of trouble. On the streets the children stated that they cannot trust all people because they are frequently subject to harassment and violence. As a child in Kosovo stated, "Well, those who beg, and those who work, I think that something could happen to them; someone could shout at them or beat them up. Well, if for example is night time, it may happen that someone will come out and pick on me, say something rude to me, or things like that. And if this time finds you out of home someone can pick on you, as our streets are very dark... I will not ask strangers. For example from someone I don't know, because you never know what kind of person he is"<sup>431</sup>.

It is however often difficult to tell the difference between these strangers: "Some shout and yell, drive us off, others are good and talk to us sometimes, and give us a little. A man once gave me 10 Euros, and that was just that one time, no one gave me anything like that again. That was a long time ago, maybe last year, I can't tell. I was so happy then, and I was very happy also when I came home and we went to the shop and bought all kinds of stuff. There, you see how nice that was, and you see there are people who are not good to us; some 10 days ago a man almost broke my friend's arm. We were begging at the junction, and this guy hit this friend of mine that I often beg with, with a bottle. There are many such idiots, and this man was drunk too"<sup>432</sup>.

It is evident that small acts of kindness at the hands of strangers are greatly appreciated and remembered. Some children stated that few people provide them with help: "I also think no one would do anything for you for free. You don't have to bother to go from one shop to the next, they'd just chase you away like a sick dog"<sup>433</sup>.

- <sup>430</sup>Serbia individual interview, 13 years old boy, street child
- <sup>431</sup>Kosovo individual interview, 13 years old girl, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>429</sup>Serbia - individual interview, 13 years old boy, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>432</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 11 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>433</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 14 years old boy, IDP camp

Another child stated that it is difficult to find work and as a result he must keep begging: "[I] go to all the shops in the town, approach the owner and ask whether he'd hire me to do some work there and teach me the trade. I gave it up each time, because it is clear to me that no one would do that or help you if they don't know you or have some benefit from you"<sup>434</sup>. It is said that they are treated as though they are a public nuisance.

They complained that although street children empathise with others' struggles, few people tend to empathise with them or try to help them. In fact, many children felt like they are treated as nothing: *"no-body pays attention to the people on the streets, as if they don't exist"*<sup>435</sup>. In other words, many people do not recognise street children's humanness – they are treated as non-entities without rights or needs that need to be respected and met. This sense of being excluded exacerbates their sense of helplessness in many situations, which often leads to desperate attempts to gain attention.

In a later section, it will be argued that children think that those who do not have anyone to care for them are easily *"tricked"* by traffickers' attention and promises of care. In addition, it is said that children who work and live on the street are so desperate for work and income that they are easily deceived by traffickers' promises of employment and material gifts. They find it difficult to anticipate the way that people in the general public will act towards them. This makes it difficult for them to make discerning judgments about whether an offer or gift is real or is simply a charade put on by traffickers.

Hence, despite the perceived advantages of living on the street, many child respondents felt that these children who work and live on the street face higher risk of being trafficked. A child in Kosovo stated: "Traffickers look for poor children, street children who sleep in the streets, children who run from their homes. They look for these kinds of children because it is easy to traffic them and to cheat them. They are found on the streets, in the hidden alleyways or for example in bus stations or train stations where children could sleep in"<sup>436</sup>. As they are living in public spaces, they can be easily found, accessed and trafficked. A child in Serbia stated that "Street children are more at risk because they have no parents to care about them"<sup>437</sup>. In other words, they have few people to turn for help and assistance.

It is held by the child respondents who mentioned trafficking as a risk, that traffickers can exploit this sense of loneliness that children in institutions and children living on the streets feel, by offering them attention, compliments and care.

## The offer of schooling or release from schooling

Across the seven countries/entities in which this research was conducted, many children highlighted the possibility that a stranger could *"trick"* or *"cheat"* them by offering them or their parents the opportunity to study. It was also held that these strangers may offer children a chance to leave school and do something else such as having fun and adventure, finding employment, marriage or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>434</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 17 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>435</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 16 years old girl, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>436</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 16 years old boy, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>437</sup>Serbia - individual interview, 18 years old boy, street child

an opportunity to go abroad. This section will explore this mechanism and provide reasons why children would take up either one of these offers by referring to their own experiences at school, and how these are influenced by their relationships with their parents, peers and teachers, which in turn are affected by macro socio-economic, political and cultural factors.

With regards to the promise of education, a child in Albania stated: "A man says to the family: "Give me your son to work together, I will take him to school", so the kidnappers lie to the parents who on their part decide to give the child"<sup>438</sup>. In Bosnia-Herzegovina, a child said that given poverty and children's desire to attend school, traffickers "tricked" a child into going with them. They said "they would take care of her like she was their own child and that it would be better, but they didn't they sold her to get the money. She asked them: "aren't you going to send me to school?" and they answered: "we are, after we get the money we gave to your mother from you!""<sup>439</sup>.

This is echoed by a child in Montenegro who stated that poverty leads some children to believe that they will receive education, but in the end their decision to believe this promise, leads to various unintended, negative consequences: "They come across some poor child and they promise to pay everything for them, schooling and everything. And the child thinks they would really do that. And they say this is your new home and all that. And the child realizes later that it's not the truth. And then it's late." <sup>440</sup>

Another child in Montenegro said that these promises might turn out to be real, so it might be risky turning them down. This is risky for a child since they might be better off living with other people, particularly if a parent is willing to give up or "sell" a child: "Children don't matter here but the father and mother. It happens to the fathers who are wretched, poor, and they want to sell their baby for money... Well, I think it may turn out that child was saved, that things may be much better for the child. Who knows, those people may love him/her, look after him/her, feed him/her, send him/her to school, s/he may become a doctor. S/he's better off with those people than if s/he stayed with these who would sell him/her"<sup>441</sup>.

In other words, they make a decision knowing the potential risks but as these risks are potential, there may be a chance that going with a stranger might lead to an improvement in children's lives.

The route to and from school was seen as particularly dangerous for children because it is said that this is where traffickers can coerce them or make these false promises. It is said that as children follow the same route daily, traffickers are able to watch them and know what they may be interested in receiving. Alternatively, it is held that they visit schools to learn more about children's wants and needs, and on this basis manipulate them. As a child in Kosovo stated, "They would go to schools and they would get more information about children on how to deceive people easier, and then they would steal the children by deceiving them"<sup>442</sup>.

Numerous children revealed that they had been stopped on the way to school and offered presents such as sweets or had been offered the chance to see or do something else. Other children had been or had heard about children who had been *"tricked"* through the offer of marriage. For

<sup>439</sup>Bosnia-Herzegovina - focus group interview, 16 years old girl

<sup>441</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 14 years old girl, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>438</sup>Albania - focus group interview, 13 years old girl

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>440</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 14 years old girl, institutionalized child

 $<sup>^{442}\</sup>mbox{Kosovo}$  - individual interview, 16 years old girl, street child

instance, a child in Albania recounted the story of children who were tempted by their peers on the way to school, with the promise of marriage abroad: "I have heard that two boys from Vlora with a nice car came across two girls who were coming home from school and asked them to go to Vlora and from there to go to Italy where they would marry them"<sup>443</sup>. A child in Montenegro stated that traffickers approach children on their way to school with the offer of doing something more interesting. He explained that children might be tricked in this manner because "you don't do anything in school except study, which is what I am least interested in, I am a practical type of person"<sup>444</sup>. It is said that some children do not have goals and do not know how education can be used to achieve these goals so "they think maybe it is better if I drop out school and make money instead"<sup>445</sup>.

On the other hand, a few children stated that those who do not attend school face a number of risks that might increase the likelihood of a child being trafficked. Negative peer influence was one such factor raised by children. In Albania a girl stated: "She did not like to associate with the school mates and in fact she was somewhat self conceited and she was brought to Italy"<sup>446</sup>. It is also said that school is a "safe place" because "there no one can touch you". As a result, many children felt that those who do not attend school are more at risk of being trafficked. Some children raised the importance of school in terms of increasing children's awareness of the risks of trafficking.

In order to understand why some children do not want to attend school temporarily or permanently and why some children and parents believe false promises of further education, it is necessary to understand the value attached to education in the research communities, and by children in particular. In other words, why would children want to leave school or why would they want to go school? Children's perceptions of education depend upon their own experiences in this environment, which in turn are influenced by their relationships with parents/care-givers, siblings, teachers and peers.

# Parents and school

Many parents encouraged school attendance and rewarded good school performance. For example, a child in Montenegro stated: "My father is happy when I get a good mark and then I want to get another one and I want my father to be happy for me"<sup>447</sup>.

As was suggested in relation to children and work, children often aim to please a parent that they have a positive relationship with. In this way, they fulfill their interpersonal responsibilities. On the other hand, the pressure to perform well in school also has negative consequences. A girl in Bulgaria stated that she tried to commit suicide because her poor marks disappointed her mother: "The last time I cut my veins was because my mother was avoiding me all the time, she didn't want to talk to me because I had a poor mark. She said that I wasn't worthy of being her daughter because I had a poor mark and this was the first one in my life. She took it rather deeply and didn't want to talk to me"<sup>448</sup>.

Other children complained that they were subject to parental corporal punishment if they did not

<sup>446</sup>Albania - focus group interview, 13 years old girl

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>443</sup>Albania - focus group interview, 8 years old girl, internal migrant

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>444</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 16 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>445</sup>Romania - individual interview, 17 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>447</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 15 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>448</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 14 years old girl, school child

attend school and/or did not perform well. In this sense, parental support and encouragement may in fact turn out not to be a source of resilience or strength for some children but a risk in terms of causing further pain and violence.

Many children stated that their parents purchased their stationary and books for school. The children provided mixed information about how or whether a parent would enforce school attendance. For instance, a child in Bosnia-Herzegovina stated that when she is unhappy at school her parents allow her to leave because they believe in her. "When I feel bad, when school is not going fine they pull me out. They trust me and I deserve that trust"<sup>449</sup>. So high parental support might be a risk in relation to school attendance, a parent who listens to a child and empathises with their daily troubles might permit this child to stay at home and not go to school.

Peer-to-peer violence in schools emerged as one of the reasons why children did not want to attend school and why some parents were willing to allow them not to attend. For instance, a child in Bosnia-Herzegovina stated that her parents complained about bullying to the school, so a school policeman was provided. A child working on the streets in Kosovo stated that her father had to speak to a teacher about the manner in which his daughter was being bullied by a peer. When this failed to elicit results, he decided to stop her from attending school<sup>450</sup>.

Sometimes, parents accompany their children to and from school to guard against this potential violence. Another issue of concern for both parents and children was physical violence at the hands of teachers. For instance, a child in Kosovo stated that her father had to intervene and speak to her teacher about it: "I told my Dad, and he went to talk to the teacher, and he asked her why you are beating up my daughter. If there is a need for it I will do it my self. Then she told him that I did it so she would learn for the future and read the books I tell her to"<sup>451</sup>. On the other hand, a child in Kosovo said that parents often complain that teachers treat their children too well: "There were also those parents who came to school and said to the teacher why are you spoiling my son or daughter"<sup>452</sup>.

Parents' decisions to allow their children to attend school are also contingent upon their relationships and interactions with other actors such as teachers, school inspectors, social workers and policemen. A child in Serbia stated that when he was picked up from the streets by the police, his father was ordered to send him to school: "When the police brought us in, an inspector told my old man that if she heard that his children were not at school, she'd put him in prison. My old man got scared and that is why he tells us to go to school"<sup>453</sup>.

Macro-factors were also raised as important by children when discussing school attendance. A child in Montenegro stated that when his family first arrived in the IDP camp from Kosovo he was not able to attend school for two years. A child in Kosovo stated that after the war her parents did not allow her to attend school because *"it was a scary time"*<sup>454</sup>. Poverty is another factor that should be considered. A child working on the streets of Bosnia-Herzegovina described a friend whose father begs door-to-door so that he can send his children to school. A child in Bulgaria stated that children only attend school because there is legal requirement that they do so if they

<sup>451</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 15 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>449</sup>Bosnia-Herzegovina - focus group interview, 8 years old girl

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>450</sup>Kosovo - focus group interview, 15 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>452</sup>Kosovo - focus group interview, 15 years old boy, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>453</sup>Serbia - individual interview, 13 years old boy, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>454</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 18 years old girl, street child

would like to receive social benefits<sup>455</sup>. Some children complained that their parents do not help them with studying because they are illiterate and/or have never attended school since they grew up in times of poverty.

A child in Montenegro suggested that he stopped attending school because she was ashamed that he had to assist his parents with work. In terms of priorities, some parents do not see the longer-term value of school attendance and instead feel it is more important to ensure the immediate survival of a household: *"They think it is possible to live without school and they needed me to help out so that was how that went"*<sup>456</sup>. This involves caring for younger siblings, doing house chores or earning money.

Some parents simply cannot afford to send children to school. As a child working on the streets of Kosovo stated, "In the beginning of the school year my parents would ensure my books, notebooks, my school bag and a piece of clothes but you can not go one whole year with only one pair of clothes, I needed more... We get through somehow. It is like this; my father goes to weddings and we assure from that the things we need for the whole year, for example fire wood, flower, sugar, oil. So, we have very little left for school, we don't have enough. Because of that I had to quit school. This year it is even worse, because previously there was something that could be made but this year it is very bad…"<sup>457</sup>.

School enrollment also depends on socio-cultural norms around gender. Some parents forbid girls of a certain age from attending school, for some of the reasons highlighted in previous sections: they do not want the girls to interact with boys and/or be sexually harassed or abused as this would bring shame on the girl and on the family. So it was said to done out of concern for their daughters' wellbeing. Some children are willing to accept these restrictions even though they do not agree with them. For instance, a girl in Montenegro stated that she was willing to accept these restrictions because it is her duty to obey them.

When describing a drawing of her life, a girl described the day she left school was said to be the saddest day of her life. This was seen as unjust given that her brother, who did not enjoy attending school, could continue to attend: "I've been put here on my life path, as the saddest day of my life, the day when father said I was not to go to school any more, I'd gone enough and it was time for me to stay home and my brother could continue going to school if he wanted. There, he could and I couldn't. And I like going to school more than he does"<sup>458</sup>.

A child in Kosovo stated that this will have negative longer term effects for women: "Boys have more rights because boys are allowed to go to school by their parents, while girls aren't. Girls are made to stay home by their parents... That's a big problem, they are not capable to manage their own lives, they can't get jobs, not even as cleaners, and when they get married then they children will laugh at their mothers for not being able to write and read"<sup>459</sup>.

Parents often believed that education is one way in which children can fulfill their hopes and dreams. Children agreed with this to varying extents. For instance, a child in Montenegro suggests that education needs to be placed within a social context and even when one is educated, one

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>455</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 14 years old girl, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>456</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 15 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>457</sup>Kosovo - focus group interview, 14 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>458</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 14 years old girl, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>459</sup>Kosovo - focus group interview, 15 years old girl, street child

will not necessarily succeed because it depends on a range of factors: "I often talk to my father about life. He always urges me to study and he thinks that's the most important and everything is going to be OK, I just need to finish school. I am not that sure it works that way, although I too think that school is important and I like it and wish to finish it. I think much depends on other people as well, and the state, and if I finish school, that would not guarantee me a good life"<sup>460</sup>. On the other hand, it was held by a child in Kosovo that uneducated parents will not see the value of education and will therefore teach their children that it is not important.

Fears about trafficking also affect school attendance. In Bulgaria, a girl suggested that parents do not let their children study in town because they are afraid that they will be trafficked. A child in Albania stated that she would like to attend school to become a singer, and although her mother supports her, her father feels that she should not attend school because she is a girl, and because she might be at risk of being trafficked: "My dad says to her "someone will kidnap her and you will find your daughter somewhere cut into pieces"<sup>30,461</sup>.

## **Teachers and school**

Some children described their teachers in a positive light and suggested that these positive relationships inspire them to attend school. The desire to fulfill their interpersonal duties towards a teacher motivates them to perform well: "When she gives me praise like that and says I'm good, I study more"<sup>462</sup>. This praise was said to make children feel "happy, cheerful and great", particularly if it is sincere. Teachers' recommendations were seen as an important requisite to allow children to continue attending school at the next level, and to allow them to attend school events, camps and workshops. Some children said that it was important to share their problems with teachers and/or listen to them. It was also said that teachers notice when children are missing and can notify parents if they think there is a problem. So in a sense, teachers are an early identification mechanism for children who may be at risk, as described by a child in Romania who stated that a girl decided to run away from school but after the teacher notified her parents and authorities she was found.

Children also stated that teachers intervene when they are being bullied by their peers: "she takes them by the ear and its over"<sup>463</sup>. A child who was begging on the streets of Bosnia-Herzegovina stated that a teacher, who had seen him work, scolded him initially but also provided books which he could use at school.

So in this sense, attending school could be a resiliency factor because this environment is seen as protected and safe from strangers who children said, could hurt and trick them. It is also said that teachers provide them with information about trafficking and warn them *"not to speak with people whom we do not know*"<sup>464</sup>. In general, it is said that some teachers help children to make good decisions: *"they help me to choose what to do. They give me examples*"<sup>465</sup>.

On the other hand, children often described their relationships with their teachers in a negative

<sup>461</sup>Albania - focus group interview, 14 years old girl

<sup>463</sup>Serbia - focus group interview, 13 years old boy, shelter child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>460</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 15 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>462</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 15 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>464</sup>Albania - focus group interview, 8 years old girl, internal migrant

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>465</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 17 years old girl, street child

light and stated that this had an adverse affect upon their school performance and their desire to attend school. Children complained that they were criticized and insulted by their teachers not only for not doing well but because they come from a particular family. For instance, a child in Romania stated that teachers criticize children who come from large families: "She has had problems with some teachers in the past because they have had preconceived ideas concerning the families with many children, and she is part of a family made of 8 children"<sup>466</sup>.

So teachers are influenced by their own beliefs about childhood and child rearing and communicate this to children. Alternatively it is said that children are subject to corporal punishment, or other forms of extreme punishment. For instance, a child in Serbia stated that children were scared because they were made to stand facing a wall by a teacher. They also complained that instead of helping them overcome bullying, they are punished by their teachers for being disruptive. They stated that if they complained they are blamed and conditions become worse for them. As a child in Kosovo stated, *"Pupils should have freedom of speech and the teacher should not always be the one who is right. We do not even dare to complain because we are always found guilty"*<sup>467</sup>.

Some children complained that if they tell their parents about the way they are being treated by their teachers they are not believed by their parents or teachers. Children generally complain that parents and other adults do not give them the benefit of the doubt, and because they do not trust them, they are more likely to blame them than support them in times of trouble. Instead, the peer group is often seen as a more reliable and effective form of support.

Often children need to get their peers to intervene on their behalf when dealing with a violent teacher. A child in Kosovo stated: "Once I had this problem with my Albanian language teacher, because she gave us this book to read and I didn't have that book and I couldn't find it, so I didn't read it, and then she beat me up very much. My friend also didn't read that book, but because the teacher knew her from somewhere else she didn't even lay a finger on her, but beat me up. I stood up for my self, and then a friend of mine, he was very nice to me, he told the teacher not to beat me up and that I was the oldest in the class. But then there was nothing else I could do, so I just went home"<sup>468</sup>.

It is said that teachers cannot be relied upon to provide support, so children turn to their friends for advice: "I usually go to my friends as I don't have any other place I or we can go and complain. For example, we can not go to the principal because he does not care about us much, he tells us to deal with it ourselves"<sup>469</sup>.

In terms of being able to identify children at risk, some children stated that as teachers do not care about children they do not care whether a child is facing problems. A child in Kosovo stated that her teachers did not even try to find out why she was absent from school; this was in fact related to maltreatment at home: "As long as I was in school I have never able to talk to anyone about my problems, because the teachers never actually asked me what was wrong with me. I was absent from school a lot and no one even bothered to ask why was I doing that"<sup>470</sup>.

It is said that teachers only favour certain children. A girl in Kosovo stated that only certain

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>466</sup>Romania - individual interview, 17 years old girl

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>467</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 18 years old girl, shelter child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>468</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 15 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>469</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 15 years old girl, school child

 $<sup>^{470}\</sup>mbox{Kosovo}$  - individual interview, 18 years old girl, shelter child

children are allowed to participate in activities and the school principal only selects favoured pupils to see the Advisor for the Children's Rights. Another child in Kosovo complained that only the "best students" are included in activities, celebrations and memorial day events. A child in Bulgaria stated that some teachers demand sex in exchange for good marks: "There are teachers who want to have sex with you to write you an excellent"<sup>471</sup>. It was held that teachers are easily bribed by children and as a result, children from wealthier families are favoured more. For instance, a child in Romania complained: "The teachers are also a problem. They give worse marks to children who do not bring "presents" to them. I rather take a mark on what I know than giving "presents" to teachers... It doesn't seem normal that such a thing would happen in the sense that differences are made when giving marks and children from wealthy families are favoured"<sup>472</sup>. This was echoed by another child in Bulgaria who stated that teachers will only pay attention to children or answers their questions if money is given to them, often to the disadvantage of poor children.

A child from a poor family in Kosovo complained that simply because she needed social assistance and free books, she was branded and labeled by the teachers an orphan. Not only did this make her feel unhappy but it enhanced levels of teasing and bullying at the hands of her peers.

The manner in which teachers treat children is also affected by ethnic prejudices. For instance, a child in Romania stated that teachers only borrow money to poor Romanian children, but not Roma children<sup>473</sup>. It was also said that teachers do no accommodate language differences so that Roma children find it difficult to follow lessons: *"they gave us difficult home works in Romanian and oh, when they make me study and when they teach in class… it is tough, I couldn't understand it anymore*"<sup>474</sup>. This cannot be seen apart from the broader discrimination that Roma communities face, problems with official recognition and the fact that minority rights are rarely promoted in many communities.

Many Roma children stated that they were discriminated against by teachers in terms of seating in the class, grades and punishment. A child in Kosovo stated: "Roma pupils are never put in the front benches in school, they are always pushed at the end of the classroom, the teachers don't show interest for them, they only work with the children that are in the front benches, they don't even look at the Roma's who are at the end. When the end of the school year comes they give them a pass grade, but don't ask whether these children have learned anything or not"<sup>475</sup>.

So it is argued that a trafficker may exploit children and parents' desire for further education, or their desire to leave school. In terms of the former, in the literature school attendance is often described as a resiliency factor. Many children agree as it gives them access to information and social supports. However, the desire for further schooling might increase the likelihood that a child will believe the promises of a trafficker. In terms of the latter, many children are unhappy about their experiences at school, and their treatment at the hands of their teachers and peers, so might be willing to accept the offers if a person who promises them that they can leave school and take part in other activities.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>471</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 16 years old girl, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>472</sup>Romania - individual interview, 15 years old girl

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>473</sup>Romania - individual interview, 10 years old boy

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>474</sup>Romania - individual interview, 4 years old boy, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>475</sup>Kosovo - focus group interview, girls 10-17 years old

#### Claiming to be or know a relative

"Can you imagine a close friend or a relative to deceive you and to sell you in order to make some money?"<sup>476</sup>

Despite the attention directed to the danger posed by strangers some of the children highlighted the role of relatives in the process of trafficking. This was mentioned in relation to arranged marriages: "There are even relatives and people who allegedly ask the girl's hand to marry, the marriage takes place and they take the girl'<sup>477</sup>.

Relatives are also said to play a role in the context of migration, although some children are skeptical of whether this amounts to trafficking: "I've heard of these things I've just told you about children going to live with a relative, and there is talk of some parents taking money from someone and sending their children to live there with a relative and some people say they are not their relatives at all. I don't get that. It's just people saying such things. How could it happen that someone sells his own child - that's impossible."<sup>478</sup>

It is also said that traffickers pretend to know a relative and on this basis are able to "trick" children into going with them. For instance, a child in Albania stated: "In the street, for instance they can cheat them pretending to be dad's friend and asks them to go out for coffee. The car is empty, he gets the child on the car and takes him wherever he wants"<sup>479</sup>.

In order to understand the potential role played by relatives in the process of trafficking and why traffickers would pretend to be a relative or friend, it is necessary to first describe children's relationships with their relatives, and how this is often compared to their fear of strangers. Emphasis will be placed on the importance of trust in defining children's perception of these relationships.

#### **Strangers**

Across the seven countries/entities in which this research was conducted, child respondents emphasised that it was important not to trust people too easily and that children should only listen to, or follow the advice of someone that they know or care about. It is said that children need to carefully evaluate the other person's character and intentions.

For instance, a child in an institution in Montenegro stated: "I don't like the people whose intentions you can't be sure about, and I am sometimes afraid of what they may do"<sup>480</sup>. This is echoed by another child who stated that one needs be wary of people who act too nice or are too complimentary: "I'm immediately suspicious of those who suck up to me too much and I don't see the reason. I always think someone wants something from me"<sup>481</sup>. As a recommendation to children who might be at risk of trafficking, a child in Romania suggested that children should know who to avoid, who to believe and who to turn to for support. Trust seemed to be the key criterion: "They should not talk to just anybody, they should not follow those who promise them I don't know what. Otherwise how can you

<sup>479</sup>Albania - focus group interview, 11 years old girl

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>476</sup>Bulgaria - focus group interview, boys and girls 14-16 years old, school children

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>477</sup>Albania - focus group interview, 14 years old girl

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>478</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 15 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>480</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 15 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>481</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child

protect yourself? If you are smart, it cannot happen to you. You must not trust everybody. And you must know who to turn to when you are in trouble because there are plenty of people who can help you"<sup>482</sup>.

In particular, children emphasised that it is important not to trust strangers because their intentions are unknown: "I am afraid of strangers. Well, I am afraid they might hit me or kill me... because I don't know them and they are worse if they don't know you".<sup>483</sup>

Children stated that they would not ask strangers for assistance. As a child living on the streets of Kosovo stated, *"I would never ask for help from people I don't know"*<sup>484</sup>. This is echoed by another child in Kosovo in relation to safety and danger: *"People I don't know make me feel unsafe…. I would never ask for help from people I don't trust*"<sup>485</sup>.

Hence, there is a general fear of strangers and hesitation about asking them for help or assistance. The strangers that must be avoided have particular characteristics according to different children in different communities. Many girls emphasised that they fear men in particular. This fear emerged from the warning they received from their parents, stories that had been relayed to them by friends and other members of the community, and actual experiences of harassment and violence at the hands of men. Many of the girls complained about being called names by men walking on the streets or driving in their cars. Some said they had been chased by men or had been nearly assaulted by them. They were particularly concerned about being raped. Their fears of men were often related to deception, being *"tricked"* and *"cheated"* in the course of trafficking.

When explaining why she feared men, a girl living on the streets of Kosovo recounted an incident where someone tried to "trick" her into going with them through the offer of money, which she was able to thwart by running away: "Me and my sister we were at Kaqa's, and so was my cousins, and it was almost 22:00 and there was this man who approached us and wanted to cheat us with 10 cents, and when he saw that we weren't going along he offered 50 cents and he wanted to put us in a car. I saw that he was keeping the door of his car opened and I knew straight away that something could happen to us, so we crossed the road very fast and we ran. My sister got very scared, like very scared, but not me, I didn't even cry, and my sister and my cousin cried a lot"<sup>486</sup>.

It was said that the threat posed by men, was not something that only girls should be concerned about. A girl in Kosovo highlighted an incident where a boy who was working with her on the streets was murdered by a man who promised him employment, and on this basis she has decided to never accept job offers, especially if they come from men: "He could do something, for example a boy who was working by the traffic lights, he was a friend of mine, I knew him, and then this man told him would you want to come with me to work and he did. And then this boy disappeared, and his family found him few days later dead, killed. And ever since that happened I do not go anymore with anyone to work for them, especially if it is a male. It might happen that they can ever rape. This one time for example this boy told me do you want to come with me for money, and I told him no, and I started running away straight away and went by this other car, and it was day time when he said that to me"<sup>487</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>482</sup>Romania - individual interview, 18 years old girl

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>483</sup>Romania - individual interview, 14 years old boy

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>484</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 15 years old boy, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>485</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 13 years old boy, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>486</sup>Kosovo- individual interview, 9 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>487</sup>Kosovo - focus group interview, 14 years old girl, street child

In other contexts, the children identified criminals, "drunks" and "junkies" as people who could not be trusted. As a child in Kosovo stated, "The safest place is the family, the school. For me these places are safe, as for unsafe places it is the places where there are criminals"<sup>488</sup>. It has been shown that the family and school environments are not always perceived as safe by children. Nevertheless, the fact that they are taught to fear strangers and on this basis make decisions is important, since the people that often hurt them are their parents, siblings, friends and relatives; in other words, people they know.

Chapter 4

Children in the institution in Montenegro complained that former residents would become intoxicated and sleep near their institution. In Montenegro and Romania children raised concerns about people who take drugs or drink on the streets. As one child stated, "I am afraid of strangers. I was once in the street and a drunk hit me because I didn't give him money. Well, I am afraid they might hit me or kill me... because I don't know them and they are worse if they don't know you".489

In regard to drugs, children highlighted marijuana, sniffing glue and the use of heroin. These children were concerned that drug addicts would steal their money to purchase more drugs. It is said that people who drink are more likely to get into a fight and hurt children without due cause: "They'd disfigure you just like that, just because you didn't engage in their talk or you answered back to them, they don't need any special reasons or motive"<sup>490</sup>.

Children in Romania in particular highlighted their fear of strangers who belong to Roma ethnic groups. As a child from an institution stated, "For me and many children in here, Gypsies are the worst people of all"<sup>491</sup>. Some state that they have had negative experiences with these individuals, but others suggest that they have heard of these stories or been warned about them from other individuals. For instance, a child in Romania said that he is scared of "Gypsies" because they steal from children because "it has happened to a boy and he got robbed and beaten by the Gypsies"<sup>492</sup>.

Another girl described the experiences of a friend who was robbed by "Gypsies": "She doesn't go out to take a walk in the street because in the neighborhood where she lives there are a lot of Gypsies. They come at girls, they spit girls they touch their bottoms." She says: "Gypsies are dangerous, they steal and they bang people in the head. They even broke into their house once, even in their kitchen and they took several things form their house. She and her mother, they were lucky because they were not at home because she believes they could have done something to them too"<sup>493</sup>.

From their accounts, it is evident that many of their fears are based on or are derived from general discriminatory attitudes towards the Roma in many Romanian communities, and that they are not grounded in truth or reality. Nevertheless, the fact that children may make decisions on the basis of these false beliefs needs to be emphasized. This may mean that they avoid Roma people, and unwittingly place their trust in people who come from other ethnic groups, who might actually be more likely to harm, exploit or traffic them.

Children from Roma communities feel this discrimination acutely. A child working on the streets

<sup>489</sup>Romania - individual interview, 14 years old boy

- <sup>490</sup>Montenegro -. focus group interview, 14 years old boy, IDP camp
- <sup>491</sup> Romania individual interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child
- <sup>492</sup>Romania individual interview, 4 years old boy, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>488</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 16 years old girl, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>493</sup>Romania - individual interview, 15 years old girl

of Kosovo complained, "I like that I am a Roma, but I hate it when they call me Gypsy"<sup>494</sup>. This was reiterated by another child in this context: "It happens that sometimes someone calls you Gypsy, and when that happens I feel very bad then"<sup>495</sup>.

Interestingly, many non-Roma children living in an institution state that Roma adults and children tease them or discriminate against them. So in a sense, social exclusion and discrimination operates at multiple levels. When asked how she would like to improve her town, a girl from a Romanian institution stated:

"At first, I would like our town to be cleaner, with less Gypsies, who swear and spit you. I would like to change the behaviour of the people around us, even the elder persons take it against you with no reason. In what concerns the Gypsies, what bothers me most is that they always say: "look, there's one of those in the placement centre". I got angry one day and I told them: "you don't eat at home the food I eat here, the heat I have here you don't have at home, so shut up and stop saying that, it's true, I live in the centre, but look at the place you live in, you don't have what to eat, you have to beg for living, tell your mother to get a job and stop begging""<sup>496</sup>.

She responded to their discrimination and harassment, by referring to various stereotypes about the Roma (e.g. that *"begging is in their blood"*) as a means of retaliation against their teasing.

In addition to ethnicity, some children highlighted nationality as a factor that needs to be taken into account when deciding whether to trust a stranger. For instance, in Northern Mitrovica, a child was concerned that they will be attacked by Albanians across the bridge. In Kosovo, children also highlighted the role of Italians, Americans and criminals from the Czech Republic who collaborate with Albanians when trafficking children.

Children adopt a range of strategies when attempting to deal with these individuals whom they fear. One of these strategies is simply not to talk to strangers or place trust in a stranger. Another strategy is to turn only to relatives for support in times of trouble. It will be argued that while some children depend on relatives whom they regard to be trustworthy, in some cases these relatives are actually responsible for maltreating, exploiting or trafficking them. In addition, traffickers may pretend to be friends with a relative in order to *"trick"* a child into going with him/her; in other words, they exploit children's fear of strangers and reliance on relatives.

## **Trustworthy relatives**

Apart from parents, siblings and members of the wider kin network were often described in positive terms. It is said that siblings not only provide general guidance and moral support, they also play an active role in teaching their younger siblings how to act, and in protecting their younger and/or female siblings from negative advances, harassment or violence.

These siblings play an important role particularly when a parent is absent. They often encourage their siblings not to work on the streets and to attend school. They advise them on how to avoid physical hazards on the street and how to avoid being taken to an institution by the police.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>494</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 18 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>495</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 15 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>496</sup>Romania - individual interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child

As a child in Serbia stated, "Well, for instance, if I didn't have dad and mum, my brother would help me, at least a little. He would help me, for instance, if I didn't know how to do something. He would tell me to go to school and so on and not to wipe windscreens. Wiping windscreens is no good; some children died; it's dangerous. They could put you in a home, take you anywhere, and stuff"<sup>497</sup>.

In Kosovo a girl working on the streets stated that her brother, who was also working on the streets, had informed her that she has rights and has told her who to contact him if she is threatened or hurt: "Well, we children also have rights, and I got this idea from my brother, he works with trolley, he told me "You have your rights", and he said should anything happen to me then I should go and tell the police immediately"<sup>498</sup>.

The relationship between siblings was often gendered, in that girls turned to their sisters for advice and "cheering up". On the other hand, both girls and boys stated that they turn to their brothers for protection against harassment and violence. As a child in Albania stated, "when somebody beats me or calls me bad names, I tell my brother. He always helps me. He [brother] keeps me close and always protects me when someone beats me up. Here there are many bad people. They know that I am working and want to take my money on my way back home. Once they beat me and my brother came back and gave them a taste of their own medicine"<sup>499</sup>.

It is interesting that in a number of cases the children state that they initially contact their fathers if they need protection but their fathers tend to send their brothers out to come to their assistance. For instance, a child working on the streets of Kosovo said: "This boy hit me last night, and then I pushed him and poured all his peanuts on the ground, and then my brother came and beat him up... One day there were these girls who also wanted to beat us up, you know, they told me and my sister that we have stolen their idea about selling peanuts. I am telling you no one dares to even touch me, because I just pop to the post office and call my dad. It is only 30 cents and he gets my brother out to get me straight away"<sup>500</sup>.

This was a deliberate strategy that children working on the streets developed in discussion with their parents and siblings when faced with threats to their safety and security.

In the IDP camp in Montenegro, the children stated that it is not safe for girls to walk around on their own, so they tend to be accompanied by a male sibling. Some of the girls appreciated this protection but also highlighted the fact that their brothers have the right to use violence against them if they step out of line by breaking a rule or social norm. As one girl stated, "Well, they are ready to help me, so I think they are good, and my brothers will protect me always; I just shouldn't do something wrong because then they would get angry with me and they may punish me"<sup>501</sup>. Boys in Albania testify to accompanying their sisters to and from school to protect them.

Children also protect their younger and physically smaller siblings from harassment and violence. A working child in Kosovo explained that the source of her insecurity on the streets lay in the fact that she could be easily beaten up because she is smaller, when compared to her brother. He is enlisted to protect her, "Because we are smaller and someone could beat us up, some other boy but

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>497</sup>Serbia - individual interview, 13 years old boy, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>498</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 15 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>499</sup>Albania - focus group interview, 11 years old boy, internal migrant

 $<sup>^{500}\</sup>mbox{Kosovo}$  - individual interview, 15 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>501</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 15 years old girl, IDP camp

they don't beat up my brother because he beats them... my brother he looks after us when we go out selling"<sup>502</sup>. Disabilities were also a factor behind sibling protection. For instance, a child in Serbia stated: "My brother was disabled... My brother says to me, "Hey, that boy over, he is hassling me." And I tell to the boy, "Why do you hassle him? Don't you hassle him anymore." I've always protected him"<sup>503</sup>.

Siblings also share money or work to fulfill their interpersonal responsibilities towards each other. A child in Kosovo stated that her brother carries and sells goods in the market and uses some of this money to purchase her school books. She stated that he also purchased her a telephone which she can use when she is in trouble or needs assistance.

Siblings also pool resources or divide work tasks to increase their earnings and/or improve their working conditions. For instance, a child in Albania stated that in order to shorten their time selling newspapers on the streets, he collaborates with his brother: "We work together and share the newspapers. So we are done earlier and may sell all the newspapers. I get thirty or forty newspapers while my brother gets twenty or twenty five"<sup>504</sup>.

Members of the wider kin network also emerged as significant in the children's lives with particular reference to cousins, uncles, aunts and grandmothers. They provide material support to a struggling family; advice and support to a child who has particular concerns about a parent or does not feel free to share their problems with a parent and cares when a parent was absent. In some cases they intervene in cases of abuse.

In terms of sharing problems, children emphasised that it is important to find someone who listens to them, someone that they can trust and trusts them in turn as well as someone whom they know will keep their concerns confidential. In many cases, children stated that their parents fail on all three accounts. They do not listen to them, they do not trust them and they share their problems with the rest of the family and sometimes neighbours and other people in the community. On the other hand, children said that sometimes they can share their concerns with a relative, particularly when they relate to the action (e.g. abuse, punishment) of a parent, breaking rules set by a parent (e.g. dating boys) or when a relative lives outside of their home community and will therefore maintain confidentiality and *"keep their secrets*".

Children are very careful and selective when it comes to divulging personal and often traumatic stories, as is evident in the following quote by a child working on the streets of Bosnia-Herzegovina who had experienced abuse: "My aunt, I mean, I didn't want to tell her as well; I told and trusted no one. They told me I would feel better if I told the story to someone but I kept on saying that nothing happened to me and that I was OK. That's what I was saying, but when I wasn't able to keep it all inside I told them everything"<sup>505</sup>.

This process of sharing has a significant impact on a child's sense of well-being. For instance, a child in Montenegro stated that she discusses her concerns about her mother's illness with her aunt and this helps alleviate some of her pain and worries: "When my mother is sick, or someone else in the family, that's when I'm saddest, really, I feel lost. Then I spend time with my sister-in-law or my best

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>502</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 8 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>503</sup>Serbia - focus group interview, 11 years old boy, shelter child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>504</sup>Albania - focus group interview, 16 years old boy, internal migrant

 $<sup>^{505}\</sup>mbox{Bosnia-Herzegovina}\,$  - focus group interview, 17 years old girl, street child

friend. The sadness doesn't go away immediately, but I feel better. My sister-in-law can help me when I'm sad, I share that with her and then I'm cheerful again"<sup>506</sup>.

The absence of a parent was related to divorce, abandonment, death or work. For instance, a child in Romania was living with her grandmother because her mother works as a waitress and her father as a car mechanic abroad. When asked how she feels about her mother's departure, this girl responded: *"I felt good because I know she went there for our sake. She is not like other parents are, they don't care about their children. I am not alone here, I am with my grandma. I like to be with my grandma, I get along fine with her. How can I be sorry when I know that everything she does, she does it for our sake?"<sup>507</sup>. In other words, she did not complain about her mothers' absence because she knew that her mother was working to support her, and she was well-cared for by her grandmother. However, she also expressed the desire to migrate to join her mother, which her grandmother cautioned her about but did not seem to discourage.* 

The death or absence of a parent was said to cause great distress and for some children this absence was described as more painful than an experience of violence. For instance, a child in Bosnia-Herzegovina was orphaned after her mother died when she was 5 years old, and her father died of lung cancer. She stated: "It's very embarrassing. When my father died I wasn't able to talk at all for 3 days and when I started to talked I faltered and it remained that way... Yes, it was a shock, I've seen doctors for that. They told me it would stop as I grow older"<sup>508</sup>.

Children, whose parents migrated abroad for the purposes of work, also expressed initial shock and a feeling of loneliness. For instance, a child in Romania stated: *"I was upset, I was feeling abandoned*"<sup>509</sup> after her mother went to Spain to work as a waitress and she moved in with her grandmother.

These children often stated that they were not willing to forgive their parents for this abandonment. A child in Bosnia-Herzegovina stated that she was left with her grandmother and aunt when her mother died and her father left her and refused to see her.

Another child in Bulgaria described parents who abandon their children as "evil", "cruel" and "unforgivable", even if they leave them with relatives<sup>510</sup>. Many children who have been abandoned also describe a sense of loneliness and the feeling that they have been excluded and don't belong. As a result many rely on their relatives for support, protection and advice.

Some relatives advise children not to work on the streets, and even provide them with material assistance to remove the need for working on the streets. This material assistance often comes with strings attached, which children are not able to fulfill. Many children highlighted the fact that their relatives living abroad (e.g. Germany, Switzerland) send their families money to assist them. As discussed in a previous section, these relatives also facilitate children's journey abroad by providing letters of invitation, finding them jobs and providing them with ccommodation.

So it is argued by children that one of the mechanisms by which traffickers "trick" children is by

<sup>507</sup>Romania - individual interview, 13 years old girl

<sup>509</sup> Romania - individual interview, 14 years old girl

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>506</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 15 years old girl, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>508</sup>Bosnia-Herzegovina - focus group interview, 17 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>510</sup>Bulgaria - focus group interview, boys and girls 14-16 years old, school children

pretending to know a relative. This is significant because many children trust their relatives whom they describe in a positive light for the reasons mentioned above, and on this basis they may decide to go with a person who on the surface, and by virtue of his relationship with a relative, no longer seems to be a stranger.

### Untrustworthy relatives

While siblings were described in a positive light by many respondents, they were also criticized for failing to listen to them, trust them or provide them with adequate support. For instance, a child in Montenegro complained about his brother's way to assisting him with problems that he faces: "He also deals with everything by shouting, like father. That's why I don't call him. He knows how I feel and how much I feel afraid of father. Why shouldn't he try to talk to father and explain him? Maybe, if my brother were different, he'd understand that and would do that, but as it is he doesn't understand what I want from him even if I spent the whole day explaining it to him. My brother thinks I keep making things up"<sup>511</sup>.

A girl in Bosnia-Herzegovina was worried about her brother's behaviour. She stated that he is connected to a gang, uses drugs regularly and believes that he might have murdered someone. She complained about being placed in a difficult position because the police have asked her for information but she doesn't want to betray him, and yet she feels that she cannot share her concerns with relatives who will not believe her.

Some children complained that their siblings use physical violence against them, and this is permitted because they are older or are male: *"For example in my family my oldest brother can do whatever he wants, but us girls can not, besides that he hits us sisters"*<sup>512</sup>. It is said that boys attempt to protect their sisters is often misguided and unwanted in that *"We girls mind that sometimes and it causes problems for us"*<sup>513</sup>. Some children stated that their siblings actually force them to work and take their earnings; in other words, siblings may be exploiters in different contexts.

Other relatives are also described in a negative light. Some children complained that their relatives did not provide their families with material assistance or failed to help them migrate abroad. Other children complained that their relatives do not listen to them and do not respect the decisions that they (or their parents) make. They are very critical of relatives who criticize members of their immediate family. For instance, a child in Montenegro complained about an aunt who does not understand and does not respect his decision to work and the economic struggles that his father is facing and seeking to overcome:

"When I go to these other ones, my aunt just criticizes me and she doesn't care how I am doing and what happened or didn't happen to me in the town. She always says it's a great shame my father has taught me to beg and makes me go to the town and beg. I tell her my father does not make me go, I want to go myself, but she never listens to what you have to say, she always tells just the things she has to say... My aunt says my father has to find a way to earn some money himself, rather than send me to the streets to beg. My father is good and things are not as she says. He walks, searches the bins each day to find something and that's why I have to help. Maybe my father can't find any other work? It's not that he

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>511</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 15 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>512</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 16 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>513</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 15 years old girl, school child

wouldn't be doing something if he had a chance"<sup>514</sup>.

In other words, the aunt not only failed to listen to him but she did not respect his father, or the boy's decision to fulfill his interpersonal responsibilities to his father by working.

It is also said that relatives do not provide support when it is needed or that their assistance is misguided or unwanted. A child in Montenegro complained that even though her aunt and uncle live next door and witness the violence that he experiences at the hands of her father, they do not interfere because they want to avoid an argument with her father and because they see this as a private, family matter: "My uncle knows he shouldn't help me if I have done something wrong, that's for my father to deal with"<sup>515</sup>.

It is also said that relatives break children's trust, they gossip about their actions and often tell their parents if they have broken a rule or a social norm. For instance, a girl in Albania complained that her relatives make up stories about her movements to suggest that she was spending time with boys: *"It is my aunts and uncles. They come here and insult me even if I have not done something bad. They collect information and say "you were there". I do not accept it and say "No", then they beat me"<sup>516</sup>. Relatives also use violence against children. For instance, an Albanian child living in Greece with her aunt, complained that her uncle used to hit her if she did not earn enough money: <i>"One day my aunt's husband hit me in my lips as I had not made enough money"<sup>517</sup>.* Some children stated that these relatives actually pushed them to work or engage in criminal activities using deception and manipulation. For instance, an identified victim of trafficking in Bulgaria stated: *"My other aunt taught me how to steal when I was young. I was living with her when I was small... She told me that if I don't learn how to steal my mother and father won't love me"<sup>518</sup>.* 

Hence, it is suggested that traffickers may pretend to know a relative, be a relative or care for them as relatives should do, in their attempts to *"trick"* children to go with them. Positive relationships with relatives have been described in the literature as a resiliency factor for children as they are a source of advice and protection. This section has revealed the extent to which this can be manipulated by traffickers, who exploit the fear of strangers and positive view of relatives. It has also been shown that relatives may themselves provide negative advice, hurt or exploit children. In general, teaching children simply to "fear strangers" does not provide them with enough information about the risks that relatives can pose or place children in.

# Claiming to know a friend or pretending to be a friend

When discussing the mechanisms by which children are trafficked, many children highlighted the role of friends. It is said that some traffickers pretend to be a friend or know a friend, and on this basis *"trick"* children into agreeing to go with them abroad where they will be trafficked at a later stage. It is also said that friends encourage children to go with traffickers or advise them to become involved in activities that might put them at risk of trafficking. It is said that some friends can be relied upon to protect children against trafficking, but in some cases they are complicit or simply

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>514</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 11 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>515</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 15 years old girl, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>516</sup>Albania - focus group interview, 14 years old girl

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>517</sup>Albania - focus group interview, 15 years old girl

 $<sup>^{518}\</sup>mbox{Bulgaria}$  - individual interview, 10 years old girl, trafficked child

fail to provide timely support and assistance. Alternatively, it is said that traffickers specifically target children who have no friends.

Some of the children argued that traffickers pretend to be friends. For instance, a child in an institution in Romania stated: "There are many girls who do this in Spain and Italy, I know a girl who lived in the centre and decided to go there without being forced. A friend of hers invited her there but he actually made her go so she would prostitute herself. She thought she was going there to be near her friend"<sup>519</sup>. A child in Bulgaria suggested that if he was a trafficker he would try to develop a friendly relationship with a child who he would like to traffic, in order to gain her trust and consent: "At first I was thinking how to impress her that's why in the beginning I was talking to her as if I was flirting with her because there are girls who are easy to impress. When she told me that she had bought a drink and she didn't want me to buy her a drink I decided that I should change the tactics and I started a normal conversation to make her my friend. In the summer everyone wants to go to the seaside and that's why I started with the job at the seaside. As for the work abroad in Turkey, I wanted to mention it just as a possibility and that it is better to start in Bulgaria, in Primorsko. She had to show me that she is suitable for Turkey, to show that she wanted it"<sup>520</sup>. A girl working by the traffic lights in Kosovo stated that a peer tried unsuccessfully to persuade her to climb into his car but she ran away instead.

It is also held that peers may encourage children to go with a trafficker: *"For instance, you have a friend and she asks you to see a certain boy"*<sup>521</sup>. These friends may encourage children to go abroad or carry out certain actions that might lead to trafficking. For instance, a child in Bulgaria linked the incidence of trafficking with leaving the family and the influence of his friend: *"My friend told me that it was very nice, that it wasn't dangerous so I can do it"*<sup>522</sup>.

The children said that friends can exploit each other: "They approach them as if they were friends with them and they say "Let's earn some money, OK? If you keep your end up, we'll split the money."They agree and sometimes they give them some money, but sometimes they beat them up and warn them not to tell anyone or they'll beat them up"<sup>523</sup>. It was also held that force is used by peers when trying to exploit children or make them take part in criminal activities. In a shelter in Serbia, a child stated that older children often hurt younger children, force them to beg and/or steal their belongings.

In Bulgaria, a child suggested that she knows a girl who is friends with boys, but they pressurize her to break the law with the intention of exploiting her: "She is around 12 now. She always goes with the boys; they make her steal and collect them money"<sup>524</sup>. Another child in the institution in Bulgaria stated that he decided to steal under pressure from his friends: "The others were mocking at me that I can't steal. V and I got to know each other and he said "lets do it" and that's how it happened"<sup>525</sup>.

The fact that older children pressure them to work by means of force was echoed by another child living and working on the street. In particular she highlighted the role of the female leader of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>519</sup>Romania - individual interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>520</sup>Bulgaria - focus group interview, 16 years old boy, school child

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 521} \rm Albania$  - focus group interview, 14 years old girl

 $<sup>^{522}\</sup>mbox{Bulgaria}$  - individual interview, 17 years old boy, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>523</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 16 years old boy, IDP camp

 $<sup>^{524}\</sup>text{Bulgaria}$  - individual interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child

 $<sup>^{525}\</sup>mbox{Bulgaria}$  - .individual interview, 13 years old boy, institutionalized child

a group of street children, who for the sake of protection, pretended to be a man: "I know many children who were threatened, but I don't want to talk about it right now. It happened on the street, usually by older children. I personally was threatened by that girl from the previous group I lived with. She was posing herself as a boy, but in fact she wasn't. She made the kids, children younger than us, go beg for her, steal, and simply work for her.....It was that girl I was telling you about earlier who poses as a boy. She blackmailed me, telling me that I lived under her roof and that she put food on my table and that I had to bring something into the house as well. Of course, that was neither her roof nor her food and I simply left. Thank God, I'm alright now. She wanted me to steal and beg for her. All children in our group were involved"<sup>526</sup>.

Her strategy was to leave this group. In other words, peers may be exploiters and children need to carefully devise strategies to deal with these threats.

Furthermore, it is said that these children who do not have the support of their friends, are more likely to be "tricked" or "cheated" into believing a lie of a trafficker: "If they get mistreated everywhere they go, nobody wants to hang out with them, nobody cares, and then they don't care. They accept whatever's offered"<sup>527</sup>.

In other cases, it is said that peers cannot always be relied upon to protect children from trafficking: "Maybe the friends can protect you but it depends on the friends you have, it's really important because if they are fake they will leave you at their hand and if they care about you they won't leave you when you're in trouble"<sup>528</sup>.

It is held that traffickers may target children who appear to have no friends to protect them: "They also take the girls who don't have friends and who do not spend time with people, but instead they only spend their time in their close environment"<sup>529</sup>.

For this reason, one child in Montenegro stated that in order to guard against being "tricked" by a peer who pretends to be a friend, or to avoid being let down by a friend in times of trouble, it is necessary to select friends carefully and know them well: "Because I think nothing bad can happen to me, and I can make the judgment, like I did about that boy. There, now I am not friends with the people I can't say I know what their intentions are"<sup>530</sup>.

In order to understand how traffickers are able to trick children by pretending to be friends, it is necessary to understand the role of the peer group in children's lives and their attempts to be selective about the types of friends they interact with and turn to for support. From the children's accounts, they clearly distinguish between friends whom they regard to be *"good"* or *"bad"*.

# A good friend

For many children, "friendship is the most important thing"<sup>531</sup> A good friend is one who does the following:

<sup>529</sup>Kosovo - focus group interview, 15 years old boy, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>526</sup>Serbia - individual interview, 16 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>527</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>528</sup>Romania - individual interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child

 $<sup>^{530}\</sup>mbox{Montenegro}$  - individual interview, 15 years old girl, institutionalized child

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 531} \rm Montenegro$  - focus group interview, 15 years old boy, IDP camp

- Listens to you
- Understands you
- Advises you
- Teaches you how to behave
- Cares for you
- Shares their belongings with you
- Keeps your secrets
- Defends and protects you
- Cheers you up
- Boosts your self-confidence
- Sticks by you in times of trouble
- Breaks rules with you
- Shares and acts in accordance with the same norms

From the children's accounts, few people listen to what they have to say. As a result, many state that a good friend listens when no-one else does. Reference is made by girls in Kosovo to the fact that it is often difficult to talk to their parents about boys and relationships so they discuss these matters with their friends. Other children complained that they could not share their concerns with their teachers so would speak to their friends: *"I usually go to my friends as I don't have any other place I or we can go and complain. For example we can not go to the principal because he does not care about us much, he tells us to deal with it ourselves"*<sup>532</sup>.

These friends would often advise them on how to deal with a teacher with whom they have a negative relationship. As a child in Montenegro stated, "I had a problem with this teacher and I didn't want to study that subject at all, she kept insulting me, called me a cow, and other things, so I talked to some of my friends from school and the form mistress and they persuaded me to do some studying after all, and I eventually got a pass"<sup>533</sup>.

They would also provide advice about interpersonal relationships: "Well, I told you I like to decide for myself what I want and what I don't want but I often talk to my friends about something that's important to me. My friends sometimes tell me that some boy is not good for me and I should not see him. Then, sometimes, I do as they say, and sometimes I don't, but do as I wish. Sometimes they have influence, sometimes they don't."<sup>534</sup>

This quote suggests that some children do not simply submit to the instructions of a friend (otherwise known as peer pressure) but often actively evaluate them in line with their own needs and beliefs.

Nevertheless, some children see the advantages of making decisions together. It is said to be "easier" and "nicer" to plan together<sup>535</sup>. It is also said to reinforce or provide legitimating a decision or course of action that a child would like to take. This is seen as important to guard against unintended risks: "I prefer discussing everything that's important to me with them. I think it's better and safer that way so I don't do something wrong. I saw many times that what I intended and decided was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>532</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 15 years old girl, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>533</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 14 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>534</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 14 years old girl, IDP camp

 $<sup>^{535}\</sup>mbox{Montenegro}$  - individual interview, 14 years old girl, IDP camp

fine, but I was also pleased when I saw they thought the same as me. I could decide on something myself sometimes, and sometimes I do, but I like discussing things with them before I decide, too"<sup>536</sup>.

It was also stated that on the streets it is important to consult one's friends about where to work, and it was often easier to go along with them if one does not have strong opinions. A child begging on the streets with his friends stated: "Sometimes I don't know exactly where I want to go that day or I have not made any decisions, or I don't care where I go that day, and then I listen to them and go where they want... I make decisions myself when I decide so. Sometimes I can't do without them, and then we discuss and decide together. Not just where to work, but everything else as well"<sup>537</sup>.

It is said that children can provide valuable lessons to other children in a peer group. On the one hand, these lessons relate to social norms particularly in relation to gender relations. Many of the girls in Albania, Kosovo and Montenegro stated that they try to teach their friends how they should behave with boys: *"It is basically moral support. We tell our friend do this, do not go out, do not talk with him or even when you talk be hard on him, tell him that you have no feeling for him"*<sup>538</sup>. Other lessons relate to practical matters such as school, recreational activities (e.g. riding a bike, learning how to sew), survival on the streets and income generation.

Age, knowledge and experience emerged as important in this regard. In relation to school, a boy in an institution in Montenegro stated that he explains lessons to younger children who don't understand<sup>539</sup>. Another child in this institution stated that his roommate is older and about to leave, and teaches him *"how and what to do later, when he leaves"*<sup>540</sup>. On the streets, the children also assume the role of instructor-pupil. In Kosovo, a girl working on the streets said that she listens to her older friend who tells her how to earn money: *"She is older than me and advises me about many things I can learn from"*<sup>541</sup>. Another child stated that his friend advised him to change his begging location: *"They asked me to come here because the business is better here and now I make more money here, and have friends"*<sup>542</sup>.

This advice also extends to self-defense and protection. For instance, one boy in Serbia stated that he warns younger children how to protect themselves in this environment. This protection includes knowing who to trust and how to guard against the risk of trafficking: *"I always tell them, when they come to the traffic lights, whenever a new child comes to work here, that they should say no to anyone who asks them something like that. Even if they offer them millions, they should say: "No". I would get that through their thick skulls and even beat them a little so that they would understand, you know. Everyone here at the traffic lights knows that. I told them not to do it. I've been working here at the traffic lights longer than any of them and I've told them to say: "No, no, no, and only no" to any adult who offers them drugs, marihuana, and stuff... Older children usually teach the young ones what to do, to be careful of cars, not to be aggressive because someone may thrash them. Things like that. I don't know"<sup>543</sup>.* 

Hence, peers encourage each other not to trust strangers as has been highlighted throughout this report. Another child complained that even though she has tried to advise her younger friend on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>536</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 15 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>537</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 11 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>538</sup>Albania - focus group interview, 18 years old girl, internal migrant

 $<sup>^{539}\</sup>mbox{Montenegro}$  - individual interview, 16 years old boy, institutionalized child

 $<sup>^{540}\</sup>mbox{Montenegro}$  - focus group interview, 15 years old boy, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>541</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 15 years old girl, street child

 $<sup>^{542} {\</sup>rm Kosovo}$  - individual interview, 13 years old boy, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>543</sup>Serbia - individual interview, 16 years old boy, street child

the streets, she often does not listen to her: "I did take care of a friend of mine, but it's her business that she didn't listen to me afterwards"<sup>544</sup>.

It is also said that one's friends can provide care particularly if a parent is absent. In an institution in Romania, a girl stated that together with other friends, she helps younger children and a disabled child: "I play with children, I help the small ones, especially that we have here a small child who is two years old and who fell down from his bed by mistake and I don't know what happened to him that now he has his bones broken here and his hand is immobilized now. And I play with him, I look after him, I wash him. Other girls look after him too"<sup>545</sup>. Another child in this institution emphasised that this care was reciprocal in that all the children help each other: "If they need to be helped with something, with cleaning, with anything else, I go and help them because they is in my group. Why shouldn't I help them? If they help me, shouldn't I help them also?"<sup>546</sup>.

It is also held that children share their belongings with each other, even in contexts characterized by poverty and desperation. For instance, on the streets some children share their earnings: "I beg with my friends around the town and bring some money home, and when I do, we buy bread and things at the shop, and we all eat..."<sup>547</sup>

Although some children prefer not to share this income, they do recognise the importance of working with other children in terms of loneliness, protection etc. As one child in Montenegro stated, "Well, I consider what is more useful for me to do that day and then I decide. Sometimes I consider whether it is better to go to the town alone, because I may take all the stuff I find, and if someone is going with me I have to share, and each cent is important for me. Then I decide to go alone. Another time it's more important that someone accompanies me and I have someone to talk to and am not alone, and that day it is more important for me not to be alone than to earn more money, so I consider all that and call my friends to join me".<sup>548</sup>

A child who is living and working on the streets in Serbia stated that he gives money to other children who beg but doesn't expect them to reciprocate. "I give even to those who mooch on the trams. I always give them something. Every time I can afford... I simply give it to that person, but I'm sure they'll pay me back. And if they don't want to pay it back, they don't have to"<sup>549</sup>.

Another child in this context said that his friend invited him to share his lodgings in the underground system: "So he saw me sleeping outside, you know, not inside the underground. He saw where I slept and he saw that it was cold out there so he allowed me to live there, so I slept there and everything, normally. I still sleep there. I can go there whenever I want to"<sup>550</sup>.

To explain, these relationships and kind acts, one child in Serbia stated: "We've spent most of our lives together, meaning we had to make sure we had something to eat"<sup>551</sup>. On the streets, many of these children have over time formed a pseudo-family or network of support, which they can rely on in times of trouble. Children are also supported by other children who are not living on the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>544</sup>Serbia - individual interview, 17 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>545</sup>Romania - individual interview, 10 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>546</sup>Romania - individual interview, 10 years old girl, institutionalized child

 $<sup>^{547}</sup>$ Montenegro - individual interview, I I years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>548</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 15 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>549</sup>Serbia - focus group interview, boys & girls age 11 - 17, shelter children

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>550</sup>Serbia - individual interview, 13 years old boy, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>551</sup>Serbia - individual interview, 16 years old boy, street child

streets. For instance, a child in Kosovo stated that her German friend gives her money and even brought her old school books.

One of the most important criteria that the children highlighted in relation to being "a good friend" is the ability to keep secrets. As a child in Montenegro stated, "I like being with them and hanging out because they are good to me and understand me... We think alike, they keep my secrets and I can confide in them, and that's not easy to find."<sup>552</sup>. These secrets revolve around relationships with the opposite sex and the desire to run away and/or immigrate. In other words, they are central to the protection strategies that children develop. In terms of the latter, a child in Albania stated: "For instance, if I had a friend who would like to go to Tirana or Greece, I would walk her to the mini bus station, and if here parents would ask where is she I would respond "I do not know". We have promised each other, if one leaves the other will not speak up"<sup>553</sup>.

It is said that together with their friends, they travel to forbidden areas. For instance, a child in the IDP camp in Montenegro stated: "Sometimes we go and sit somewhere in the camp or sneak out and go to that wood next to the camp or that runway, to fool around"<sup>554</sup>. In relation to their relationships with boys, it is said that their friends often lie or "cover for them". A girl in Montenegro stated that when she visits her male friends they conceal her whereabouts from her parents: "When mother asks them about me, they cover for me and say I was with them even when I wasn't"<sup>555</sup>. This often poses risks for both children: "That's a big thing she's doing for me, because we both know that if they find out she was lying, then my father would go to her father and he'd beat her up and ground her, for lying. That's a good person and a friend, according to me, when she'd put herself in danger for my sake. I do the same for her when she needs it".<sup>556</sup>

Sometimes children play together instead of working on the streets as instructed by their parents, even if it increases the risk of punishment and/or violence: "Sometimes I didn't go to the town to work but went to play football with my friends and for a swim in the Cijevna, and I decide and tell myself I would got to the town the next day and work hard to make up for that day I spent with my friends. Then I come home and father turns that day into hell, and I can't manage to explain to him that I have a plan to make up for it the next day. Then I regret having gone with my friends instead of working, when I knew what would happen at home"<sup>557</sup>.

In their attempts to fulfill their desire for play, recreation and entertainment, many children band together, often against the instructions of a parent.

In the institutions, children develop strategies with their friends against their social workers and the rules that they perceive to be set in an illegitimate, top-down manner. For instance, a child in Montenegro described a drawing in which children ganged up together against a teacher who was *"insulting them"*: *"And this is the kids, laughing at her and ignoring her"*<sup>558</sup>. When she snuck out of the institution one evening, a girl stated that her friends would lie about her whereabouts: *"I have to admit I lied, but I know that if I asked some of the older ones from the Home they would* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>552</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 16 years old girl, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>553</sup>Albania - focus group interview, 9 years old girl

 $<sup>^{554}\</sup>mbox{Montenegro}$  - focus group interview, 14 years old girl, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>555</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 15 years old girl, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>556</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 15 years old girl, IDP camp

 $<sup>^{557}\</sup>mbox{Montenegro}$  - individual interview, 15 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>558</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 14 years old girl, institutionalized child

definitely back me up"<sup>559</sup>. Their peers' assistance is central to their strategies and in this way may be a source of resilience, but these strategies may in themselves turn out to be dangerous; by concealing this information from a staff member might mean that no-one will notice when a girl goes missing or be concerned about her whereabouts. The peer group is also said to be very important for protection as they provide physical defence against dangerous individuals. There is some notion of safety in numbers and they offer protection from parents.

On the streets, it is said that children protect each other from dangerous people. As a child in Montenegro states, "And then, even when we don't want to swear or fight, we have to because he attacks us, no way you can defend yourself, you gotta hit him. Then we all go together, as one, to fight. We're like brothers and we fight those bad ones together, when we have to"<sup>560</sup>. So friends may become an important social support as they provide protection against violence.

Peer to peer violence emerged as significant in a range of settings. In the IDP camp, a child highlighted not only the high incidence of bullying and violence but also the strategic thinking and reliance on the group as a means of coping with it: "Me and my friends usually don't like to just let them go if they insulted us badly and swore at us, but we fight. Sometimes they beat us, sometimes we beat them, especially if it takes place here in the camp. When something like that happens in the town we give it some more thought before we get into a fight, because sometimes we don't know what kind of boys they are and what they would be up to"<sup>561</sup>.

A child in an institution in Montenegro also emphasised the importance of safety in numbers when confronted with bullying stating: "I know some rascals here in the Home, and I avoid them as much as I can and if things get rough, I have my friends. So it often ends in a fight what can you do, they asked for it. They have one good characteristic, though: if someone else bothers you, you can turn to them and they'll always help you. But I try to avoid such people more and more"<sup>562</sup>.

This protection is seen as particularly important when living on the streets, where there are a number of perceived threats in relation to strangers hurting children, stealing their earnings, raping girls etc. In both Serbia and Bosnia-Herzegovina children stated that their friends called the police when they were attacked: *"For example, if someone would come here to bully me or if he wanted to take my money or something some of my friends would go to get the police and they would come and help me"*<sup>563</sup>.

A number of the girls in Montenegro, Romania and Kosovo in particular expressed concerns about walking home alone in the dark, going to the shops alone, passing certain areas (e.g. sea front) because they are scared of being harassed or attacked by boys and men. As a result, they move around with their friends for protection.

Some of the children living at home stated that their friends protect them from their parents, when they become violent or intoxicated. A child in Serbia stated that he provides shelter to his friend when pushed out of the home by his father: "X's father, for instance, there are times when he drinks and kicks him out. What can A do? He doesn't go to sleep on the street; he either comes to my place

<sup>560</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 16 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>561</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 17 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>559</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 15 years old girl, institutionalized child

 $<sup>^{562}\</sup>mbox{Montenegro}$  - individual interview - 13 years old boy, institutionalized child

 $<sup>^{563}\</sup>mbox{Serbia}$  - individual interview, 13 years old boy, street child

or to his godfather's place to stay the night..."564.

Trusting and knowing someone for a long period of time appeared to be very significant in this regard, as was echoed by a child in Bulgaria: *"I trust them. I am afraid of my parents because I don't know what they will do"*<sup>565</sup>.

It was said that when parents no longer care for their children or provide them with attention, their friends will continue to do so: "After that even if your parents don't pay so much attention to you, you can still rely on these friends and they won't let you lose the right direction and will still keep you on the right track, even though they are not your parents"<sup>566</sup>.

Friends play an important role in cheering children up when they are feeling upset or unhappy. As a result, some children deliberately seek out their friends as a strategy to feel better: "I don't like being on my own when I'm in a bad mood, no way I want to be alone, so I go and look for a friend, and they tell me something nice and I feel better"<sup>567</sup>. Many found that just the act of talking about their problems to someone, helps improve their mood: "It often happened to me that, after I tell my friend or sister why I am sad and down, as soon as I tell them, I start thinking that it's not such an important reason for me or anyone else to feel so sad"<sup>568</sup>; "I wonder where such strong fears came from when after an hour of walking with friends it seems completely different and better and nicer, and everything seems possible and doable"<sup>569</sup>.

Some children found it beneficial to receive the advice of their friends when attempting to deal with a difficult incident or memory often related to violence at home: "Because when they ask me something I say-why do you care, leave me alone, and they knew how good I was before that. Then two of my friends told me they would help me, that I should get over it so I calmed down a bit and started to be friends with them"<sup>570</sup>.

In Bulgaria, a girl stated that her friends have repeatedly helped her by advising her not to commit suicide: "Well, usually my girl-friends help me when I am in such a situation. I have very often tried to commit a suicide and they have always supported me, helped me and advised me not to do it"<sup>571</sup>. It is said that in certain situations, friends are best positioned to give this type of advice.

This positioning is related to the fact that given that they interact in a range of social settings on a daily basis, friends are often the first to notice that a child is unhappy or upset. A child in Bulgaria stated: "I won't tell you what the problem really was. I didn't want to share it with anybody but a friend of mine found out because every day he saw my fake smiles and that I was not feeling well... He found out and talked to me and told me that he knew but I thought that he can't help me at all. But he talk to me and the one who caused the problem and finally everything was OK"<sup>572</sup>.

This positioning is also related to the fact that children share many of the same experiences and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>564</sup> .Serbia - individual interview, 15 years old boy, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>565</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 14 years old boy, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>566</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 17 years old boy, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>567</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 16 years old girl, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>568</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 14 years old girl, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>569</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 14 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>570</sup>Bosnia-Herzegovina - focus group interview, 14 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>571</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 14 years old girl, school child

 $<sup>^{572}\</sup>mbox{Bulgaria}$  - individual interview, 14 years old girl, school child

concerns, they therefore *"understand*" each other better: *"We can tell them when we're having a difficult time without being laughed at*"<sup>573</sup>.

It is said that the supreme marker of a good friend is someone who sticks by you during times of trouble. A child in Montenegro described a good friend as follows: "The ones who talk to me and keep me company regardless of anything and all the time, never mind if they are from "family" or not"<sup>574</sup>. A child in Romania echoed this sentiment in relation to the importance of trust and loyalty: "Maybe the friends can protect you but it depends on the friends you have, it's really important because if they are fake they will leave you at their hand and if they care about you they won't leave you when you're in trouble"<sup>575</sup>. So certain friends are seen as important social supports for children facing a range of adversities.

# A bad friend

"You should be very careful because sometimes the things that your friends can do to you no one else can"<sup>576</sup>.

A bad friend is said to have a number of characteristics. They...

- Gossip about you
- Want something from you
- Show off
- Ignore you
- Tease or hurt you
- Pressurise you to do something
- Do not conform to certain norms or mode of behaviour

In a number of contexts, children were very concerned about gossip and the possibility that information about them would be circulated. Friends who reveal their secrets were described as having committed the ultimate betrayal, which is why children were very selective about their friendships and who they would turn to for help. For instance, a child in Montenegro stated that a friend had told everyone in the institution about her life. In response she states: *"So I am very cautious about friends now. I don't choose to open up quickly as I did with that one"*<sup>577</sup>. For some children, this gossip was worse than any punishment metered by an instructor (e.g. gardening) for breaking rules in an institution<sup>578</sup>.

Children also complained about their peers wanting to use them for some purpose, rather than offering them sincere friendship and support. For instance, a child in Montenegro complained that children are only friendly if they want money or a gift; as she receives some presents from her family with whom she is intermittent contact, she needs to be careful that her friends are not using her: "When you have money and when you can buy something, everyone's there. There are as many of those as you like in the Home. There are, among us, those who want something from you and that's why they are in your company because you have something but I see through them right away"<sup>579</sup>.

<sup>576</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 18 years old girl, shelter child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>573</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 14 years old boy, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>574</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 15 years old boy, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>575</sup>Romania - individual interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>577</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, a 14 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>578</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, a 14 years old girl, institutionalized child

 $<sup>^{579}\</sup>mbox{Montenegro}$  - focus group interview, 15 years old girl, institutionalized child
For this reason, a girl who works on the streets of Bulgaria stated: "If you have money and cigarettes they are all around you and then they leave you. I don't have real friends here"<sup>580</sup>.

Although it is important to help one's friends, one must be careful that they are "real friends" and not simply using children for their own ends: "I have experienced disappointments among friends. There are cases when people make friendship with certain people only because they think it is beneficial to them, they want to benefit something"<sup>581</sup>.

As a result, it is important to be careful about which friends one trusts. For starters, it was said that one should not trust strangers who would like to be your friend. As a child in an institution in Montenegro stated, "When someone new comes, then everyone starts asking questions, and I have questions of my own that I want to ask and have that person give answers only to me for a while. Just like you have explained all the details about the purpose of your coming here"<sup>582</sup>.

It was also said that one should not trust children who brag or show off. For instance, a child in Romania complained about a friend who was trying to impress the others by the fact that his mother was working abroad. A child in Romania complained about his peers who bragged about the fact that their parents were working abroad.

Many of the children complained about children who ignore, tease or bully them. This was related to a number of individual characteristics as well as factors associated with their age, gender, ethnicity, nationality and cicumstances. At the individual level, the factors that were highlighted included appearance (e.g. clothing), wearing glasses, having a stutter or disability, being new to school or not doing well at school, and falling pregnant or being raped.

This exclusion from the peer group operates in different ways. For instance, some children are simply ignored because they do not conform to certain norms or standards of behaviour: "When someone does not behave the proper way, then nobody wants them and everyone avoids them"<sup>583</sup>.

In some cases, it involves direct expulsion from an existing social group: "I was thrown out of a net by some friends who didn't want to be friends with me anymore. I felt sad and wretched and lonely then. I don't know why they rejected me and disliked me, but that's what happened"<sup>584</sup>.

It is said that when they are excluded it is very difficult for them to be accepted back into the social group: "There are so many that say something is awful and they don't give anyone a chance to be different. For example, if I have done something bad today, that does not mean I won't do something good tomorrow. The same goes for these children, everyone thinks that after that, for example the one with the stutter, he'll probably be ridiculed in school and few people would be there to help him"<sup>585</sup>.

Pregnancy or having sexual relations was highlighted as an issue that is frowned upon by many friends. It was also the source of teasing and ostracism. For instance, a child who was pregnant in an institution in Bulgaria stated: *"I don't have friends. I can't share with anyone. They call me an* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>580</sup>Bulgaria- individual interview, 17 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>581</sup>Albania - focus group interview, 16 years old girl, internal migrant

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>582</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 15 years old girl, institutionalized child.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>583</sup>Montenegro- focus group interview, 16 years old girl, institutionalized child

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 584}{\rm Montenegro}$  - focus group interview, 14 years old boy, IDP camp

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 585}{\rm Montenegro}$  - focus group interview, 14 years old boy, institutionalized child

elephant and crazy; they make fun of me and insult me all the time... I trust neither my friends nor the police. My friends are mocking with me. I become fat because of the medicines and they call me an elephant now. This is very hard for me; they think I am crazy"<sup>586</sup>.

Some children are teased at school because they cannot afford to purchase expensive clothing, or because they have to work after hours on the street. As a child in Kosovo stated, "This boy in my class is very withdrawn, very closed, and perhaps someone should be putting more efforts in working with him, but no one approaches him, there are even some other guys who make fun of him and told him to go and sell things on the streets and don't stay here"<sup>587</sup>.

With few people to turn to for support, it is said that these children will follow the "wrong" course of action. For instance, these children will engage in or continue to engage in behaviour that is in conflict with dominant social norms or in conflict with the law: "Well, she started to use drugs, what else? She could not go to school, she had all failing marks because she did not attend. And her friends dumped her as well, her best friend did not even believe her about the things she had done, she thought that she was lying. So the only thing she could do was take drugs. So that's what she did, and she too died..."<sup>588</sup>.

Bullying or physical violence at the hands of their peers - was a pervasive fear shared by all children in this research. This bullying was often related to age. In the institution in Montenegro, younger children stated that they need to respect and be polite to other children who are older, while older children stated that they cannot let the younger ones get away with everything, because they "should know who's older"<sup>589</sup>. An older boy explained that when you reach a certain age, "then you're the boss in the Home. I used to be small once so I wasn't the boss. Now I want to be in charge a little"<sup>590</sup>. A younger child in this institution complained about this hierarchical system: "All the older ones, both boys and girls, think they are the bosses and they are much smarter than us, so they mock us and tell us what to do. I don't even listen to them, although some get annoyed and they even want to fight with them. I'm not like that"<sup>591</sup>.

The same complaints were made by older and younger children in an institution in Romania with older children stating that they have to hit the younger ones to keep them in line, and the younger children stating that they have to defend themselves or protect each other from older children.

Girls across the 7 countries/entities complained that they are harassed or hurt by their male peers, because they are girls. This fear was derived from their own experiences of violence and from the stories of their friends' similar experiences.

A child in the IDP camp stated that she does not attend school because it is too dangerous for her to go because she could be harmed by some boys. Another girl in Albania stated that she is too scared to use the school bathrooms because that is where *"boys close the doors and frighten the girls"*<sup>592</sup>.

<sup>587</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 14 years old boy; school child

- $^{\rm 588}{\rm Montenegro}$  focus group interview, 15 years old girl, institutionalized child
- $^{589}\mbox{Montenegro}$  focus group interview, 16 years old boy, institutionalized child
- <sup>590</sup>Montenegro focus group interview, 16 years old boy, institutionalized child
- <sup>591</sup>Montenegro individual interview, 13 years old boy, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>586</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>592</sup>Albania - focus group interview, 9 years old girl

Many of the girls complained that there are few recreational activities for them, and that they often feel scared to visit internet cafes because they are harassed by boys there.

Some children place blame on the social context which leads them to engage in these activities. For instance, it is said that boys in the IDP camp "the boys go to town and do all kinds of things, because its awful here and they can't endure it, so they linger about the town and become no good and start doing bad things"<sup>593</sup>. As mentioned previously, in this camp the children complained about the relative poverty in relation to their experiences in Kosovo and in relation to the standard of living enjoyed by the local population, they complained about the absence of employment and the dearth of recreation activities. It is said that these factors also help "bad" boys "trick" and possibly traffic other children: "I told you about those bad guys who wish to involve you in some bad things, and I think they do more work at night than during the day. I don't know, but I get that impression. They think the boys who wander at night are easier to entice because they are ready to do anything to earn some money"<sup>594</sup>. It is also said that these "bad" boys are more likely to fall for or be "tricked" into accepting promises of "easy money" because "those boys don't want to do any normal work for peanuts, they want to earn a lot of money without any work"<sup>595</sup>.

This was related to the socio-economic context and in particular high levels of unemployment and the dearth of recreation activities for children. For instance, in the IDP camp, a girl stated: "Well, those are boys who don't do anything and they don't want to work, because they don't want to do any kind of work, so they have plenty of time and nowhere to go, and they just linger about the camp. Then they argue with everyone, swear at people, talk all kinds of things, and they often tell all kinds of things to the girls passing by and often approach them and don't leave them alone, that kind of thing, you're better off when you miss them, then you have some peace"<sup>596</sup>.

Some children focus on parental child-rearing practices when trying to explain why some boys are "bad": "His father doesn't beat him, so that's why he quarrels with everyone in the camp and roams around the town. If his father paid more attention to what his son was doing and beat him when he wasn't behaving well, then this son would be good, a father can make his son a good boy if he wants to"<sup>597</sup>.

So this child attributed "bad behaviour" to the absence of parental corporal punishment.

It is said that girls are not only in danger of being physically attacked, but also of being "tricked" or "cheated" into having sexual intercourse or into accepting a "false offer": "Everyone knows that, the things that could happen to such girls. When you come across such awful boys who do all kinds of things, they can rape a girl, beat her up terribly, take her somewhere and do what they want with her and leave her in the middle of the wood if they feel like it. Or he can tell you some lies and all kinds of things, and none of it is true. And there are girls who'd instantly believe anything they tell them. And what can such a girl hope for - nothing but some sort of trouble".<sup>598</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>593</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 14 years girl, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>594</sup>Montenegro- focus group interview, 16 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>595</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 17 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>596</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 14 years old girl, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>597</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 14 years old boy, IDP camp

 $<sup>^{598}\</sup>mbox{Montenegro}$  - focus group interview, 13 years old girl, IDP camp

With regards to girls, it is said that there are certain *"bad girls*" who children should stay away from. In the comments of children in Montenegro and Kosovo, it is evident that behaviour that is frowned upon or criticized by children is related to their sexuality and/or relationships with people of the opposite sex.

This is closely related to their freedom of movement in that girls who break certain rules set by their parents (often with the aim of restricting their contact with men) are described negatively. It is said that these girls *"talk to boys a lot and ramble around"*<sup>599</sup> and *"have loose manners, leave the camp, walk with boys, sometimes they even go to the town"*<sup>600</sup>.

Sometimes girls who were harassed by boys were said to have been responsible for this action because they are overly nice or familiar with boys and thereby leading them: "There, I tell them, it only happened because you were nice to him and he thinks you want something from him"<sup>601</sup>. It is said that these girls in particular, are more at risk of being harassed, assaulted and even "tricked" because they draw attention to themselves: Girls should be smart they shouldn't be deceived easily. They should be advised by their parents... because when a girl goes out dressed all like that then the boys look at her, she draws attention and she wont cross the street without someone picking on her.

A boy in Montenegro stated that it is easy to "trick" girls into having sexual intercourse by threatening to leave them, even when they appear to be unwilling initially: "But he can persuade you to do it against your will and you sleep with him so he doesn't leave you. These older ones have told me about that - if she doesn't want to, you just persuade her"<sup>602</sup>.

It is said that some girls can be easily "tricked" into engaging in prostitution by men who appear to be their friends or boyfriends. As a child in Romania states, "Sometimes it happens to walk on the street with a friend or meet somebody and he says that he is his best friend and he invites you to have a soft drink. If you accept, he will invite you then to have a beer and after that he will take you to his house and there he does what he does and he abuses you (have sexual contacts) and then he gets you out. I have heard of such situations, the girls have told me. I know a girl who lived in the centre and decided to go there without being forced. A friend of hers invited her there but he actually made her go so she would prostitute herself. She thought she was going there to be near her friend"<sup>603</sup>.

In Bosnia-Herzegovina, a girl in a shelter stated that in bars and discos some men purchase drinks for girls and then spike them with drugs: "Like, you leave the juice on the table and you are going out and someone previously asked you to date him, so you go to use the toilet and someone puts something in your drink and you go with him and so on"<sup>604</sup>. It is said that some girls fall for promises of money but end up being sexually assaulted: "boys can trick on girls, upset them and beat them up... they tell them: "come on I'll give you money" and they rape them"<sup>605</sup>.

It is also said that boys face greater physical threats from other boys, who expect them to be able to fight and use physical force. In this sense, constructions of masculinity must also be taken into

<sup>603</sup>Romania - individual interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>599</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 15 years old girl, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>600</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 14 years old girl, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>601</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 14 years old girl, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>602</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 13 years old boy, child, institutionalized child

 $<sup>^{604}\</sup>mbox{Bosnia-Herzegovina}$  - focus group interview, girls -16 years old, shelter children

 $<sup>^{605}\</sup>mbox{Kosovo}$  - individual interview, a 15 years old girl, street child

account when considering the risks that children perceive. For instance, a boy in the IDP camp stated: "It's dangerous for girls to leave the camp, and they shouldn't go anywhere unless accompanied by their brother or father, especially not at night, it's much more dangerous for them than it is for us boys. We are often together, so if someone bothers us, we fight, especially if it's the boys from the camp. It's always more difficult when it's the boys from the town, because they sometimes return with more friends and wait for us to have another fight, they are very dangerous and they can't stand not having their own way in everything, and they underestimate and discredit us in everything. If we don't want to fight, then we need to be humiliated and leave with our heads bent down, and they even follow us and tell us things to get us to say something, just one word, so they attack us"<sup>606</sup>.

So boys do not feel like, or are treated as men by their peers if they do not participate in violent activities. The issue of neighbourhood gangs emerged quite clearly in Romania and Kosovo, with boys stating that they are often physically threatened by other children of the same age, using knives and other weapons.

Many of the children across the seven countries/entities state that they are teased or excluded by their peers because they are Roma. For instance, a child in Montenegro stated: "Sometimes they tell me: "Look at you, dirty, ugly Gypsy" and they start pushing me and then hitting me harder and harder and swearing at me, and I didn't do anything to them"<sup>607</sup>.

In Serbia a child stated that he is forced to fight in response to teasing: "It was when we had a fight here. A boy called us names, "You Gipsy cunts, you Gipsy cunts, you mother fuckers", and we had a fight" <sup>608</sup>.

Another child in Kosovo complained that she does not attend school largely because she was harassed for being a Roma: "Well, those that are younger do socialize when their teacher is near them then they do play with the Roma children, but when he doesn't look they say to them: "go away you Gipsy"... I went to school here in our area in Ortakoll. Right after the war no one talked to me at school, there was only one girl that did. She would stay near me at school, but none of the other one's would, simply coz I was a "Gipsy" so no one spoke to me for 6 years"<sup>609</sup>.

A boy explained that he was not simply teased because he was Roma but because his clothes were not suitable. Given socio-economic realities, and the poverty that this ethnic group faces, it is evident that this bullying cannot be seen apart from an interaction of macro factors related to ethnicity and poverty, which are played out at the interpersonal relationships in the form of peer-to-peer violence. This had an effect upon the individual level, and his decision to leave school: "They pick on you when you don't have decent clothes, they say ooooooouuuu, look at the Gipsy, look at his clothes and because of things like that I quit school. If I would go then I'd be in grade 9 now"<sup>610</sup>.

For some children this teasing was related to the fact that they were refugees or internally displaced migrants in a politically unstable environment; this cannot be seen apart from macro political developments. For instance, a child working on the streets in Kosovo described the teasing as follows: "Well they were calling us Gypsies, don't come to school, go to Serbia"<sup>611</sup>.

<sup>608</sup>Serbia - individual interview, 13 years old boy, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>606</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 16 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>607</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, boy- 14 years old, IDP camp

 $<sup>^{609}\</sup>mbox{Kosovo}$  - focus group interview, 15 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>610</sup>Kosovo - focus group interview, 13 years old boy, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>611</sup>Kosovo - focus group interview, 14 years old boy, street child

#### Chapter 4 149

On the other hand, some of the children complained that they are targeted and bullied by children from Roma communities. For instance, a child in an institution in Romania stated: "Most Roma are dangerous. They pick on us all the time, when we went to buy seed for our teacher, when we went to carol they asked me and my friend to give them our money and we refused but he had a knife and told us that he would kill us. I began crying and finally we succeeded to run away"<sup>612</sup>.

Nationality and ethnic affiliation was also a source of bullying and this cannot be seen apart from macro political developments, war and political change. For instance, a child complained that she is teased by Croat children in Serbia. Street children in Kosovo were concerned about being beaten up by Albanian children. For instance, a street working child in Kosovo stated that he is harassed because Albanian children do not understand his ethnic background and think that he is Serbian: "There are some Albanian children who pick on me and won't leave me alone because I am of the Gorani community and they say that I am a Serbian and won't leave me alone. It is difficult for me here in Ferizaj because my neighbours pick on me very much for being a Gorani, and they think that I am a Serbian"

In Northern Mitrovica some of the children were concerned about Albanian children living on the Southern side. This was often related to the warnings that they had received from their parents: "My parent says not to go to the Albanian part of the street because it is dangerous. Albanians may beat us if we go to their side"<sup>614</sup>.

Exclusion, teasing or physical violence at the hands of peers was also related to being a refugee or an internally displaced person. For instance, a child in Montenegro stated that he did not like attending school because the other children *"looked at us as if we were not people just like them"*<sup>615</sup>.

Another child in this community explained that this is related to ignorance about their experiences and choices, and how their lives were affected by war and conflict – macro factors beyond their immediate control. It is also related to children's attempts to raise their own status. This child also associated this bullying with parental child rearing practices, and the freedom given to children:

"Well, they don't like us because we are refugees and because we are Roma. I don't know why we are refugees, as if it were any fault of mine. I didn't want to leave Kosovo or my home, but it had to happen, there was a war going on and it was dangerous. They don't know what it's like when there is a war and bombardments and someone gets killed. Or someone comes and kills your neighbour, and we are all scared then. But they are like that, they show off, as if they were better people than us. I think it all depends on the parents: the way they teach their children, that's what happens. If they make them do good, then it will be good for the children and for everyone else, and if they leave them to do what they want, then that's bad''<sup>616</sup>.

School attendance and/or performance were also a source of bullying. For instance, children in the IDP camp in Montenegro complained that they are harassed or beaten up at school, or teased by those who attend school. On the other hand, some children complained that if they attend school they are teased by those in the camp who do not attend school.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>612</sup>Romania - individual interview, 14 years old boy, institutionalized child

 $<sup>^{613}\</sup>mbox{Kosovo}$  - focus group interview, a 7 years old boy, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>614</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 13 years old boy, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>615</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 15 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>616</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 15 years old boy, IDP camp

Children in institutions also complained about being teased or bullied. This seemed to work in multiple ways. They complained that they were teased at school because they live in an institution, they are ostracized by children still living on the streets; and children living on the streets complained that they are bullied by children living in institutions. In Montenegro children complained that they were teased by children who they attend school with. They relate this to ignorance and the fact that these children do not understand the complex reasons why they are in the institution, and how this will affect them: *"They often tell us that our mother has rejected and left us. Which does not have to be the case, but they don't want to hear that. We can't convince them of something different"<sup>617</sup>.* 

Boys complained that other children beat them because they know that there are few people to defend them. Children in Romania complained that they are teased not only because the other children think that they are *"orphans"* but because they are not well-dressed. This relates yet again to the sense of relative deprivation shared by children in these institutions and in particular the perception that they are not well-provided for in relation to children living in other contexts, including those who live on the streets and are able to support themselves.

#### **Peer pressure**

Apart from ostracism, teasing and bullying, the children stated that a "bad friend" is one who pressurizes you to do something that you don't agree with. On the one hand, the extensive influence of the peer group cannot be denied. As a child in Montenegro stated, "My friends have a lot of influence on me, in everything: going out, clothes, everything. If no one wants to go out and I decided to, I sure would not go out alone, but would stay in the Home with them"<sup>618</sup>.

This influence operates largely by means of fear of exclusion or expulsion from a social group: children are concerned that they will lose friendships, and all that comes attached to it (including status and support) if they do not comply with a friend's wishes: "they suggest I do something or we go somewhere and I go although I know I may get punished for it. And I do as they say because I want to go there with them too, and to stay friends with them because maybe they'd get angry if I said no every time, or they'd stop being friends with me".<sup>619</sup>

In Bosnia-Herzegovina, children complained that some friends try to make them smoke or take drugs. A child complained that they try to make him drink alcohol because "they laugh at you if you don't join them"<sup>620</sup>. A boy in this institution stated that this practice is gender-specific, as is the manner in which it is viewed in relation to social norms and the manner in which certain behaviour is prohibited for females: "When everyone drinks alcohol around you, then it's stupid if you don't, they shut you out immediately. It's a bit not cool when a girl drinks alcohol, then it's stupid. Everyone looks at her in a different way"<sup>621</sup>.

In terms of the way in which gender is constructed, boys complained that they would be regarded as *"wimps"*<sup>622</sup> if they do not join in a brawl or are hesitant about using physical violence. A girl in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>617</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 14 years old boy, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>618</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 16 years old boy, institutionalized child

 $<sup>^{619}\</sup>mbox{Montenegro}$  - individual interview, 15 years old girl, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>620</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 13 years old boy, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>621</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 15 years old boy, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>622</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 13 years old boy, institutionalized child

Romania stated that it is important to resist the pressure exercised by one's friends to have sexual relations with a boy: "There are some girls who tell you that you should have a relation with a boy and try to persuade you to get involved in several relations and then they laugh at you.Yes, I've seen such cases. Or there are girls who say: "why don't you do it with that person", I mean, have sexual relations. If you don't want it, nobody can force you; they can tell you and hit you for nothing if you don't agree. There are persons who treat you kindly and try to convince me to go after some boys, to get me into what "go clubbing" means, to give up going to church and there are persons even here who want me to give up but I don't. You must always fight for what you want, because people tell you to do a thing or another, but if it doesn't fit you... I fight for what I want"<sup>623</sup>.

Despite this pressure, many children continue to evaluate their friends' decisions against their own beliefs and standards, or after a period of time undertake self-evaluation. For instance, a girl in a shelter in Kosovo stated that although she initially made the wrong decision to spend time with certain children who encouraged her to take drugs, in the end she realized that she had made a mistake and decided not to be friends with them. She attributed this *"wrong*" decision to the fact that she was experimenting and had little information about the negative consequences of such a decision: *"I went to different friends, I just stayed with my friends, in the streets, and that was when I started hanging out with this bunch of wrong people. When you spend time with different people you get to know many people. Some good some bad, so me too got to know such people, but I know how to evaluate people who is good to be friends with or not... at that time I started smoking weed with them together. But I managed to get away after a while, because sometimes you want to do some things but once you do them they you realize that it was not much really. So me too, I just wanted to try it out, not knowing what will happen then, but then I got out"<sup>624</sup>.* 

On the other hand, not all children agree with the advice of their friends: "perhaps they can shout at me sometimes, but nevertheless I do as I please"<sup>625</sup>. They may take it into consideration but then decide their own course of action: "Sometimes my friends influence my decisions, but I am the one who decides, although I think of all of them when making a decision"<sup>626</sup>. A child in Montenegro complained that his friends become too easily involved in physical fights. After attempting to negotiate with his friends, he often chooses to do otherwise: "Sometimes I can put up with so much without feeling bad, and then I feel content with myself much more than when I give in to their pressure and get into a fight"<sup>627</sup>.

Some children are selective about their friends and may even decide to end friendships if they do not agree with the way that their friends are acting: "Well, when I see that a friend of mine, boy or girl, is not as good as I thought, but I see they are bad to me, I stop being friends with them"<sup>628</sup>. Another child stated that he trusts his own judgment in this regard: "I can certainly judge if a person is good or not. I proved right every time"<sup>629</sup>. Some children complained that their parents would not let them decide who they could spend time with: "Well, that depends on my mother. She doesn't know all of my friends as well as I do. So she says this one or that one is not good for me and she doesn't let me be friends with her, and I know this girl better and I know she's a good friend. So I quarrel with her, but she has her

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>623</sup>Romania - individual interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>624</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 18 years old girl, shelter child

 $<sup>^{625}\</sup>mbox{Kosovo}$  - individual interview, a 15 years old girl, street child

 $<sup>^{626}\</sup>mbox{Montenegro}$  - individual interview, 15 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>627</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 16 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>628</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 15years old female, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>629</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, boy 15 years old, institutionalized child

way again. She's afraid of something bad happening to me, and that's why she doesn't want me to be friends with some girl she says is not proper"<sup>630</sup>. So their parents' restrictions are often made with their protection in mind. Girls were particularly concerned about the restrictions that their parents place on their friendships with boys.

#### Strategies to deal with negative peers

In order to respond to these "negative" or "bad" peers who exert a negative influence, tease or bully children, the respondents highlight a range of strategies. Some children feel that nothing can be done to stop them or alleviate the situation: "Well, you get insulted, humiliated, ridiculed. So you feel real bad, and you revolt inside, but you can't do anything"<sup>631</sup>; "You just bow your head and leave, there is nothing else to do"<sup>632</sup>. Others fight back or try to defend themselves, particularly if they have already tried various courses of action: "I really don't like to fight, and I try to prevent it. I often stay quiet when someone tells me something degrading, I try to act as if I never heard it. I have talked a lot about this with my friends, that it's a matter of intelligence, and we should not fall for their cheap tricks, you can get provoked wherever you go. However, there were times when we fought, but they were rare. Sometimes I can put up with so much without feeling bad, and then I feel content with myself much more than when I give in to their pressure and get into a fight"<sup>633</sup>.

Many ask their parents, teachers or other significant adults to defend them and stand up for their interests. This often has a range of unintended consequences. For instance, a child in an institution in Romania stated that she first tried to obtain a teacher's assistance when she was being harassed and beaten. When this failed to elicit results, she attacked the boy in class, and instead of helping her, the teacher punished her. In another case, a child in an IDP camp in Montenegro complained that by asking the camp leader to intervene, the boys used further violence in retaliation<sup>634</sup>.

Occasionally parents are called upon to intervene, with mixed results: "He took out a bat to attack me, but my father stood in front of me, asking him to stop. Then he hit my father on the head. What was I supposed to do? When he hit my father I saw blood and I hit him back"<sup>635</sup>.

A child in Montenegro was concerned that these "bad boys" would hurt his father if he called on his assistance, so instead he tries to negotiate with them or deflect their attention: "When they come, I offer them popcorn. They sometimes ridicule me for it and laugh at me and leave but sometimes they don't want to leave, but stand there just to make me feel afraid. I keep quiet and keep working and they leave"<sup>636</sup>. A child in this community expressed a similar concern: "It would be harder for me if something happened to my father or brother than if they didn't help me, and these boys did whatever they wanted to me"<sup>637</sup>. He was more concerned about the safety of his parent and sibling over his own wellbeing.

A child complained that his attempts at enlisting the support of his parent often failed and that his attempts to take matters in his own hands often led to increased violence from his father: "We

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>630</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child

 $<sup>^{631}\</sup>mbox{Montenegro}$  - focus group interview, 15 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>632</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, girl 15 years old, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>633</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 16 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>634</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 16 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>635</sup>Serbia - individual interview, 15 years old boy, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>636</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 15 years old boy, IDP camp

 $<sup>^{637}\</sup>mbox{Montenegro}$  - individual interview, 14 years old girl, IDP camp

used to go to the father and complain that his son was bothering us, and he does not do anything about it, so then we have to deal with it. Then my two friends and I deal with it immediately. And then my father punishes me, and his father does not punish him, and that's not fair. Because a father has to punish the children when they do wrong"<sup>638</sup>.

Alternatively, children call upon their friends to provide assistance. A child in Serbia stated that he often has to protect other children living and working on the streets: "I couldn't stand to watch him bully the children. I said to him, "If I ever see you again, you'll be dead meat". He said, "What do you mean by dead meat?" You know, he thinks that I will kill him, and I will not kill him, but beat him black and blue, and that's it, my man"<sup>639</sup>.

As a last resort, children run away from the scene and/or leave the environment where the bullying occurs. For instance, some children decide not to attend school as this is the site of where bullying occurs: "We don't feel good because now for example, we have to go to secondary school. Some can not come there because they are threatened that they will be beaten up, so that they must go to other schools, not in the school they like"<sup>640</sup>. Parents often take an active role in this regard. A girl working on the streets of Kosovo stated that her father first approached her teacher to stop the ongoing bullying that she faced, but when this failed he removed her from school.

Hence, it is evident that having friends is an important source of social support and resilience for many children who rely on them for advice, material assistance and protection. However, traffickers may pretend to be a friend to gain their trust and/or a friend might use direct and indirect pressure to exploit a child or push him/her into criminal activities and other activities that might place a child at risk. Peers are a source of teasing and bullying; a child seeking to escape such a situation may run away and be tempted by offers to go elsewhere.

## **Escape strategies**

Thus far this report has described the mechanisms and processes by which it is believed that children are trafficked. It has related these to the adversities that children have faced and sought to overcome in their daily lives through the development of various strategies. This section will focus on the notion that one strategy that many children employ when faced with adversity, is to escape. This will be linked to their perceptions of how victims of trafficking escape and survive. The respondents highlighted a number of difficulties associated with escaping from traffickers. However, many felt that children can escape from such a situation. This success is said to depend on a number of characteristics which will be outlined in this section. These characteristics will then be related to the children's own experiences in their daily lives, to show that their perceptions around the survival and courage of victims of trafficking reflect their own survival and courage in the face of adversities such as violence and exploitation.

### Escape from violence and adversity

The respondents in this study provided accounts of the ways in which they have escaped from situations which they have found to be adverse. This section will discuss the manner in which they

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>638</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 11 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>639</sup>Serbia - focus group interview, 16 years old boy, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>640</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 15 years old girl, school child

escape from their homes, institutions and other settings where they are subject to violence and exploitation. It will highlight in particular the manner in which these children exhibit the same strengths and resiliency factors which they regard as important for a child seeking to escape a trafficking scenario.

As has been mentioned throughout this report, children describe a sense of fear in relation to a number of different actors, places and events. They also highlighted the importance of courage in terms of survival on the streets and in other contexts where they feel unsafe. This bravery appeared in their descriptions of how they stood up to or defended themselves against a perpetrator of violence, and in the numerous accounts of how they protected someone else from violence and exploitation.

Many children expressed a high level of self-efficacy in relation to their ability to defend or protect themselves and that this requires a high level of courage. Some children described the manner in which they defended and tried to protect another person – adult or child – who was subject to violence. This person was often a parent who was subject to intimate partner violence, a sibling who was subject to physical abuse or a peer who was frequently bullied and beaten. In Kosovo, a girl claimed that a teacher knew she had been raped and then tried to convince her to have sex with him. When she refused he tried to do the same with her sister, so she intervened. Her comments suggest that he was trying to encourage her to convince her to go with him, and in response she threatened to inform the authorities. Her account reflects the bravery and courage that many children exhibit when faced with potentially risky situations:

"This one day my sister came from school and told me that the same teacher who picked on me also was not leaving my sister alone too. I told my sister not to worry because I would go to his office, and I did it the next day I met him. I told him I went there because I was older now and I have more experience now, so he started telling me about his dreams and was getting ready to go away from the city where we would spend time together and when we come back he would buy me a lot of clothes. When I saw that he was going on with it, and was serious about it, I told him do you realize that I could record all you have told me. I told the teacher that he will not be the one who would pick on my sister and my brother and make school hell for them, you are the principal because there was no one to protect me but there is someone who will protect them so stop trying to do that because I will go to the ministry of education and tell on you and you will be left without a job and on top of that you could be charged for misuse of your post and of the students..."<sup>641</sup>.

These acts of courage often have a range of unintended negative consequences, so that they may be a sign of resiliency on the one hand, but they may also lead to increased risks such as abandonment, further violence and exploitation. In terms of defending a parent, a girl in Bosnia-Herzegovina stated that she asked her father to stop shouting at her mother, but then she was beaten as a result. Other children used physical violence against an abusive parent. A child in Bosnia-Herzegovina tried to intervene in domestic violence, but was pushed out of the home as a result.

A girl in Albania stated that she tried to protect her brother's wife from being maltreated by her father but in the process was also subject to physical violence: "Sometimes when my dad quarrels with my brother's wife and hits her and I go to support her, he hits me too. Look at my bruises"<sup>642</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>641</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 18 years old girl, shelter child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>642</sup>Albania - focus group interview, 14 years old girl

A girl in Kosovo suffered a similar experience in that she was subject to physical abuse when she tried to prevent her father who had been drinking at the time, from hitting her mother who was suffering from asthma: "The time he hit my mother, I could not take it any more and I threw my self at him to confront him because I could not stand it any more and then he beat me up really bad"<sup>643</sup>.

Courage was also described in relation to other situations that they perceive to be adverse, such as countering a parent's choice of husband and running away to avoid an arranged marriage, as described in a previous section: "Sometimes a girl has enough courage and confronts her parents and runs off with the boy she likes, if he wants her for his wife"<sup>644</sup>.

Some girls deliberately lie to their parents about their whereabouts, even though they are aware of the potential risk of being physically punished for breaking the rules that restrict their freedom of movement: *"I make up a story to tell my father, all so he wouldn't find out*"<sup>645</sup>. The simple act of lying to a parent about the fact that one is not working is an act of bravery, particularly since a child may face violence if this is discovered.

The act of running away from home is also courageous because it is often undertaken alone and poses risks that are difficult to anticipate. The children described the process by which many weigh up the various options before deciding to leave. Many respondents were aware of the risks and potential outcomes, such as having to survive on one's own, and on this basis said that they would not consider running away: "What child has enough strength to confront his father and manage to get by alone? They would stay in the street on their own, all of their people would leave, I think that would be impossible. Such a child would be in great danger"<sup>646</sup>.

Another child in Bosnia-Herzegovina stated: "How can she run away? She might get lost and someone else can pick her up"<sup>647</sup>. So running away might lead to trafficking, exploitation and violence. A child in Kosovo suggested that such a decision is taken without forethought and proper consideration of the trafficking risks: "Perhaps she is getting beaten up in her house so she then tries to simply run away without putting any real thoughts on what could happen to her and believes people easy only not to return home, and the traffickers look for exactly such kinds of girls"<sup>648</sup>.

For some children, this decision was incomprehensible because it involves a loss of social supports: "I think they are stupid for running away from home because there they were protected by their parents in a way. They had roof over their heads and someone to help them"<sup>649</sup>.

On the other hand, after weighing up the options, some children felt that living on the streets is preferable to being subject to various forms of violence at home, as has been highlighted in previous sections. This was a risky strategy which some children were brave enough to take, largely because they have few other options.

As mentioned previously, the streets offer escape from violence, rules and restrictions and therefore provide children a greater degree of say, power and freedom of decision-making.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>643</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 18 years old girl, shelter child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>644</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 14 years old girl, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>645</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 15 years old girl, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>646</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 11 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>647</sup>Bosnia-Herzegovina - individual interview, 15 years old girl, street child

 $<sup>^{648}\</sup>mbox{Kosovo}$  - individual interview, 17 years old boy, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>649</sup>Serbia - individual interview, 17 years old girl, street child

However, the unintended consequence of this decision is that they are subject to harassment and violence from a range of actors, and may even be subject to coercion, exploitation and trafficking. This brave act of resiliency amounts to a risk for some children but when weighing up the risks, violence in the home is a more salient and possibly more tangible and immediate concern, than the vague, possibility of being trafficked.

Some children also decide to run away from institutions when they perceive it to be unfavourable, undesirable and often adverse. This is said to require planning and acting with forethought, which is often undertaken with the peer group: *"I also think it's on their mind all the time and they make plans, especially if there are more children there, and I think they can get organized in a way"*<sup>650</sup>.

Despite, the fact that they feel as though they are under constant surveillance by the staff in the shelter, they stated that there are ways to circumvent these constraints: "Well, yes, but you see, they control us and check we are here all the time, and still someone manages to run away, at least in the evening. There are ways. And I think children can find those ways"<sup>651</sup>.

This is one way in which they feel that they can exercise some control over their lives. Given the planning necessary to organize an escape, certain abilities and skills are said to be important: "But I think there is a way to escape from any situation; there are ways, they just need to be smart enough to discover them. There must be some children who manage to escape"<sup>652</sup>. Apart from considering how to escape, the children stated that it is necessary to consider the consequences of this decision, follow-up actions and possible supports. In this sense, it is often important to rely on the assistance of other children: "I think they also sometimes think of the ways to get out and what to do later, who they can turn to and such things. Also, if there are more children there with them, they sometimes hang out together"<sup>653</sup>. This once again highlights the value attached to the peer group as a form of social support.

For some children it is very important to leave the institution, even if simply for short periods: "I can't change being at the Home, but I can run off and be with my friends when I feel like going out, so those children can do as much. It's a tiny thing, but it's enough for me to fulfill my day"<sup>654</sup>. This reflects a previous argument that children desire some freedom and control over their lives. Some of the girls in this institution run away in the evenings to meet boyfriends, even though they may be subject to punishment for being caught is "plucking grass" or doing gardening.

A child in Serbia stated that she runs away from the institution because she would like to see her mother, whom she is forbidden from contacting. Another child in Serbia stated that she ran away after hearing that she would be taken to another institution, where in the past, she had not been allowed to watch television, and had been subject to tranquilization for *"unruly behaviour*".<sup>655</sup> A child in Bulgaria stated: *"Those, who do not belong there, run away*"<sup>656</sup> suggesting that only certain children should be institutionalized.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>650</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>651</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>652</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>653</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, a 15 years old girl, institutional child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>654</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, a 14 years old girl, institutional child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>655</sup>Serbia - individual interview, 16 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>656</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 17 years old girl, trafficked child

It is also said that conditions may be so bad in the institution that they have little choice but to escape permanently, and regardless of the options, anything is better than remaining: "The ones who can't put up with all that, they hit the ceiling. When you think about it, what could they lose anyway?"<sup>657</sup>

A child in Kosovo who ran away from a shelter to find her parents returned to the shelter when she failed to do so. She stated that she ran away purposefully to fulfill a particular outcome: "I was so ashamed; because I had decided to run away my self thinking that I would end up with a solution"<sup>658</sup>.

This highlights the extent to which a strategy that fails to elicit the desired results has an effect upon children's sense of self-esteem and self-efficacy.

In their attempts to escape an adverse situation, many children weigh up the option of turning to another actor for advice and assistance. A later section will describe their perceptions of various state and non-state actors who they have had contact with, other than those already mentioned in the report (staff in institutions and teachers), in order to understand whether children perceive them to provide adequate support to complement the bravery and courage that they exhibit. Nevertheless, it is important to note that children's belief that victims of trafficking are able to escape, is reflected in their own experiences and attempts at escaping violence and exploitation. Their beliefs about trafficking are therefore mediated by their own experiences and interpersonal relationships. These children require support not only during the process of escape but also after they have escaped.

### Escape from trafficking scenario

It will be argued that children's perceptions of how others escape from a trafficking scenario are derived from their own escape strategies in situations of violence and adversity. These escape strategies and perceptions are also influenced by a range of trafficking messages as was argued in a previous chapter. One of the reasons why children in Serbia and Bulgaria felt that escape is possible is because they had seen or read news broadcasts about girls who have been kidnapped but survived. A girl in Bulgaria highlighted the success story of a young victim of trafficking, which was shown on television: *"I know about a girl who was 15;I saw it on the TV. And despite all these she found will to escape"*<sup>659</sup>.

In terms of difficulties, the children highlighted the fact that those who are trafficked are taken to foreign countries, they are physically restrained or guarded closely. Some children felt that it is very difficult to escape in a foreign country because one would not know the language, not know where to go or who to turn to for support. Their choices in foreign environments are therefore constrained: *"It depends on each one's thinking; if you are abroad completely alone then you really don't have choices; you cannot go either left or right, forward or backwards. Their only choice is to run away because there is no other option; there is no one who can decide for them or a specialized institution they can apply to"<sup>660</sup>.* 

An identified victim of trafficking in Bosnia stated that she had been trafficked to Croatia and that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>657</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>658</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 18 years old girl, shelter child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>659</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 15 years old girl, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>660</sup>Romania - individual interview, 17 years old girl, street child

she was initially too afraid to run away because *"everyone was of other nationality"*<sup>661</sup>. As mentioned previously in relation to migration, having certain language skills which can be used in a foreign country are regarded as source of strength, as is possessing information about who to turn to for support in that country.

This is complicated by the fact that there is often more than one trafficker involved: "But it is not easy. In the movies, I know this from the movies it happens but it is difficult because it is not just one pimp but there is a network - they find you and there is no one to protect you abroad"<sup>662</sup>. The children felt that it may be impossible for a child to escape if they are physically restrained. This is exacerbated by the physical strength of the traffickers, particularly if the victim is a girl: "Unfortunately for her, since they were men, they got out of the car faster and, of course, they caught her. Escaping from them is not that easy"<sup>663</sup>. Yet again, this idea that child victims of trafficking tend to be young children or girls is reiterated, on the basis of their relative physical weakness.

The children stated that it may be difficult for a child to escape even when they are not physically restrained, if they are closely watched. It is said that even when children are forced to work on the streets traffickers remain close by, and this restricts their movement and ability to run away: "Because when they work they keep a close eye on them, they stay 1 meter away from them so there is nothing they can do, they cannot go anywhere"<sup>664</sup>.

The traffickers may resort to violence if an escape plan fails: "Well, it's not that easy, they have everything surrounded and they know what you're doing all the time. And you can't escape, because it's not that easy, and if you want to escape they capture you and torture you. They pour hot water over your legs and things like that..."<sup>665</sup>. For this reason, and the possible negative consequence of running away, some children suggested that they would not even try to escape. For instance, a child in a Bulgarian institution stated: "If, for example, they watch her very closely and if they have told her that if she leaves they will murder her or something like that; I wouldn't leave either, it's out of the question"<sup>666</sup>.

Despite these challenges it is said that certain children are able to escape from a trafficker, but this requires the following:

- Character and skills: bravery, determination, observation, negotiation and reasoning skills. Remaining calm under pressure
- Acting with forethought: Planning in advance, weighing up various options and the possible consequences of one's behaviour
- Opportunism: Seizing a moment, making on-the-spot decisions
- Escape alone, with others or with the support of others depending on the situation
- Rely on law enforcement authorities

As was argued above, a number of these characteristics appeared in their own descriptions of escape from violence and other forms of adversity.

The children suggested that fear or showing fear is likely to increase the risk of violence,

<sup>662</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 15 years old boy, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>661</sup>Bosnia-Herzegovina - focus group interview, 17 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>663</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 14 years old boy, institutionalized child<sup>664</sup>Albania - focus group interview, 15 years old girl

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>665</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 14 years old boy, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>666</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 16 years old girl, institutionalized child

exploitation and trafficking. A child working on the streets of Bosnia-Herzegovina described her fear as follows: "That means, I psychologically I don't feel good. I'm very nervous and that makes me psychologically weaker... I simply can't describe that, that is indescribable. I'm simply losing the feeling of safety. It took me some time to gain safety, to stand on solid ground, like a concrete and I'm mixed into it and I stand firmly, and now it's like I'm on a sheet, there is no surface"<sup>667</sup>. So fear may increase the chance of being trafficked, but it may also thwart the desire to escape a trafficking situation.

The respondents held that a victim of trafficking can only overcome barriers such as physical restraints, being guarded and threatened by exhibiting courage. It is said that some children are too afraid to run away especially if they have been subjected to physical violence at the hands of traffickers: they weigh up the options, and given the risk of further violence, they do not attempt to escape. The decision to escape is therefore highly constrained by the absence of alternative choices, a lack of information and an overarching sense of fear. As a girl in a Romanian institution explained, *"It is really difficult to get out from such a situation. I don't know, I don't think these girls can decide. Once they get there they have to do what these persons tell them to, that's what I think. Or they can try to escape... Well, I think they are really scared, you go to another country, you don't know anybody and you feel yourself bind hand and foot, well I think you must be horrified there. Maybe some of them are more courageous and they are not afraid but I think most of them are afraid. They already know, they can feel what is happening, if they are tied and beaten... I don't know if they can decide when they have their hands and feet bound, I don't think they can, once you have been caught, and if you want to run away but if you don't know where to go and if that person also has a car comes after you and captures you again"<sup>668</sup>.* 

In general, the children who felt that escape was possible stated that bravery and courage were necessary. Determination is also an important asset: *"It is a matter of not giving up"<sup>669</sup>*. In addition, it was felt that particular observation skills are necessary as well as the ability to act with forethought and plan one's escape in advance. It was also said that remaining calm and possessing a degree of creativity could assist a child seeking to escape. For instance, a child in Bulgaria stated that someone had attempted to traffic her and after considering the options, instead of screaming or calling out for assistance, she decided to fabricate a story about an illness that would play on the trafficker's pity and concern:

"It was late in the evening, it was dark. I started asking myself, What would happen to me now? but I didn't panic. I was waiting for him to say something because I was afraid to say anything. At one point I asked: "Where will X wait for us, he won't be long, right?" and he said: "If you want we can pull over here somewhere and wait for the time to pass." I said... "No, there is no need, let's get back to the town". I started telling him about a made-up disease that I didn't feel well, and I had seizures and if someone touched me I turned blue. I started complaining that I couldn't go to a party like a normal person because I felt faint. And I sensed that he started worrying. And he was old. Well, not very old but elderly. He started comforting me. "Everything would be alright, you will be cured, you will see..." and he turned the car right away and we returned to the town. If I had started screaming, I don't know what he might have done, he might have beaten me, or he might have raped me. So when a person is abroad and he falls into a difficult situation he should keep his head cool and think up of something". <sup>670</sup>

<sup>669</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 15 years old boy, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>667</sup>Bosnia-Herzegovina - focus group interview, 14 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>668</sup>Romania - individual interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>670</sup>Bulgaria - focus group interview, boys and girls -14-18 years old, school children

Negotiation and reasoning skills are therefore also important when attempting to escape.

Hence, it is held that before deciding to risk escape, children need to weigh up their options carefully. Some of the respondents stated that when compared to being trafficked and exploited, all other options will appear favourable and therefore escape is not only desirable but necessary.

This is echoed by two girls in an institution in Montenegro: "I'd escape regardless of that, I'd find some way. Let them kill me if I don't succeed, I couldn't live if someone tortured me like that"<sup>671</sup>; "Well, the only thing I could tell them would be, if they see some kind of escape from that awful situation, to use it, because there's no way they can be worse off, at least that's what I think"<sup>672</sup>. It is said that violence and exploitation will make such a decision unavoidable: "Bad treatment can also make you want to escape. Insults, harassment, and you just can't stand it any more"<sup>673</sup>.

It is held that gaining a trafficker's trust over time is an important strategy when planning to escape: "They started to trust her and that's how she found a way to escape"<sup>674</sup>. An identified victim of trafficking in Bulgaria stated that she knew that this was an important strategy because she had been involved in a training workshop on trafficking before having been trafficked, and used this information to escape: "I wanted to run away because he wanted me to sleep with others. I started to feel that he is not the man I thought him to be. Around two months after I ran away. [We stop the interview for a little break]... They must try to escape in some way... I also went to training about trafficking when I was in the home but I couldn't recognize the situation. When I found out that this would happen I was aggressive and later I remembered that they told us not directly to oppose them but to win their trust and then to escape"<sup>675</sup>.

Hence, having information about what to do when confronted by potential traffickers is important when planning an escape.

The respondents stated that even though it is important to act with forethought, it is also important to be opportunistic and wait for the right moment to escape. In other words, one needs to take advantage of the situation and the possibility that a trafficker has made a mistake, and seize the moment to escape. For instance, a child in Serbia stated that if they force a child to beg or to steal, there is an opportunity to run away because children cannot be guarded all the time: *"For instance, they let you mooch and you take stock of the situation, you know, and as soon as there is an opportunity you step on the gas"*<sup>676</sup>. When describing the escape strategy of a child, a girl in Bosnia-Herzegovina stated that when she is exploited and forced to work on the streets, she should save some money for herself and use it to get a taxi when the opportunity arises<sup>677</sup>.

A girl working on the streets in Bosnia-Herzegovina revealed that someone had attempted to traffic her but when they stopped for petrol and telephone cards, she made an on the spot decision to runaway: "There was a gas station across the road, X went to a store to buy phone cards while this one was by the door. My door was open because X sat next to me and that man was driving, they

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>671</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 15 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>672</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 14 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>673</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 15 years old girl, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>674</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 16 years old boy, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>675</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 17 years old girl, trafficked child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>676</sup>Serbia - focus group interview, an 18 years old boy, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>677</sup>Bosnia-Herzegovina - focus group interview, 16 years old girl

switched a lot. Without thinking I ran out and went to that gas station. I was so scared when I bumped in, I don't know what happened next. When I pulled myself together I was in a car, police car and went away. Yes, I didn't know for myself, how I got there"<sup>678</sup>.

It is said that when deciding whether to escape, it is necessary to think carefully about whether one will do this alone or enlist the support of others. There seemed to be a mixed reaction to this, with some children stating that it is easier to escape alone as one can go undetected and one does not have to listen to others who may ruin the plan, but others argued that it is only by helping another child to escape, or by asking for the support of someone with more power, that an escape plan will succeed. However, asking for such support might require courage. This is evident in a quote from a boy in a Montenegrin institution, who compared some of the failed collective plans of children in this institution to the possible failure of a joint plan to escape: *"Yeah, right, that's a flop, it's like us in the Home: whenever we need to organize something, there's someone who ruins the idea. I think they consider any kind of escape on their own, I think that's easier for them. And safer... Well, if they work in the streets, some children like to talk to the people passing by, and some people may help them, so they muster the courage to tell them about the things they are suffering"<sup>679</sup>.* 

Some children felt that it was necessary to devise joint escape plans so as to help each other. In Bulgaria, an identified victim of trafficking stated that she helped another girl escape: "They brought a girl from Bulgaria, a very pretty girl, 18-19 years old from T. We became friends with her. I helped her to escape and we live together in Germany now..."<sup>680</sup>. When asked how she managed to escape she stated that a person who was or pretended to be a client called the police to assist them. She describes him as a friend: "He is a Turkish but lives in Germany. He has a daughter and he is separated with his wife. He was coming there and liked me. He wanted to be with me every time. They started to suspect something. They told him to get another one but he was telling them that he pays and he wants me and no one else. He told the police where we were and they found us".<sup>681</sup> "Positive peer relationships" are therefore an important source of strength in this situation as was revealed in a previous chapter.

A child working on the streets in Romania stated that the only way in which children can escape is if they turn to others for assistance; this is a decision that children can make even when they are trafficked: "They can escape; if they really don't want to do this thing, they can say so. I don't think there is anyone who can force them. They can fully decide. If you see your decision is not respected then you turn to other persons, situations that might help you…"<sup>682</sup>. This is echoed by a child in Bulgaria: "Well if someone helps them they will try immediately to save themselves. But when there is no way to escape they just put up with it"<sup>683</sup>. In other words, social supports are essential when seeking to survive a trafficking situation.

Many respondents stated that a child victim of trafficking will only escape successfully if they enlist the support of the police. This is a decision that they can make to exercise some control over their lives, as a child in Bosnia-Herzegovina stated: "Can the children who are trafficking victims decide about their own destiny? I think they can't. They can only if they run away. If they can, they can

- <sup>679</sup>Montenegro focus group interview, a 16 years old boy, institutionalized child
- <sup>680</sup>Bulgaria individual interview, 14 years old girl, trafficked child
- <sup>681</sup>Bulgaria individual interview, 14 years old girl, trafficked child
- <sup>682</sup>Romania individual interview, 17 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>678</sup>Bosnia-Herzegovina - focus group interview, 14 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>683</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 16 years old boy, school child

when they escape and tell the police<sup>3684</sup>. This decision is also said to require bravery, as an identified victim of trafficking in Bulgaria stated: *"The girls must be brave to tell about it so such people can be caught*<sup>685</sup>. Hence, bravery, self-efficacy and feeling in control of a situation and the ability to seek support are important resilience characteristics. They are not fixed but are relational in that they emerge in contact and in relationships with other actors such as the police.

A child in Kosovo expressed the concern that the police could not be trusted because they are working in cahoots with traffickers, and may therefore assist them in trafficking a child rather than assisting and protecting this child: "And then, you know, they take this passport from you and you can not even go to the police, because the police cooperates with these people as well, for example the police can know when someone crosses the border with a passport that doesn't belong to him. They, the traffickers, cooperate with the police, I even think they do it together even"<sup>686</sup>.Yet again, this points to the importance children place in trust when determining who they can seek support from.

Some children felt that the police are able to find missing children; however, some were skeptical about the ability of the police to find these traffickers: *"If the police is informed, they would do something. But they don't really know where the trafficker's nests are*"<sup>687</sup>. It is held to be important to report the incidence to the police, however, it needs to be borne in mind that some children do not want to have to experience lengthy court processes or have to speak to people who may not be sensitive to their experiences, and on this basis decide not to inform the police.

It is evident that feeling understood is extremely important when seeking assistance from law enforcement authorities. This will enable children to express their concerns and reveal their experiences, which will not only be necessary for law enforcement purposes, but also in the process of coping with the effects of adversity and trafficking.

## The effects of violence and trafficking

In this section it will be argued that children's perceptions about trafficking, its causes and effects are often mediated by the meaning they attached to experiences of violence they have experienced in their daily lives. Many refer to the effects it has on their physical wellbeing and on their emotional and psychological well-being with specific references to shock, an unwillingness to share experiences, anger, low self-efficacy and a sense of social exclusion.

### The effects of violence

The effect of witnessing and/or experiencing violence was said to have had an impact on the respondents' physical well-being.

In order to process or come to terms with their experiences, children try to understand perpetrators' motives. Some children suggested that their parents may have a mental illness because their behaviour is often so "deviant", "abnormal" and "abhorrent" particularly when it involves

<sup>686</sup>Kosovo - focus group interview, 15 years old boy, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>684</sup>Bosnia-Herzegovina - focus group interview, 16 years old girl

 $<sup>^{685}\</sup>text{Bulgaria}$  - individual interview, 17 years old girl, trafficked child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>687</sup> Romania - individual interview, 18 years old girl

using violence against a child. For instance, a child in a shelter in Kosovo who was physically abused by her father stated: *"I think my dad is schizophrenic, if he was not he would not treat me otherwise like that"*<sup>688</sup>. This is echoed by another child in Serbia who witnesses other family members being physically hurt by their father: *"Because my father is mentally unwell. He gets drunk and I think he'll hurt my sister or my mother"*<sup>689</sup>. It is only by referring to psychopathology that some children can make sense of the fact that parents may hurt their own children. Interestingly, a similar explanation was provided for why some children are trafficked by their parents, as will be highlighted below. In other words, children's attempts to explain or understand trafficking are mediated by their own experiences, and the meaning they attach to them.

In terms of the effects of experiencing violence and maltreatment, many of the children referred to the same emotions and feelings ascribed to victims of trafficking. Some children did not want to talk about these experiences because they would bring back terrible memories that they were trying to forget. A child stated that just the act of asking her to talk about her past is painful because it stands as a reminder for what she has had to endure. She feels that her own unwillingness to discuss these feelings testifies to the fact that she has not fully dealt with them, which is in itself a painful realization. A child in Kosovo stated that despite the efforts of psychologists, her sister will not share her experiences of abuse, even with her. It was argued previously that children feel it is important to share their concerns and problems with others whom they trust, and this was perceived as a source of strength and resiliency in a range of situations. It is evident that children who experience violence are less likely to share these experiences and/or place trust in others; this might affect their resiliency in the long term. This might not be because they are not *able* to trust *per se*, but as trust is so relational and negotiated in the context of relationships, it might be because they believe that the other person is not listening to them, doesn't understand them, doesn't respect their decisions and does not trust them.

In relation to violent experiences at the hands of her father and boyfriend, a girl in Romania stated: *"I think that if you have the mind I have now, I wouldn't trust anyone else. Everybody trusts or has trust in someone but not really like I do"<sup>690</sup>. So retrospectively she wishes that she had not trusted the boyfriend who abused her. Some children state that it will affect their ability to trust people in future. A child in Bulgaria suggested that her previous experiences of abuse have made it difficult for her to trust people and have adversely affected her performance at school.* 

### The effects of trafficking

When trying to understand why some children are trafficked, a few respondents drew attention to mental illness as a factor behind why some people traffic children. Particular reference was made to parents in this regard. As a child in Montenegro stated, "Well I guess the ones whose parent's aren't sane. Only insane people can do such a thing"<sup>691</sup>. A child in Montenegro also associated mental illness with alcohol abuse, when describing which children are at risk of being trafficked: "Unfortunate children with a crazy father, because usually fathers do that, a mother is not likely to do that. Can he be normal, a father who sells his child just to be able to take some money for his own child and use it to buy drinks? At least that's what people say, that people who don't have

<sup>688</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, an 18 years old girl, shelter child <sup>689</sup>Serbia - focus group interview, 13 years old boy, shelter child

<sup>690</sup>Romania - individual interview, 16 years old girl

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>691</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 15 years old girl, IDP camp

anything and are poor do that. So many people are poor, and they don't sell their children. So that means they are not just poor but sick, insane, and should be erased from the earth"<sup>692</sup>.

In other words, poverty is not an adequate explanation for child trafficking, but it is associated with a perpetrator's alcoholism and psychopathology. This is echoed in the children's attempts to make sense of or derive meaning from their own experiences of violence as was argued above. The idea that a parent can hurt a child is as incomprehensible as the idea of someone trafficking a child, someone who may be a parent.

It is said that children who are trafficked suffer in many ways, not simply physical but also emotional and psychological. It is said that such children would not be able to sleep and would not want to discuss their experiences with anyone. It is also said that this will have an effect upon their health and physical wellbeing: *"This child that I imagine would look exhausted, would have nightmares every night, would stutter due to the fear and would be restless"*<sup>693</sup>. A child in Montenegro illustrated it as follows: *"I painted everything black, as that's what it would probably look like to this child"*<sup>694</sup>.

It is said that they will find it difficult to trust anyone and their lives will be dominated by fear: "After having a life like that, I think they don't hope for anything. And they fear everything. They are afraid if someone gives them a nasty look, after what they have probably been through"<sup>695</sup>. As argued in a previous section fear is perceived to be a source of weakness for children seeking to develop various protection and survival strategies.

It is said that this affects their self-efficacy and in particular their ability to exercise control over their lives. It is also said that this increases their sense of anger and injustice, and might make them feel lonely and socially excluded: *"I also think that they hate the person who bought them, the one they have to do things for. And they are angry at everyone, they can't stand talking about anything. On the other hand, they feel rejected by everyone, because how can they go back anywhere? I think they think who would ever take them like that anywhere and how they would fit anywhere"<sup>696</sup>. This sense of social exclusion has elsewhere been highlighted as a risk factor by children in institutions and children living on the streets. It is said to make them more vulnerable to peer pressure, to the compliments and small acts of kindness exhibited by strangers, who may then hurt, exploit or traffic them.* 

An identified victim of trafficking in Bulgaria stated that her psychologist was of great assistance in helping her deal with her experiences of sexual abuse and other forms of maltreatment: "I hated myself even when this thing in my family happened but I remember that the psychologist from the home told me not to blame myself about this... A psychologist was coming to talk with me. I told her that I wanted to begin a new life and she offered me a choice to stay there, or to come to this shelter. I talk every day with my psychologist; she is great. But I rarely take advice. I know that she would help me but it is a long process"<sup>697</sup>.

Children in Bulgaria discussed at length whether a child who has been trafficked will be accepted at home. Some respondents felt that if children are forced to leave and had little choice, they

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>692</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 15 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>693</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 14 years old boy, institutionalized child

 $<sup>^{694}\</sup>mbox{Montenegro}$  - focus group interview, 14 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>695</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 15 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>696</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 16 years old boy, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>697</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 17 years old girl, trafficked child

will be accepted back by their parents. Other children stated that this acceptance will depend on the type of activities they are forced to do. In particular, it was felt *"if the girl was a prostitute there, the reception won't be very warm*"<sup>698</sup>. It was explained that this is related to the social stigma attached to this activity particularly in small towns where it is difficult to keep secrets: *"it will be embarrassing what they were doing there*"<sup>699</sup>.

This was reflected in a previous chapter which highlighted the importance attached to virginity in many communities, and the manner in which a child who is only thought to be sexually active is believed to bring shame upon herself and her whole family. Many girls are therefore blamed regardless of whether the sexual relations were consensual or not, although this does not occur in all contexts in the same way or to the same extent. Some children highlighted the fact that regardless of what girls say about what they are forced to do, they will not be believed and trusted. Instead, it will be assumed that they were involved in prostitution: *"It is worse with the girls because the first thing that the father would think about is that his daughter was selling her body for money and it will be hard to accept her"*<sup>700</sup>. In contrast, it will be assumed that boys are not involved in the sex industry and/or they are unlikely to reveal this information. These perceptions relate to the manner in which gender is constructed and the expectations surrounding the activities that boys and girls can or should engage in, as described above. It is also related to children's belief that they are not trusted and/or their concerns are not heard.

It has been argued that children's perceptions about trafficking are influenced by their own experiences in their daily lives. In particular, the manner in which they describe the effects of violence resonates in their accounts of victims of trafficking. The next chapter will describe how they perceive the institutional and organizational support that they receive and link this up with their recommendations on how to prevent trafficking.

## Evidence-based policy: Institutional and organizational support

This section will describe the institutional and organizational support that the child respondents perceive to be available. In particular it will refer to their perceptions of the following actors:

- Social workers
- Psychologists
- Doctors
- The police
- State officials and politicians
- NGOs and INGOs

It will be argued that a number of themes appear throughout their comments, namely their desire to be heard, trusted, given information, freedom and decision-making power. Their experiences with the actors listed above are reflected in their general recommendations on how to prevent trafficking.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>698</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 17 years old girl, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>699</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 15 years old girl, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>700</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 16 years old boy, school child

#### Social workers:

Some children stated that it is important to turn to social workers for support. In an institution in Montenegro, many children felt that social workers could potentially help them find identity cards and employment after they leave. A child stated that if she encounters problems after she leaves she would return to the institution and talk to the social worker: *"Then maybe they would have some temporary solution, and they'd surely consult the director. I didn't mean he'd remember me, but he would know what the problem was and perhaps he would call someone"*. She did however add that she has never seen anyone return to the institution seeking assistance<sup>701</sup>.

A child in Serbia suggested that social workers are important when children on the streets do not have support from parents or the peer group: *"If they don't have parents then there are friends. If there are no friends, then there are social work services, for instance. As the children have nowhere to go, they take them to a shelter"*<sup>702</sup>. As mentioned in a previous section, although some children living in institutions were very critical of the staff, their treatment and care, children who were not living in institutions often felt that this was a preferable option to living on the streets because *"there is someone who takes care for them after all. They help them. If you live on the street who is going to help you"*<sup>703</sup>.

A child in Kosovo stated that she was removed from her home after she reported violence at the hands of her father. She was initially unhappy about being placed in a shelter, but stated that there she has received all the care and support she needs: "When I first went there I was very afraid, I was thinking what is this place and how is it there. When I saw the door of steel that really freaked me out, that was until I went in, and then I saw that everything was just lovely inside, and I stayed for quite a long time there. I met three friends there and we would get along great. The staff in the shelter got me back to a normal life and I am forever grateful about that, and I do not know how will I be able to ever return the favours they did for me"<sup>704</sup>.

Some of the children made negative comments about social workers that they had come into contact with. On this basis, they state that they are unlikely to share their problems and concerns with them. A child in Montenegro described social workers who came to her home in the IDP camp as intrusive: "It happens to me, most often when some unknown people come to our house to talk to father and they want to ask me about something to see me and then tell what I am like. Precisely because I know why they are addressing me, I get confused, and not only that, I get terribly embarrassed, and I don't like their behavior and the reason they speak to me, and that makes me angrier".<sup>705</sup>

A child working on the streets in Kosovo complained that when social workers visit her home, she is not consulted. Instead, priority is given to her father's perspective despite the fact that he is the perpetrator of various forms of violence in her household. A similar sentiment was echoed by a child living in a shelter who suggested that social workers would like to take her home in spite the fact that she does not want to return home, where she is forced against her will to work. This girl's perceptions are not being taken into account by those purporting to care for her: *"Social workers want to take me back home, and I do not even want to go back there again, as a matter of fact the* 

<sup>702</sup>Serbia - individual interview, 15 years old boy, street child

<sup>703</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 15 years old boy, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>701</sup>Montenegro - focus group internview, 17years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>704</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 18 years old girl, shelter child

 $<sup>^{705}\</sup>mbox{Montenegro}$  - focus group interview, 13 years old girl, IDP camp

people here want to organize a trip to visit my house, which is deep in the forest and they will get to see where my house is, and I would spend the whole days there working"<sup>706</sup>.

#### **Psychologists:**

In a few instances, psychologists were described in a positive manner and their advice and comments are taken on board by children. A child in Montenegro stated: "Some times I like to talk to our psychologist, so when she tells me something that seems OK, I accept that"<sup>707</sup>. In Bulgaria, a child described her school counselor as "cool" and someone she always contacts in times of trouble. A child working on the streets in Kosovo stated that she often speaks to a counselor and recommends that more psychologists should be made available to children. However, psychologists were also described in a negative manner. It is held that they do not listen to children because they feel that "they know everything": "The psychologist is not interested; he knows all that stuff"<sup>708</sup>. A child in Kosovo complained that she cannot turn to the psychologist at her school for support because of the stigma attached to it: "If you go to see her then other children immediately think there is something wrong with you"<sup>709</sup>.

#### **Doctors:**

Children sometimes described doctors in a positive light. Reference was often made to the way that they have treated a sick friend, sibling or parent. A child in Bulgaria said that doctors can be trusted, are very reliable and able to help children in times of trouble. Some children working on the streets of Kosovo complimented doctors because they were providing information to children – something which others have failed to do: "no-one ever called us. Today here in our street in Mother Theresa hospital, X together with some doctors holds lessons about hygiene, women and girls' health"<sup>710</sup>.

On the other hand, many children's comments about doctors were critical because the care that they received was perceived to be inadequate. A child in Bulgaria complained that doctors fail to fulfill their duties with regards to their child patients: "We went to the hospital once because something happened to one boy's leg and it swelled. We waited for two hours for a doctor to climb the stairs from the second to the third floor... Here, in our town, if you need any kind of help or assistance, not only the doctors, they will first finish drinking their coffee, they will smoke a cigarette and then if they want to they will come and do their job. And if he doesn't feel like doing it you can't make him do anything"<sup>711</sup>. It was held that doctors are simply concerned about their jobs and salaries and not about their children's wellbeing. In addition, they do not believe children who claim to have health problems, once again highlighting children's perception that adults do not trust them: "Oh, come on, the doctor who's just waiting for the salary. And never believes us... Fine, when someone has a real headache she says "You're lying", and when someone doesn't have a headache she gives them injections"<sup>712</sup>. When discussing a hypothetical story of someone who is kidnapped, a child in Romania suggested that doctors blamed the girl for being subject to physical violence, and failed to provide her with adequate care: "The girl is disgusted with the attitude of those working in the hospital because they have treated her "as if it

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>706</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, an 18 years old girl, shelter child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>707</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, a 15 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>708</sup>Serbia - individual interview, 13 years old boy, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>709</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, a 15 years old girl, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>710</sup>Kosovo - focus group interview, 10 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>711</sup>Bulgaria - focus group interview, boys and girls -14-18 years old, school children

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>712</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, a 14 years old girl, institutionalized child

was my fault I couldn't breathe anymore". They did not even give her medicine that night"<sup>713</sup>.

#### **Police:**

Generally, children felt that those who are subject to trafficking should report it to the police. Yet the children themselves were unhappy with the support that they had received from the police in the past. A few small examples were provided by children who attested to their positive treatment at the hands of the police; however, these examples were about a few individuals who through their acts of kindness made a lasting impression on children. A child who lives and works on the streets stated that a police-man regularly buys him fruit juice or food from a bakery. Another child recalled that a policeman defended him against older boys who were harassing him because he is a Roma. A child in Bosnia-Herzegovina who was collected by the police stated that they even offered her money and food, which in her opinion means that some policemen can be trusted: "There is some good police, I swear to God, they put us in a van, took us to the station, asked who wants one KM and I said I do. Then the other one told that the youngest one of us will get 5 KM, they bought pie, milk and everything to me. And cookies"714. Many of the children stated that "it is their job to make us feel safe"<sup>715</sup> so would turn to the police when facing violence. So for instance, a child who lives and works on the street in Serbia said: "Well, they help. When someone bothers us we run over there across the road. There is a kiosk there with a policeman... We go there and tell him when someone bothers us, or when someone wants to beat us on the way out of a disco. We run to him and he comes out and tells them not to beat us and to leave us alone. So he talks nicely to them and they go away"716.

However, children working on the streets also complained about the police and said that they would not turn to them for support. A child in Serbia complained: "They harass us, everyday"<sup>717</sup>. Another child explained that when they clean windshields "the police come and tell us to go away. We ask them what else to do, and they say "Go and steal, but when I catch you'll be even worse off""<sup>718</sup>. A child in Kosovo (who lives at home) stated that when she is trying to work on the streets the police keep trying to take her away and return her to her parents. As a result, she tries to run away from them: "Some police officers. Because this one time these cops took me as I was selling lighters in front of the shopping mall and then they took me and send me home, and then they spoke to my mom and dad. And then these cops told my sister you can not go to school because you are too old... This one time they wanted to take us away, but we ran away"<sup>719</sup>. By picking up children and returning them to their families, their work and daily income is interrupted. Despite the efforts of the police, the children continue to work on the streets to fulfill a number of needs, including their interpersonal responsibilities to family members as was argued in a previous section.

Children living at home also complained that the police failed to protect them and other family members from violence. For instance, a child in Bosnia-Herzegovina stated that the police did not protect her mother and siblings from the violence they were subjected to at the hands of his father: "They didn't really help us and they said that they would come to our house every two weeks and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>713</sup>Romania - individual interview, 15 years old girl,

<sup>714</sup>Bosnia-Herzegovina - individual interview, 7 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>715</sup>Kosovo - focus group interview, boys 12-18 years old, street children

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>716</sup>Serbia - individual interview, 13 years old boy, street child

<sup>717</sup>Serbia - individual interview, 13 years old boy, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>718</sup>Serbia - individual interview, 15 years old boy, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>719</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 8 years old girl, street child

my mum replied that we can be dead 'till then"<sup>720</sup>. The following lengthy quote from a child in a shelter in Kosovo who reported her alcoholic, abusive father to the police, highlights the extent to which children are often not believed or trusted; children are not informed about the prosecution/ legal process; children are not offered any alternatives; and the alternatives that children are offered, are often not perceived to be viable:

"I went to the police several times, and they said we will contact you in two or three days, but they would never do that. I would tell them get my dad because he is very drunk, measure the alcohol in his body, and believe it or not they did not even know you can actually do that, until I explained it to them what that was... I did not know where to go, so I went to the police again, the police took straight away to the doctors and went and arrested my father and sent him to jail. I do not know what further happened with the court because I gave my statement and then I went back home and I stayed there... I went to the police and told them that I do not have anywhere to go anymore, because even my real family does not want me. They would tell me that ever since I went to them I ruined the calmness and harmony in the family. So I went to the police and told them about it, and they told me that the only option is to go to a shelter which is for the protection of women and children, but they also told me that it was temporary. I did not want to go there because they were not offering me a solution and I did not want to stay with women"<sup>721</sup>.

A child in Bosnia-Herzegovina stated that after reporting his father to the police for beating him and his sister with metal chains, he has had to take responsibility for his own life. The police are not offering him alternatives: "Well, I reported him, and I said what happened and now he feels bad about that. That's it, and now it's over, I had enough of everything, I don't want to see him ever again, I don't know, I will fight for myself and we'll see what was God's plan for me"<sup>722</sup>.

A child in a shelter in Kosovo who had been raped complained that when she reported the incident to the police, they did not consider confidentiality issues and the sensitive nature of the experience she went through. Instead they released information to the media, which in turn revealed important information about her identity to the public. This added to the stigma that she faced and her sense of social exclusion, which made it more difficult for her to integrate into the community: "Then I went to the police and gave a statement about being raped and then there was some procedure and the boys were sentenced 3 years, all three of them. I can say one thing about our police and our media, that they are not careful at all, because the next day when I reported the case to the police and TV and the Radio told about a 14 years old girl who was raped by three boys and they also gave my first letters of my name and surname, and the first letter of the village I came from and after a short while the entire village I live in understood that I was the one and there are only two of us with those first letters in our village and the other girl is 20, so they figured it out that it was me who was raped"<sup>723</sup>.

It is said that macro, socio-political factors have also affected the effectiveness of the police in solving children's safety and security issues. A child in Kosovo complained that the police tend to assist children depending on their ethnicity: "Sometimes some police officers pay more attention to Albanian children rather then Ashkali children"<sup>724</sup>. Another child relayed the comment made by his father that prior to the war the Serbian police were more effective than the current police force: "When I talk to my dad sometimes about this thing, he often cusses at the police. He says that the cops

<sup>721</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, an 18 years old girl, shelter child

 $<sup>^{720}\</sup>mbox{Bosnia-Herzegovina}$  - focus group interview, 11 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>722</sup>Bosnia-Herzegovina - focus group interview, 16 years old boy, shelter child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>723</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 18 years old girl, shelter child

 $<sup>^{724}\</sup>mbox{Kosovo}$  - individual interview, 15 years old boy, street child

before the war when there was only the Serbian police in force, they would do many foot patrols, walking up and down on their feet, and I would also agree with my father, because look at these policemen today, they are all High Gentlemen who don't leave the police-car car seats, and are to lazy to do some feet walking"<sup>725</sup>. This highlights yet again the extent to which children's perceptions are influenced by significant others around them.

Some children in Kosovo were concerned about police officers who carry weapons. They stated that this would prevent them from asking for assistance because they could not be trusted and were frightening: "I would never ask for any help from people who are in places where there are guns, because they are not reliable"<sup>726</sup>. This can be linked to concerns about the militarization of Kosovo society: "Those are soldiers and helicopters. They seem like they can hurt us... they do look scary"<sup>727</sup>.

#### State officials and politicians:

Children across the region expressed great dissatisfaction with the performance of state officials and politicians because they did not provide timely and effective support to communities, families and children themselves. A child in Montenegro stated that conditions in the camp depend on the will of politicians. As a result, "it's going to be the way they decide it to be. So, there will be no big changes and we will all live as we always have"<sup>728</sup>. It was argued that these politicians have only their own interests at heart and they constantly make promises which they do not fulfill. A child in Romania stated that the "Mayoralty" or local government can protect children "but they don't do much"<sup>729</sup>. Another child in Romania complained that state benefits or welfare support to poor families are often inadequate or irregular: "Sometimes they pay it, sometimes they don't"<sup>730</sup>. In Serbia a child stated that although money, food and clothing were sometimes provided by a state-run center it was not always available. It was explained that theft and other criminal activity was necessary to survive because "the state cares only for money. They care only for money, to grab the money and put it in their pockets"<sup>731</sup>. It was believed that they do not care about children even though "a child needs to see that someone is there to back them up"<sup>732</sup>.

In Bulgaria, children also complained about inadequate state support. For instance, a child attending school stated that the money they received from the state did not even cover the most basic school expenses: "It is difficult because the government gives 18 levs for a child and you can't buy your textbooks or anything for 18 Levs. I can't buy the pens I need for 18 Levs"<sup>733</sup>. Another child suggested that these benefits do not even meet the subsistence needs of poor families despite the promises of the government: "I see many children and families here who can't make enough to spend the day. They don't have enough to eat. The government says they would help these people but it has never happened. The government has never helped. Almost never"<sup>734</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>725</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 17 years old boy, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>726</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 16 years old girl, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>727</sup>Kosovo - focus group interview, 9 years old girl, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>728</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, girls 13-16 years old, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>729</sup>Romania - individual interview, 14 years old boy

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>730</sup>Romania - individual interview, 17 years old boy

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>731</sup>Serbia - focus group interview, boys 15-17 years old, shelter children

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>732</sup>Serbia - individual interview, 17 years old girl, street child

 $<sup>^{733}\</sup>mbox{Bulgaria}$  – individual interview, 14 years old girl, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>734</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 17 years old girl, street child

A child in Kosovo complained that the government education ministry is too inaccessible for her, and it is likely that they will not listen to her request to attend school: "Concerning school, if I could somehow pass these 3 years and catch up with children of my age. I guess I can achieve that through the education ministry, but I can't reach them to talk to them... because I am somehow, I don't know what exactly, but I know they won't accept to talk to me, so I never went there"<sup>735</sup>. Another child in Kosovo complained that social assistance had stopped. With regards to children who work on the streets or are engaged in criminal activities, a child in a shelter in Kosovo placed blame firmly on the shoulders of politicians: "But these children of course are not to blame, the politicians are to blame, the parliamentarians who spend our money and drive in fancy cars, go to expensive holidays. If they would each save 10 Euros they could even build houses for the children who do not have them"<sup>736</sup>.

### NGOs and INGOs

Children from the seven countries/entities mentioned various organisations which have provided positive support to them. Some children living and working on the streets commended some organisations for being accessible and supportive. In Bosnia-Herzegovina, children highlighted organisations that provide shelter to children who are subject to maltreatment and/or food parcels to poor families. In Kosovo, reference was made to organisations which provide courses and workshops to children (e.g. computer, cooking etc).

The children in the IDP camp were particularly vocal in their criticism of INGOs who have been administering the IDP camp since 1999. It is said that foreign INGO staff promised these displaced people material support, employment and return to Kosovo, and in so doing raised their expectations. They have failed to fulfill their promises, which has left parents and children feeling frustrated: "I think it all depends on these foreigners. Why would those people come here and say "In two months' time you will have a house and a job in Kosovo, like you used to have, it's not your fault that you lost everything and you house was torn down and there was a war". Some people came to ask us who wanted to return, and we said we did, and then what...? They have waited for years, and so have we"<sup>737</sup>.

Children also complained that their needs in particular were not met, and their concerns discounted even when they speak to officials and INGO staff about their problems. For instance, a child complained about the fact that a bar was built on his playground, thereby effectively removing one of the few sources of recreation and entertainment at children's disposal: "The people from the Red Cross promised to remove it, but nothing happened. That's why we have nothing in this camp just for us. Nobody wants to remove this bar, let him get the money and then he can build it somewhere else instead of here."<sup>738</sup>.

## **Children's recommendations**

Many of the children highlighted a disjunction between what childhood should be – as they perceive it – and what it means for them in reality. In these comments, reference is frequently made to the notion that childhood in the West is better. As argued previously, this has contributed to their desire to migrate abroad. As a child in Kosovo stated, "Children aged for example 14 or 15 could be

 $<sup>^{735}\</sup>mbox{Kosovo}$  - individual interview, a 15 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>736</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, a 18 years old girl, shelter child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>737</sup>Montenegro – focus group interview, boys 14-17 years old, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>738</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 14 years old boy, IDP camp

doing things that fit them to do, for example in the developed countries they do certain things, but there they know exactly what kind of work a child can do and what he can not do, and of course this affects in the children's skills and abilities, but here where we live no one knows anything about things and how they go and how they are done, it is a mess..."<sup>739</sup>

A child in Albania complained that the notion of "childhood" means nothing in a context where there is little entertainment for children, high levels of poverty and high levels of discrimination: "It depends so much on the age. There are a lot of children of my age who lack the economic and social conditions. They set apart of the friends. The children are discriminated by the society at home and abroad if they do not have money or if parents do not have a good position in society. I would say that the Albanian adolescents do not lead a happy life. Most of them are not happy with life in Albania. Being a child does not mean to enjoy proper conditions for entertainment, a cinema, theater where the child can go without any problem since it is safe to go there"<sup>740</sup>.

A child living on the streets of Serbia complained that although children need help "many people turn their back on them"<sup>741</sup>. In Kosovo a child suggested that the absence of support is also related to the fact that few children are willing to discuss their problems and few people are willing to listen to them. This is related to the fact that few adults understand children's desires, hopes and dreams and as a result children make decisions alone: "We want things and we hope for some things, so adults should understand that. And if we're stubborn enough we'll do what we want, even if everyone told us it was wrong"<sup>742</sup>.

Children's complaint that they are not given space to express their needs and wants, and that few adults understand, trust or listen to them, has appeared as a running theme throughout this report. It is also evident in the recommendations that children have provided in relation to improving their lives and those of children who run the risk of being trafficked. From these accounts it is evident that children would also like to take responsibility for these improvements, with the support of a range of other actors. As a child in Kosovo stated, "Children should unite, all of them so we could create a better future for us. The grownups too should get educated and cooperate so the place would be made as safe as possible. Also the foreigners in organizations here, but also people from other communities"<sup>743</sup>.

This section will describe the recommendations that child respondents made about the following:

- Children's rights
- Child rearing practices
- Recreation
- Education
- Employment
- Poverty
- Migration
- Marriage
- Institutions and shelters
- Social workers and psychologists

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>739</sup>Kosovo - focus group interview, 15 years old boy, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>740</sup>Albania - focus group interview, 16 years old girl, internal migrant

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>741</sup>Serbia - individual interview, 13 years old boy, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>742</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>743</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 16 years old girl, school child

- Law enforcement
- NGOs
- Peer-to-peer counseling

#### **Children's rights**

Some children complained that they do not know what their rights are and that others should teach them about rights because "we are young after all"<sup>744</sup>. Those who pointed to their rights said that they had been informed about them by siblings or relatives. A child working on the streets of Kosovo stated: "Well, us children also have rights, and I got this idea from my brother, he works with trolley, he told me "You have your rights", and he said should anything happen to me then I should go and tell the police immediately. And I heard on the TV that you can inform the police"<sup>745</sup>. In other words, law enforcement bodies have a responsibility to protect children's rights.

Some children felt that rights are associated with a particular age. For instance, a child in Kosovo stated: "I still don't have any rights yet to bring a decision"<sup>746</sup>. Another child stated that one needs to be an adolescent to have rights: "He has rights, because he who is 17 knows how to protect him self"<sup>747</sup>. A child in Albania felt that one only gains rights when one turns 18 years old and stops living with one's parents: "after that age the children are free to decide on their own because they have their own rights"<sup>748</sup>. It is said that trafficking is more likely to occur to young people because they don't know their rights. They don't know what to want"<sup>749</sup>. On this basis it was recommended that children should be taught about their rights.

A child in Kosovo stated that some children have too many rights and this might lead them to make negative decisions such as smoking and drinking. It was suggested that children shouldn't have rights *"to do something that is very bad for them…"* and that efforts should be made to teach children to take the right path<sup>750</sup>. Instead of simple rules and restrictions, it is argued that children need to be explained why certain activities are restricted or prohibited.

A child in Kosovo stated that rights should be equally provided (and protected) for women and men, adults and children, and this should be used to prevent children from undertaking difficult work: "My wish is that all should be equal, females and males, all. Here men are asked about everything more, but those who think that females and children should have no rights, then all their rights should be taken away. And not leave them with anything... I would want that all the children should have their rights, I do not know which, but I would say that children should not be doing hard jobs, not to cut wood, not open trenches, not to mow, because all these are very difficult things to do. I would hate it every time I had to do these things, and I would not want any child to do them, they are very bad things"<sup>751</sup>.

In Albania a child stated that some children's rights are violated because they cannot attend school and parental restrictions prevent children from making decisions or learning from their mistakes.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>744</sup>Bulgaria - focus group interview, boys and girls -14-18 years old, school children

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>745</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, a 15 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>746</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 15 years old girl, school child

 $<sup>^{747}\</sup>mbox{Kosovo}$  - focus group interview, 15 years old boy, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>748</sup>Albania - focus group interview, 13 years old girl

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>749</sup>Bulgaria - focus group interview, boys and girls -14-18 years old, school children

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>750</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 17 years old boy, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>751</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 17 years old boy, shelter child

She recommended that children should be given the right to make their own decisions.

The specific areas that these recommendations refer to will be explored in greater depth in this section, but it is evident that children make the following recommendations in relation to rights:

- Children need more information about their rights
- Rights should be applied equally to adults and children, boys and girls
- Certain actors should be responsible for protecting children's rights
- Children's right to decision-making should be protected
- Children should be informed why certain rights are restricted or protected

It is said that children who do not know about their rights or how to protect them are more atrisk of being trafficked. Rights-based education is therefore needed as a child trafficking prevention measure.

#### **Parenting practices**

Children were very critical about the manner in which they are criticized and punished, often through the use of violence. It is recommended that communication between parents and children should be improved, with particular attention paid to listening to children. As a child in Kosovo stated, "If I was the president I would do many things differently. The parents would no way beat up his child, and if that happen, then he/she should be punished. Parents must communicate more with their children, not forbid things for them because what very is forbidden for you tend to do it more, explain to them what is good and what is not because children ask for explanations and explanations must be given to them. The parents must take into consideration the children's opinion"<sup>752</sup>.

It is held that listening to children will enable parents and caregivers to ascertain what children's needs are: "I think it's important that your parents and someone who's close to you know what you need at a certain moment, instead of shouting at you all the time. That they have the patience to listen to you, then everything would be OK"<sup>753</sup>. This is echoed by a child in Kosovo who stated that children should be encouraged to disclose their problems to parents and other adults: "Whether it is parents or the teachers, they must approach the children and ask them if anything is bothering them, because children often are reluctant to talk, they are afraid, they close up within themselves"<sup>754</sup>.

An identified victim of trafficking in Bulgaria highlighted communication as the key factor that would reduce the risk that a child would be trafficked: "When there is communication between parents and their son or daughter, I think that it is more difficult the child to become a victim to trafficking"<sup>755</sup>.

Hence, it is recommended that in order to prevent trafficking one of the initiatives to be undertaken is to enhance child rearing practices in the following areas:

- Forbid parental corporal punishment as a mode of discipline
- Apply rules and restrictions in a child participatory manner
- Explain restrictions to children
- Encourage children to express themselves
- Listen to children and take their opinion into account

<sup>754</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 18 years old girl, shelter child

 $<sup>^{752}\</sup>mbox{Kosovo}$  - individual interview, 18 years old girl, shelter child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>753</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 14 years old girl, institutionalized child

 $<sup>^{755}\</sup>text{Bulgaria}$  - individual interview, 17 years old boy, institutionalized child

#### Recreation

It is suggested that children's need and desire for recreation and entertainment should be met because "children and teenagers want to have fun", "they should be busy" and because this is a way in which they can "talk and socialize". On this basis children recommended the creation of sports centers, educational courses, workshops and activities throughout the year. It is said that this should be available to all children "not only the good students"<sup>756</sup> and not only wealthy students. For instance, a child in Montenegro stated: "If I'm interested in football, and I can't afford it, they should provide that to me regardless of everything, instead of me feeling bad about it"<sup>757</sup>.

So in order to ensure that children are not *"tricked"* by the promises of entertainment, children made the following recommendation:

• All children regardless of age, gender, educational level, ethnicity and socio-economic background should be provided with structured and safe forms of recreation and entertainment.

#### Education

It is said that it is important to encourage high educational attendance and achievement for a number of reasons. A child in Bulgaria stated that it would prevent children from being involved in violent and/or criminal activities. It will help them learn about *"good and bad"*, *"make them think about their future"* and help them to *"progress"*<sup>758</sup>. It is said that various measures should be undertaken to ensure that children receive a quality education:

First, in order to encourage attendance it is said that parents should be provided employment so that children who work to support their families, can then attend school. A child working on the streets of Kosovo stated: "First of all I would get these children back to school. I would get jobs for their parents so they won't have to make their children work or go out and beg. I would take the kids back to school, that's the most important thing. Because only with education something good can be achieved. I don't think that it can be done otherwise the problems will only continue"<sup>759</sup>.

Second, children living and working on the streets should be removed from the streets to attend school and/or be provided with accommodation. As a child living on the streets in Serbia stated: "Well, I would take to school all those who live on the street, for instance; I would give money to some, and house to some other, you know"<sup>760</sup>. A child working on the streets in Kosovo echoed this sentiment: "Children can go to school, get educated. Children shouldn't be wandering in the streets, not do bad things, like drugs and stealing"<sup>761</sup>. Another working child in Kosovo stated that children "should be learning and not begging in the streets"<sup>762</sup>.

Third, parental involvement in school activities should be encouraged by teachers so that parents can assist their children with lessons, find out if their children are not attending school and/or not performing well. On this basis they can provide children with more support: "The teachers should

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>756</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 18 years old girl, shelter child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>757</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 16 years old boy, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>758</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 17 years old boy, school child

<sup>759</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 15 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>760</sup>Serbia - individual interview, 13 years old boy, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>761</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 16 years old girl, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>762</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 13 years old girl, school child

put more efforts and contact children's parents about them not studying at school because it happens that there are those parents who don't come to school because their children don't tell them about parent's teachers meetings, and this happens because he has done something bad and is afraid from his parent"<sup>763</sup>.

Fourth, teachers should not use corporal punishment to discipline children: "Probably it can be done differently, like in the West for example; the children there are not beaten up but instead they are educated by talking to them"<sup>764</sup>.

Fifth, in schools children should be trusted and allowed to express an opinion. As a child in Kosovo stated, "Pupils should have the freedom of speech, and the teacher should not always be the one who is right. We do not even dare to complain because we are always found guilty..."<sup>765</sup>.

Fifth, more resources should be invested by the state in school facilities. As a child in Kosovo stated, "My wish is to complete the school building, in the old one there is nothing there, no sports halls, no cabinets no nothing and I think that we should complain in the municipality"<sup>766</sup>.

So children have made the following recommendations:

- Support poor families so that they can afford to send their children to school
- Ensure that those living on the streets attend school
- Restrict or limit children's employment practices as this may affect their school attendance
- Prohibit the use of corporal punishment in schools
- Teachers should trust and listen to children
- Invest resources in improving school facilities

# Employment

Many children felt that children should not work on the streets. Comments such as children "shouldn't be begging"<sup>767</sup> and "children shouldn't go out to the streets and sell"<sup>768</sup>, suggest that child labour is not normative in a range of contexts as was argued in a previous section. It was said that children who work are often more at risk of being trafficked: "A car could hit me, some one could steal me. Children shouldn't go out to the street and their parents should look after them. Because they can be taken to other countries and it is the parent's duty to look after the children so they don't have to go out and sell... Because there are thieves who would steal you and stab you..."<sup>769</sup>.

In terms of recommendations, a child in Montenegro suggested that the researcher should encourage parents in the IDP camp not to allow their children to work: "Perhaps you could go and talk to the father of these children that work in the streets, maybe he'll listen to you, you could explain that it's not good for children to be working in the street and so on, you'd be able to tell them that well"<sup>770</sup>.

Although this was not seen as a desirable activity for many children, some children stated that

 $<sup>^{763}\</sup>text{Kosovo}$  - focus group interview, girls and boys 14-15 years old, school children

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>764</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 16 years old girl, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>765</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 13 years old girl, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>766</sup>Kosovo - focus group interview, 14 years old girl, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>767</sup>Bosnia-Herzegovina - individual interview, 18 years old boy, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>768</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 8 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>769</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 8 years old girl, street child

 $<sup>^{770}\</sup>mbox{Montenegro}$  - individual interview, 13 years old girl, IDP camp

they had to work to support themselves and or their families. As a child in Kosovo stated, "children should not work, although there are a lot of children who work anyway"<sup>771</sup>.

Another child in Kosovo stated: "Children are not supposed to work but here is that situation that children need to support their parents with incomes. Children need some stuff that their parents can't buy and they go work for them"<sup>772</sup>.

So although children should not work, many do to fulfill a certain need or want as was argued previously. Their recommendations therefore relate to improving their working conditions. A child in Montenegro stated that an organization should help children find more permanent employment "so that I know I have work each day and I have to go to work. My life would change completely and I would be completely happy"<sup>773</sup>.

A child who cleans windscreens in Serbia stated that children who work at traffic lights should be provided with employment in safer environments: "If someone who already works at some construction site or somewhere like that would take some children with him, you know... Children shouldn't be working at the traffic lights. You argue with people every day..."<sup>774</sup>

Another child asked for skills training and an apprenticeship system because he has no education and needs to work: "I'd need a good man who has his own shop to take me as his apprentice, what else can I do, I have no school and can't do anything. How am I going to earn money for the house and all the other things I need for the house. No one will take you, I know"<sup>775</sup>.

In institutions, children asked for practical training so that they can find employment: "I don't know; only if they gave me a job in this place where I am to go for practical training, and if they showed me everything they know, so I can work as well as them later on and start my own shop"<sup>776</sup>.

In Kosovo, it was suggested that children should speak to people who work in certain professions or be provided with information on the internet so that they can make better decisions on how to fulfill their hopes and dreams. A child in Bulgaria stated that state institutions such as the Labor Bureau should provide children with more information about vacancies and working conditions.

Hence, in order to ensure that children are not *"tricked"* by the promise of employment the following recommendations can be deducted from their comments:

- Children should not work
- If they have to work, they should receive various forms of assistance
- They should be provided with stable, permanent employment
- They should be working in safe environments
- Children should receive skills training and practical training to increase their employment options
- Children should be provided with information about what professions are available, what skills are needed and what steps should be undertaken to be employed
- Children should be informed about vacancies and working conditions

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>771</sup>Kosovo - focus group interview, 14 years old girl, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>772</sup>Kosovo - focus group interview, 17 years old boy, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>773</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 14 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>774</sup>Serbia - focus group interview, 16 years old boy, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>775</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 14 years old boy, IDP camp

 $<sup>^{776}\</sup>mbox{Montenegro}$  - focus group interview, 15 years old girl, institutionalized child

## **Migration**

Recommendations around migration focused on different areas: preventing migration, improving the process of migration and improving conditions in destination countries. In terms of prevention, children stated that efforts need to be made to ensure that children are not seeking to escape poverty and violence, and are not seeking to find a *"better life"*. As a child in Bulgaria stated, *"They should have better conditions and life, they don't want anything else"*<sup>777</sup>.

In other words, conditions (socio-economic, violence etc.) in origin countries need to be improved. For this to be undertaken, children's wants should be considered in order to understand why they want to migrate abroad, what are they seeking to escape and what improvements in their lives are desirable. Among other things, in order to understand children it is necessary to communicate with them.

It is said that in order to improve the process of migration, children should be provided with information about how to travel abroad: "Some organizations that could prepare us, instruct us and help us find our way"<sup>778</sup>. It is said that children should be provided with practical information about accommodation, work and institutional supports in destination countries: "Well, we must know where the embassy is; the police, the hospital, the polyclinic, a hotel. We need to know the location of a hotel although if we have gone to work there the accommodation should be provided for"<sup>779</sup>.

It was also said that children have "more rights" when working in a foreign country if they are provided with contracts and are informed about who to contact if this contract is violated: "You have more rights. You can go to the embassy and say this firm made the arrangements for me, here is the contract, the conditions should be these but they are violated"<sup>780</sup>.

So in order to prevent children from being *"tricked"* with promises abroad, the following recommendations follow:

- Initiatives should focus on improving children's living conditions in origin countries
- Children's wants should be considered through communication
- They should be provided with information about the process, legal requirements, travel, etc
- They should receive practical information about living in destination countries
- They should be aware of their rights in foreign countries
- They should be provided with work contracts in destination countries
- They should know who to contact if these contracts are broken
- They should receive embassy support in destination countries to guard against exploitation

## Poverty

Children in all research communities suggested that resources be invested in improving the socioeconomic environment in which children live. For instance, a child in the IDP camp in Montenegro stated: "What could be done? That's easy, any child could tell you that you get money and build people some houses, give them work, some factories or crafts etc. All women and all men get employed and children go to school, and there's a nice and healthy environment, with no trash, with hospitals, children

<sup>779</sup>Bulgaria - focus group interview, boys and girls -14-18 years old, school children

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>777</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 14 years old girl, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>778</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>780</sup>Bulgaria - focus group interview, boys and girls -14-18 years old, school children

sleeping in clean beds and eating clean food. That's what needs to be done, and it takes will and money and the ones who are in charge and make decisions to make such a decision".<sup>781</sup> In other words, state authorities should invest in the socio-economic uplifting of poor communities in relation to education, housing, health, education and the environment.

Another child suggested that the researcher should publish information about the dire poverty that they face in this IDP camp in newspapers and broadcast it on television so that Montenegrins can learn more about their daily struggles - empathize with them and assist them.

A child in this camp recommended that the government enhance the social welfare system so that he won't have to work to help his family. He was however skeptical that this recommendation would be carried out because of the discrimination that Roma face: "Well, the Government of Montenegro could help me, provide a pension and welfare to my old and sick parents. Then I could study and not worry whether they would remain hungry. That's how. You know that's impossible and they don't care that we suffer. As if we weren't people, we are just Gypsies. What the government throws away as trash is enough for us"<sup>782</sup>. A child stated that this will require collaborative efforts involving the government, non-governmental organisations and the inhabitants of the camp, although was also skeptical that they would come to such an agreement: "If everyone gathered and agreed, it would be possible to change everything if they wanted to, but they don't"<sup>783</sup>.

Children in Romania also recommended that the poor should receive state support in the form of housing, water and food: "First of all, they should give us houses. When the winter comes I don't know how we will be able to live in here. Don't you see how it is? On every hole the wind blows in and it is cold. And still, our house is one of the best"<sup>784</sup>. The children themselves expressed a desire to assist poor people, who have shared their same problems: "I would like to help the persons who are as poor as we have been, to help them get a house, their home, to get food, warm water and everything they needed"<sup>785</sup>.

In Kosovo children also suggested a range of socio-economic reforms to assist poor families. It is said that creating employment opportunities for people would prevent them from "staying in the streets all the time and cause problems"<sup>786</sup>. As mentioned these "problems" relate to violence, drug-taking and alcoholism. The creation of shelters for poor families, provision of housing and improvement of health care services were all recommended. The government was blamed for corruption and it was suggested that instead of spending money on themselves, politicians should invest resources to assist the poor. Children in Serbia also placed responsibility in the hands of the government for providing social services, health care services and financial support. It is said that this is necessary because "a child needs to see that someone is there to back them up"<sup>787</sup>.

So in order to ensure that children are not *"tricked*" by the offer of material goods and employment abroad children's comments support the following recommendations:

- Invest resources in enhancing the socio-economic status of poor families
- Financial and social resources should be allocated to social welfare schemes, pensions, housing,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>781</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 13 years old girl, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>782</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 17 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>783</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 14 years old girl, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>784</sup>Romania - individual interview, 14 years old girl

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>785</sup>Romania - individual interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>786</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 16 years old boy, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>787</sup>Serbia - individual interview, 17 years old girl, street child
education, employment creation and improving the natural environment

- The media should be used to rally support for the poor
- The state, NGOs and poor people themselves should collaborate in finding joint solutions
- Children should participate in this process and be used to assist other poor children
- More efforts should be made to curb government corruption and limit socio-economic inequalities
- The government should make a clear commitment to supporting children, their families and communities who live in situations of chronic and endemic poverty

#### Gender

Some children stated that to prevent trafficking, girls should conform to the norms and behaviour expected of them; for instance, dress in a particular manner, obey certain rules and restrictions: "Girls should be smart they shouldn't be deceived easily. They should be advised by their parents"<sup>788</sup>. On the other hand, some children recommended that girls should start questioning these restrictions. In relation to freedom of movement, some children stated that people should not be so judgmental of girls who move around independently. The manner in which they are labeled is unjustified: "Well, I don't think they should say bad things about her just because she goes for walks or does something she shouldn't"<sup>789</sup>.

It is said that girls' rights and power of decision-making should be respected even if they flout social norms and conventions: "I think she's doing nothing wrong when she's walking around the town, and if a boy beats her up she should go to the police and the police would help her. And if she changes boys and behaves badly, she has the right to do as she pleases if that's her decision, because she knows as well as we do what is expected of us girls. So if she decides not to observe that, she must have considered the risks that involves"<sup>790</sup>. Similarly, in terms of their intimate relationships it is said that their own decision to have a boyfriend should be respected, and their parents, peers and members of the community should not interfere: "I think it's stupid that someone should forbid me to have a boyfriend, when I'm 17. It's my business only whether I want to sleep with him or not"<sup>791</sup>. Some of the girls in this study stated that early and arranged marriages should be forbidden. As a child in Kosovo stated, "I would never allow that my child gets married so early, I will send them to school, and they should finish school"<sup>792</sup>. It was suggested that girls should be entitled to equal access to education.

In terms of safety and security issues, some children recommended that girls should not wander around on their own in the evenings as they could be subject to attack from men: "Well, a girl should not be wandering around a lot, especially not when it's dark... Well, because she may get attacked, and she can hardly defend herself the way a man could"<sup>793</sup>. On the other hand, many girls complained that more efforts should be made to protect them from men, or to prevent men from harassing or hurting them. Boys also complained that they should not be pressured to fight and they should not be the only ones taking responsibility for income-generation. The difficulties that boys face should also be recognized and dealt with: "It's more difficult for men, in everything. When we work we can get beaten up, we don't get as much money"<sup>794</sup>.

<sup>792</sup>Kosovo - focus group interview, 15 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>788</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 18 years old girl, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>789</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 15 years old boy, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>790</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, girls 13-16 years old, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>791</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>793</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 16 years old boy, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>794</sup>Serbia - individual interview, 15 years old boy, street child

On this basis, the children recommended the following:

- Girls need to consider social norms when deciding how to act
- Some girls should question these norms by making their own decisions in relation to their movement and relationships
- Parents, peers and the community should respect their decision-making and stop criticizing, judging and labeling their behaviour
- Girls' school attendance should be encouraged
- Girls should take all the necessary precautions to avoid violence
- Girls should be protected from violence
- Men's behaviour in relation to violence needs to be changed or improved
- Constructions of masculinity in relation to violence and work responsibilities need to be considered
- Boys should not be pressured by their peers into fighting and using violence
- Boys should not face so much pressure to support their families
- Boys should also receive protection from violence and exploitation

#### Ethnic discrimination

A number of the children's recommendations related to the manner in which children from Roma communities are discriminated against, harassed and subject to various forms of violence. It was suggested that children from Roma communities should have greater access to education. For instance in Bulgaria a child stated: "Even our boys, the ones that gather in the neighborhood we do nothing and we don't do the things we want. They want this, they want to learn to write, to have some education, to know to speak Bulgarian when they start work. There are our boys who don't speak Bulgarian properly, they speak very little but they should learn how to speak that's why we gather there, they want to study, that's what it is for"<sup>795</sup>. In a previous chapter, the extent to which children are discriminated against by their teachers and peers was highlighted. These children suggested that all children should be treated equally in this environment in order to ensure that they are not tricked by offers to leave school.

In terms of language, it was suggested in Kosovo that the media and education system should be geared to suit their language needs: "Well, perhaps the Roma community should have more radio programs and TV programs in our language, the school in our language. Well, it would make it possible that our voice be heard more if they were in Roma language"<sup>796</sup>. Not only would this enable Roma children to express themselves more, but will enable them to understand anti-trafficking messages delivered by the media.

Many children requested that they be treated equally and not as "less important people"<sup>797</sup> who are looked down upon. They suggested that more efforts should be made to show people that they are "normal ordinary people such as themselves"<sup>798</sup>. In other words, they want equal rights in a society that discriminates against them. In addition to social assistance in the form of social welfare payments, employment and sanitary facilities, they want empathy. For instance, a child in Montenegro stated that people avoid sitting close to him on the bus because he is a Roma and because he is dirty and smells. He stated that he wishes that people would understand that he is not always dirty and does not like being in this state, but because of poor conditions in the IDP

<sup>796</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 13 years old girl, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>795</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 17 years old boy, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>797</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 16 years old boy, IDP camp

 $<sup>^{798}\</sup>mbox{Montenegro}$  - individual interview, 16 years old boy, IDP camp

camp he often has no choice: "There, for example, if I am riding on a bus, nobody wants to take my place, they avoid being near me and touching me, I guess that's because I'm not very clean, I can see I'm dirty myself, but I'm not always dirty and I don't like it that I'm dirty"<sup>799</sup>. So he suggested that the public start learning about the conditions that Roma live in and empathise with them.

This is echoed by another child who stated that the Roma are criticized for being lazy but few people understand that apart from begging they have few other employment options, which will help them to survive: "I hear things about the town, when I ask someone for 10 cents, they sometimes tell me: "Go and do some work, you Gypsies just beg but you don't want to sweat and work", "You just want things to fall into your lap", and when we show up in cafés and the market and the shops... And us Gypsies have to live on something and that's why I don't feel ashamed to beg and someone else does"800. So the children suggested that more efforts should be made to dispel stereotypes about the Roma by recognizing and understanding their plight and the choices that they have to make.

It was also recommended that steps be undertaken to curb the bullying that Roma children face. As mentioned, children suffer this on the streets and in schools. They are called "dirty, ugly Gypsy", are teased and bullied. One of the steps that Roma children themselves can take is to become proud of their ethnicity. As a child in Kosovo stated, "These threats don't affect my life that much. I am proud to be Roma, but I hope that other children would also feel OK one day"<sup>801</sup>.

It is also recommended that initiatives should be undertaken to break the myth that only the Roma engage in criminal activities. For instance, a child in Bosnia-Herzegovina stated: "The worst thing is when these Bosnians think for every poor family they steal and use drugs. It's not only Roma. Their people can be like that. I have them in the street"<sup>802</sup>. The same argument was made about the idea that Roma parents "sell" their children with many children suggesting that this notion is simply gossip and an example of discrimination, because "no father or mother would do that, no matter how poor they may be"<sup>803</sup>.

Hence, the children made the following recommendations:

- Roma children's access to education should be improved
- They should be treated fairly by teachers and peers
- Their human rights should be respected and they should not be discriminated against simply • because they are Roma
- They should receive social assistance, employment opportunities and social services
- The public should be made more aware of the low socio-economic status of the Roma
- The public should start empathizing and understanding the choices that Roma have to make in the face of poverty and discrimination
- Children who are teased and bulled for being Roma should be assisted
- Roma children should stand up for themselves and be proud of their ethnic affiliation ٠
- Myths and stereotypes surrounding the Roma (e.g. begging is in their blood, they are lazy, they steal and use drugs) should be dispelled
- The belief that they "sell" their children should be challenged

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>799</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 16 years old boy, IDP camp  $^{800}\mbox{Montenegro}$  - individual interview, 11 years old boy, IDP camp <sup>801</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 16 years old girl, school child <sup>802</sup>Bosnia-Herzegovina - focus group interview, 14 years old boy

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>803</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 16 years old boy, IDP camp

#### Institutions

Some children recommended that those living in institutions should be allowed to return home to their families, and that these families should receive support. A child in Romania stated: "They should be helped to go home. Family should be helped to be able to keep them home and not to come here"<sup>804</sup>.

It was also said that support in the form of shelters and institutions should be provided to poor families, and not just to children: "If I was some important person in this country, then I would not let these children go out in the streets, but instead I would create a society or a big house to shelter these children and their families, and help them with food, clothing and education"<sup>805</sup>.

A child in Serbia stated that more efforts should be made to obtain parental consent before removing a child from their care and placing them in an institution: "They didn't have the right to place me here, without my father's and my mother's permission; they didn't have the right to do it. Yes, even if I'd said so, they should've asked. Although I said that I was going, you know, to stay here one month, and then to go to a foster family. But still, they should ask and a man should give his permission for his child to be there. They didn't have the right"<sup>806</sup>. Many children recommended that children should be allowed more contact with their parents. For instance, a child in Romania complained: "I would like to go home sometimes, because I've left home a long time ago, 3 years ago and I didn't go to visit"<sup>807</sup>.

On the other hand, some children felt that if parents cannot look after their children they should be brought to an institution: "I think they don't feel good, because maybe others tell them that they are poor. And then, they start begging. But, no, it is not right to beg. Their parents should bring them to the center. Because in here, we have conditions and after that they should take them home during holidays... I would talk to their parents. I would go to their place and see how they are treating their children. If they treat them badly I would take children away from them and place them in centers or apartments"<sup>808</sup>. In Montenegro a child stated that children living on the streets should be placed in an institution where their material needs can be met: "Well, to my mind, some children would be a hundred times better off if they went to these homes for children rather than walk the streets all day and get beaten on top, even if they beat them, it's a pity that children should work in the streets like that. They would have something to eat in the home, and a bed to sleep in"<sup>809</sup>.

A child in Bulgaria stated that the length of time that a child spends in an institution should be monitored closely, as they will be subject to negative peer pressure within the influence, be teased and humiliated outside the school. They may find it difficult to be placed in a foster family and will be moved from institution to institution. It is said that this will have an effect on their self-confidence and sense of well-being: "at this stage of their lives they have already become conscious of the situation somehow and I think that then they will start having self destructive thoughts "what did I do to be abandoned, what bad thing did I do?" because if you have done something nice this bad thing won't happen to you"<sup>810</sup>.

<sup>806</sup>Serbia - individual interview, 13 years old boy, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>804</sup>Romania - individual interview, 4 years old boy, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>805</sup>Kosovo - focus group interview, boys and girls 14-16 years old, school children

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>807</sup>Romania - individual interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child

 $<sup>^{808}\</sup>mbox{Romania}$  - individual interview, 10 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>809</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 15 years old boy, IDP camp

 $<sup>^{810}\</sup>mbox{Bulgaria}$  - individual interview, 17 years old boy, institutionalized child

In order to improve conditions in the home, children in Montenegro recommended the creation of workshops and activities involving children. It is said that children should be able to express their needs and wants, and this should be considered when decisions are made in institutions: "I think it would be of great help to me if we often discussed our hopes and shared that with someone who makes decisions related to us. Not like this, we can talk till we drop among ourselves without getting anything changed, we just feel better"<sup>811</sup>.

It is said that the people who work in institutions should know how to "deal with children" and "understand our problems"<sup>812</sup>. It is said that these people should not criticize or judge children when they express their feelings so that "they may talk freely without being judged, without people saying they are brazen for saying those things"<sup>813</sup>. One recommendation was a counseling system in institutions which children could voluntarily use if they have a problem: "I would open a counseling service in the Home, where each child could go whenever they wanted and get some advice. But I would have these older residents work there, like me for example, I could devote some time every day and help them in their studies, if there's something they can't grasp, because there are many poor students, or do some workshop on how to study and so on..."<sup>814</sup>. It is said that children themselves should become counselors (see peer-to-peer counseling), and it was also suggested that corporal punishment should be forbidden. Staff should show sincere care towards children and provide them with individualized attention.

Children in institutions also stated that they would like information about how to survive after they leave the institution. This information should relate to employment and accommodation, including: "What kind of a job l'd get, where I would live and how big my salary would be, what would happen if I did this thing or that, how I could make a fine living"<sup>815</sup>. They also recommended that people who work in the professions that they are interested in should visit them. For instance, girls requested that models or singers explain to them how they achieved their hopes and dreams. Many of the children recommended that former residents of institutions return and discuss how they managed to cope and survive after they left (See peer-to-peer counseling).

Children also recommended that the state be actively involved in monitoring conditions in children's institutions and should take responsibility for improving conditions for these children. A child in Bulgaria stated: "The President, the people at the higher positions can do something... Yes, the ones who have the authority... I would help, I would go to each home to see what the situation there is, how the children live there. I would build a new home and I would transfer them in another home, a much better one, where they would have everything they want, and they would go to school"<sup>816</sup>.

In order to ensure that all children have access to this support, it was recommended that money be invested in opening more shelters and institutions and improving conditions within them. As a child in Bulgaria stated, "they can't do very much except to give money, i.e. To give some resources for the creation of these centers. From then on there should be people familiar with these problems and who work in these centers. These centers should be made popular".<sup>817</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>811</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>812</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>813</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 15 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>814</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 16 years old boy, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>815</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 18 years old girl, institutionalized child <sup>816</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 16 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>817</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 17 years old boy, institutionalized child

Given the stigma attached to institutionalized living, it was also suggested that the public be informed about the lives of children in institutions and be taught how to interact with them: "I also think it's important that all people know how to act when they see such a child"<sup>818</sup>.

Hence, in order to ensure that children living in institutions are not *"tricked"* by attention and compliments, children suggested that conditions in institutions be improved by doing the following:

- Efforts should be made to reunite children with their families
- Poor families should be provided with state support and shelter
- Children's contact with their families should be facilitated
- Permission from children and their families should be obtained prior to removal
- The particular situation of child and family needs to be considered before deciding that placement in an institution is in the child's best interests
- Children living on the streets should be placed in an institution and provided with material support, although conditions in institution should be improved
- Children should be provided with more structured activities recreation and entertainment in institutions
- Children should be provided with opportunities and mechanisms by which they can express themselves
- Children should not be criticized and judged
- Staff should take their opinions into account when making decisions
- Corporal punishment should be forbidden
- Staff should provide children with individualized attention and sincere care
- Children's stay in an institution should be monitored. They should not be moved from institution to institution and alternatives (e.g. foster care) should be found as early as possible
- Children should be adequately prepared to leave the institution
- Children who have left institutions should be actively involved in peer-to-peer counseling sessions around how they have managed to cope and survive
- Children should receive skills training and career guidance from knowledgeable and skilled persons
- The state should be actively involved in monitoring conditions within institutions, building new institutions and improving others
- The public should be educated and informed on how to treat children in institutions

## Social workers and psychologists

In Montenegro children suggested that social workers should be paid to make more visits to children to find out "Where they are, what they do, how they live". They should use the approach adopted by the researcher: "like you have just asked us this question, like that time I talked to you"<sup>819</sup>. Another child in this institution recommended that social workers should closely monitor parents, their treatment of children and their plans for children: "That's right, you can keep track from the moment a child is born; when we are born, they know about us and can ask the parents about their situation and what their plans are regarding the way this child is going to live. And then the parents have to report about the child"<sup>820</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>818</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 16 years old boy, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>819</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 16 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>820</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child

It is recommended by a child in Serbia that social workers should give children living on the streets more attention and assistance. They should place them in a safe environment and provide them with education: *"I'll tell you now: social workers. They should decide, they personally should decide, to give assistance; to make it a rule that all street children and children who used to be on the street should receive some assistance... To place some of them in a home. But not in a home where they'll be mistreated, but where they'll have everything, as if they were at home. That and to send them to school. To finish school, so that tomorrow they have something to rely on"<sup>821</sup>.* 

It is said that psychologists should also be made available to children. It is recommended that children be informed of their existence and that they should be present in schools in case a child would like to speak to them about their problems<sup>822</sup>.

Hence, children made the following recommendations:

- Social workers should provide the space for children to express their needs and concerns
- They should listen to them and take their opinion into account
- They should monitor parenting practices
- They should assist particular children (e.g. street children) who might be at risk and provide them with accommodation and education depending on their needs
- Psychologists should be accessible to children
- They should listen to children's concerns
- Children should be given the choice to see a psychologist or not

## Advice to children

Many of the respondents recommended that children should not place their trust in anybody, particularly if they are strangers: "So one shouldn't take anything from strangers"<sup>823</sup>. They should also know who to turn to for support in times of trouble: "They should not talk to just anybody, they should not follow those who promise them I don't know what. Otherwise how can you protect yourself? If you are smart, it cannot happen to you. You must not trust everybody. And you must know who to turn to when you are in trouble. Because there are plenty of people who can help you"<sup>824</sup>.

It is said that children should fight back and if the situation appears unmanageable they should turn to the police for support: "To the children who are a bit older I would say to get by and fight for themselves, and if things are very bad for them or someone beats them, they should find a way to escape or contact the police in that place. The police will help them"<sup>825</sup>.

Hence, children recommended the following:

- Children should be wary of trusting strangers
- Children must have information about who to turn to for assistance
- Children should exhibit courage and fight back against a perpetrator
- Children should share their problems and concerns with others
- Children should trust the police who will assist them

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>821</sup>Serbia - individual interview, a 16 years old girl; street child

 $<sup>^{822}\</sup>mbox{Kosovo}$  - individual interview, 18 years old girl, shelter child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>823</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, a 15 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>824</sup>Romania - individual interview, 18 years old girl

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>825</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 17 years old boy, IDP camp

#### Law enforcement

The children made a number of recommendations related to law enforcement. In order to prevent trafficking, a child in Montenegro stated that people should face harsher prison sentences: "It's easy to forbid all the things that should not be taking place if you just punish people severely and put them in prison for years. When other people see that, then no one would do the things that are forbidden any more. That's what I think"<sup>826</sup>.

Other children suggested that police should be present on the streets and in areas that they do not feel safe in: "The police should walk around in the streets more and catch those who snatch children more"<sup>827</sup>. It is said that by being on the ground they can observe all suspicious activities: "If I was a president I would make police work harder... I swear I would make them walk the whole day on their feet, because they won't notice things otherwise"<sup>828</sup>. It is said that the police should develop investigate the activities of potential traffickers.

They should also dedicate more time to protecting children, particularly if they are not living at home: "I would say that the children should be well watched over. Not each of them, but there should be more police. That there should be more cars checked when passing on the street. Children who leave home should be looked for"<sup>829</sup>.

It is said that if the police improve their performance, children should ask for help and report their experiences to the police to prevent them from becoming involved in criminal and trafficking experiences at a later stage: "If they ask for it, people will help them. But they are afraid to tell anyone and then that is how they grow up. And they become traffickers, too. It is better if they told on them and then stayed a while with the police to be protected and after that they can come out clean"<sup>830</sup>.

Not only should children report their experiences to the police, but a child in Montenegro stated that members of the community should report suspicious activities to the police: "I think it would be important if the people from the camp told or reported to the police when they saw something wrong or dangerous happening in some home. If everyone did that all the time, then those people who sell children would have to hide more, and would not be able to do that, and would get arrested. People here prefer to stay quiet and pretend not to know anything, they don't want to meddle in other peoples' lives. They say it's better that way, because that man could be angry and dangerous, so it's better to mind one's own home. I guess no one wants to have more problems"<sup>831</sup>. This will require a shift in community norms so as to break a culture of silence and non-interference in "private" matters.

So in terms of law enforcement, the respondents made the following suggestions:

- Create a legal framework that allows for the incarceration of traffickers
- Punish traffickers to curb like-minded behaviour in others
- The police should be more efficient, work harder and be more visible
- They should patrol the areas that children fear the most
- They should investigate the activities of suspected traffickers

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>826</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 15 years old girl, IDP camp

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>827</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 15 years old boy, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>828</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 17 years old boy, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>829</sup>Romania - individual interview, 15 years old boy, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>830</sup>Romania - individual interview, 14 years old boy

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>831</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 15 years old girl, IDP camp

- They should prioritise children's protection, particularly if they are not living at home
- Children should report their concerns and experiences to the police (if they show a sincere concern for children's wellbeing)
- Community norms around non-interference should be broken and the community should report suspicious cases of child maltreatment and child trafficking to the police

#### **Awareness-raising**

The children suggested that the media should be involved in awareness-raising. It was said that the television was a particularly useful way of broadcasting information because "most children watch  $TV^{*832}$ . This information should contain practical information about what to do and who to turn to when faced with violence, exploitation and trafficking. Awareness-raising should therefore not be aimed simply at children who might be at risk of being trafficked but also at the general public who can provide support to children in this situation. In addition, the media should be used to discourage people from becoming traffickers by explaining to them "that children are not there to be kidnapped"<sup>833</sup>. It was stated that this information should be broadcast widely in rural villages and in the cities. It was, however, emphasised that the media should keep children's identity anonymous when broadcasting stories about victims of trafficking because this will make them too afraid to come forward and report their experiences: "they must be anonymous, because they shouldn't be afraid"<sup>834</sup>. It will also enhance the stigma that these children face.

The internet was also highlighted as an important means of awareness-raising. As mentioned in a previous section, children across the region highlighted the internet as one of their few forms of entertainment. It is said that the internet is accessible to everyone and can contain important information about trafficking: "Another very important thing is the Internet. Many people use it, almost everyone has access to the Internet and it is a very good means of information. Even if you don't have such a thing in your town, it is good for example, because in the Internet there is the whole information published by some other district center where they have this thing and they can look for information there. The society has to be alerted for the problem because most of the people think: "this can't happen to me, it is so scary that it can't happen to me." Well, it is not true, it can, it can happen to every one of us"<sup>835</sup>. It was also suggested that posters should be placed in schools and on the streets "to inform people and the children that there are such things in the world"<sup>836</sup>.

It is said that certain people by virtue of the fact that they spend so much time with children, should take responsibility for raising their awareness about trafficking risks: *"Teachers and parents, since they are in everyday contact with the children"*<sup>837</sup>. A child suggested that policemen should visit schools to provide lectures on the risks. This advice should not simply revolve around instilling fear in children, but in teaching them about the causes and consequences of this problem. These lessons should *"inform the children a lot on how to behave and where to go. In general I would inform them about the consequences"*<sup>838</sup>. Workshops with various entertaining activities can be used to provide these lessons to children.

<sup>832</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 15 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>833</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 15 years old girl, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>834</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 16 years old girl, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>835</sup>Bulgaria - individual interview, 17 years old boy, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>836</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 17 years old boy, street child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>837</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 16 years old boy, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>838</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 16 years old girl, street child

Hence, in terms of awareness raising and reducing the "naivety" of children, the following was suggested:

- Use the print and televised media to inform children about the risks associated with trafficking
- Use the media to inform the public about what to do to support trafficked victims
- Use the media to change the behaviour of potential traffickers
- The media should target rural and urban communities
- The media should be used in a responsible, sensitive and child-friendly way, and in a manner that respects the rights and confidentiality of victims
- The internet should be used to provide information to children
- Visual methods such as posters placed in areas where children spend time, such as schools and streets, also raise awareness
- Individuals such as parents and teachers who spend time with children should communicate various lessons about trafficking prevention to children
- These lessons should focus on causes, the process, effects and practical means of escaping a situation of vulnerability
- These lessons should be combined with activities to ensure that they are fun and stimulating for children

## Peer-to-peer counseling

Children across the region emphasised the importance of being taught *"lessons*" about trafficking by their peers, who have faced similar experiences, problems and concerns.

It is said that a forum is needed where children can receive advice and can communicate with other children. A child in Kosovo described these as *"assistance offices which would be there only for children"*<sup>839</sup>. Another child suggested that these forums should be run on the same lines as the focus groups conducted by the field researchers: *"Well, if there would be some place where we could meet at least once a week and talk about things, like for example today, that would have been so cool"*<sup>840</sup>. It is said that these *"forums"* may be associated with state departments that would employ young people whom children could approach freely with a problem.

These children need to come from a similar background or have faced a similar experience: "I would ask someone who has been through similar things"<sup>841</sup>. It is said that these children will be able to understand the needs and wants of other children, and will be best positioned to advise them. For instance, a child in Montenegro stated with reference to a hypothetical story of a boy who had been trafficked: "I think only someone who had gone through the same experience would have understood him, then he would have realized that it had happened to someone else also"<sup>842</sup>. In an institution in Montenegro the children suggested that other children, who have left the institution, return and inform children how they have coped and managed to find employment, accommodation etc.

Similarly, it was felt that children who come from the institution should be responsible for raising the trafficking awareness of other children in this institution. For this, training will be needed: "I think some children from the school or the Home should get some training in that, and then talk to other children about it. I feel everything is more interesting when my peers do it. We feel free somehow to talk

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>839</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 15 years old girl, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>840</sup>Kosovo - focus group interview, 14 years old girl, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>841</sup>Kosovo - individual interview, 16 years old boy, school child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>842</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 14 years old boy, institutionalized child

more openly with them than with adults. And we should be able to turn to them if we suspect anything"<sup>843</sup>.

Not only is the peer group best positioned to give advice to children because they understand them, it is also said that they are less judgmental and critical, and would be more likely to trust and believe what they have to say. Once again the issue of trust is significant: *"I think it's important that they talk to some children to whom the same thing happened, because that's how we like to talk to former residents and we trust them most*"<sup>844</sup>.

In Serbia, children highlighted the importance of youth volunteers who can help children with their concerns. In Kosovo, an identified victim of trafficking stated that she would like to volunteer with the police to teach other children about the risks of trafficking, but she has been forbidden from doing so even though, in her opinion, it is very important that children receive messages from others in their same age and gender cohort. Similarly, it is held that children, who are slightly older and have progressed in the education system, should raise the awareness of younger children in schools because they are more likely to trust them.

So in some contexts the age of the peer counselor is not as important as the experiences that they have been through, which is in line with the argument made previously, that for some children, knowledge and maturity is not related to age-based or developmentally oriented capacities, but to levels of experience.

It is said that children should also appear in other awareness-raising campaigns as their peers are more likely to identify with them and will be less likely to fear them: "those children could also appear on TV, anything that's presented by adults feels serious to me and even when they say I can feel free to contact them any time, I feel a bit afraid".<sup>845</sup>.

So in order to raise children's awareness and provide them with advice, the following recommendations were made:

- Forums or centers should be provided to children to meet and communicate with their peers
- Children should be employed by the state to provide support to other children
- Children who have had similar experiences should be encouraged to raise awareness and advise other children
- Children from institutions should be encouraged to return and provide information to other children about how to find employment, accommodation etc.
- Youth should be encouraged to volunteer in shelters
- Children who have been trafficked should provide information about the risks to other children from their same age or gender cohort
- Children who attend school should lecture other school-attending children
- Children should be involved in media awareness-raising campaigns
- Children should be trained as peer counselors
- The extent to which children trust and listen to their peers, and turn to them for support needs to be recognised

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>843</sup>Montenegro - focus group interview, 17 years old girl, institutionalized child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>844</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, a 15 years old girl, institutional child

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>845</sup>Montenegro - individual interview, 16 years old boy, institutionalized child

## Conclusions

A review of the literature on child trafficking revealed some of the methodological and conceptual weaknesses in our understanding of why some children are more likely to be trafficked than others. In order to build on our existing knowledge, overcome the weaknesses and fill in the gaps in our understanding of this phenomenon, this research has sought to understand how children perceive risk and resiliency in their lives generally, and in relation to trafficking and exploitation more specifically.

The children involved in this study have been identified as "at risk" in the existing literature and in key informant interviews (see national reports) because they are living and or working on the streets, living in institutions or shelters, are in conflict with the law and/or living in socially marginalized and poverty-stricken communities. Many of these categories of children are over-represented among identified victims of trafficking. Respondents were selected in this manner in order to ascertain whether trafficking was perceived as a threat in their lives, and to understand how they evaluated their own strengths and vulnerabilities, and that of their families and communities. Children's perceptions have been prioritized in the participatory research methodology, and analysis and report-writing process so that children can exercise ownership over this research project and subsequent interventions. In the findings a number of themes emerged related to risk and resiliency, decision-making and power, safety and security, social supports, hopes and dreams and evidence-based policy. This conclusion will provide a general summary of these findings.

Trafficking messages: Children's perceptions of trafficking are influenced by the perceptions and experiences of significant people around them including their parents, siblings, relatives and peers. They are also influenced by more institutionalized actors such as teachers, social workers, psychologists and policemen. The mass media (TV and print) and the internet have also had a significant impact on their fears in relation to safety and security, and their hopes and dreams in relation to migration, education and employment. From their accounts of trafficking it is evident that many children have not had direct experience with trafficking and yet can provide vivid stories and graphic details about the trafficking process. This reveals the extent to which the influence of other actors at the level of the interpersonal has had an impact upon their perceptions, as well as their decision-making. On the other hand, children's interpretation of these messages cannot be ignored. It has been argued that this interpretation depends upon the manner in which these messages are conveyed, their relationship with the "messenger", and children's own needs and wants in a particular situation. Children do not simply accept or automatically believe the messages that they receive but evaluate them in light of their own experiences, belief and value systems. Hence, trafficking messages contain different meanings for different children living in different communities.

**Mechanisms and processes:** Children clearly distinguished between various mechanisms and processes in relation to trafficking. While coercion featured strongly in their accounts, so too did the notion of "deception" or what they describe as being "tricked" or "cheated". They did not describe children as being passive in this process, but described children as decision-makers, with wants and needs that they seek to fulfill. They described some children as more naive and easily tricked because they are young, inexperienced or lack education, but suggested that others are

tricked because they want or need something that may be tangible or intangible. Traffickers in their accounts are described as having an in-depth understanding of children's wants and needs and are seen as capable of manipulating these wants and needs to suit their own interests.

So on this basis children argued that traffickers offer some children attention, recreation, entertainment, material goods, employment, migration opportunities, marriage, education (or a chance to leave school), friendship, compliments and care. It is said that these traffickers target specific children who desire these items or activities. For instance, children who are not listened to or trusted are "tricked" when a trafficker asks them for assistance or advice. Children who are bored and have few recreational facilities are "tricked" by the offer of entertainment and recreation abroad. Children who are poor and feel responsible for supporting their families and/or assisting a sick parent may believe an offer of material goods or employment. Boys in particular are said to feel pressure to provide income for the family. Children seeking to escape poverty, violence and conflict in order to achieve a better life may be "tricked" by the opportunity to travel abroad. Girls who feel social pressure to get married may believe promises of marriage, or offers of marriage brokerage. Alternatively, they may seek to escape from pre-arranged marriages. Children who would like to attend school may be "tricked" by the offer of free education abroad. Others may be cheated by the possibility that they can leave school to escape bullying, harassment and discrimination in this context. Children who are lonely, living in institutions or on the streets may believe compliments and promises of care and friendship. Hence, it is said that traffickers make certain promises which particular children are more likely to believe.

Children stated that traffickers do not provide them with all the information that they need to make an informed decision, so they make a decision to go with a person (who turns out to be a trafficker) on the basis of the options that they perceive to be available. A range of unintended and negative consequences may occur in the form of violence, exploitation and trafficking. Although they are aware of these risks, children still make this decision because they either perceive themselves to have few or no other options when seeking to fulfill their needs and wants, and achieve their hopes and dreams. So on the one hand, children are decision-makers but on the other hand, their decisions are constrained by a dearth of information, and a shortage of options. Trafficking mechanisms and processes can therefore not be seen apart from this constrained agency and the manner in which children's needs and wants are influenced by factors such as poverty, violence and discrimination.

**Risk and resiliency:** Children's accounts of their daily lives reveal a complex relationship between risk and resiliency. It is evident that some children exhibit resiliency in a number of situations. They seek to survive and cope with various adverse situations by developing complex strategies; for instance, they may run away from a home where they are subject to violence and they may turn to other actors (adults and children) for support.

They place great importance in feeling in control and exercising power in a given situation, exhibiting courage and bravery, acting with forethought and/or taking advantage of an opportunity to cope, survive and/or escape. However, these examples of resiliency and the actions that accompany them often have a range of unintended, negative consequences that may place children more at risk of being trafficked. For instance, girls rebelling against constraints on their behaviour and freedom of movement may date strangers in unfamiliar areas where they will not be recognized by relatives and other community members; this might leave them vulnerable to abuse with few places to go to for assistance. Girls seeking to escape an arranged marriage may

192

believe a strangers' promise of marriage abroad. Children who runaway from violence in the home or in an institution may find freedom from rules and restrictions on the streets, but they may also face greater safety and security threats in an economic, physical and social sense.

A range of examples, suggest that it is therefore difficult to identify specific risk and resiliency factors which are highly individual, situational and contextual. A resiliency factor may prove to be risky for the same child in another situation, or a resiliency factor may prove to be risky for another child living in a similar situation. In addition, risk and resiliency factors at macro, interpersonal and individual levels interact in complex ways, making it difficult to predict what is risky or not for a particular child. These factors are all affected by time and the effect of socio-economic, political and cultural processes. It is therefore difficult to make causal claims about risk and resiliency in relation to trafficking because of the cumulative effect of a number of different factors.

On the other hand, some general risk and resiliency factors can be identified that apply to children across the research countries/entities. At the level of the individual, children identified the following risk factors: physical weakness and a low sense of self-efficacy or power in relation to others. They also highlighted a dearth of knowledge, experience and/or information as a risk factor, which affects children's perception of the options available. While some children associated this knowledge with having access to education, some children felt that this was affected more by the type of experiences that one has faced, and the skills and understanding that one develops through this experience.

In contrast, those children who were described as resilient were those who were physically strong, were brave and courageous, were able to recognise and weigh up various options, were able to plan and act with forethought particularly in contexts that may be adverse and even dangerous. All of these individual risk and resiliency factors are fluid and dynamic as they are not fixed to a particular physical characteristic such as age or sex. For instance, the relationship between age, knowledge and cognitive abilities was mediated by children's access to information and their social experiences; such that a child who was better able to make decisions was one who was not necessarily older, but had more experience in this regard. Children who were young or female were not necessarily perceived as physically weaker, if they had peers or parents to defend and protect them. Girls living on the streets dressed like boys as a form of protection. Some children tried to make themselves appear younger to earn more money when begging. There were other reports of children pretending to be disabled for the same reasons. So in this sense youth and disabilities were seen as resiliency factors in these contexts because they enabled children to survive economically, even though they were concerned that children may be trafficked because they appear young and disabled. Hence, risk and resiliency depends upon the context. Children who work may believe themselves to be more independent, in control of their lives and may have a high self-esteem because they are able to fulfill their interpersonal responsibilities; however, working on the streets might enhance the risk of exploitation and might make them more accessible for traffickers.

In general, it is evident that these individual factors are relational in that they are defined by children in terms of how they see themselves in relation to - or in comparison with - others. Thus, individual and interpersonal levels of risk and resiliency cannot be disengaged. At the level of the interpersonal, trust emerged as particularly significant for children. It is said that trust forms the basis of social supports or having others to turn to for advice, assistance and protection in times of

trouble. However, children suggested that trust needs to be reciprocated – they often find it difficult to trust or share their concerns with people who do not trust them because they run the risk of being judged or blamed for their problems. Furthermore, they do not turn to others for support if they feel that they are not listened to. It is evident, that many children felt that adults (parents, relatives, teachers, social workers etc.) were not listening to them, and often neglected and abused them. As a strategy, they sought alternative sources of support. This research has revealed the extent to which children turn to their peers for support in a range of contexts, to protect and advise them. On the other hand, some children complained about bullying, teasing and even exploitative practices at the hands of their peers.

Children who felt that they had few supports stated that they often need to rely on strangers for assistance and advice, even though this was widely recognised by children to be a risky strategy. It is risky because trust is earned over time and children are often not aware of the true intentions of these strangers; so it is difficult to make an informed decision when deciding to go with a stranger. Generally, strangers were identified as those who were more likely to hurt, exploit and traffic children, despite examples of violence, exploitation and trafficking at the hands of relatives and peers. So on the one hand, having the courage to turn to others for support is a resiliency factor, but it may turn out to be a risk factor if these people take advantage of this trust and use it to "trick" children.

These individual and interpersonal factors are all influenced by macro factors, with children emphasizing the effect that poverty, armed conflict and social dislocation has had on their parents' and caregivers' decision-making in relation to violence, employment, migration and parenting practices. For instance, alcohol abuse was described by children as one means by which their parents cope with poverty and unemployment, but it was also associated with intimate partner violence and child maltreatment.

Parenting practices are influenced by constructions of gender and childhood, which once again reveals the complex nature of risk and resiliency in a range of settings. For instance, parents may feel that restricting their daughters' movement, sexuality and access to education is a means of protecting them from "shame", sexual advances from men, violence and even trafficking. And yet, girls described these as constraints that many sought to rebel against. Children's freedom may be restricted for the same reason, but they may feel that this affects their desire for play, recreation and entertainment, which might enhance the likelihood that they will be "tricked" by a trafficker. So parents' perceptions of resiliency and protection may differ from those of children. As parents, caregivers and other adults frequently do not explain why certain rules and restrictions are imposed on children in the name of protection, many children choose to do otherwise because they feel misunderstood and constrained; thereby placing them in potentially risky situations where they feel that they cannot turn to their parents and other adults for support.

At the macro-level discrimination or "social exclusion" emerged as significant in terms of children's perception of risk. Not only do children from many poverty-stricken Roma communities feel under greater pressure to earn income and on this basis feel that they might be "cheated" by an offer of employment, but the daily discrimination, harassment and abuse that they face in the classroom, school ground and on the streets was described as a risk in that it affected their own sense of self-efficacy and self-esteem, and removed valuable interpersonal and institutional supports. Children living in institutions described a similar sense of social exclusion manifested in loneliness and a sense of not belonging, which children argue may be manipulated by a trafficker.

It has been argued that anti-trafficking messages are interpreted differently by children who attach different meanings to them depending on their own experiences, needs, beliefs and value-systems. For instance, children's perceptions of the physical and psycho-social effects of trafficking are mediated by their own experiences of violence, and how they have sought to cope with its effects. Throughout the report emphasis was placed on children as decision-makers, but they are also emotional, as is evident in their countless descriptions of happiness, joy, sadness, anger and resentment. These emotions all have an impact upon their decision-making as is evident in contexts which children described as being particularly painful; for instance, the temporary or permanent absence of a parent who may have died, abandoned a child, or migrated for the purpose of work was associated with these feelings of loss, pain and often anger. Children who witnessed intimate partner violence or were subject to violence that they perceived to be illegitimate emphasised that this treatment is unjust and unfair, and a source of anger and resentment. Children attributed these same feelings to the actions of traffickers who unjustly coerce, hurt and abuse other children for a range of purposes.

Although children do not describe their own experiences as exploitative, the report revealed the extent to which children's perceptions about the type of exploitation that children face are closely related to their own fears and daily experiences, with boys and girls concerned about labour and sexual exploitation respectively. Children's perceptions about the effects of trafficking were also mediated by their own experiences with violence in their daily lives. They revealed the manner in which they withdraw from people, prefer not to discuss their problems, are haunted by terrible memories and have difficulty sleeping and coping with daily life. These experiences appeared in their accounts of trafficking victims. Many children who faced maltreatment at the hands of their parents were only able to understand or explain this behaviour by referring to an abuser's inner pathology, illness or disease that rendered it impossible for him/her to do otherwise. They attributed the same explanation to traffickers as one way of understanding their incomprehensible behaviour.

Similarly children's descriptions of how they have confronted an abuser and escaped from a violent situation resonate in their accounts of trafficked victims' survival strategies. Their belief that trafficked victims will find it difficult to be accepted back into the community are related to their own fears of labeling, gossip and ostracism if/when they break certain norms and rules. So on the one hand, their perceptions are influenced by the media and significant people around them, but they are also influenced by the meaning that they attribute to trafficking messages. As argued, this meaning is influenced by their emotions, experiences, beliefs and value-systems.

**Evidence-based policy and practice**: Children's contact with state institutions, INGOs and NGOs has varied across the region. It has been either direct or indirect, and often mediated by their parents and caregivers' experiences. Some children described this contact in a positive light in that support and assistance was received in a timely manner, while others described the manner in which they are ignored and their views discounted by these state and non-state actors in a range of settings.

In order to improve their lives and those of children who might be at risk of being trafficked children made a number of recommendations, which have been summarized below:

- Children should have equal rights regardless of their age, gender and ethnicity
- Children should be respected as decision-making actors
- Children should be listened to and trusted

- Children should have more say over how they are treated by other actors
- Children should have more options and choices in relation to recreation, education, employment and institutionalized living
- Children should have accessible forums where they can turn to adults and children (state and non-state actors, peers with similar experiences) for support, advice and protection
- Children should be provided with practical information and skills in relation to migration and employment
- Children should be provided with the material and social resources to fulfill their hopes and dreams
- Children's awareness should be raised in relation to trafficking mechanisms and processes, consequences, escape and sources of protection
- Children's protection should be prioritized by all state and non-state actors

Although the findings of this study are not generic or representative, they reveal the extent to which the involvement of children in the research process provides an in-depth understanding of children's lives. This study has provided valuable information about how to structure or change future policies and practices on the basis of children's perceptions. As a general conclusion, it is evident that instead of focusing only on scaring children, anti-trafficking messages and accompanying interventions should be based on children's perceptions, enhance children's strengths, develop their decision-making skills and thereby help them to develop survival strategies in situations that might increase the risk of trafficking. Consultations should happen at all stages of anti-child trafficking interventions, including design, implementation and monitoring phases. More efforts should also be taken by state and other key actors to increase children's capacity to face and deal with risks, while also increasing children's access to adults who can help them reduce and avoid such risks.

196

# **Bibliography**

Anderson, B. And J. O'Connell Davidson (2004). Trafficking: a demand led problem? Save the Children. Sweden.

Archard, D. (1993). Children: rights and childhood. London, Routledge.

Atkinson, R. And J. Flint (2001). "Accessing hidden and hard-to-reach populations: snowballing research strategies." <u>Social Research Update(33)</u>.

Bandura, A. (2001). "Social Cognitive Theory: An Agentic Perspective." <u>Annual Review of Psychology</u> 52: 1-26.

Benedict, R. (1934). Patterns of culture. Boston, Houghton Mifflin.

Benjamin, J. (1988). <u>The bonds of love</u>. New York, Virago Press.

Boothby, N. G. And C. M. Knudsen (2000). "Children of the gun." Scientific American 282(6): 60-64.

Bourdieu, P. (1990). The Logic of Practice. London, Policy Press.

Boyden, J. (1997). Childhood and the policy makers: a comparative perspective on the globalisation of childhood. <u>Constructing and reconstructing childhood</u>: <u>contemporary issues in the sociological study</u> <u>of childhood</u>. A. James and A. Prout. Great Britain, Falmer Press: 190-229.

Boyden, J and Mann, G (2005), Children's risk, resilience and coping in extreme situations. Ungar (ed), <u>Pathways to resiliency. London, Sage.</u>

Bronfenbrenner, U. (1979). <u>The ecology of human development: experiments by nature and design</u>. Cambridge, Mass, Harvard University Press.

Caouette, T (undated), Small Dreams Beyond Reach: The Lives of Migrant Children and Youth Along the Borders of China, Myanmar and Thailand, Save the Children UK

Christensen, P. A. J., Allison (2000). Introduction: researching children and childhoods, cultures of communication. <u>Research with children: perspectives and practices</u>. P. Christensen and A. James. London, Falmer Press: 1-9.

Cole, M. (1995). The supra-individual envelope of development: activity and practice, situation and context. <u>Cultural practices as contexts for development</u>. J. J. Goodnow, P. J. Miller and F. Kessel. San Francisco, Jossey-Bass. **67**: 105-117.

Corsaro, W. A. (1997). The sociology of childhood. USA, Pine Forge Press.

Dawes, A., Z. Kafaar, et al. (2004). Partner violence, attitudes to child discipline and the use of corporal punishment: A South African national survey. Cape Town, Child Youth & Family Development, Human Sciences Research Council.

Dela Cruz, T. M., E. Protacio-de Castro, et al. (2001). <u>Small steps, great strides</u>. Philippines, Psychosocial Trauma and Human Rights Program.

De Sas Kropiwnicki, Z (2007). The sex trade hierarchy: the interplay of structure and agency in the decision-making processes of female, adolescent prostitutes in Cape Town, South Africa. University of Oxford: International Development Studies (QEH). Unpublished doctoral thesis.

Dottridge, M (2004) Kids as commodities: child trafficking and what to do about it, International Federation Terres des Hommes

Dottridge, M (2005) Patterns of Child Trafficking around the world: Challenges in distinguishing between trafficked children, child workers and child migrants in Child Trafficking: a fatality? From field reality to better practices, Institut International des Droits de l'Enfant, Bosch

Dottridge, M (2006) Action to prevent child trafficking in South Eastern Europe: A preliminary Assessment. Terre des Hommes and UNICEF Regional Office for CEE/CIS

ECPAT, O'Briain M, Van den Borne A & Noten T (2004) Joint East West Research on Trafficking in Children for Sexual Purposes in Europe: the sending countries. ECPAT Europe Law Enforcement Group, Amsterdam

El-Cherkeh T, Stirbu, E, Lazaroiu, S & Radu D (2004) EU-Enlargement, Migration and Trafficking in Women: The Case of South Eastern Europe, HWWA

Ennew, J. And J. Boyden (1997). <u>Children in focus: a manual for participatory research with children</u>. Stockholm, Radd Barnen.

Ennew J, Gopal K, Heeran J and Montgomery H, Children and Prostitution: How can we measure and monitor the Commercial Sexual Exploitation of Children? Literature Review and Annotated Bibliography, UNICEF, Centre for Family Research Cambridge University and Childwatch International

Faugier, J. And M. Sargeant (1997). "Sampling hard to reach populations." Journal of Advanced Nursing **26**: 790-797.

Foucault, M. (1990). <u>The history of sexuality, volume 1: an introduction</u>. New York, Vintage Books.

Gibson, K. (1991). "Children in political violence." Social Science and Medicine 28(7): 659-667.

Giddens, A. (1984). <u>The Constitution of Society: Outline of the Theory of Structuration</u>. Cambridge, Polity Press.

Giddens, A. (1991). Modernity and Self-Identity. Stanford, Stanford University Press.

Ginzburg, O "Evaluation of Save the Children's Anti-trafficking Programme in South-east Europe" (Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Bulgaria, Croatia, Kosova, Moldova, Montenegro, Romania, Serbia). Final Report. 15 October 2004. Save the Children Norway

Griffiths, P., M. Gossip, et al. (1993). "Reaching hidden populations of drug users by privileged access interviews: methodological and practical issues." <u>Addiction</u> 88: 1617-1626.

Hammersley, M. (1995). On feminist methodology. London, Sage.

Harkness, S. And C. M. Super (1991). East Africa. Children in historical and comparative perspective: an

#### 198

international handbook and research guide. N. Ray Hiner and J. Hawes. Greenwood Press, New York: 217-239.

Harre, R. (1974). The conditions for a social psychology of childhood. <u>The integration of a child into a social world</u>. M. Richards. London, Cambridge University Press: 245-262.

Harre, R. (1986). The step to social constructionism. <u>Children of social worlds: development in a social context</u>. M. Richards and P. Light. Great Britain, Polity Press: 287-296.

Heckathorn, D. D. (1997). "Respondent-driven sampling: a new approach to the study of hidden populations." <u>Social Problems</u> 44(2): 174-199.

Hoyles, M. And P. Evans (1989). The politics of childhood. Great Britain, Journeyman Press.

Inciardi, J. A. (1977). In search of the class canon: a field study of professional pickpockets <u>Street ethno-</u> <u>graphy: selected studies of crime and drug use in natural settings</u>. R. S. Weppner. Beverley Hills, Sage.

Ingelby, D. (1974). The psychology of child psychology. <u>The integration of a child into a social world</u>. M. P. M. Richards. London, Cambridge University Press: 295-308.

IOM Counter-Trafficking Service, (2004) "Changing patterns and trends of trafficking in persons in the Balkan region" Assessment carried out in Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina , the Province of Kosovo (Serbia and Montenegro), the former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia and the Republic of Moldova .

James, A. And A. Prout (1997). A new paradigm for the sociology of childhood? Provenance, promise and problems. <u>Constructing and reconstructing childhood</u>: <u>contemporary issues in the sociological</u> <u>study of childhood</u>. A. James and A. Prout. Great Britain, Falmer Press: 7-34.

Jenks, C. (1996). Childhood. London and New York, Routledge.

Jones, S. (1985). Depth interviewing. <u>Applied qualitative research</u>. R. Walker. Aldershot, Gower.

Kane, J (2005) Trafficking – The People Involved. A synthesis of findings from Albania, Moldova, Romania and Ukraine, ILO-IPEC

Kaplan, C. D., D. Korf, et al. (1987). "Temporal and social contexts of heroin-using populations: an illustration of the snowball sampling technique." Journal of Mental and Nervous Disorders 175 (9): 566-574.

Kelly, L (2002) Journeys of Jeopardy: A Review of Research on Trafficking in Women and Children in Europe, IOM Migration Research Series

Kitzinger, J. (1997). Who are you kidding? Children, power and the struggle against sexual abuse. A. James and Prout: 165-189.

La Fontaine, J. (1986). An anthropological perspective on children in social worlds. <u>Children of social</u> worlds: <u>development in a social Context</u>. M. Richards and P. Light. London, Polity Press: 10-30.

Laczko, Frank; Gozdziak, Elzbieta (2005), Data and Research on Human Trafficking: A Global Survey, Geneva, International Organization for Migration (IOM).

Lãzãroiu & Alexandru (2003), Who is the next victim? Vulnerability of young Romanian Women to trafficking in human beings, IOM

Lee, N. (2001). <u>Childhood and society: growing up in an age of uncertainty</u>. Philadelphia, Open University Press.

Limanowska, Barbara, (2005). Trafficking in Human Beings in South Eastern Europe. UNICEF, UNOHCHR, OSCE/ODIHR

Maher, L. (1997). Sexed work: gender, race and resistance in a Brooklyn drug market. Oxford, Clarendon.

McNamara, R. P. (1994). <u>The times square hustler: male prostitution in New York city</u>. Westport, Praeger.

Mead, M. (1928). <u>Coming of age in Samoa : a psychological study of primitive youth for Western civilization</u>. New York, William Morrow.

Miller, P. J. And J. Goodnow, J (1995). Cultural practices: toward an integration of culture and development. <u>Cultural Practices as Contexts for Development</u>. J. J. Goodnow, P. J. Miller and F. Kessel. San Francisco, Jossey-Bass. **67:** 5-16.

Morriss, P. (1987). Power: a philosophical analysis. Manchester, Manchester University Press.

Nencel, L. (2001). Ethnography and prostitution in Peru, Pluto Press.

O'Neill, M. (1996). Researching prostitution and violence: towards a feminist praxis. <u>Women, violence</u> and male power: feminist research, activism and practice. M. Hester, J. Radford and L. Kelly. Buckingham, Open University Press.

Oakley, A. (1981). Interviewing women: a contradiction in terms. <u>Doing feminist research</u>. H. Roberts. London, Routledge.

Parsons, T. (1951). The Social System. London, Routledge and Kegan Paul.

Punch, S. (2002). "Research with children: the same or different from research with adults?" <u>Childhood</u> 9(3): 321-341.

Quortrup, J. (1997). A voice for children in statistical and social accounting: a plea for children's right to be heard. <u>Constructing and reconstructing childhood</u>: <u>contemporary issues in the sociological study of childhood</u>. A. James and A. Prout. Great Britain, Falmer Press: 85-105.

The Research Institute for The Quality of Life and Save the Children, Romania, Rapid Assessment of Trafficking in Children for Labour and Sexual Exploitation in Romania, IPEC, 2003, page 20.

Rose, N. (1989). Governing the soul: the shaping of the private self. London, Routledge.

Rossi, A (2005) Building the Knowledge: Research on child trafficking, in Child Trafficking: a fatality? From field reality to better practices, Institut International des Droits de l'Enfant, Bosch

Sanders, T. (2005). Sex work: a risky business. London, Willan Publishing.

Scarre, G. (1989). Introduction. <u>Children, parents and politics</u>. G. Scarre. Cambridge, Cambridge University Press: viii-xiii.

Seeley, J., G. N. Clarke, et al. (1996). "Multiple forms of stress in Cambodian adolescent refugees." <u>Child</u> <u>Development</u> **67**(1): 107-116.

200

Shuteriqi, M, Pippidou, D, Stoecklin, D, Transnational Protection of Children: The case of Albania and Greece 2000-2006. Terre des Hommes. TACT project (Transnational Action against Child Trafficking)

Skidmore, P (2004) What works in child sexual exploitation: sharing and learning. Barnado's Research & Development

Solberg, A. (1996). The challenge in child research: from 'being' to 'doing'. <u>Children in families: research</u> and policy. J. Brannen and M. O'Brien. Great Britain, Falmer Press: 53-66.

Solberg, A. (1997). Negotiating childhood: changing constructions of age for Norwegian children. <u>Constructing and reconstructing childhood: contemporary issues in the sociological study of childhood</u>. A. James and A. Prout. Great Britain, Falmer Press: 124-144.

Straker, G., M. Medelsohn, et al. (1996). "Violent political contexts and the emotional concerns of township youth." <u>Child Development</u> **67**(1): 46-54.

Surtees, R (2005) "Other forms of Trafficking in Minors: Articulating Victim Profiles and Conceptualizing Interventions". NEXUS Institute to Combat Human Trafficking and International Organization for Migration (IOM)

Swartz, L. And A. Levett (1989). "Political repression and children in South Africa: the social construction of damaging effects." <u>Social Science and Medicine</u> **28**(7): 741-750.

Vygotsky, L. S. (1966, c1962). <u>Thought and language</u>. Cambridge, M.I.T Press.

Watters, J. K. And P. Biernacki (1989). "Targeted sampling: options for the study of hidden populations." <u>Social Problems</u> **36**(4): 416-430.

Woodhead, M. (1997). Psychology and the cultural construction of children's needs. <u>Constructing and reconstructing childhood</u>: contemporary issues in the sociological study of childhood. A. James and A. Prout. Great Britain, Falmer Press: 63-84.

Woodhead, M. And D. Faulkner (1997). Subjects, objects or participants? Dilemmas of psychological research with children. <u>Research with children: perspectives and practices</u>. P. Christensen and A. James. London, Falmer Press: 9-35.

# **Children Speak Out**

# Trafficking Risk and Resilience in Southeast Europe

**Regional report** 

Save the Children in Albania Child Trafficking Response Programme Southeast Europe

Rruga "Komuna e Parisit" Lagjia 8, Pallatet 1 Maji, Vila "Lami" P.O.Box 8185 Tirana Albania Tel: +355 4 261 840 +355 4 261 929 +355 4 266 227 Fax: +355 4 263 428 E-mail: savealbania@savealbania.org Web side: www.savealbania.org